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Item 1.
Item 1A.
Item 1B.
Item 2.
Item 3.
Item 4.

Item 5.
Item 6.
Item 7.
Item 7A.
Item 8.
Item 9.
Item 9A.
Item 9B.

Item 10.
Item 11.
Item 12.
Item 13.
Item 14.

Item 15.

Signatures

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

PARTI

Business

Risk Factors

Unresolved Staff Comments
Properties

Legal Proceedings
Mine Safety Disclosures

PART II

Market for the Registrant’s Common Equity. Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Selected Financial Data

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
Controls and Procedures

Other Information

PART 111

Directors. Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
Executive Compensation
Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence
Principal Accountant Fees and Services

PART IV
Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

PAGE

14
14
15
15

16
17
18
32
34
87
87
87

88
&9
&9
&9
&9

90

96



When we refer to “AWL,” the “Company,” “we,” “our” and “us”, we are referring to Armstrong World Industries, Inc. and its subsidiaries.

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and the documents incorporated by reference may constitute forward-looking statements within the
meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Those forward-looking statements are subject to various risks and uncertainties and include all
statements that are not historical statements of fact and those regarding our intent, belief or expectations, including, but not limited to, our expectations concerning
our residential and commercial markets and their effect on our operating results; our expectations regarding the payment of dividends; and our ability to increase
revenues, earnings and EBITDA (as discussed below). Words such as “anticipate,” “expect,” “intend,” “plan,” “target,” “project,” “predict,” “believe,” “may,”
“will,” “would,” “could,” “should,” “seek,” “estimate” and similar expressions are intended to identify such forward-looking statements. These statements are
based on management’s current expectations and beliefs and are subject to a number of factors that could lead to actual results materially different from those
described in the forward-looking statements. Although we believe that the assumptions underlying the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we can give no
assurance that our expectations will be attained. Factors that could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, liquidity, results of operations or future
prospects or which could cause actual results to differ materially from our expectations include, but are not limited to:

99 ¢ 9 ¢ 99 ¢ 29 ¢

. economic conditions;
. construction activity;
. the announced sale of our Europe, Middle East and Africa (including Russia) (“EMEA”) and Pacific Rim businesses is subject to various risks and

uncertainties and may not be completed in accordance with the expected plans or anticipated timeline, or at all, and will involve significant time and
expense, which could disrupt or adversely affect our business;

. competition;

. key customers;

. availability and costs of raw materials and energy;

. Worthington Armstrong Venture (“WAVE?”), our joint venture with Worthington Industries, Inc;
. environmental matters;

. covenants in our debt agreements;

. our indebtedness;

. our liquidity;

. international operations;

. strategic transactions;

. negative tax consequences;

. the tax consequences of the separation of our flooring business from our ceilings business;

. defined benefit plan obligations;

. cybersecurity breaches, claims and litigation;

. labor;

. intellectual property rights;

. costs savings and productivity initiatives; and

. other risks detailed from time to time in our filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), press releases and other

communications, including those set forth under “Risk Factors” included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and in the documents
incorporated by reference.

Such forward-looking statements speak only as of the date they are made. We expressly disclaim any obligation to release publicly any updates or revisions to any
forward-looking statements to reflect any change in our expectations with regard thereto or change in events, conditions or circumstances on which any statement is
based.



ITEM 1. BUSINESS
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Armstrong World Industries, Inc. (“AWI” or the “Company”) is a Pennsylvania corporation incorporated in 1891. When we refer to “we,” “our” and “us” in this

report, we are referring to AWI and its subsidiaries.

We are a global leader in the design, innovation and manufacture of commercial and residential ceiling, wall and suspension system solutions. We design,
manufacture and sell ceiling systems (primarily mineral fiber, fiberglass wool and metal) throughout the Americas.

On November 17, 2017, we entered into a Share Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) with Knauf International GmbH (“Knauf™), to sell certain
subsidiaries comprising our business in Europe, the Middle East and Africa (including Russia) (‘EMEA”) and the Pacific Rim, including the corresponding
businesses and operations conducted by Worthington Armstrong Venture (“WAVE?”), our joint venture with Worthington Industries, Inc., in which AWI holds a
50% interest. The consideration to be paid by Knauf in connection with the sale is $330.0 million in cash, inclusive of amounts due to WAVE, subject to certain
adjustments as provided in the Purchase Agreement, including adjustments based on the economic impact of any required regulatory remedies and a working
capital adjustment. The transaction, which is subject to regulatory approvals and other customary conditions, is currently anticipated to close in mid-2018. Our
EMEA and Pacific Rim segment’s historical financial results have been reflected in AWI’s Consolidated Financial Statements as a discontinued operation for all
periods presented.

On January 13, 2017, we acquired the business and assets of Tectum, Inc. (“Tectum”), based in Newark, Ohio. Tectum is a manufacturer of acoustical ceiling, wall
and structural solutions for commercial building applications with two manufacturing facilities. Tectum’s operations from the date of acquisition, and its assets
and liabilities as of December 31, 2017, have been included as a component of our Architectural Specialties segment.

On April 1, 2016, we completed our separation of Armstrong Flooring, Inc. (“AFI””). AFI’s historical financial results have been reflected in AWI’s Consolidated
Financial Statements as a discontinued operation for all periods presented.

See Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information related to our acquisition and discontinued operations.

We are focused on driving sustainable shareholder value creation. Our strategic priority is to accelerate profitable sales and earnings growth. Our goal is to expand
into new markets and grow in existing markets in the Americas by selling a broader array of products and solutions into those markets.

Reportable Segments

Effective December 31, 2017 and in connection with the announced sale of our EMEA and Pacific Rim businesses, our historical EMEA and Pacific Rim segments
have been excluded from our results of continuing operations. As a result, effective December 31, 2017 and for all periods presented, our operating segments are
as follows: Mineral Fiber, Architectural Specialties and Unallocated Corporate. See Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements and Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in Item 7 of this Form 10-K for additional financial information.

Markets

We are well positioned in the industry segments and markets in which we operate, often holding a leadership or significant market share position. The major
markets in which we compete are:

Commercial. Our revenue opportunities come from new construction as well as renovation of existing buildings. Renovation work is estimated to represent the
majority of the commercial market opportunity. Most of our revenue comes from the following sectors of commercial building — office, education, transportation,
healthcare and retail. We monitor U.S. construction starts and follow project activity. Our revenue from new construction can lag behind construction starts by as
much as 18 to 24 months. We also monitor office vacancy rates, the Architecture Billings Index, state and local government spending, gross domestic product
(“GDP”) and general employment levels, which can indicate movement in renovation and new construction opportunities. We believe that these statistics, taking
into account the time-lag effect, provide a reasonable indication of our future revenue opportunity from commercial renovation and new

construction. Additionally, we believe that customer preferences for product type, style, color, availability, affordability and ease of installation also affect our
revenue.



In our Mineral Fiber segment, we estimate that a majority of our commercial market sales are used for renovation purposes by end-users of our products. The end-
use of our products is based on management estimates as such information i s not easily determinable.

Residential. 'We also sell mineral fiber products for use in single and multi-family housing. These products compete against mineral fiber and fiberglass products
from other manufacturers, as well as drywall. We compete directly with other domestic and international suppliers of these products. We estimate that existing
home renovation (also known as replacement / remodel) work represents the majority of the residential market opportunity. Key U.S. statistics that indicate market
opportunity include existing home sales (a key indicator for renovation opportunity), housing starts, housing completions, home prices, interest rates and consumer
confidence.

Approximately 75% of our consolidated net sales are to distributors. Sales to large home centers account for slightly less than 10% of our consolidated sales. Our
remaining sales are to contractors and retailers.

Geographic Areas

See Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements and Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in Item 7 of this
Form 10-K for additional financial information by geographic areas.

Customers

We use our reputation, capabilities, service and brand recognition to develop long-standing relationships with our customers. We principally sell commercial
products to building materials distributors, who re-sell our products to contractors, subcontractors’ alliances, large architect and design firms, and major facility
owners. We have important relationships with national home centers such as Lowe’s Companies, Inc. and The Home Depot, Inc., as well as wholesalers who re-sell
our products to dealers who service builders, contractors and consumers.

Net sales to three commercial distributors totaling $426.1 million, included within our Mineral Fiber and Architectural Specialties segments, individually exceeded
10% of our consolidated net sales in 2017.

Working Capital

We produce goods for inventory and sell on credit to our customers. Generally, our distributors carry inventory as needed to meet local or rapid delivery
requirements. We sell our products to select, pre-approved customers using customary trade terms that allow for payment in the future. These practices are typical
within the industry.

Competition

We face strong competition in all of our businesses. Principal attributes of competition include product performance, product styling, service and

price. Competition comes from both domestic and international manufacturers. Additionally, some of our products compete with alternative products or finishing
solutions, namely, drywall and exposed structure (also known as open plenum). Excess industry capacity exists for certain products, which tends to increase price
competition. The following companies are our primary competitors:

CertainTeed Corporation (a subsidiary of Saint-Gobain), Chicago Metallic Corporation (owned by ROCKWOOL International A/S), Georgia-Pacific Corporation,
Rockfon A/S (owned by ROCKWOOL International A/S), USG Corporation, Ceilings Plus (owned by USG Corporation), Rulon International, and 9Wood.

Raw Materials

We purchase raw materials from numerous suppliers worldwide in the ordinary course of business. The principal raw materials include: fiberglass, perlite, starch,
waste paper, pigments and clays. We manufacture most of the production needs for mineral wool at one of our manufacturing facilities. Finally, we use aluminum
and steel in the production of metal ceilings by us and by WAVE, our joint venture that manufactures ceiling grid.

We also purchase significant amounts of packaging materials and consume substantial amounts of energy, such as electricity and natural gas and water.

In general, adequate supplies of raw materials are available to all of our operations. However, availability can change for a number of reasons, including
environmental conditions, laws and regulations, shifts in demand by other industries competing for the same



materials, transportation disruptions and/or business decisions made by, or events that affect, our suppliers. There is no ass urance that these raw materials will
remain in adequate supply to us.

Prices for certain high usage raw materials can fluctuate dramatically. Cost increases for these materials can have a significant adverse impact on our
manufacturing costs. Given the competitiveness of our markets, we may not be able to recover the increased manufacturing costs through increasing selling prices
to our customers.

Sourced Products

Some of the products that we sell are sourced from third parties. Our primary sourced products include specialty ceiling products. We purchase some of our
sourced products from suppliers that are located outside of the U.S., primarily from the Pacific Rim and Europe. Sales of sourced products represented
approximately 15% of our total consolidated revenue in 2017.

In general, we believe we have adequate supplies of sourced products. However, we cannot guarantee that the supply will remain adequate.

Seasonality

Generally, our sales tend to be stronger in the second and third quarters of our fiscal year due to more favorable weather conditions, customer business cycles and
the timing of renovation and new construction.

Patent and Intellectual Property Rights

Patent protection is important to our business. Our competitive position has been enhanced by patents on products and processes developed or perfected within
AWI or obtained through acquisitions and licenses. In addition, we benefit from our trade secrets for certain products and processes.

Patent protection extends for varying periods according to the date of patent filing or grant and the legal term of a patent in the various countries where patent
protection is obtained. The actual protection afforded by a patent, which can vary from country to country, depends upon the type of patent, the scope of its
coverage and the availability of legal remedies. Although we consider that, in the aggregate, our patents, licenses and trade secrets constitute a valuable asset of
material importance to our business, we do not believe we are materially dependent upon any single patent or trade secret, or any group of related patents or trade
secrets.

Certain of our trademarks, including without limitation, \f'hm , Armstrong®, Calla®, Cirrus®, Cortega®, Dune™, Humiguard®, Infusions®, Lyra®,
MetalWorks™, Optima®, Perla™, Soundscapes®, Sustain®, Tectum®, Total Acoustics®, Ultima®, and WoodWorks®, are important to our business because of
their significant brand name recognition. Registrations are generally for fixed, but renewable, terms.

In connection with the separation and distribution of AFI, we entered into several agreements with AFI that, together with a plan of division, provided for the
separation and allocation of assets between AWI and AFI. These agreements include a Trademark License Agreement and a Transition Trademark License
Agreement. Pursuant to the Trademark License Agreement, AWI provided AFI with a perpetual, royalty-free license to utilize the “Armstrong” trade name and
logo. Pursuant to the Transition Trademark License Agreement, AFI provided us with a five-year royalty-free license to utilize the “Inspiring Great Spaces”
tagline, logo and related color scheme.

Pursuant to our Purchase Agreement with Knauf related to the sale of our EMEA and Pacific Rim businesses and prior to the closing, AWI anticipates entering into
an agreement with Knauf relating to the use of certain intellectual property by Knauf after the closing, including the Armstrong trade name.

We review the carrying value of trademarks annually for potential impairment. See the “Critical Accounting Estimates” section of Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in Item 7 of this Form 10-K for further information.

Employees

As of December 31, 2017, we had approximately 3,900 full-time and part-time employees worldwide compared to approximately 3,700 as of December 31,
2016. The increase in total worldwide employees as of December 31, 2017 in comparison to December 31, 2016 was primarily due to our addition of Tectum
employees, partially offset by a reduction of employees related to the closure of one
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of our plants in China. Excluding our EMEA and Pacific Rim businesses, we had approximately 2,200 employees as of December 31, 2017 compared to
approximately 2,000 as of December 31, 20 16.

As of December 31, 2017, approximately 75% of our 1,100 production employees in the U.S. were represented by labor unions. Collective bargaining agreements
covering approximately 460 employees at two U.S. plants will expire during 2018. Outside the U.S., most of our production employees are covered by either
industry-sponsored and/or state-sponsored collective bargaining mechanisms. We believe that our relations with our employees are satisfactory.

Research & Development

Research and development (“R&D”) activities are important and necessary in helping us improve our products’ competitiveness. Principal R&D functions include
the development and improvement of products and manufacturing processes. We incurred $17.4 million in 2017, $17.8 million in 2016 and $18.7 million in 2015
of R&D expenses.

Sustainability and Environmental Matters

The adoption of environmentally responsible building codes and standards such as the Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design (“LEED”) rating system
established by the U.S. Green Building Council, has the potential to increase demand for products, systems and services that contribute to building sustainable
spaces. Many of our products meet the requirements for the award of LEED credits, and we are continuing to develop new products, systems and services to
address market demand for products that enable construction of buildings that require fewer natural resources to build, operate and maintain. Our competitors also
have developed and introduced to the market products with an increased focus on sustainability.

We expect that there will be increased demand over time for products, systems and services that meet evolving regulatory and customer sustainability standards and
preferences and decreased demand for products that produce significant greenhouse gas emissions. We also believe that our ability to continue to provide these
products, systems and services to our customers will be necessary to maintain our competitive position in the marketplace. We are committed to complying with
all environmental laws and regulations that are applicable to our operations.

Legal and Regulatory Proceedings

Regulatory activities of particular importance to our operations include proceedings under the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and
Liability Act (“CERCLA”), and state Superfund and similar type environmental laws governing existing or potential environmental contamination at several
domestically owned, formerly owned and non-owned locations allegedly resulting from past industrial activity. In a few cases, we are one of several potentially
responsible parties and have agreed to jointly fund required investigation, while preserving our defenses to the liability. We may also have rights of contribution or
reimbursement from other parties or coverage under applicable insurance policies.

Most of our facilities are affected by various federal, state and local environmental requirements relating to the discharge of materials or the protection of the
environment. We make expenditures necessary for compliance with applicable environmental requirements at each of our operating facilities. We have not
experienced a material adverse effect upon our capital expenditures or competitive position as a result of environmental control legislation and regulations.

On September 8, 2017, Roxul USA, Inc. (d/b/a Rockfon) filed litigation against us in the United States District Court for the District of Delaware alleging
anticompetitive conduct seeking remedial measures and unspecified damages. Roxul USA, Inc. is a significant ceilings systems competitor with global
headquarters in Europe and expanding operations in the Americas. We believe the allegations are without merit and are vigorously defending the matter.

We are involved in various other lawsuits, claims, investigations and other legal matters from time to time that arise in the ordinary course of business, including
matters involving our products, intellectual property, relationships with suppliers, relationships with distributors, relationships with competitors, employees and
other matters. From time to time, for example, we may be a party to various litigation matters that involve product liability, tort liability and other claims under
various allegations, including illness due to exposure to certain chemicals used in the workplace; or medical conditions arising from exposure to product ingredients
or the presence of trace contaminants. Such allegations may involve multiple defendants and relate to legacy products that we and other defendants purportedly
manufactured or sold. We believe that any current claims are without merit and intend to defend them vigorously. For these matters, we also may have rights of
contribution or reimbursement from other parties or coverage under applicable insurance policies. When applicable and appropriate, we will pursue coverage and
recoveries under those policies, but are unable to predict the outcome of those demands. While complete assurance cannot be given to the outcome of these
proceedings, we



do not believe that any current claims, individually or in the aggregate, will have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, liquidity or results of
operations.

Liabilities of $13.5 million and $4.7 million as of December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively, were recorded for environmental liabilities that we
consider probable and for which a reasonable estimate of the probable liability could be made. See Note 27 to the Consolidated Financial Statements and Risk
Factors in Item 1A of this Form 10-K, for information regarding the possible effects that compliance with environmental laws and regulations may have on our
businesses and operating results.

Website

We maintain a website at http://www.armstrongceilings.com. Information contained on our website is not incorporated into this document. Annual reports on
Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, all amendments to those reports and other information about us are available free of
charge through this website as soon as reasonably practicable after the reports are electronically filed with the SEC. Reference in this Form 10-K to our website
and the SEC’s website is an inactive text reference only.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Unstable market and economic conditions could have a material adverse impact on our financial condition, liquidity or results of operations.

Our business is influenced by market and economic conditions, including inflation, deflation, interest rates, availability and cost of capital, consumer spending
rates, energy availability and the effects of governmental initiatives to manage economic conditions. Volatility in financial markets and the continued softness or
further deterioration of national and global economic conditions could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, liquidity or results of operations,
including as follows:

. the financial stability of our customers or suppliers may be compromised, which could result in additional bad debts for us or non-performance by
suppliers;
. commercial and residential consumers of our products may postpone spending in response to tighter credit, negative financial news and/or stagnation

or further declines in income or asset values, which could have a material adverse impact on the demand for our products;

. the value of investments underlying our defined benefit pension plans may decline, which could result in negative plan investment performance and
additional charges which may involve significant cash contributions to such plans, to meet obligations or regulatory requirements; and

. our asset impairment assessments and underlying valuation assumptions may change, which could result from changes to estimates of future sales
and cash flows that may lead to substantial impairment charges.

Continued or sustained deterioration of economic conditions would likely exacerbate and prolong these adverse effects.

Our business is dependent on construction activity. Downturns in construction activity could adversely affect our financial condition, liquidity or results of
operations.

Our businesses have greater sales opportunities when construction activity is strong and, conversely, have fewer opportunities when such activity declines. The
cyclical nature of commercial and residential construction activity, including construction activity funded by the public sector, tends to be influenced by prevailing
economic conditions, including the rate of growth in gross domestic product, prevailing interest rates, government spending patterns, business, investor and
consumer confidence and other factors beyond our control. Prolonged downturns in construction activity could have a material adverse effect on our financial
condition, liquidity or results of operations.

Our business could be adversely impacted as a result of uncertainty related to the proposed disposition of our EMEA and Pacific Rim businesses.

The proposed disposition of our EMEA and Pacific Rim businesses to Knauf could cause disruptions to our business or our business relationships, which could
have an adverse impact on our results of operations. For example, our employees may experience uncertainty about their future roles with us, which may adversely
affect our ability to hire and retain key personnel, and parties with which we have business relationships may experience uncertainty as to the future of such
relationships and seek alternative relationships with third parties or seek to alter their present business relationships with us. In addition, our management team and
other employees are devoting significant time and effort to activities related to the proposed disposition.



We have incurred and will continue to incur significant costs, expenses and fees for professional services and other transaction costs in connection with the
proposed disposition, and many of these fees and costs are payable regardless of whether or not the disposition is completed. In the event the disposition is not
completed for any reason, or the timing of its consu mmation is delayed, our operating results may be adversely affected as a result of the incurring of these
significant additional expenses and the diversion of management’s attention.

The proposed disposition of our EMEA and Pacific Rim businesses is subject to the receipt of consents and clearances from regulatory authorities that may
impose conditions that could have an adverse effect on us or Knauf or, if not obtained, could prevent the completion of the proposed disposition.

Before the proposed disposition of our EMEA and Pacific Rim businesses to Knauf may be completed, applicable waiting periods must expire or terminate under
antitrust and competition laws and clearances or approvals must be obtained from various regulatory entities. In deciding whether to grant antitrust or regulatory
clearances, the relevant governmental entities will consider the effect of the disposition on competition within their relevant jurisdiction.

There can be no assurance that regulators will not impose conditions, terms, obligations or restrictions to the consummation of the disposition and that such
conditions, terms, obligations or restrictions will not have the effect of delaying the completion of the disposition, or resulting in additional material costs to us. In
addition, we cannot provide assurance that any such conditions, terms, obligations or restrictions will not result in the delay or abandonment of the disposition.
Additionally, the completion of the disposition is conditioned on the absence of certain restraining orders or injunctions by judgment, court order or law that would
prohibit the completion of the disposition.

Our markets are highly competitive. Competition can reduce demand for our products or cause us to lower prices. Failure to compete effectively by meeting
consumer preferences, developing and marketing innovative solutions, maintaining strong customer service and distribution relationships, growing market
share, and expanding our solutions capabilities and reach could adversely affect our results.

Our markets are highly competitive. Competition can reduce demand for our products, negatively affect our product sales mix or cause us to lower prices. Failure
to compete effectively by meeting consumer preferences, developing and marketing innovative solutions, maintaining strong customer service and distribution
relationships, growing market share and expanding our solutions capabilities and reach could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, liquidity or
results of operations. Our customers consider our products’ performance, product styling, customer service and price when deciding whether to purchase our
products. Shifting consumer preference in our highly competitive markets, from acoustical solutions to other ceiling and wall products, for example, whether for
performance or styling preferences or our inability to develop and offer new competitive performance features could have an adverse effect on our sales. Similarly,
our ability to identify, protect and market new and innovative solutions is critical to our long-term growth strategy, namely to sell into more spaces and sell more
solutions in every space. In addition, excess industry capacity for certain products in several geographic markets could lead to industry consolidation and/or
increased price competition. In certain local markets, we are also subject to potential increased price competition from foreign competitors, which may have lower
cost structures.

Sales fluctuations to and changes in our relationships with key customers could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, liquidity or results of
operations.

Some of our markets are dependent on certain key customers, including independent distributors. The loss, reduction, or fluctuation of sales to key customers, or
any adverse change in our business relationship with them, whether as a result of competition, industry consolidation or otherwise, could have a material adverse
effect on our financial condition, liquidity or results of operations.

Customer consolidation, and competitive, economic and other pressures facing our customers, may put pressure on our operating margins and profitability.

A number of our customers, including distributors and contractors, have consolidated in recent years and consolidation could continue. Such consolidation could
impact margin growth and profitability as larger customers may realize benefits of scale with increased buying power and reduced inventories. The economic and
competitive landscape for our customers is constantly changing, and our customers' responses to those changes could impact our business. These factors and others
could have an adverse impact on our business, financial condition or results of operations.
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If the availability of raw materials or energy decreases, or the costs increase, and we are unable to pass along increased costs, our financial condition, liquidity
or results of operations could be adversely affected.

The availability and cost of raw materials, packaging materials, energy and sourced products are critical to our operations. For example, we use substantial
quantities of natural gas and petroleum-based raw materials in our manufacturing operations. The cost of some of these items has been volatile in recent years and
availability has been limited at times. We source some materials from a limited number of suppliers, which, among other things, increases the risk of
unavailability. Limited availability could cause us to reformulate products or limit our production. Decreased access to raw materials and energy or significant
increased cost to purchase these items and any corresponding inability to pass along such costs through price increases could have a material adverse effect on our
financial condition, liquidity or results of operations.

The performance of our WAVE joint venture is important to our financial results. Changes in the demand for, or quality of, WAVE products, or in the
operational or financial performance of the WAVE joint venture, could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, liquidity or results of
operations. Similarly, if there is a change with respect to our joint venture partner that adversely impacts its relationship with us, WAVE’s performance could
be adversely impacted.

Our equity investment in our WAVE joint venture remains important to our financial results. We believe an important element in the success of this joint venture
is the relationship with our partner, Worthington Industries, Inc. If there is a change in ownership, a change of control, a change in management or management
philosophy, a change in business strategy or another event with respect to our partner that adversely impacts our relationship, WAVE’s performance could be
adversely impacted. In addition, our partner may have economic or business interests or goals that are different from or inconsistent with our interests or goals,
which may impact our ability to influence or align WAVE’s strategy and operations.

We may be subject to liability under, and may make substantial future expenditures to comply with, environmental laws and regulations, which could
materially adversely affect our financial condition, liquidity or results of operations.

We are actively involved in environmental investigation and remediation activities relating to several domestically owned, formerly owned and non-owned
locations allegedly resulting from past industrial activity, for which our ultimate liability may exceed the currently estimated and accrued amounts. See Note 27 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information related to our current environmental matters and the potential liabilities associated therewith. It is
also possible that we could become subject to additional environmental matters and corresponding liabilities in the future.

The building materials industry has been subject to claims relating to raw materials such as silicates, polychlorinated biphenyl (“PCB”), PVC, formaldehyde, fire-
retardants and claims relating to other issues such as mold and toxic fumes, as well as claims for incidents of catastrophic loss, such as building fires. We have not
received any significant claims involving our raw materials or our product performance; however, product liability insurance coverage may not be available or
adequate in all circumstances to cover claims that may arise in the future.

In addition, our operations are subject to various environmental, health, and safety laws and regulations. These laws and regulations not only govern our current
operations and products, but also impose potential liability on us for our past operations. Our costs to comply with these laws and regulations may increase as these
requirements become more stringent in the future, and these increased costs may materially adversely affect our financial condition, liquidity or results of
operations.

The agreements that govern our indebtedness contain a number of covenants that impose significant operating and financial restrictions, including restrictions
on our ability to engage in activities that may be in our best long-term interests.

The agreements that govern our indebtedness include covenants that, among other things, may impose significant operating and financial restrictions, including
restrictions on our ability to engage in activities that may be in our best long-term interests. These covenants may restrict our ability to:

. incur additional debt;

. pay dividends on or make other distributions in respect of our capital stock or redeem, repurchase or retire our capital stock or subordinated debt or
make certain other restricted payments;

. make certain acquisitions;

. sell certain assets;

. consolidate, merge, sell or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of our assets; and
. create liens on certain assets to secure debt.
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Under the terms of our senior secured credit facility, we are required to maintain specified leverage and interest coverage ratios. Our ability to meet these ratios
could be affected by events beyond our control, and we cannot assure that we will meet them. A breach of any of the restrictive covenants or ratios would result in
a default under the senior secured credit facility. If any such default occurs, the lenders under the senior secured credit facility may b e able to elect to declare all
outstanding borrowings under our facilities, together with accrued interest and other fees, to be immediately due and payable, or enforce their security interest. The
lenders may also have the right in these circumstances to terminate commitments to provide further borrowings.

Our indebtedness may adversely affect our cash flow and our ability to operate our business, make payments on our indebtedness and declare dividends on our
capital stock.

Our level of indebtedness and degree of leverage could:

. make it more difficult for us to satisfy our obligations with respect to our indebtedness;

. make us more vulnerable to adverse changes in general economic, industry and competitive conditions and adverse changes in government
regulation;

. limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industry in which we operate;

. place us at a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors that are less leveraged and, therefore, more able to take advantage of

opportunities that our leverage prevents us from exploiting;

. limit our ability to refinance existing indebtedness or borrow additional amounts for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions, debt service
requirements, execution of our business strategy or other purposes;

. restrict our ability to pay dividends on our capital stock; and

. adversely affect our credit ratings.

We may also incur additional indebtedness, which could exacerbate the risks described above. In addition, to the extent that our indebtedness bears interest at
floating rates, our sensitivity to interest rate fluctuations will increase.

Any of the above listed factors could materially adversely affect our financial condition, liquidity or results of operations.

We require a significant amount of liquidity to fund our operations, and borrowing has increased our vulnerability to negative unforeseen events.

Our liquidity needs vary throughout the year. If our business experiences materially negative unforeseen events, we may be unable to generate sufficient cash flow
from operations to fund our needs or maintain sufficient liquidity to operate and remain in compliance with our debt covenants, which could result in reduced or
delayed planned capital expenditures and other investments and adversely affect our financial condition or results of operations.

We are subject to risks associated with our international operations in both established and emerging markets. Legislative, political, regulatory and economic
volatility, as well as vulnerability to infrastructure and labor disruptions, could have an adverse effect on our financial condition, liquidity or results of
operations.

On November 20, 2017, we announced that we had entered into a definitive agreement with Knauf to sell our EMEA and Pacific Rim businesses. This transaction,
which is subject to regulatory approvals and other customary conditions, is currently anticipated to close in mid-2018.

A significant portion of our products move in international trade. See Notes 3 and 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information. Our
international trade is subject to currency exchange fluctuations, trade regulations, import duties, logistics costs, delays and other related risks. Our international
operations are also subject to various tax rates, credit risks in emerging markets, political risks, uncertain legal systems, high costs in repatriating profits to the
United States from some countries, and loss of sales to local competitors following currency devaluations in countries where we import products for sale. In
addition, our international growth strategy depends, in part, on our ability to expand our operations in certain emerging markets. However, some emerging markets
have greater political and economic volatility and greater vulnerability to infrastructure and labor disruptions than established markets. Similarly, our efforts to
enhance the profitability or accelerate the growth of our operations in certain markets depends largely on the economic and geopolitical conditions in those local or
regional markets.

In addition, in many countries outside of the United States, particularly in those with developing economies, it may be common for others to engage in business
practices prohibited by laws and regulations applicable to us, such as the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act or
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similar local anti-corruption or anti-bribery laws. These laws generally prohibit companies and their employees, contractors or agents from making improper
payments to government officials for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business. Failure to comply wit h these laws, as well as U.S. and foreign export and
trading laws, could subject us to civil and criminal penalties. As we continue to expand our business, we may have difficulty anticipating and effectively managing
these and other risks that our operati ons may face, which may adversely affect our business outside the United States and our financial condition, liquidity or
results of operations.

We may pursue strategic transactions that could create risks and present unforeseen integration obstacles or costs, any of which could materially adversely
affect our financial condition, liquidity or results of operations.

We have evaluated, and expect to continue to evaluate, potential strategic transactions as opportunities arise. We routinely engage in discussions with third parties
regarding potential transactions, including joint ventures, which could be significant. Any such strategic transaction involves a number of risks, including potential
disruption of our ongoing business and distraction of management, difficulty with integrating or separating personnel and business operations and infrastructure,
and increasing or decreasing the scope, geographic diversity and complexity of our operations. Strategic transactions could involve payment by us of a substantial
amount of cash, assumption of liabilities and indemnification obligations, regulatory requirements, incurrence of a substantial amount of debt or issuance of a
substantial amount of equity. Certain strategic opportunities may not result in the consummation of a transaction or may fail to realize the intended benefits and
synergies. If we fail to consummate and integrate our strategic transactions in a timely and cost-effective manner, our financial condition, liquidity or results of
operation could be materially and adversely affected.

Negative tax consequences can have an unanticipated effect on our financial results.

We are subject to the tax laws of the many jurisdictions in which we operate. The tax laws are complex, and the manner in which they apply to our operations and
results is sometimes open to interpretation. Because our income tax expense for any period depends heavily on the mix of income derived from the various taxing
jurisdictions, our income tax expense and reported net income may fluctuate significantly, and may be materially different than forecasted or experienced in the
past. Our financial condition, liquidity, results of operations or tax liability could be adversely affected by changes in the effective tax rate as a result of a change in
the mix of earnings in countries with differing statutory tax rates, changes in our overall profitability, changes in tax legislation and rates, changes in the amount of
earnings permanently reinvested offshore, the results of examinations of previously filed tax returns, and ongoing assessments of our tax exposures.

Our financial condition, liquidity, results of operations or tax liability could also be adversely affected by changes in the valuation of deferred tax assets and
liabilities. We have substantial deferred tax assets related to U.S. domestic foreign tax credits, or FTCs, and state net operating losses, or NOLs, which are available
to reduce our U.S. income tax liability and to offset future state taxable income. However, our ability to utilize the current carrying value of these deferred tax
assets may be impacted as a result of certain future events, such as changes in tax legislation and insufficient future taxable income prior to expiration of the FTCs
and NOLs.

If the separation and distribution of Armstrong Flooring, Inc. (“AFI”) fails to qualify as a tax-free transaction for U.S. federal income tax purposes, then AFI,
AWI and AWI’s shareholders could be subject to significant tax liability or tax indemnity obligations.

On April 1, 2016, we completed our previously announced separation of AFI by allocating the assets and liabilities related primarily to the Resilient Flooring and
Wood Flooring segments to AFI and then distributing the common stock of AFI to our shareholders at a ratio of one share of AFI common stock for every two
shares of AWI common stock. In connection with the distribution, we received an opinion from our special tax counsel, on the basis of certain facts,
representations, covenants and assumptions set forth in such opinion, substantially to the effect that, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, the separation and
distribution should qualify as a transaction that generally is tax-free to us and our shareholders under Sections 355 and 368(a)(1)(D) of the Internal Revenue Code.

Notwithstanding the tax opinion, the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) could determine on audit that the distribution should be treated as a taxable transaction if it
determines that any of the facts, assumptions, representations or covenants set forth in the tax opinion is not correct or has been violated, or that the distribution
should be taxable for other reasons, including as a result of a significant change in stock or asset ownership after the distribution, or if the IRS were to disagree with
the conclusions of the tax opinion. If the distribution is ultimately determined to be taxable, the distribution could be treated as a taxable dividend to each U.S.
holder of our common shares who receives shares of AFI in connection with the spinoff for U.S. federal income tax purposes, and such shareholders could incur
significant U.S. federal income tax liabilities. In addition, we and/or AFI could incur significant U.S. federal income tax liabilities or tax indemnification
obligations, whether under applicable law or the Tax Matters Agreement that we entered into with AFI, if it is ultimately determined that certain related
transactions undertaken in anticipation of the distribution are taxable.
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Significant changes in factors and assumptions used to measure our defined benefit plan obligations, actual investment returns on pension assets and other
factors could negatively impact our operating results and cash flows.

We maintain pension and postretirement plans throughout the world, with the most significant plans located in the U.S. The recognition of costs and liabilities
associated with these plans for financial reporting purposes is affected by assumptions made by management and used by actuaries engaged by us to calculate the
benefit obligations and the expenses recognized for these plans.

The inputs used in developing the required estimates are calculated using a number of assumptions, which represent management’s best estimate of the future. The
assumptions that have the most significant impact on reported results are the discount rate, the estimated long-term return on plan assets for the funded plans,
retirement rates, and mortality rates and, for postretirement plans, the estimated inflation in health care costs. These assumptions are generally updated annually.

Our U.S. pension plans were overfunded by $29.6 million as of December 31, 2017. Our unfunded U.S. postretirement plan liabilities were $86.6 million as of
December 31, 2017. If our cash flows and capital resources are insufficient to fund our pension and postretirement plans obligations, we could be forced to reduce
or delay investments and capital expenditures, seek additional capital, or restructure or refinance our indebtedness.

A disruption in our information technology systems due to a catastrophic event or security breach could interrupt or damage our operations.

In the conduct of our business, we collect, use, transmit and store data on information systems, which are vulnerable to an increasing threat of continually evolving
cyber security risks. Any security breach or compromise of our information systems could significantly damage our reputation, cause the disclosure of confidential
customer, employee, supplier or company information, including our intellectual property, and result in significant losses, litigation, fines and costs. The security
measures we have implemented to protect against unauthorized access to our information systems and data may not be sufficient to prevent breaches. The
regulatory environment related to information security, data collection and privacy is evolving, with new and constantly changing requirements applicable to our
business, and compliance with those requirements could result in additional costs.

We also compete through our use and improvement of information technology. In order to remain competitive, we need to provide customers with timely, accurate,
easy-to-access information about product availability, orders and delivery status using state-of-the-art systems. While we have processes for short-term failures and
disaster recovery capability, a prolonged disruption of systems or other failure to meet customers’ expectations regarding the capabilities and reliability of our
systems may materially and adversely affect our operating results.

Adverse judgments in regulatory actions, product claims, environmental claims and other litigation could be costly. Insurance coverage may not be available
or adequate in all circumstances.

In the ordinary course of business, we are subject to various claims and litigation. Any such claims, whether with or without merit, could be time consuming and
expensive to defend and could divert management’s attention and resources. While we strive to ensure that our products comply with applicable government
regulatory standards and internal requirements, and that our products perform effectively and safely, customers from time to time could claim that our products do
not meet warranty or contractual requirements, and users could claim to be harmed by use or misuse of our products. These claims could give rise to breach of
contract, warranty or recall claims, or claims for negligence, product liability, strict liability, personal injury or property damage. They could also result in negative
publicity.

In addition, claims and investigations may arise related to patent infringement, distributor relationships, commercial contracts, antitrust or competition law
requirements, employment matters, employee benefits issues, and other compliance and regulatory matters, including anti-corruption and anti-bribery

matters. While we have processes and policies designed to mitigate these risks and to investigate and address such claims as they arise, we cannot predict or, in
some cases, control the costs to defend or resolve such claims.

We currently maintain insurance against some, but not all, of these potential claims. In the future, we may not be able to maintain insurance at commercially
acceptable premium levels. In addition, the levels of insurance we maintain may not be adequate to fully cover any and all losses or liabilities. If any significant
judgment or claim is not fully insured or indemnified against, it could have a material adverse impact. We cannot assure that the outcome of all current or future
litigation will not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, liquidity or results of operations.
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Increased costs of labor, labor disputes, work stoppages or union organizing activity could delay or impede production and coul d have a material adverse effect
on our financial condition, liquidity or results of operations.

Increased costs of labor, including the costs of employee benefits plans, labor disputes, work stoppages or union organizing activity could delay or impede
production and have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, liquidity or results of operations. As the majority of our manufacturing employees are
represented by unions and covered by collective bargaining or similar agreements, we often incur costs attributable to periodic renegotiation of those agreements,
which may be difficult to project. We are also subject to the risk that strikes or other conflicts with organized personnel may arise or that we may become the
subject of union organizing activity at our facilities that do not currently have union representation. Prolonged negotiations, conflicts or related activities could also
lead to costly work stoppages and loss of productivity.

Our intellectual property rights may not provide meaningful commercial protection for our products or brands, which could adversely impact our financial
condition, liquidity or results of operations.

We rely on our proprietary intellectual property, including numerous patents and registered trademarks, as well as our licensed intellectual property to market,
promote and sell our products. We monitor and protect against activities that might infringe, dilute, or otherwise harm our patents, trademarks and other
intellectual property and rely on the patent, trademark and other laws of the U.S. and other countries. However, we may be unable to prevent third parties from
using our intellectual property without our authorization. In addition, the laws of some non-U.S. jurisdictions, particularly those of certain emerging markets,
provide less protection for our proprietary rights than the laws of the U.S. and present greater risks of counterfeiting and other infringement. To the extent we
cannot protect our intellectual property, unauthorized use and misuse of our intellectual property could harm our competitive position and have a material adverse
effect on our financial condition, liquidity or results of operations.

Our cost-saving and productivity initiatives may not achieve expected savings in our operating costs or improved operating results.

We aggressively look for ways to make our operations more efficient and effective. We reduce, move, modify and expand our plants and operations, as well as our
sourcing and supply chain arrangements, as needed, to control costs and improve productivity. Such actions involve substantial planning, often require capital
investments and may result in charges for fixed asset impairments or obsolescence and substantial severance costs. Our ability to achieve cost savings and other
benefits within expected time frames is subject to many estimates and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions are subject to significant economic,
competitive and other uncertainties, some of which are beyond our control. If these estimates and assumptions are incorrect, if we experience delays, or if other
unforeseen events occur, our financial condition, liquidity or results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We own a 100-acre, multi-building campus in Lancaster, Pennsylvania comprising the site of our corporate headquarters and most of our non-manufacturing
operations.

As of December 31, 2017, we had 16 manufacturing plants in eight countries. Three of our plants are leased and the remaining 13 are owned. We operate eight
plants located throughout the United States. In addition, our WAVE joint venture operates nine additional plants in five countries.

Upon closure of the sale of our EMEA and Pacific Rim businesses, we will have ten plants, including eight plants in the U.S. One of our plants will be leased and
the remaining nine will be owned.
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Number of

Operating Segment Plants Location of Principal Facilities
Mineral Fiber 6 U.S. (Florida, Georgia, Ohio, Oregon, Pennsylvania and West Virginia)
Architectural Specialties 3 U.S. (Ohio), Canada
Unallocated Corporate 1 China

During the fourth quarter of 2016, we idled one of our plants in China, which is reported as a component of our Unallocated Corporate segment as it will be
retained by AWI after the sale of our Pacific Rim business. During the fourth quarter of 2017, we announced the closing of our St. Helens, Oregon mineral fiber
manufacturing facility, expected to occur in the first half of 2018.

Sales and administrative offices are leased and/or owned worldwide, and leased facilities are utilized to supplement our owned warehousing facilities.

Production capacity and the extent of utilization of our facilities are difficult to quantify with certainty. In any one facility, utilization of our capacity varies
periodically depending upon demand for the product that is being manufactured. We believe our facilities are adequate and suitable to support the

business. Additional incremental investments in plant facilities are made as appropriate to balance capacity with anticipated demand, improve quality and service,
and reduce costs.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

See the “Specific Material Events” section of the “Environmental Matters™ section of Note 27 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, which is incorporated
herein by reference, for a description of our significant legal proceedings.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF
EQUITY SECURITIES

AWTI’s common shares trade on the New York Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol “AWL” As of February 21, 2018, there were approximately 270 holders of
record of AWI’s common stock.

First Second Third Fourth Total Year
2017
Price range of common stock - high $ 48.00 $ 4795 $ 5198 § 61.50 § 61.50
Price range of common stock - low $ 3845 § 4120 S 4377 3 4925 $ 38.45
2016
Price range of common stock - high $ 48.66 $ 4839 § 4575 $ 45.00 $ 48.66
Price range of common stock - low $ 3592 § 3633 $ 3749 $§ 3638 § 35.92

The above figures represent the high and low intra-day sale prices for our common stock as reported by the New York Stock Exchange. Historical prices have not
been restated as a result of our separation of AFI on April 1, 2016.

There were no cash dividends declared during 2017 or 2016.

Dividends are paid when declared by our Board of Directors and in accordance with restrictions set forth in our debt agreements. In general, our debt agreements
allow us to make “restricted payments,” which include dividends and stock repurchases, subject to certain limitations and other restrictions and provided that we
are in compliance with the financial and other covenants of our debt agreements and meet certain liquidity requirements after giving effect to the restricted
payment. For further discussion of the debt agreements, see the Financial Condition and Liquidity section of Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations in Item 7 and Risk Factors in Item 1A in this Form 10-K.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Maximum
Total Number of Approximate Value
Shares of
Purchased as Shares that may
Total Number of Part of Publicly yet be Purchased
Shares Average Price Announced Plans under the Plans
Period Purchased 1 Paid per Share or Programs or Programs
October 1 —31, 2017 = $ o - 8 280,864,974
November 1 — 30, 2017 509 $ 51.50 - 280,864,974
December 1 — 31,2017 84,865 $ 59.56 83,943 275,865,282
Total 85,374 83,943
1 Includes shares reacquired through the withholding of shares to pay employee tax obligations upon the exercise of options or vesting of restricted shares

previously granted under long-term incentive plans. For more information regarding securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation
plans, see Note 21 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Form 10-K.

On July 29, 2016, the Company announced that its Board of Directors had approved a share repurchase program pursuant to which the Company is authorized to
repurchase up to $150.0 million of its outstanding shares of common stock through July 31, 2018 (the “Program™). On October 31, 2017, we announced that our
Board of Directors had approved an additional $250.0 million authorization to repurchase shares of our outstanding common stock under the Program. The
Program was also extended to October 31, 2020. Repurchases under the Program may be made through open market, block and privately-negotiated transactions,
including Rule 10b5-1 plans, at times and in such amounts as management deems appropriate, subject to market and business conditions, regulatory requirements
and other factors. The Program does not obligate the Company to repurchase any particular amount of common stock and may be suspended or discontinued at any
time without notice. During 2017, 1.8 million shares were repurchased under the Program for a total cost of $80.4 million, or an average price of $43.58 per
share. Since inception of the Program, we have repurchased 2.95 million shares under the Program for a total cost of $124.2 million, or an average price of $42.03
per share.

16



ITEM 6. SELECTE D FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected historical consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial statements, the accompanying

notes and Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations included in this Form 10-K. The selected historical

consolidated financial data for the periods presented have been derived from our audited consolidated financial statements.

(amounts in millions, except for per-share data)
Income statement data
Net sales
Operating income
Earnings from continuing operations
Per common share - basic (a)
Per common share - diluted (a)
Dividends declared per share of common stock

Balance sheet data (end of period)
Total assets

Long-term debt

Total shareholders' equity

Notes:

(a) See definition of basic and diluted earnings per share in Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
893.6 $ 837.3 805.1 798.3 780.8
255.1 188.9 157.0 203.1 186.3
220.6 99.3 57.9 104.6 913

412§ 1.79 1.04 1.89 1.57
408 $ 1.78 1.03 1.88 1.55
1,873.5 $ 1,758.0 2,687.2 2,599.6 2,907.7
817.7 848.6 936.1 986.3 1,023.7
419.3 266.4 768.8 649.1 673.2



ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Armstrong World Industries, Inc. (“AWI”) is a Pennsylvania corporation incorporated in 1891.

This discussion should be read in conjunction with the financial statements, the accompanying notes, the cautionary note regarding forward-looking statements and
risk factors included in this Form 10-K.

Overview

We are a global leader in the design, innovation and manufacture of commercial and residential ceiling, wall and suspension system solutions. We design,
manufacture and sell ceiling systems (primarily mineral fiber, fiberglass wool and metal) throughout the Americas.

On November 17, 2017, we entered into a Share Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) with Knauf International GmbH (“Knauf™), to sell certain
subsidiaries comprising our business in Europe, the Middle East and Africa (including Russia) (“EMEA”) and the Pacific Rim, including the corresponding
businesses and operations conducted by Worthington Armstrong Venture (“WAVE”), our joint venture with Worthington Industries, Inc., in which AWI holds a
50% interest. The total consideration to be paid by Knauf in connection with the sale is $330 million in cash, inclusive of amounts due to WAVE, subject to certain
adjustments as provided in the Purchase Agreement, including adjustments based on the economic impact of any required regulatory remedies and a working
capital adjustment. The transaction, which is subject to regulatory approvals and other customary conditions, is currently anticipated to close in mid-2018. EMEA
and Pacific Rim segment historical financial results have been reflected in AWI’s Consolidated Financial Statements as discontinued operations for all periods
presented.

In January 2017, we acquired the business and assets of Tectum, Inc. (“Tectum”), based in Newark, Ohio. Tectum is a manufacturer of acoustical ceiling, wall and
structural solutions for commercial building applications with two manufacturing facilities. Tectum’s operations from the date of acquisition, and its assets and
liabilities as of December 31, 2017, have been included as a component of our Architectural Specialties segment.

On April 1, 2016, we completed our separation of Armstrong Flooring, Inc. (“AFI””). AFI’s historical financial results have been reflected in AWI’s Consolidated
Financial Statements as a discontinued operation for all periods presented.

See Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information related to our acquisitions and discontinued operations.

As of December 31, 2017, we had 16 manufacturing plants in eight countries, including eight plants located throughout the U.S. During the fourth quarter of 2016
we idled one of our mineral fiber plants in China, reported as a component of our Unallocated Corporate segment as it will be retained by AWI after the sale of the
Pacific Rim business. Upon closure of the sale of our EMEA and Pacific Rim businesses, we will have ten plants, including eight plants in the U.S.

During the fourth quarter of 2017, we announced the closing of our St. Helens, Oregon mineral fiber manufacturing facility, expected to occur in the first half of
2018.

WAVE operates 9 additional plants in five countries to produce suspension system (grid) products, which we use and sell in our ceiling systems. Upon closure of
the sale of its corresponding EMEA and Pacific Rim businesses, WAVE will operate five plants in the U.S.

Reportable Segments

Effective December 31, 2017 and in connection with the anticipated sale of our EMEA and Pacific Rim businesses, our EMEA and Pacific Rim segments have
been excluded from our results of continuing operations. As a result, effective December 31, 2017 and for all periods presented, our operating segments are as
follows: Mineral Fiber, Architectural Specialties and Unallocated Corporate.

Mineral Fiber — produces suspended mineral fiber and soft fiber ceiling systems for use in commercial and residential settings. Products offer various performance
attributes such as acoustical control, rated fire protection and aesthetic appeal. Commercial ceiling products are sold to resale distributors and to ceiling systems
contractors. Residential ceiling products are sold primarily to wholesalers and retailers (including large home centers). The Mineral Fiber segment also includes
the results of WAVE, which manufactures suspension system (grid) products and ceiling component products that are invoiced by both us and WAVE. Segment
results relating to WAVE consist primarily of equity earnings and reflect our 50% equity interest in the joint venture. Ceiling component products consist of
ceiling perimeters and trim, in addition to grid products that support drywall ceiling systems. To a
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lesser extent, however, in some markets, WAVE sells its suspension systems products to us for resale to customers. Mineral Fiber segment results reflect those
sales transactions.

Architectural Specialties — produces and sources ceilings and walls for use in commercial settings. Products are available in numerous materials, such as metal and
wood, in addition to various colors, shapes and designs. Products offer various performance attributes such as acoustical control, rated fire protection and aesthetic
appeal. We produce standard and customized products, with the majority of Architectural Specialties revenues derived from sourced products. Architectural
Specialties products are sold to resale distributors and ceiling systems contractors. The majority of revenues are project driven, which can lead to more volatile
sales patterns due to project scheduling.

Unallocated Corporate — includes assets, liabilities, income and expenses that have not been allocated to our other business segments and consist of: cash and cash
equivalents, the net funded status of our U.S. Retirement Income Plan (“RIP”), the estimated fair value of interest rate swap contracts, outstanding borrowings
under our senior credit facilities and income tax balances. Effective December 31, 2017 and for all periods presented, our Unallocated Corporate segment also
includes all assets, liabilities, income and expenses formerly reported in our EMEA and Pacific Rim segments that are not included in the pending sale to Knauf.

Factors Affecting Revenues

For information on our segments’ 2017 net sales by geography, see Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Form 10-K.

Markets. We compete in building material markets in the Americas. We closely monitor publicly available macroeconomic trends that provide insight into
commercial and residential market activity, including GDP, office vacancy rates, the Architecture Billings Index, new commercial construction starts, state and
local government spending, corporate profits and retail sales.

In addition, we noted several factors and trends within our markets that directly affected our business performance during 2017, including:

Mineral Fiber

We experienced lower renovation activity, partially offset by growth from new construction, leading to a slight overall decline in volume.

Architectural Specialties

We experienced strong growth due to new commercial construction activity and increased market penetration, partially driven by the acquisition of Tectum.

Average Unit Value . We periodically modify sales prices of our products due to changes in costs for raw materials and energy, market conditions and the
competitive environment. In certain cases, realized price increases are less than the announced price increases because of project pricing, competitive reactions and
changing market conditions. Additionally, we offer a wide assortment of products that are differentiated by style, design and performance attributes. Pricing and
margins for products within the assortment vary. In addition, changes in the relative quantity of products purchased at different price points can impact year-to-
year comparisons of net sales and operating income. We focus on improving sales dollars per unit sold, or average unit value (“AUV”), as a measure that accounts
for the varying assortment of products and geographic mix impacting our revenues. We estimate that favorable AUV increased our Mineral Fiber and total
consolidated net sales for 2017 by approximately $29 million compared to 2016. Architectural Specialties revenues are generally earned based on individual
contracts that include a mix of products, manufactured by us and sourced, that vary by project. As such, we do not track AUV performance for this segment, but
rather attribute all changes in net sales to volume.

In the first and fourth quarters of 2017, we implemented ceiling tile pricing increases. We also implemented a pricing increase on grid products in the third quarter
of 2017. Finally, in the fourth quarter of 2017 we also announced price increases on certain architectural specialties products, ceiling tile and grid products
effective in the first quarter of 2018. We may implement additional pricing actions based on numerous factors, most notably upon future movements in raw
material prices.
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Factors Affecting Operating Costs

Operating Expenses. Our operating expenses are comprised of direct production costs (principally raw materials, labor and energy), manufacturing overhead
costs, freight, costs to purchase sourced products and selling, general, and administrative (“SG&A”) expenses.

Our largest individual raw material expenditures are for fiberglass, perlite, starch, waste paper, pigments and clays. We manufacture most of the production needs
for mineral wool at one of our manufacturing facilities. Natural gas and packaging materials are also significant input costs. Fluctuations in the prices of these
inputs are generally beyond our control and have a direct impact on our financial results. In 2017, the costs for raw materials, sourced products and energy
negatively impacted operating income by approximately $3 million, compared to 2016.

During the fourth quarter of 2017, we announced the closing of our St. Helens, Oregon mineral fiber manufacturing facility, expected to occur in the first half of
2018. Production activity will move to existing facilities in the U.S. We will continue to evaluate the efficiency of our manufacturing footprint and may take
additional actions in support of our cost and standardization initiatives. The charges associated with any additional cost reduction initiatives could include
severance and related termination benefits, fixed asset write-downs, asset impairments and accelerated depreciation and may be material to our financial statements.

See also “Results of Operations” for further discussion of other significant items affecting operating costs.

Employees

As of December 31, 2017, we had approximately 3,900 full-time and part-time employees worldwide compared to approximately 3,700 as of December 31,

2016. Excluding our EMEA and Pacific Rim businesses, we had approximately 2,200 employees as of December 31, 2017 compared to approximately 2,000 as of
December 31,2016. The increase in total worldwide employees as of December 31, 2017 in comparison to December 31, 2016 was primarily due to our addition
of Tectum employees, partially offset by a reduction of employees related to the closure of one of our plants in China.

Collective bargaining agreements covering approximately 460 employees at two U.S. plants will expire during 2018. We believe that our relations with our
employees are satisfactory.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

In preparing our consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”), we are required to make certain
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. We evaluate our estimates and assumptions on an on-going basis,
using relevant internal and external information. We believe that our estimates and assumptions are reasonable. However, actual results may differ from what was
estimated and could have a significant impact on the financial statements.

We have identified the following as our critical accounting estimates. We have discussed these critical accounting estimates with our Audit Committee.

U.S. Pension Credit and Postretirement Benefit Costs — We maintain pension and postretirement plans throughout the world, with the most significant plans located
in the U.S. Our defined benefit pension and postretirement benefit costs are developed from actuarial valuations. These valuations are calculated using a number
of assumptions, which represent management’s best estimate of the future. The assumptions that have the most significant impact on reported results are the
discount rate, the estimated long-term return on plan assets and the estimated inflation in health care costs. These assumptions are generally updated annually.

Management utilizes the Aon Hewitt AA only above median yield curve, which is a hypothetical AA yield curve comprised of a series of annualized individual
discount rates, as the primary basis for determining discount rates. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, we assumed discount rates of 3.63% and 4.12%,
respectively, for the U.S. defined benefit pension plans. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, we assumed a discount rates of 3.60% and 4.10%, respectively, for
the U.S. postretirement plan. The effects of the change in discount rate will be amortized into earnings as described below. Absent any other changes, a one-
quarter percentage point increase or decrease in the discount rates for the U.S. pension and postretirement plans would not have a material impact on 2018
operating income.
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We manage two U.S. defined benefit pension plans, our RIP, which is a qualified funded plan, and a nonqualified unfunded plan. For the RIP, the expected long-
term return on plan assets represents a long-term view of the future estimated investment return on plan assets. This estimate is d etermined based on the target
allocation of plan assets among asset classes and input from investment professionals on the expected performance of the asset classes over 10 to 30

years. Historical asset returns are monitored and considered when we develop our expected long-term return on plan assets. An incremental component is added
for the expected return from active management based on historical information obtained from the plan’s investment consultants. These forecasted gross returns
are reduced by estimated management fees and expenses. Over the 10 year period ended December 31, 2017, the historical annualized return was approximately
5.5% compared to an average expected return of 7.1%. The actual gain on plan assets achieved for 2017 was 12.4%. The difference between the actual and
expected rate of return on plan assets will be amortized into earnings as described below.

The expected long-term return on plan assets used in determining our 2017 U.S. pension cost was 6.50%. We have assumed a return on plan assets for 2018 of
6.50%. The 2018 expected return on assets was calculated in a manner consistent with 2017. A one-quarter percentage point increase or decrease in this
assumption would increase or decrease 2018 operating income by approximately $3.7 million.

Contributions to the unfunded plan were $3.9 million in 2017 and were made on a monthly basis to fund benefit payments. We estimate the 2018 contributions will
be approximately $4.0 million. See Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for more information.

The estimated inflation in health care costs represents a 5-10 year view of the expected inflation in our postretirement health care costs. We separately estimate
expected health care cost increases for pre-65 retirees and post-65 retirees due to the influence of Medicare coverage at age 65, as illustrated below:

Assumptions Actual
Post 65 Pre 65 Post 65 Pre 65
2016 9.0 % 75 % 8.6 % 33 %
2017 85 % 73 % 6.8 % 113 %
2018 92 % 8.0 %

The difference between the actual and expected health care costs is amortized into earnings as described below. As of December 31, 2017, health care cost
increases are estimated to decrease ratably until 2026, after which they are estimated to be constant at 4.5%. A one percentage point increase or decrease in the
assumed health care cost trend rate would not have a material impact on 2018 operating income. See Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for more
information.

Actual results that differ from our various pension and postretirement plan estimates are captured as actuarial gains/losses. When certain thresholds are met, the
gains and losses are amortized into future earnings over the remaining life expectancy of participants. Changes in assumptions could have significant effects on
earnings in future years.

We recognized a decrease in net actuarial losses related to our U.S. pension benefit plans of $34.8 million in 2017 primarily due to a better than expected return on
assets and a partial settlement of the RIP in 2017, partially offset by changes in actuarial assumptions (most significantly a 49 basis point decrease in the discount
rate). The $34.8 million actuarial gain impacting our U.S. pension plans is reflected as a component of other comprehensive income in our Consolidated Statement
of Earnings and Comprehensive Income along with actuarial gains and losses from our foreign pension plan and our U.S. postretirement benefit plan.

Income Taxes — Our effective tax rate is primarily determined based on our pre-tax income and the statutory income tax rates in the jurisdictions in which we
operate. The effective tax rate also reflects the tax impacts of items treated differently for tax purposes than for financial reporting purposes. Some of these
differences are permanent, such as expenses that are not deductible in our tax returns, and some differences are temporary, reversing over time, such as depreciation
expense. These temporary differences create deferred income tax assets and liabilities. Deferred income tax assets are also recorded for net operating loss
(“NOL”) and foreign tax credit (“FTC”) carryforwards.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized by applying enacted tax rates to temporary differences that exist as of the balance sheet date. We reduce
the carrying amounts of deferred tax assets by a valuation allowance if, based on the available evidence, it is more likely than not that such assets will not be
realized. The need to establish valuation allowances for deferred tax assets is assessed quarterly. In assessing the requirement for, and amount of, a valuation
allowance in accordance with the more likely than not standard, we give appropriate consideration to all positive and negative evidence related to the realization of
the deferred tax assets. This assessment considers, among other matters, the nature, frequency and severity of current and cumulative losses, forecasts
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of future profitability and foreign source income (“FSI”), the duration of statutory carryforward periods, and our experience with operating loss and tax credit
carryforward expirations. A history of cumulative losses is a significant piece of negative evidence used in our assessment. If a history of cumulative losses is
incurred for a tax jurisdiction, forecasts of future profitability are not used as positive evidence related to the realization of the deferred tax assets in the assessment.

As of December 31, 2017, we have recorded valuation allowances totaling $47.4 million for various federal, state, and foreign deferred tax assets. While we have
considered future taxable income in assessing the need for the valuation allowances based on our best available projections, if these estimates and assumptions
change in the future or if actual results differ from our projections, we may be required to adjust our valuation allowances accordingly. Such adjustments could be
material to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

As further described in Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, our Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2017 includes net deferred income
tax assets of $96.8 million. Included in this amount are deferred federal income tax assets for FTC carryforwards of $15.7 million, and state NOL deferred income
tax assets of $35.6 million. We have established valuation allowances in the amount of $47.4 million consisting of $10.3 million for federal deferred tax assets
related to FTC carryovers, $17.7 million for d ifferences between book and tax basis of undistributed foreign earnings , and $19.4 million for state deferred tax
assets, primarily operating loss carryovers.

Inherent in determining our effective tax rate are judgments regarding business plans and expectations about future operations. These judgments include the
amount and geographic mix of future taxable income, the amount of FSI, limitations on usage of NOL carryforwards, the impact of ongoing or potential tax audits,
and other future tax consequences.

We estimate we will need to generate future U.S. taxable income of approximately $506.8 million for state income tax purposes during the respective realization
periods (ranging from 2018 to 2036) in order to fully realize the net deferred income tax assets.

As previously disclosed in prior SEC filings, our ability to utilize deferred tax assets may be impacted by certain future events, such as changes in tax legislation
and insufficient future taxable income prior to expiration of certain deferred tax assets.

We recognize the tax benefits of an uncertain tax position if those benefits are more likely than not to be sustained based on existing tax law. Additionally, we
establish a reserve for tax positions that are more likely than not to be sustained based on existing tax law, but uncertain in the ultimate benefit to be sustained upon
examination by the relevant taxing authorities. Unrecognized tax benefits are subsequently recognized at the time the more likely than not recognition threshold is
met, the tax matter is effectively settled or the statute of limitations for the relevant taxing authority to examine and challenge the tax position has expired,
whichever is earlier.

Impairments of Long-Lived Tangible and Intangible Assets — Our indefinite-lived intangibles are primarily trademarks and brand names, which are integral to our
corporate identity and expected to contribute indefinitely to our corporate cash flows. Accordingly, they have been assigned an indefinite life. We conduct our
annual impairment test for non-amortizable intangible assets during the fourth quarter, although we conduct interim impairment tests if events or circumstances
indicate the asset might be impaired. We conduct impairment tests for tangible assets and amortizable intangible assets when indicators of impairment exist, such
as operating losses and/or negative cash flows. If an indication of impairment exists, we compare the carrying amount of the asset group to the estimated
undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the assets. If the undiscounted cash flows of an impaired asset are less than the carrying value, an
estimate of an asset group’s fair value is based on discounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset group, or based on management’s estimated
exit price assuming the assets could be sold in an orderly transaction between market participants or estimated salvage value if no sale is assumed. If the fair value
is less than the carrying value of the asset group, we record an impairment charge equal to the difference between the fair value and carrying value of the asset

group.

The principal assumption utilized in our impairment tests for definite-lived intangible assets is operating profit adjusted for depreciation and amortization. The
principal assumptions utilized in our impairment tests for indefinite-lived intangible assets include revenue growth rate, discount rate and royalty rate. Revenue
growth rate and operating profit assumptions are primarily derived from those utilized in our operating plan and strategic planning processes. The discount rate
assumption is calculated based upon an estimated weighted average cost of equity which reflects the overall level of inherent risk and the rate of return a market
participant would expect to achieve. The royalty rate assumption represents the estimated contribution of the intangible assets to the overall profits of the reporting
unit.

In 2017, indefinite-lived intangibles were tested for impairment based on our existing reporting units, which changed as a result of the announced future sale of our
EMEA and Pacific Rim segments. No other methodologies used for valuing our intangible assets changed from prior periods.
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The cash flow estimates used in applyin g our impairment tests are based on management’s analysis of information available at the time of the impairment
test. Actual cash flows lower than the estimate could lead to significant future impairments. If subsequent testing indicates that fair value s have declined, the
carrying values would be reduced and our future statements of income would be affected.

There were no material impairment charges recorded in 2017, 2016 or 2015 related to intangible assets.
We did not test tangible assets within our continuing operations for impairment in 2017, 2016 or 2015 as no indicators of impairment existed.

We cannot predict the occurrence of certain events that might lead to material impairment charges in the future. Such events may include, but are not limited to,
the impact of economic environments, particularly related to the commercial and residential construction industries, material adverse changes in relationships with
significant customers, or strategic decisions made in response to economic and competitive conditions.

See Notes 3 and 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information.

Environmental Liabilities — We are actively involved in the investigation, closure and/or remediation of existing or potential environmental contamination under
the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act (‘CERCLA”), and state Superfund and similar type environmental laws at several
domestically owned, formerly owned and non-owned locations allegedly resulting from past industrial activity. In a few cases, we are one of several potentially
responsible parties and have agreed to jointly fund the required investigation, while preserving our defenses to the liability. We may also have rights of
contribution or reimbursement from other parties or coverage under applicable insurance policies.

We provide for environmental remediation costs and penalties when the responsibility to remediate is probable and the amount of associated costs is reasonably
determinable. Accruals are estimates based on the judgment of management related to ongoing proceedings. Estimates of our future liability at the environmental
sites are based on evaluations of currently available facts regarding each individual site. In determining the probability of contribution, we consider the solvency of
other parties, the site activities of other parties, whether liability is being disputed, the terms of any existing agreements and experience with similar matters, and
the effect of our October 2006 Chapter 11 reorganization upon the validity of the claim.

We evaluate the measurement of recorded liabilities each reporting period based on current facts and circumstances specific to each matter. The ultimate losses
incurred upon final resolution may materially differ from the estimated liability recorded. Changes in estimates are recorded in earnings in the period in which

such changes occur.

We are unable to predict the extent to which any recoveries from other parties or coverage under insurance policies might cover our final share of costs for these
sites. Our final share of investigation and remediation costs may exceed any such recoveries, and such amounts net of insurance recoveries may be material.

ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS EFFECTIVE IN FUTURE PERIODS

See Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Unless otherwise indicated, net sales in these results of operations are reported based upon the AWI location where the sale was made. Please refer to Notes 3 and
4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a reconciliation of segment operating income to consolidated earnings from continuing operations before income
taxes and additional financial information related to discontinued operations.

2017 COMPARED TO 2016
CONSOLIDATED RESULTS FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS
(dollar amounts in millions)

2017 2016 Favorable
Total consolidated net sales $ 893.6 $ 837.3 6.7 %
Operating income $ 2551  § 188.9 350 %

23



Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Consolidated net sales increased due to favorable AUV of $29 million and higher volumes of $27 million.

Cost of goods sold was 63.8% of net sales in 2017, compared to 63.5% in 2016 due to higher manufacturing and input costs. The increase in cost of goods sold as a
percentage of sales in comparison to 2016 was impacted by $10 million of accelerated depreciation charges due to management’s decision to permanently close a
plant in China that will be retained by AWI after the sale of our Pacific Rim business and management’s decision to close our St. Helens, Oregon plant. Cost of
goods sold for 2017 were also impacted by an increase in manufacturing and input costs and $3 million of severance and other charges associated with the
announced closure of our St. Helens, Oregon plant. Partially offsetting these increases was a $10 million reduction in RIP expense and a $10 million reduction of
cost of goods sold related to environmental insurance settlements recorded in 2017.

SG&A expenses in 2017 were $135.7 million, or 15.2% of net sales, compared to $155.5 million, or 18.6% of net sales, in 2016. The decrease in SG&A expenses
was impacted by a $7 million decrease in the RIP expense, a $6 million reduction in expenses resulting from an increase in certain selling, promotional and
administrative processing service reimbursements from WAVE and a $5 million reduction related to environmental insurance settlements, net of charges. These
decreases in SG&A expenses were partially offset by higher SG&A expenses as a result of the Tectum acquisition and $2 million of severance related to cost
control measures in the U.S.

Separation costs of $34.5 million in 2016 were primarily related to outside professional services and employee retention and severance accruals incurred in
conjunction with our initiative to separate our flooring business from our ceilings business.

Equity earnings from our WAVE joint venture were $67.0 million in 2017, compared to $73.1 million in 2016. The decrease in WAVE earnings was primarily
driven by an increase in selling and administrative processing charges from AWI and Worthington Industries, Inc. WAVE earnings were also negatively impacted
by higher input costs, particularly steel. See Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information.

Interest expense was $35.4 million in 2017, compared to $49.5 million in 2016. Interest expense in 2016 included higher debt financing costs as a result of the
refinancing of our credit facilities in April 2016 and $8.3 million of net losses that were reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income as a result of
the settlement of interest rate swaps which occurred in April 2016 and in connection with our entering into $450.0 million of notional amount of basis rate swaps
during the fourth quarter of 2016. Also contributing to the decrease in interest expense was a reduction in total debt outstanding and a lower interest rate spread in
comparison to 2016.

Other non-operating income was $2.4 million in 2017 and $11.2 million in 2016. The changes in other non-operating income were primarily due to foreign
exchange rate gains on the translation of unhedged cross-currency intercompany loans in 2016.

Income tax expense was $1.5 million and $51.3 million in 2017 and 2016, respectively. The effective tax rate for 2017 was 0.7% as compared to a rate of 34.1%
for 2016. On December 22, 2017, the U.S. federal government enacted the Tax Cut and Jobs Act of 2017 (the “2017 Tax Act”), resulting in significant changes
from previous tax law. Effective January 1, 2018, the 2017 Tax Act reduces the federal corporate income tax rate from 35% to 21%. As a result, we recorded a net
$82.5 million income tax benefit in the fourth quarter of 2017. Excluding the impact of the 2017 Tax Act, income tax expense for 2017 increased in comparison to
2016 due to an increase in pre-tax income, a decrease in reversals of reserves for uncertain tax positions from the expiration of the federal statute of limitations and
an increase to the valuation allowance on foreign tax credits due to the anticipated sale of our EMEA and Pacific Rim businesses.

Total other comprehensive income (“OCI”) was $57.9 million for 2017 compared to $23.6 million for 2016. Foreign currency translation adjustments represent the
change in the U.S. dollar value of assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies. Foreign currency translation adjustments in 2017 were driven primarily
by changes in the exchange rates of the British pound, the Chinese renminbi, the Russian ruble and the Canadian dollar. Derivative gain/loss represents the mark to
market value adjustments of our derivative assets and liabilities and the recognition of gains and losses previously deferred in OCI. Derivative gains in 2016 were
impacted by $8.3 million of net losses related to settlements of interest rates swaps. Pension and postretirement adjustments represent actuarial gains and losses
related to our defined benefit pension and postretirement plans and amortization of net losses on the U.S. pension plans. Increases in OCI in 2017 primarily related
to our U.S. pension plans.
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REPORTABLE SEGMENT RESULTS
Mineral Fiber
(dollar amounts in millions)

Change is
2017 2016 Favorable

Total segment net sales $ 756.4 $ 736.6 27 %
Operating income $ 2319 $ 223.9 3.6 %

Net sales increased due to favorable AUV of $29 million, partially offset by lower volumes of $10 million. The favorable AUV was primarily due to improved mix
from the sale of higher end ceiling tile products, while the decrease in volumes was primarily in lower end ceiling tile products.

Operating income increased due to lower SG&A expenses of $20 million and the favorable margin impact of higher AUV of $12 million, partially offset by higher
manufacturing and input costs of $13 million, lower earnings from WAVE of $6 million and the negative impact of lower volumes of $2 million. The reduction in
SG&A expenses was impacted by $6 million of additional expense reimbursements from WAVE and $5 million of environmental insurance settlements, net of
charges, both recorded in 2017. The increase in manufacturing costs was impacted by higher costs associated with planned enhancements to our manufacturing
footprint to produce high end products and $7 million of severance and accelerated depreciation charges, primarily associated with the announced closure of our St.
Helens manufacturing plant, partially offset by a $10 million reduction in costs related to environmental insurance settlements, net of charges, in 2017.

Architectural Specialties
(dollar amounts in millions)

Change is
2017 2016 Favorable

Total segment net sales $ 1372 $ 100.7 362 %
Operating income $ 277 % 19.2 443 %

Net sales increased due to higher volumes, partially as a result of our acquisition of Tectum and increased new construction activity.

Operating income increased due to the positive impact of higher volumes, partially offset by an increase in SG&A expenses due primarily to the acquisition of
Tectum and investments in selling and design capabilities.

Unallocated Corporate

Unallocated Corporate expense of $5 million decreased from $54 million in the prior year, due to $35 million of charges incurred in connection with our separation
of AFIin 2016 and a $17 million decrease in RIP expense.

FINANCIAL CONDITION AND LIQUIDITY
Cash Flow

The discussion that follows includes cash flows related to discontinued operations.

Operating activities for 2017 provided $170.4 million of cash, compared to $49.3 million of cash provided in 2016. The increase was primarily due to changes in
working capital, most notably a decrease accounts payable and accrued expenses related to the separation of AFI.

Net cash used for investing activities was $54.2 million in 2017, compared to $17.0 million in 2016. The change in investing activities cash flows was primarily
due to the acquisition of Tectum and lower dividends from our WAVE joint venture, partially offset by decreased purchases of property, plant and equipment.

Net cash used by financing activities was $102.7 million in 2017, compared to $128.9 million in 2016. The favorable change in use of cash was primarily the result
of lower payments of debt, partially offset by higher repurchases of outstanding common stock.
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Liquidity
Our liquidity needs for operations vary throughout the year. We retain lines of credit to facilitate our seasonal cash flow needs, since cash flow is generally lower
during the first and fourth quarters of our fiscal year.

We have a $1,050.0 million senior credit facility which is comprised of a $200.0 million revolving credit facility (with a $150.0 million sublimit for letters of
credit), a $600.0 million Term Loan A and a $250.0 million Term Loan B. The revolving credit facility and Term Loan A are currently priced at 2.00% over
LIBOR and the Term Loan B portion is priced at 2.75% over LIBOR with a 0.75% floor. The senior credit facility also has a $25.0 million letter of credit facility,
also known as our bi-lateral facility. The revolving credit facility and Term Loan A mature in March 2021 and Term Loan B matures in November 2023. This
$1,050.0 million senior credit facility is secured by U.S. personal property, the capital stock of material U.S. subsidiaries and a pledge of 65% of the stock of our
material first tier foreign subsidiaries.

As of December 31, 2017, total borrowings outstanding under our senior credit facility were $577.5 million under Term Loan A and $245.6 million under Term
Loan B. There were no borrowings outstanding under the revolving credit facility.

In February 2017, we repriced the interest rate of our Term Loan B borrowing, resulting in a lower LIBOR spread (2.75% vs. 3.25%). The maturity date remained
unchanged along with all other terms and conditions. In connection with the repricing we paid $0.6 million of bank, legal and other fees, the majority of which
were capitalized.

Under our senior credit facility we are subject to year-end leverage tests that may trigger mandatory prepayments. If our ratio of consolidated funded indebtedness
minus AWI and domestic subsidiary unrestricted cash and cash equivalents up to $100 million to consolidated earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortization (“EBITDA”) (“Consolidated Net Leverage Ratio”) is greater than 3.5 to 1.0, the prepayment amount would be based on a computation of 50% of
Consolidated Excess Cash Flow, as defined by the credit agreement. These annual payments would be made in the first quarter of the following year. No payment
was made in 2017 or will be required in 2018.

The senior credit facility includes two financial covenants that require the ratio of consolidated EBITDA to consolidated cash interest expense minus cash
consolidated interest income to be greater than or equal to 3.0 to 1.0 and requires the Consolidated Net Leverage Ratio to be less than or equal to 3.75 to 1.0. As of
December 31, 2017, we were in compliance with all covenants of the senior credit facility.

The Term Loan A and Term Loan B were both fully drawn and are currently priced on a variable interest rate basis. The following table summarizes our interest
rate swaps (dollar amounts in millions):

Notional
Trade Date Amount Coverage Period Risk Coverage
November 13, 2016 $ 250.0 November 2016 to March 2018 Term Loan A
November 13, 2016 $ 200.0 November 2016 to March 2021 Term Loan A
April 1, 2016 $ 100.0 April 2016 to March 2023 Term Loan B

These swaps are designated as cash flow hedges against changes in LIBOR for a portion of our variable rate debt. The unpaid balances of Term Loan A, the
Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loan B may be prepaid without penalty at the maturity of their respective interest reset periods. Any amounts prepaid on the
Term Loan A or Term Loan B may not be re-borrowed.

In connection with the refinancing of our credit facilities in April 2016, $450.0 million of notional amount Term Loan B swaps with a trade date of March 27, 2012
were settled and $10.7 million of losses previously recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income were reclassified to interest expense in
2016.

As of December 31, 2017, we had $450.0 million notional Term A swaps (the “Term Loan A Swaps”), in which we received 1-month LIBOR and paid a fixed rate
over the hedged period.

During the fourth quarter of 2016, we elected to change the basis for interest payments due under our Term Loan A Swaps from 3-month LIBOR to 1-month
LIBOR. In connection with the change in our underlying interest payments, in November 2016 we entered into $450.0 million forward-starting notional amount
basis rate swaps to convert the floating rate risk under our Term Loan A Swaps from 3-month LIBOR to 1-month LIBOR and jointly designated the basis swaps
with our Term Loan A Swaps in cash flow hedging relationships. As a result of this transaction, $2.4 million of gains previously recorded as a component of
accumulated other comprehensive income were reclassified as a reduction to interest expense during the fourth quarter of 2016. Since the basis rate
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swaps had a non-zero fair value upon designation as cash flow hedges, mark-to-market gains or losses on ineffective portions of these hedges are reco rded as a
component of interest expense.

As of December 31, 2017, we had a $100.0 million notional Term Loan B swap in which we receive the greater of 3-month LIBOR or a 0.75% LIBOR Floor and
pay a fixed rate over the hedged period.

As of December 31, 2017 our outstanding long-term debt included a $35.0 million variable rate, tax-exempt industrial development bond that financed the
construction of a plant in prior years. This bond has a scheduled final maturity of 2041 and is remarketed by an agent on a regular basis at a market-clearing interest
rate. Any portion of the bond that is not successfully remarketed by the agent is required to be repurchased. This bond is backed by letters of credit which will be
drawn if a portion of the bond is not successfully remarketed. We have not had to repurchase the bond.

As of December 31, 2017, we had $159.6 million of cash and cash equivalents, $81.0 million in the U.S and $78.6 million in various foreign jurisdictions. Upon
completion of the sale of our EMEA and Pacific Rim businesses, it is our intention to repatriate a significant majority of the $78.6 million of cash held in various
foreign jurisdictions; however our Purchase Agreement with Knauf allows AWI to transfer any cash balances held in our EMEA and Pacific Rim businesses to
Knauf up to $10.0 million. See Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.

We have a $40.0 million Accounts Receivable Securitization Facility (the “funding entity”) that matures in March 2019. Under our Accounts Receivable
Securitization Facility we sell accounts receivables to Armstrong Receivables Company, LLC (“ARC”), a Delaware entity that is consolidated in these financial
statements. ARC is a 100% wholly owned single member LLC special purpose entity created specifically for this transaction; therefore, any receivables sold to
ARC are not available to the general creditors of AWI. ARC then sells an undivided interest in the purchased accounts receivables to the funding entity. This
undivided interest acts as collateral for drawings on the facility. Any borrowings under this facility are obligations of ARC and not AWI. ARC contracts with and
pays a servicing fee to AWI to manage, collect and service the purchased accounts receivables. All new receivables under the program are continuously purchased
by ARC with the proceeds from collections of receivables previously purchased. As of December 31, 2017 we had no borrowings under this facility.

We utilize lines of credit and other commercial commitments in order to ensure that adequate funds are available to meet operating requirements. Letters of credit
are currently arranged through our revolving credit facility, our bi-lateral facility and our securitization facility. Letters of credit may be issued to third party
suppliers, insurance and financial institutions and typically can only be drawn upon in the event of AWI’s failure to pay its obligations to the beneficiary. The
following table presents details related to our letters of credit (dollar amounts in millions):

As of December 31, 2017
Financing Arrangement Limit Used Available
Revolving credit facility $ 150.0 $ - 8 150.0
Bi-lateral facility 25.0 17.1 7.9
Accounts receivable securitization facility 29.6 36.2 (6.6)
Total $ 2046 § 533 $ 151.3

As of December 31,2017 and 2016, $6.6 million and $4.0 million, respectively, of letters of credit issued under our accounts receivable securitization facility in
excess of our maximum limit were classified as restricted cash and reported as a component of Cash and cash equivalents on our Consolidated Balance

Sheets. This restriction will lapse upon replacement of collateral with accounts receivables and/or upon a change in the letter of credit limit as a result of higher
securitized accounts receivable balances.

We believe that cash on hand and cash generated from operations, together with lines of credit, availability under our revolving credit facility, will be adequate to
address our foreseeable liquidity needs based on current expectations of our business operations, capital expenditures and scheduled payments of debt obligations.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

2016 COMPARED TO 2015
CONSOLIDATED RESULTS FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS
(dollar amounts in millions)

Change is
2016 2015 Favorable

Total consolidated net sales $ 8373 $ 805.1 4.0 %
Operating income $ 1889 §$ 157.0 203 %

Consolidated net sales for 2016 increased due to higher volumes of $20 million and favorable AUV of $15 million.

Cost of goods sold was 63.5% of net sales in 2016, compared to 62.0% in 2015. Compared to the prior year, the increase was due to higher manufacturing and
input costs.

SG&A expenses in 2016 were $155.5 million, or 18.6% of net sales, compared to $180.8 million, or 22.5% of net sales in 2015. The decrease was the result of the
AFI separation and a decrease in RIP expense.

Separation costs of $34.5 million in 2016 and $34.3 million in 2015 were primarily related to outside professional services and employee retention and severance
accruals incurred in conjunction with our initiative to separate our flooring business from our ceilings business.

Equity earnings from our WAVE joint venture were $73.1 million in 2016, compared to $66.1 million in 2015. The increase was due to higher sales volumes,
favorable AUV and lower manufacturing input costs, partially offset by higher SG&A expenses for go-to-market investments.

Interest expense was $49.5 million in 2016, compared to $44.6 million in 2015. The increase in interest expense was due to $10.7 million of losses that were
reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income to interest expense during 2016 as a result of the settlement of $450.0 million of notional amount
interest rate swaps which occurred in connection with the refinancing of our credit facilities, partially offset by lower costs due to a reduction in total debt
outstanding and a lower interest rate spread and $2.4 million of gains that were reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income to interest expense
during 2016 in connection with our entering into $450.0 million of notional amount of basis rate swaps.

Other non-operating income was $11.2 million in 2016, compared to other non-operating expense of $17.8 million in 2015. The changes in other non-operating
income were primarily due to foreign exchange rate gains on the translation of unhedged cross-currency intercompany loans. Expenses in 2015 were primarily due
to foreign exchange rate losses on the translation of unhedged cross-currency intercompany loans denominated in Russian rubles, related to the construction of our
Russian mineral fiber ceiling plant that was completed in the first quarter of 2015. During the fourth quarter of 2016, all Russian ruble denominated intercompany
loans were settled with intercompany capital contributions.

Income tax expense was $51.3 million and $36.7 million in 2016 and 2015, respectively. The effective tax rate for 2016 was 34.1% as compared to a rate of 38.8%
for 2015. The effective tax rate for 2016 was lower than 2015 primarily due to income tax benefits recorded during the second half of 2016 resulting from the
reversal of reserves for uncertain tax positions as a result of an expiration of the federal statute of limitations to review previously filed income tax returns.

REPORTABLE SEGMENT RESULTS
Mineral Fiber
(dollar amounts in millions)

Change is Favorable/
2016 2015 (Unfavorable)
Total segment net sales $ 7366 § 723.7 1.8 %
Operating income $ 2239 $ 270.3 (17.2) %

Net sales increased due to favorable AUV of $15 million, while volume was flat.

Operating income decreased due to higher SG&A expenses of $50 million, the margin impact of lower volumes of $5 million and an increase manufacturing and
input costs of $4 million, partially offset by the margin impact of favorable AUV of $8 million and higher
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

earnings from WAVE of $7 million. The increase in SG&A expenses in 2016 was primarily a result of the inclusion of costs formally assigned to our Unallocated
Corporate se gment prior to the separation of AFI, partially offset by a reduction in costs primarily due to the separation of AFI.

Architectural Specialties
(dollar amounts in millions)

Change is
2016 2015 Favorable

Total segment net sales $ 100.7  § 81.4 237 %
Operating income $ 192 §$ 16.5 164 %

Net sales and operating income both increased due to higher volumes. The increase in operating income was partially offset by a $4 million increase in SG&A
expenses, due to investments in selling and design capabilities.

Unallocated Corporate

Unallocated Corporate expense of $54.2 million decreased from $129.8 million in the prior year. The decrease was due to the inclusion of most of the Corporate
functions within the Mineral Fiber and Architectural Specialties segments starting in 2016 as a result of the AFI separation.

Cash Flow

The discussion that follows includes cash flows related to discontinued operations.

Operating activities for 2016 provided $49.3 million of cash, compared to $203.7 million of cash provided in 2015. The decrease was primarily due to change in
working capital, most notably a decrease in accounts payable and accrued expenses related to the separation of AFI. The decrease due to the change in working

capital was partially offset by higher cash earnings partially offset by a reduction in depreciation and amortization.

Net cash used for investing activities was $17.0 million in 2016, compared to $101.5 million in 2015. The change in investing activities cash flows was primarily
due to decreased purchases of property, plant and equipment, partially offset by higher dividends from our WAVE joint venture.

Net cash used by financing activities was $128.9 million in 2016, compared to $32.3 million in 2015. The unfavorable use of cash was primarily the result of
higher payments of debt and repurchase of outstanding common stock.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

No disclosures are required pursuant to Item 303(a)(4) of Regulation S-K.
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CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

As part of our normal operations, we enter into numerous contractual obligations that require specific payments during the term of the various agreements. The
following table includes amounts ongoing under contractual obligations existing as of December 31, 2017. Only known payments that are dependent solely on the
passage of time are included. Obligations under contracts that contain minimum payment amounts are shown at the minimum payment amount. Contracts that
contain variable payment structures without minimum payments are excluded. Purchase orders that are entered into in the normal course of business are also
excluded because they are generally cancelable and not legally binding. Amounts are presented below based upon the currently scheduled payment terms. Actual
future payments may differ from the amounts presented below due to changes in payment terms or events affecting the payments.

(dollar amounts in millions) 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 Thereafter Total
Long-term debt (1) $ 325 $ 550 $ 625 $§ 4375 § 25§ 268.1 $ 858.1
Scheduled interest payments (2) 33.1 34.7 322 21.8 12.9 19.6 154.3
Operating lease obligations, net of sublease

income (3) 2.4 22 1.8 1.5 1.1 43 13.3
Unconditional purchase obligations (4) 49.8 5.7 1.6 14 1.2 1.7 61.4
Pension contributions (5) 4.0 - 5 = = = 4.0
Other obligations (6), (7) 4.7 - - - - - 4.7
Total contractual obligations $ 1265 $ 976 $ 98.1 $ 4622 § 177  $ 2937 $ 1,095.8

M Excludes $7.9 million of unamortized debt financing costs as of December 31, 2017.

) For debt with variable interest rates and interest rate swaps, we projected future interest payments based on market-based interest rate swap curves.

(3 Lease obligations include the minimum payments due under existing agreements with non-cancelable lease terms in excess of one year.

(©)] Unconditional purchase obligations include (a) purchase contracts whereby we must make guaranteed minimum payments of a specified amount regardless
of how little material is actually purchased (“take or pay” contracts) and (b) service agreements. Unconditional purchase obligations exclude contracts
entered into during the normal course of business that are non-cancelable and have fixed per unit fees, but where the monthly commitment varies based
upon usage. Cellular phone contracts are an example.

(5) Pension contributions include estimated contributions for our defined benefit pension plans. We are not presenting estimated payments in the table above
beyond 2018 as funding can vary significantly from year to year based upon changes in the fair value of plan assets, funding regulations and actuarial

assumptions.
(6) Other obligations include payments under severance agreements.
)] Other obligations excludes $53.4 million of unrecognized tax benefit liabilities under ASC 740 “Income Taxes.” Due to the uncertainty relating to these

positions, we are unable to reasonably estimate the ultimate amount or timing of the settlement of these issues. Other obligations also excludes $10.3
million of one-time deemed repatriation tax liabilities on undistributed foreign earnings and profits, gross of foreign tax credit utilization, as a result of the
enactment of the 2017 Tax Act as such amounts were recorded on a provisional basis and estimated based on information available as of December 31,
2017. See Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for more information.

This table excludes obligations related to postretirement benefits (retiree health care and life insurance) since we voluntarily provide these benefits. The amount of
benefit payments we made in 2017 was $10.3 million. See Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information regarding future expected
cash payments for postretirement benefits.

We are party to supply agreements, some of which require the purchase of inventory remaining at the supplier upon termination of the agreement. Had these
agreements terminated at December 31, 2017, we would have been obligated to purchase approximately $0.6 million of inventory. Historically, due to production

planning, we have not had to purchase material amounts of product at the end of similar contracts. Accordingly, no liability has been recorded for these guarantees.
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Letters of credit are currently arranged through our revolving credit facility, our bi-lateral facility and our securitization facility. Letters of credit may be issued to
third party suppliers, insurance and financial institutions and typically can only be drawn upon in the event of AWI’s failure to pay its obligations to the
beneficiary. The following table summarizes the commitments we have available for use as of December 31, 2017.

Less
Other Commercial Commitments Total Amounts Than 1 1-3 4-5 Over 5
(dollar amounts in millions) Committed Year Years Years Years
Letters of credit $ 533 $ 533 $ - 3 - 8 -

In connection with our disposition of certain assets through a variety of unrelated transactions, we have entered into contracts that included various indemnity
provisions, some of which are customary for such transactions, while others hold the acquirer of the assets harmless with respect to liabilities relating to such
matters as taxes, environmental and other litigation. Some of these provisions include exposure limits, but many do not. Due to the nature of the indemnities, it is
not possible to estimate the potential maximum exposure under these contractual provisions. As of December 31, 2017, we had no liabilities recorded for which an
indemnity claim had been received.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITA TIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Market Risk

We are exposed to market risk from changes in foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates and commodity prices that could impact our results of operations,
cash flows and financial condition. We use forward swaps and option contracts to hedge these exposures, which are entered into for periods consistent with
underlying exposure and do not constitute positions independent of those exposures. We use derivative financial instruments as risk management tools and not for
speculative trading purposes. In addition, derivative financial instruments are entered into with a diversified group of major financial institutions in order to
manage our exposure to potential nonperformance on such instruments. We regularly monitor developments in the capital markets.

Counterparty Risk

We only enter into derivative transactions with established counterparties having an investment grade or better. We monitor counterparty credit default swap levels
and credit ratings on a regular basis. All of our derivative transactions with counterparties are governed by master International Swap and Derivatives Association
agreements (“ISDAs”) with netting arrangements. These agreements can limit our exposure in situations where we have gain and loss positions outstanding with a
single counterparty. We do not post nor receive cash collateral with any counterparty for our derivative transactions. These ISDAs do not contain any credit
contingent features other than those contained in our bank credit facility. Exposure to individual counterparties is controlled, and thus we consider the risk of
counterparty default to be negligible.

Interest Rate Sensitivity

We are subject to interest rate variability on our Term Loan A, Term Loan B, revolving credit facility and other borrowings. A hypothetical increase of one-quarter
percentage point in LIBOR interest rates from December 31, 2017 levels would increase 2018 interest expense by approximately $1.4 million. As of December 31,
2017, $245.6 million of our debt has a 0.75% LIBOR floor, which would not be affected by a one-quarter percentage point move in LIBOR given the current
interest rate environment. We also have $550.0 million of interest rate swaps outstanding, which fix the interest rates for a portion of our debt. The current portion
of the interest rate swaps is included in this calculation.

As of December 31, 2017, we had interest rate swaps outstanding on Term Loan A and on Term Loan B, with notional amounts of $450.0 million and $100.0
million, respectively. We utilize interest rate swaps to minimize the fluctuations in earnings caused by interest rate volatility. Under the terms of the Term Loan A
swaps we receive 1-month LIBOR and pay a fixed rate over the hedged period. Under the terms of our Term Loan B, we receive the greater of 3-month LIBOR or
a 0.75% LIBOR Floor and pay a fixed rate over the hedged period. The following table summarizes our interest rate swaps as of December 31, 2017 (dollar
amounts in millions):

Notional
Trade Date Amount Coverage Period Risk Coverage
November 13, 2016 $ 250.0 November 2016 to March 2018 Term Loan A
November 13, 2016 $ 200.0 November 2016 to March 2021 Term Loan A
April 1, 2016 $ 100.0 April 2016 to March 2023 Term Loan B

These swaps are designated as cash flow hedges against changes in LIBOR for a portion of our variable rate debt. The net asset measured at fair value was $8.9
million at December 31, 2017.

The table below provides information about our long-term debt obligations as of December 31, 2017, including payment requirements and related weighted-
average interest rates by scheduled maturity dates. Weighted average variable rates are based on implied forward rates in the yield curve and are exclusive of our
interest rate swaps.

Scheduled maturity date After
(dollar amounts in millions) 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2022 Total
Variable rate principal
payments $ 325 % 550 $ 625 $ 4375  $ 25 § 268.1 $ 858.1
Average interest rate 3.90% 4.30% 4.37% 4.41% 5.26% 4.91% 4.54%

Variable rate principle payments reflected in the preceding table exclude $7.9 million of unamortized debt financing costs as of December 31, 2017.
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Exchange Rate Sensitivity

We manufacture and sell our products in a number of countries throughout the world and, as a result, are exposed to movements in foreign currency exchange
rates. To a large extent, our global manufacturing and sales provide a natural hedge of foreign currency exchange rate movement. Upon completion of the sale of
our EMEA and Pacific Rim businesses, and on a continuing operations basis as of December 31, 2017, our only major foreign currency exposure is to the Canadian
dollar. A 10% strengthening of the Canadian dollar against the U.S. dollar compared to December 31, 2017 levels would increase our 2018 earnings before income
taxes by approximately $0.5 million, including the impact of current foreign currency forward exchange contracts.

The table below details our outstanding currency instruments as of December 31, 2017.

On balance sheet foreign exchange related derivatives

(dollar amounts in millions) Maturing in 2018 Maturing in 2019 Total
Notional amounts $ 157  § 32§ 18.9
Assets at fair value 0.7) 0.1) (0.8)

Natural Gas Price Sensitivity

We purchase natural gas for use in the manufacturing process and to heat many of our facilities. As a result, we are exposed to fluctuations in the price of natural
gas. We have a policy of reducing North American natural gas volatility through derivative instruments, including forward contracts and swaps, purchased call
options, and zero-cost collars up to 24 months forward. As of December 31, 2017, we had contracts to hedge approximately $9.2 million (notional amounts) of
natural gas. All of these contracts mature by November 2019. A 10% increase in North American natural gas prices compared to December 31, 2017 prices would
increase our 2018 expenses by approximately $0.5 million including the impact of current hedging contracts. As of December 31, 2017 we had recorded net
liabilities of $0.6 million related to these contracts.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMEN TS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Quarterly Financial Information for the Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 (Unaudited)

The following consolidated financial statements are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:
Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
Consolidated Statements of Earnings and Comprehensive Income for the Years Ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015.
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2017 and 2016.
Consolidated Statements of Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Schedule II for the Years Ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015.
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Armstrong World Industries, Inc., and Subsi diaries
Quarterly Financial Information (unaudited)
(dollar amounts in millions, except for per share data)

First Second Third Fourth
2017
Net sales $ 219.8 § 225.6 233.9 2143
Gross profit 83.4 90.3 83.6 66.5
Earnings from continuing operations 355 43.7 37.3 104.1
Per share of common stock:
Basic $ 065 § 0.82 0.70 1.96
Diluted $ 065 § 0.81 0.70 1.92
Price range of common stock - high $ 48.00 $ 47.95 51.98 61.50
Price range of common stock - low $ 3845 § 41.20 43.77 49.25
2016
Net sales $ 200.1 § 214.8 226.0 196.4
Gross profit 70.7 79.5 87.3 68.3
(Loss) earnings from continuing operations 0.2) 26.8 54.5 18.2
Per share of common stock:
Basic $ - 3 0.48 0.97 0.33
Diluted $ - 8 0.48 0.97 0.33
Price range of common stock - high $ 48.66 § 48.39 45.75 45.00
Price range of common stock - low $ 3592 $ 36.33 37.49 36.38

Note: The net sales and gross profit amounts above are reported on a continuing operations basis. The sum of the quarterly earnings per share data may not equal
the total year amounts due to changes in the average shares outstanding and, for diluted data, the exclusion of the anti-dilutive effect in certain quarters. Historical

stock prices above have not been restated as a result of the separation of AFI.
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Armstrong World Industries, Inc., and Subsidiaries
Quarterly Financial Information (unaudited)
(dollar amounts in millions, except for per share data)

Fourth Quarter 2017 Compared With Fourth Quarter 2016 — Continuing Operations
Consolidated net sales of $214.3 million in the fourth quarter of 2017 increased 9.1% due to higher volumes of $14 million and favorable AUV of $4 million.

Mineral Fiber net sales increased 3.4% due to favorable AUV of $4 million and higher volumes of $1 million. Architectural Specialties net sales increased 49.0%
due to higher volumes due to the acquisition of Tectum and increased new construction activity.

For the fourth quarter of 2017, cost of goods sold was 69.0% of net sales, compared to 65.2% in 2016. The increase in cost of goods sold as a percentage of sales
was impacted by $6 million of accelerated depreciation charges primarily due to management’s decision to permanently close a plant in China that will be retained
by AWI after the sale of our Pacific Rim business and management’s decision to close our St. Helens, Oregon plant. Cost of goods sold for 2017 was also impacted
by an increase in manufacturing and input costs and $3 million of severance and other charges associated with the announced closure of our St. Helens, Oregon
plant. Partially offsetting these increases was a $6 million reduction in RIP expense and a $2 million reduction of cost of goods sold related to environmental
insurance settlements, net of charges, recorded in 2017.

SG&A expenses for the fourth quarter of 2017 were $29.9 million, or 14.0% of net sales compared to $42.6 million, or 21.7% of net sales, for the fourth quarter of
2015. The decrease in SG&A expenses was primarily due to a reduction of $6 million related to environmental insurance settlements, net of charges, a $4 million
decrease in the RIP expense and a $2 million reduction in expenses resulting from an increase in certain selling, promotional and administrative processing service
reimbursements from WAVE. These decreases in SG&A expenses were partially offset by $2 million of severance related to cost control measures in the U.S. as a
result of the announced future sale of our EMEA and Pacific Rim businesses.

Equity earnings in the fourth quarters of 2017 and 2016 were $15.1 million and $16.1 million, respectively. The decrease in WAVE earnings was primarily driven
by higher input costs, particularly steel, and an increase in selling and administrative processing charges from AWI and Worthington Industries, Inc.

Operating income was $51.7 million in the fourth quarter of 2017 compared to $40.3 million in the fourth quarter of 2016, with the increase due primarily to a
decrease in SG&A expenses as described above.

Interest expense in the fourth quarter of 2017 decreased to $8.8 million compared to $11.2 million in the fourth quarter of 2016 primarily due to a reduction in total
debt outstanding and a lower interest rate spread, partially offset by $2.4 million of gains on interest rate swaps recorded as a reduction to interest expense in the
fourth quarter of 2016.

Fourth quarter income tax benefit was $60.7 million on pre-tax earnings from continuing operations of $43.4 million in 2017 compared to income tax expense of
$12.7 million on a pre-tax earnings from continuing operations of $30.9 million in 2016. The effective tax rate for 2017 was lower than 2016 primarily due to the
income tax benefits of the 2017 Tax Act. Effective January 1, 2018, the 2017 Tax Act reduces the federal corporate income tax rate from 35% to 21%. As a result,
we recorded a net $82.5 million income tax benefit in the fourth quarter of 2017. Excluding the impact of the 2017 Tax Act, income tax expense for the fourth
quarter of 2017 increased in comparison to 2016 due to an increase in pre-tax income and an increase to the valuation allowance on foreign tax credits in 2017 due
to the anticipated sale of our EMEA and Pacific Rim businesses.
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Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Our internal control over financial reporting was designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of our financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles.

Because of inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on this evaluation and the criteria in the COSO framework, our management concluded that our internal control over
financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2017.

KPMG LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, audited our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2017, as stated in their
report included herein.

/s/ Victor D. Grizzle

Victor D. Grizzle
Director, President and Chief Executive Officer

/s/ Brian L. MacNeal

Brian L. MacNeal
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

/s/ Stephen F. McNamara

Stephen F. McNamara
Vice President and Corporate Controller

February 26, 2018
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Report of Independent Regist ered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors
Armstrong World Industries, Inc.:

Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited Armstrong World Industries, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2017, based on
criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. In our
opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2017, based on criteria established
in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”), the consolidated balance
sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the related consolidated statements of earnings and comprehensive income, equity, and cash flows for
each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2017, and the related notes and financial statement schedule of valuation and qualifying reserves
(collectively, the “consolidated financial statements™), and our report dated February 26, 2018 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial
statements.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting . Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and
are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the
Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting
included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the
design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions
and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
February 26, 2018
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors
Armstrong World Industries, Inc.:

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Armstrong World Industries, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2017
and 2016, the related consolidated statements of earnings and comprehensive income, equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2017, and the related notes and financial statement schedule of valuation and qualifying reserves (collectively, the “consolidated financial
statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31,
2017 and 2016, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2017, in conformity with

U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”), the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2017, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, and our report dated February 26, 2018 expressed an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing
procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that
respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ KPMG LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 1929.

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
February 26, 2018
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Armstrong World Industries, Inc., and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Earnings and Comprehensive Income

(amounts in millions, except per share data)

Net sales
Cost of goods sold
Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Separation costs
Equity earnings from joint venture
Operating income
Interest expense
Other non-operating (income) expense, net
Earnings from continuing operations before income taxes
Income tax expense
Earnings from continuing operations
Net gain (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax expense (benefit) of
$3.6, ($0.8) and $34.6
(Loss) gain on disposal of discontinued business, net of tax (benefit)
of (84.1), (§15.2) and ($41.8)
Net (loss) gain from discontinued operations
Net earnings
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Derivative (loss) gain
Pension and postretirement adjustments
Total other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income
Earnings per share of common stock, continuing operations:
Basic
Diluted
(Loss) earnings per share of common stock, discontinued operations:
Basic
Diluted
Net earnings per share of common stock:
Basic
Diluted
Average number of common shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements beginning on page 44.
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Years Ended December 31,

2017 2016 2015
893.6 $ 837.3 805.1
569.8 531.5 499.1
3238 305.8 306.0
135.7 155.5 180.8
- 34.5 343
(67.0) (73.1) (66.1)
255.1 188.9 157.0
354 49.5 44.6
2.4) (11.2) 17.8
222.1 150.6 94.6
15 513 36.7
220.6 99.3 57.9
42 (9.9) (5.3)
(70.0) 15.3 41.6
(65.8) 54 36.3
1548 S 104.7 94.2
245 (33.2) (25.5)
(0.3) 75 0.7
337 493 32.9
57.9 23.6 8.1
2127 S 1283 102.3
412 8 1.79 1.04
408 S 1.78 1.03
(123) $ 0.09 0.65
(122) $ 0.09 0.65
289 § 1.88 1.69
286 $ 1.87 1.68
533 55.4 55.5
539 55.7 55.9



Armstrong World Industries, Inc., and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(amounts in millions, except share data)

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts and notes receivable, net
Inventories, net
Current assets of discontinued operations
Income tax receivable
Other current assets
Total current assets
Property, plant, and equipment, less accumulated depreciation
and amortization of $361.4 and $323.8, respectively
Prepaid pension costs
Investment in joint venture
Goodwill and intangible assets, net
Noncurrent assets of discontinued operations
Deferred income taxes
Income tax receivable
Other noncurrent assets
Total assets

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity

Current liabilities:

Current installments of long-term debt

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

Liabilities of discontinued operations

Income tax payable

Deferred income taxes

Total current liabilities
Long-term debt, less current installments
Postretirement benefit liabilities
Pension benefit liabilities
Other long-term liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities of discontinued operations
Income tax payable
Deferred income taxes
Total noncurrent liabilities
Shareholders' equity:

Common stock, $0.01 par value per share, authorized 200 million shares; issued
60,782,736 shares, outstanding 52,772,139 shares in 2017 and 60,597,140
shares issued, 54,428,233 outstanding shares in 2016

Capital in excess of par value

Retained earnings

Treasury stock, at cost, 8,010,597 shares as of December 31, 2017 and 6,168,907
shares as of December 31, 2016

Accumulated other comprehensive (loss)

Total shareholders' equity
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements beginning on page 44.
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December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016
159.6 $ 141.9
90.8 58.8
53.8 46.9
306.1 125.2
30.7 22.2
7.9 11.2
648.9 406.2
499.9 465.2
88.3 48.7
107.3 106.2
441.1 427.7
- 221.1
19.6 14.4
4.1 5.7
64.3 62.8
1,873.5 $ 1,758.0
32.5 $ 25.0
108.4 117.0
128.5 80.8
0.5 1.3
269.9 224.1
817.7 848.6
79.2 84.8
57.2 56.8
35.5 27.0
- 34.0
53.0 62.2
141.7 154.1
1,184.3 1,267.5
0.6 0.6
516.8 504.9
633.4 469.9
(385.6) (305.2)
(345.9) (403.8)
419.3 266.4
1,873.5 $ 1,758.0




December 31, 2014

Stock issuance, net

Share-based employee
compensation

Net earnings

Other comprehensive income

December 31, 2015

Stock issuance, net

Share-based employee
compensation

Net earnings

Other comprehensive income

Separation of Armstrong
Flooring, Inc.

Acquisition of treasury stock

December 31, 2016

Cumulative effect impact of
ASU 2016-09 adoption

Stock issuance, net

Share-based employee
compensation

Net earnings

Other comprehensive income

Separation of Armstrong
Flooring, Inc.

Acquisition of treasury stock

December 31, 2017

Armstrong World Industries, Inc., and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Equity
(amounts in millions, except share data)

Accumulated
Additional Other
Co Stock Paid-In Retained Treasury Stock Comprehensive
Shares Amount Capital Earnings Shares Amount Income (Loss) Total
55,126,153  $ 06 $ 1,1344 271.0 5,057,382 $ 261.4) $ (495.5) $ 649.1
232911
17.4 17.4
94.2 94.2
8.1 8.1
55,359,064 $ 0.6 $ 1,151.8 $ 365.2 5,057,382 $ (261.4) $ (4874) $ 768.8
180,694
9.2 9.2
104.7 104.7
23.6 23.6
(656.1) 60.0 (596.1)
(1,111,525) 1,111,525 (43.8) (43.8)
54,428,233  $ 06 $ 5049 § 469.9 6,168,907 $ (305.2) $ (403.8) $ 266.4
8.7 8.7
185,596
11.4 11.4
154.8 154.8
57.9 57.9
0.5 0.5
(1,841,690) 1,841,690 (80.4) (80.4)
52,772,139  $ 06 $ 5168 $ 633.4 8,010,597 $ (385.6) $ (345.9) $ 419.3

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements beginning on page 44.
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Armstrong World Industries, Inc., and Subsidiaries

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net earnings

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(amounts in millions)

Years Ended December 31,

Adjustments to reconcile earnings to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization
Write off of debt financing costs
Loss (gain) on disposal of discontinued operations
Deferred income taxes
Share-based compensation
Equity earnings from joint venture
Separation costs
Loss on interest rate swap
U.S. pension (credit) expense
Non-cash foreign currency translation on intercompany loans
Other, non-cash adjustments, net
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Receivables
Inventories
Other current assets
Other noncurrent assets
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Income taxes payable
Other long-term liabilities
Other, net
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Return of investment from joint venture
Cash paid for acquisition
Payment of company-owned life insurance, net
Other investing activities
Net cash (used for) investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from revolving credit facility and other short-term debt
Payments of revolving credit facility and other short-term debt
Proceeds from long-term debt
Payments of long-term debt
Financing costs
Special dividends paid
Proceeds from exercised stock options
Cash transferred to Armstrong Flooring, Inc.
Proceeds from company-owned life insurance loans, net
Payment for treasury stock acquired
Net cash (used for) financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year of discontinued operations
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year of continuing operations
Supplemental Cash Flow Disclosures:
Interest paid
Income taxes paid, net
Amounts in accounts payable for capital expenditures

2017 2016 2015
$ 1548  $ 1047 $ 94.2
89.2 89.2 118.3
- 1.1 -
74.1 0.1) 0.2
(12.3) 51.0 (48.5)
10.2 12.4 13.4
(67.0) (73.1) (66.1)
- 345 343
= 10.7 5
4.5) 15.0 252
2.6) (3.6) 19.8
22 0.3) 0.3
(37.1) (23.9) 2.7
3.6 (7.0) (15.7)
22 7.1 (7.3)
(1.6) 9.9) 7.9
(20.0) (82.1) 15.0
(18.8) (49.3) 33.6
(1.2) (22.0) (22.2)
(0.8) 5.1 (14)
170.4 493 203.7
(89.7) (104.2) (170.7)
69.1 86.9 64.2
(31.2) - -
2.4) = 22
- 0.3 2.8
(54.2) (17.0) (101.5)
103.0 90.0 =
(103.0) (90.0) -
= 363.5 =
(25.0) (434.1) (39.5)
0.6) 8.1) 5
- - (1.2)
33 0.7 6.4
- 9.1) -
S 2.0 2.0
(80.4) (43.8) -
(102.7) (128.9) (32.3)
42 (6.3) (10.4)
17.7 (102.9) 59.5
141.9 244.8 185.3
159.6 141.9 244.8
- - 35.5
$ 1596 $ 1419 $ 209.3
$ 307 8 334 $ 39.4
$ 321§ 337 $ 44.4
$ 26 $ 44 8 14.3

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements beginning on page 44.
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Armstrong World Industries, Inc., and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(dollar amounts in millions, except share data)

NOTE 1. BUSINESS

9 <. 9 ¢

Armstrong World Industries, Inc. (“AWI”) is a Pennsylvania corporation incorporated in 1891. When we refer to “AWI,” the “Company,” “we,” “our” and “us” in
these notes, we are referring to AWI and its subsidiaries.

On November 17, 2017, we entered into a Share Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) with Knauf International GmbH (“Knauf™), to sell certain
subsidiaries comprising our business in Europe, the Middle East and Africa (including Russia) (“EMEA”) and the Pacific Rim, including the corresponding
businesses and operations conducted by Worthington Armstrong Venture (“WAVE”), our joint venture with Worthington Industries, Inc., in which AWI holds a
50% interest. The total consideration to be paid by Knauf in connection with the sale is $330.0 million in cash, inclusive of amounts due to WAVE, subject to
certain adjustments as provided in the Purchase Agreement, including adjustments based on the economic impact of any required regulatory remedies and a
working capital adjustment. The transaction, which is subject to regulatory approvals and other customary conditions, is currently anticipated to close in mid-
2018. EMEA and Pacific Rim’s historical financial results have been reflected in AWI’s Consolidated Financial Statements as discontinued operations for all
periods presented. See Note 4 for additional information.

In January 2017, we acquired the business and assets of Tectum, Inc. (“Tectum”), based in Newark, Ohio. Tectum is a manufacturer of acoustical ceiling, wall and

structural solutions for commercial building applications with two manufacturing facilities. Tectum’s operations and its assets and liabilities have been included as
a component of our Architectural Specialties segment. See Note 4 for additional information.

NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Consolidation Policy . The consolidated financial statements and accompanying data in this report include the accounts of AWI and its majority-owned
subsidiaries. All significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated from the consolidated financial statements.

Use of Estimates . We prepare our financial statements in conformity with U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“U.S. GAAP”), which requires
management to make estimates and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. When
preparing an estimate, management determines the amount based upon the consideration of relevant internal and external information. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

Reclassifications . Certain amounts in the prior year’s Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes and schedule thereto have been recast to conform to the
2017 presentation.

Revenue Recognition . We recognize revenue from the sale of products when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, title and risk of loss transfers to the
customers, prices are fixed and determinable, and it is reasonably assured the related accounts receivable is collectible. Our standard sales terms are Free On Board
(“FOB”) shipping point. We have some sales terms that are FOB destination. Our products are sold with normal and customary return provisions. Sales discounts
are deducted immediately from the sales invoice. Provisions, which are recorded as a reduction of revenue, are made for the estimated cost of rebates, promotional
programs and warranties.

Sales Incentives . Sales incentives are reflected as a reduction of net sales.
Shipping and Handling Costs . Shipping and handling costs are reflected in cost of goods sold.

Advertising Costs . We recognize advertising expenses as they are incurred.

Research and Development Costs . We expense research and development costs as they are incurred.

Pension and Postretirement Benefits . We have benefit plans that provide for pension, medical and life insurance benefits to certain eligible employees when they
retire from active service. See Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for disclosures on pension and postretirement benefits.

Taxes . The provision for income taxes has been determined using the asset and liability approach of accounting for income taxes to reflect the expected future tax
consequences of events recognized in the financial statements. Deferred income tax assets and
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Armstrong World Industries, Inc., and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(dollar amounts in millions, except share data)

liabilities a re recognized by applying enacted tax rates to temporary differences that exist as of the balance sheet date, which result from differences in the timing
of reported taxable income between tax and financial reporting.

We reduce the carrying amounts of deferred tax assets by a valuation allowance if, based on the available evidence, it is more likely than not that such assets will
not be realized. The need to establish valuation allowances for deferred tax assets is assessed quarterly. In assessing the requirement for, and amount of, a
valuation allowance in accordance with the more likely than not standard, we give appropriate consideration to all positive and negative evidence related to the
realization of the deferred tax assets. This assessment considers, among other matters, the nature, frequency and severity of current and cumulative losses,
forecasts of future profitability and foreign source income, the duration of statutory carryforward periods, and our experience with operating loss and tax credit
carryforward expirations. A history of cumulative losses is a significant piece of negative evidence used in our assessment. If a history of cumulative losses is
incurred for a tax jurisdiction, forecasts of future profitability are generally not used as positive evidence related to the realization of the deferred tax assets in the
assessment.

We recognize the tax benefits of an uncertain tax position if those benefits are more likely than not to be sustained based on existing tax law. Additionally, we
establish a reserve for tax positions that are more likely than not to be sustained based on existing tax law, but uncertain in the ultimate benefit to be sustained upon
examination by the relevant taxing authorities. Unrecognized tax benefits are subsequently recognized at the time the more likely than not recognition threshold is
met, the tax matter is effectively settled or the statute of limitations for the relevant taxing authority to examine and challenge the tax position has expired,
whichever is earlier.

Taxes collected from customers and remitted to governmental authorities are reported on a net basis.

Earnings per Share . Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing the earnings attributable to common shares by the weighted average number of shares of
common stock outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share reflects the potential dilution of securities that could share in the earnings.

Cash and Cash Equivalents . Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, short-term investments that have maturities of three months or less when purchased
and restricted cash.

Concentration of Credit . We principally sell products to customers in building products industries in various geographic regions. Revenues from three commercial
distributors, included within our Mineral Fiber and Architectural Specialties segments, individually exceeded 10% of our revenues in 2017. Net sales in 2017 to
these three customers totaled $426.1 million. Net sales of $372.9 million and $305.6 million to these three customers also exceeded 10% of our revenues in 2016
and 2015, respectively. We monitor the creditworthiness of our customers and generally do not require collateral.

Receivables . We sell our products to select, pre-approved customers using customary trade terms that allow for payment in the future. Customer trade receivables,
customer notes receivable and miscellaneous receivables (which include supply related rebates and other), net of allowances for doubtful accounts, customer credits
and warranties are reported in accounts and notes receivable, net. Cash flows from the collection of receivables are classified as operating cash flows on the
consolidated statements of cash flows.

We establish credit-worthiness prior to extending credit. We estimate the recoverability of receivables each period. This estimate is based upon new information
in the period, which can include the review of any available financial statements and forecasts, as well as discussions with legal counsel and the management of the
debtor company. As events occur, which impact the collectability of the receivable, all or a portion of the receivable is reserved. Account balances are charged off
against the allowance when the potential for recovery is considered remote. We do not have any off-balance sheet credit exposure related to our customers.

Inventories . Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. See Note 6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information on
our accounting for inventories.

Property Plant and Equipment . Property plant and equipment is recorded at cost reduced by accumulated depreciation. Depreciation expense is recognized on a
straight-line basis over the assets’ estimated useful lives. Machinery and equipment includes manufacturing equipment (depreciated over 3 to 15 years), computer
equipment (depreciated over 3 to 5 years) and office furniture and equipment (depreciated over 5 to 7 years). Within manufacturing equipment, assets that are
subject to accelerated obsolescence or wear out quickly, such as dryer components, are depreciated over shorter periods (3 to 7 years). Heavy production
equipment, such as conveyors and production presses, are depreciated over longer periods (10 to 15 years). Buildings are depreciated over 15 to 30 years,
depending on factors such as type of construction and use. Computer software is depreciated over 3 to 7 years.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(dollar amounts in millions, except share data)

Property, plant and equipment is tested for impairment by asset group when indicators of impairment are present, such a s operating losses and/or negative cash
flows. If an indication of impairment exists, we compare the carrying amount of the asset group to the estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be
generated by the asset group. The estimate of an asset group’s fair value is based on discounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset group, or
based on management’s estimated exit price assuming the assets could be sold in an orderly transaction between market participants, or estimated sal vage value if
no sale is assumed. If the fair value is less than the carrying value of the asset group, we record an impairment charge equal to the difference between the fair value
and carrying value of the asset group. Impairments of assets related to our manufacturing operations are recorded in cost of goods sold.

When assets are disposed of or retired, their costs and related depreciation are removed from the financial statements, and any resulting gains or losses normally are
reflected in cost of goods sold or selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expenses depending on the nature of the asset.

Asset Retirement Obligations . We recognize the fair value of obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets in the period in which they are
incurred. Upon initial recognition of a liability, the discounted cost is capitalized as part of the related long-lived asset and depreciated over the corresponding
asset’s useful life. Over time, accretion of the liability is recognized as an operating expense to reflect the change in the liability’s present value.

Intangible Assets . Our definite-lived intangible assets are primarily customer relationships (amortized over 20 years) and developed technology (amortized over 15
years). We review significant definite-lived intangible assets for impairment when indicators of impairment exist. We review our businesses for indicators of
impairment such as operating losses and/or negative cash flows. If an indication of impairment exists, we compare the carrying amount of the asset group to the
estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset group. The estimate of an asset group’s fair value is based on discounted future
cash flows expected to be generated by the asset group, or based on management’s estimated exit price assuming the assets could be sold in an orderly transaction
between market participants. If the fair value is less than the carrying value of the asset group, we record an impairment charge equal to the difference between the
fair value and carrying value of the asset group.

Our indefinite-lived intangibles are primarily goodwill, trademarks and brand names, with Armstrong representing our primary trademark, which are integral to our
corporate identity and expected to contribute indefinitely to our cash flows. Accordingly, they have been assigned an indefinite life. We perform annual
impairment tests during the fourth quarter on these indefinite-lived intangibles. These assets undergo more frequent tests if an indication of possible impairment
exists.

The principal assumption used in our impairment tests for definite-lived intangible assets is future operating profit adjusted for depreciation and amortization. The
principal assumptions used in our impairment tests for indefinite-lived intangible assets include revenue growth rate, discount rate and royalty rate. Revenue
growth rate and future operating profit assumptions are derived from those utilized in our operating plan and strategic planning processes. The discount rate
assumption is calculated based upon an estimated weighted average cost of equity which reflects the overall level of inherent risk and the rate of return a market
participant would expect to achieve. The royalty rate assumption represents the estimated contribution of the intangible asset to the overall profits of the reporting
unit. Methodologies used for valuing our intangible assets did not change from prior periods.

See Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for disclosure on intangible assets.

Foreign Currency Transactions . Assets and liabilities of our subsidiaries operating outside the United States which account in a functional currency other than
U.S. dollars are translated using the period end exchange rate. Revenues and expenses are translated at exchange rates effective during each month. Foreign
currency translation gains or losses are included as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) within shareholders' equity. Gains or losses on
foreign currency transactions are recognized through earnings.

Financial Instruments and Derivatives . From time to time, we use derivatives and other financial instruments to offset the effect of currency, interest rate and
commodity price variability. See Notes 17 and 18 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion.

Share-based Employee Compensation . We recognize share-based compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the vesting period for the entire
award. Compensation expense for performance based awards with non-market based conditions are also recognized over the vesting period for the entire award,

however, compensation expense may vary based on the expectations for actual
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performance relative to defined performa nce measures. See Note 21 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information on share-based employee
compensation.

Subsequent Events . We have evaluated subsequent events for potential recognition and disclosure through the date the consolidated financial statements included
in the Annual Report on Form 10-K were issued.

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards

In July 2015, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2015-11, *“ Simplifying the Measurement of
Inventory ,” which requires inventory that is measured on a first-in, first-out or average cost basis to be measured at lower of cost and net realizable value, as
opposed to the lower of cost or market. For inventory that is measured under the last-in, first-out (“LIFO”) basis or the retail recovery method, there is no change
to current measurement requirements. The adoption of this standard on January 1, 2017 did not have an impact on our financial condition, results of operations or
cash flows.

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-09, “ Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting .” This new guidance simplifies accounting for
share-based payments, most notably by requiring all excess tax benefits and tax deficiencies to be recorded as income tax benefits or expense in the income
statement and by allowing entities to recognize forfeitures of awards when they occur. Effective January 1, 2017, we adopted the provisions of ASU 2016-09 and
elected to continue to estimate the impact of forfeitures when determining share-based compensation cost. We prospectively adopted the provisions of this new
guidance related to the recognition of excess tax benefits and deficiencies through income tax expense, the presentation of excess tax benefits from share-based
compensation as operating cash outflows, and changes to diluted earnings per share computations, the impact of which were not material to our Consolidated
Statements of Earnings and Comprehensive Income or Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. Finally, as required by ASU 2016-09, effective January 1, 2017,
we recorded an $8.7 million cumulative-effect increase to Retained earnings and Deferred income taxes (assets), representing prior years’ tax benefits that were not
previously recognized because the related tax deductions had not reduced income taxes payable.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers.” The guidance requires an entity to recognize the amount of revenue to
which it expects to be entitled for the transfer of promised goods or services to a customer. The ASU will replace most existing revenue recognition guidance in
U.S. GAAP when it becomes effective. In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-08, “Principal versus Agent Considerations (Reporting Gross versus Net),”
which clarifies the implementation guidance relating to principle versus agent considerations. In April 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-10, “Identifying
Performance Obligations and Licensing, ” which clarifies the implementation guidance relating to the identification of performance obligations in a contract,
including how entities should account for shipping and handling services provided after control of goods transfers to a customer. In May 2016, the FASB issued
ASU 2016-12, “Narrow-Scope Improvements and Practical Expedients,” which clarifies the guidance related to the presentation of sales taxes, noncash
consideration, and completed contracts and contract modifications. In December 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-20, “Technical Corrections and Improvements
to Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers,” which clarifies the scope and application of the adoption of the new revenue recognition standard.

Collectively, the revenue recognition updates are effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, but early adoption is permitted. We
have adopted these standards effective January 1, 2018 using the modified retrospective transition method and have applied all practical expedients related to
completed contracts upon adoption. Substantially all of our revenues from contracts with customers are recognized from the sale of products with standard
shipping terms, sales discounts and warranties. Based on our evaluation, adoption will not have a material impact to our financial condition, results of operations or
cash flows as the amount and timing of substantially all of our revenues will continue to be recognized at a point in time. We will be impacted by the expanded
disclosure requirements of the revenue recognition updates, most notably the disclosure of revenues from contracts with customers into disaggregated categories.

In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-01, “Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities,” which addresses certain aspects of
recognition, measurement, presentation, and disclosure of financial instruments. Most notably, this new guidance requires equity investments (except those
accounted for under the equity method of accounting or those that result in consolidation of the investee) to be measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognized in net income. This new guidance is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017. We do not believe the adoption of this
standard will have a material impact on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
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In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, “Leases, ” which amends accounting for leases, most notably by requiring a lessee to recognize the ass ets and
liabilities that arise from a lease agreement. Specifically, this new guidance will require lessees to recognize a liability to make lease payments and a right-of-use
asset representing its right to use the underlying asset for the lease term, wit h limited exceptions. The accounting applied by a lessor is largely unchanged from
that applied under existing U.S. GAAP. This new guidance is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018 and must be adopted under
a modified r etrospective basis. We are currently evaluating the impact the adoption of this standard will have on our financial condition, results of operations and
cash flows.

In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-15 , “Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments.” This guidance clarifies how entities should
classify certain cash receipts and cash payments on the statement of cash flows. This new guidance is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after
December 15,2017. We do not believe the impact the adoption of this standard will have a material impact on our cash flows.

In March 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-07, “Improving the Presentation of Net Periodic Pension Cost and Net Periodic Postretirement Benefit Cost,” which
requires companies to report the service cost component of net benefit cost in the same line item or items as other compensation costs arising from services
rendered by the pertinent employees during the period. The other components of net benefit cost are required to be presented in the income statement separately
from the service cost component and outside a subtotal of income from operations, if one is presented. This new guidance is effective for annual periods beginning
after December 15, 2017 and will have an impact on the classification of net benefit costs, which are currently included as a component of Costs of goods sold and
Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expenses, on our Consolidated Statements of Earnings and Comprehensive Income. See Note 16 for details related
to our components of net benefit costs.

In August 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-12, “Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815): Targeted Improvements to Accounting for Hedging Activities,” which
amends the financial reporting of hedging relationships in order to better portray the economic results of an entity’s risk management activities in its financial
statements. In addition, this new guidance simplifies the application of current hedge accounting guidance. This new guidance is effective for annual periods
beginning after December 15, 2018. We are currently evaluating the impact the adoption of this standard will have on our financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows.

In February 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-02, “ Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income .” On December 22,
2017, the U.S. federal government enacted the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (the “Tax Act of 2017”), which, in addition to numerous other provisions, lowered
the Corporate statutory tax rate from 35% to 21%. Under U.S. GAAP, all deferred tax assets and liabilities are required to be adjusted for the effect of a change in
tax laws or rates, with the effect included in income from continuing operations in the reporting period that includes the enactment date. As a result of this
guidance, the tax effects of items recorded within Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (“AOCI”) do not reflect the appropriate tax rate. This standard
would require entities to record a reclassification from AOCI to retained earnings for the purpose of appropriately including the tax effect of items within AOCI at
the newly enacted 21% U.S. federal tax rate. This new guidance is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2018. Upon adoption, we will record
an approximately $54 million reduction to AOCI with a corresponding increase to retained earnings.

NOTE 3. NATURE OF OPERATIONS

Effective December 31, 2017 and in connection with the announced sale of our EMEA and Pacific Rim businesses, our former EMEA and Pacific Rim segments
have been excluded from our results of continuing operations. As a result, effective December 31, 2017 and for all periods presented, our operating segments are
as follows: Mineral Fiber, Architectural Specialties and Unallocated Corporate.

Mineral Fiber — produces suspended mineral fiber and soft fiber ceiling systems for use in commercial and residential settings. Products offer various performance
attributes such as acoustical control, rated fire protection and aesthetic appeal. Commercial ceiling products are sold to resale distributors and to ceiling systems
contractors. Residential ceiling products are sold primarily to wholesalers and retailers (including large home centers). The Mineral Fiber segment also includes
the results of our Worthington Armstrong Venture (“WAVE?”) joint venture with Worthington Industries, Inc., which manufactures suspension system (grid)
products and ceiling component products that are invoiced by both us and WAVE. Segment results relating to WAVE consist primarily of equity earnings and
reflect our 50% equity interest in the joint venture. Ceiling component products consist of ceiling perimeters and trim, in addition to grid products that support
drywall ceiling systems. To a lesser extent, however, in some markets, WAVE sells its suspension systems products to us for resale to customers. Our segment
results reflect those sales transactions. The Mineral Fiber segment also includes all assets and liabilities not specifically allocated to our Architectural Specialties or
Unallocated
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Corporate segment, including all property and related depre ciation associated with our Lancaster, PA headquarters. Operating results for the Mineral Fiber
segment include a significant majority of allocated Corporate administrative expenses that represent a reasonable allocation of general services to support its
operations.

Architectural Specialties — produces and sources ceilings and walls for use in commercial settings. Products are available in numerous materials, such as metal and
wood, in addition to various colors, shapes and designs. Products offer various performance attributes such as acoustical control, rated fire protection and aesthetic
appeal. We produce standard and customized products, with the majority of Architectural Specialties revenues derived from sourced products. Architectural
Specialties products are sold to resale distributors and ceiling systems contractors. The majority of revenues are project driven, which can lead to more volatile
sales patterns due to project scheduling. Operating results for the Architectural Specialties segment include a minor portion of allocated Corporate administrative
expenses that represent a reasonable allocation of general services to support its operations.

Unallocated Corporate — includes assets, liabilities, income and expenses that have not been allocated to our other business segments and consist of: cash and cash
equivalents, the net funded status of our U.S. Retirement Income Plan (“RIP”), the estimated fair value of interest rate swap contracts, outstanding borrowings
under our senior credit facilities and income tax balances. Effective December 31, 2017 and for all periods presented, our Unallocated Corporate segment also
includes all assets, liabilities, income and expenses formerly reported in our EMEA and Pacific Rim segments that are not included in the pending sale to Knauf.

Segment results below have been restated for all periods presented as a result of the disaggregation of our former Americas segment and the reclassification of
Unallocated Corporate assets.

Architectural Unallocated
Mineral Fiber Specialties Corporate Total
For the year ended 2017
Net sales to external customers $ 7564 $ 1372 § - $ 893.6
Equity (earnings) from joint venture (67.0) - - (67.0)
Segment operating income (loss) 231.9 27.7 4.5) 255.1
Segment assets 1,193.5 53.2 320.7 1,567.4
Depreciation and amortization (1) 59.2 1.8 6.0 67.0
Investment in joint venture 107.3 - - 107.3
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (1) 76.1 1.6 - 71.7
Architectural Unallocated
Mineral Fiber Specialties Corporate Total
For the year ended 2016
Net sales to external customers $ 736.6 $ 100.7 $ - $ 8373
Equity (earnings) from joint venture (73.1) - - (73.1)
Segment operating income (loss) 2239 19.2 (54.2) 188.9
Segment assets 1,145.1 17.3 249.3 1,411.7
Depreciation and amortization (1) 53.6 0.8 04 54.8
Investment in joint venture 106.2 - - 106.2
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (1) 66.1 0.2 - 66.3
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For the year ended 2015

Net sales to external customers
Equity (earnings) from joint venture
Segment operating income (loss)
Segment assets

Depreciation and amortization (1)
Investment in joint venture

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (1)

Armstrong World Industries, Inc., and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(dollar amounts in millions, except share data)

Architectural Unallocated
Mineral Fiber Specialties Corporate Total
7237 S 81.4 - § 805.1
(66.1) - - (66.1)
270.3 16.5 (129.8) 157.0
1,132.8 17.2 271.0 1,421.0
43.9 0.8 11.9 56.6
130.8 - - 130.8
51.5 0.6 22.4 74.5

(1) Totals will differ from the totals on our Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows by the amounts that have been classified as discontinued operations. See

Note 4 for additional details.

Segment operating income (loss) is the measure of segment profit or loss reviewed by the chief operating decision maker. The sum of the segments’ operating
income (loss) equals the total consolidated operating income as reported on our Consolidated Statements of Earnings and Comprehensive Income. The following
reconciles our total consolidated operating income to earnings from continuing operations before income taxes. These items are only measured and managed on a

consolidated basis:

Segment operating income
Interest expense

Other non-operating (income)/expense, net

Earnings from continuing operations before income taxes

Accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies.

The sales in the table below are allocated to geographic areas based on the location of our selling entities.

Geographic Areas
Net trade sales

Mineral Fiber:
United States
Canada

Total Mineral Fiber

Architectural Specialties:
United States
Canada
Total Architectural Specialties
Total net trade sales
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2017 2016 2015

$ 2551 $ 1889 § 157.0

354 495 44.6

(2.4) (11.2) 17.8

$ 2221 § 1506 $ 94.6
2017 2016 2015

$ 699.8 $ 680.8 $ 670.8

56.6 55.8 52.9

756.4 736.6 7237

129.5 95.1 75.1

7.7 5.6 6.3

137.2 100.7 81.4

$ 8936 $ 8373 $ 805.1
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2017 2016
Property. plant and equipment, net at December 31
Mineral Fiber:

United States $ 488.7 $ 4573
Total Mineral Fiber 488.7 4573
Architectural Specialties:

Canada $ 45 § 4.0

United States 3.0 0.3
Total Architectural Specialties 7.5 43
Unallocated Corporate (1) 3.7 3.6
Total property, plant and equipment, net $ 4999 § 465.2

(1) Includes property, plant and equipment located in China that were formerly reported in our Pacific Rim segment and will not be included in the sale to
Knauf.

Impairment testing of our tangible assets occurs whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be
recoverable.

In September 2017, we made the decision to permanently close a previously idled plant in China, which is reported as a component of Unallocated Corporate as of
December 31,2017. As a result, during 2017 we recorded $5.6 million in costs of goods sold for accelerated depreciation of machinery and equipment based on
management estimates. During the fourth quarter of 2017, we announced the closing of our St. Helens, Oregon mineral fiber manufacturing facility, expected to
occur in the first half of 2018. During the fourth quarter of 2017, we recorded $4.0 million in costs of goods sold primarily related to accelerated depreciation of
machinery and equipment within our Mineral Fiber segment based on management estimates.

NOTE 4. ACQUISITIONS AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
ACQUISITION OF TECTUM

On January 13, 2017, in connection with the acquisition of Tectum, the $31.2 million purchase price was allocated to the tangible and intangible assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values, with the remaining unallocated amount recorded as goodwill. The total fair value of tangible assets
acquired, less liabilities assumed, in connection with the Tectum acquisition was $4.4 million. The total fair value of intangible assets acquired, comprised of
amortizable customer relationships and non-amortizing brand names, was $16.0 million, resulting in $10.8 million of goodwill. All of the acquired goodwill is
deductible for tax purposes.

EMEA AND PACIFIC RIM BUSINESSES

On November 17, 2017, in connection with the Purchase Agreement we entered into with Knauf, we agreed to sell certain subsidiaries comprising our businesses in
EMEA and the Pacific Rim. Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, prior to the closing, we and Knauf will enter into (i) an agreement relating to the mutual supply
of certain products after the closing, (ii) an agreement relating to the use of certain intellectual property by Knauf after the closing, including the Armstrong trade
name and (iii) an agreement relating to certain transition services to be provided by AWI to Knauf after closing for a period of one year. WAVE and Knauf will
also enter into similar agreements for such purposes.

As of December 31, 2017, based on anticipated net sales proceeds to be received from Knauf, the fair value of EMEA and Pacific Rim net assets are less than their
carrying value. As a result, we recorded an impairment charge of $74.0 million during the fourth quarter of 2017, which included $51.4 million of accumulated
other comprehensive income adjustments, primarily accumulated foreign currency translation amounts, that will be subsequently reclassified to earnings from
discontinued operations upon sale of our EMEA and Pacific Rim businesses.
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FLOORING BUSINESSES

Separation and Distribution of AFI

On April 1, 2016, we completed our separation of Armstrong Flooring, Inc. (“AFI”) by allocating the assets and liabilities related primarily to our Resilient and
Wood Flooring segments to AFI and then distributing the common stock of AFI to our shareholders at a ratio of one share of AFI common stock for every two
shares of AWI common stock. Separation costs for 2016 and 2015 were $34.5 million and $34.3 million, respectively. Separation costs for all periods primarily
related to outside professional services and employee compensation and retention and severance accruals which were recorded within the Unallocated Corporate
segment in conjunction with this initiative.

On April 1, 2016, in connection with the separation and distribution of AFI, we entered into several agreements with AFI that, together with a plan of division,
provided for the separation and allocation between AWI and AFI of the flooring assets, employees, liabilities and obligations of AWI and its subsidiaries
attributable to periods prior to, at and after AFI’s separation from AWI, and govern the relationship between AWI and AFI subsequent to the completion of the
separation and distribution. These agreements include a Transition Services Agreement, a Tax Matters Agreement, an Employee Matters Agreement, a Trademark
License Agreement, a Transition Trademark License Agreement and a Campus Lease Agreement. AWI and AFI provided various services to each other during a
transition period that expired on December 31, 2017.

The Tax Matters Agreement generally governs AWI’s and AFI’s respective rights, responsibilities and obligations after the separation and distribution with respect
to tax matters. Upon distribution, AWI received an opinion from its tax counsel that the separation and distribution qualified as a tax-free transaction for AWI and
its shareholders.

The Employee Matters Agreement governed certain compensation and employee benefit obligations with respect to the current and former employees and non-
employee directors of AWI and AFI. Pursuant to this agreement and in connection with the distribution, AWI transferred assets and liabilities from the AWI
defined benefit pension and postretirement plans to AFI that relate to active AFI employees and certain former AFI employees to mirror plans established by AFI.
See Note 16 for additional details.

Pursuant to the Trademark License Agreement, AWI provided AFI with a perpetual, royalty-free license to utilize the “Armstrong” trade name and logo. Pursuant
to the Transition Trademark License Agreement, AFI provided us with a five-year royalty-free license to utilize the “Inspiring Great Spaces” tagline, logo and
related color scheme.

Under the Campus Lease Agreement, certain portions of the AWI headquarters are being leased to AFI to use as its corporate headquarters for an initial term of
five years, subject to certain renewal rights.

European Resilient Flooring

On December 4, 2014, our Board of Directors approved the cessation of funding to our former DLW subsidiary, which was our former European flooring
business. As a result, DLW management filed for insolvency in Germany on December 11, 2014. The German insolvency court subsequently appointed an
administrator (the “Administrator”) to oversee DLW operations.

As of December 4, 2014, DLW had a net liability of $12.9 million, representing assets of $151.9 million and liabilities of $164.8 million, which were removed
from our balance sheet. This net liability was recognized as a contingent liability on our consolidated balance sheet pending the closure and results of the
insolvency proceeding. The amount of the net liability, included within Accounts payable and accrued expenses on our Consolidated Balance Sheets, was $11.9
million as of December 31, 2016. In April 2017, we entered into a settlement agreement and mutual release with the Administrator on behalf of the DLW estate to
settle all claims of the Administrator related to the insolvency for a cash payment of $11.8 million. DLW was previously shown within our Resilient Flooring
reporting segment.

CABINETS

In September 2012, we entered into a definitive agreement to sell our cabinets business to American Industrial Partners. The sale was completed in October
2012. Net loss on disposal of discontinued operations in 2015 related to the settlement of a multi-employer pension plan.
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Summarized Financial Information of Discontinued Operations

The following tables detail the businesses and line items that comprise income from discontinued operations on the Consolidated Statements of Earnings and

Comprehensive Income.

EMEA and Pacific Flooring
Rim Businesses Businesses Total

2017:
Net sales $ 4362  $ - 8 436.2
Cost of goods sold 350.8 - 350.8
Gross profit 85.4 - 85.4
Selling, general and administrative expenses 78.3 - 78.3
Operating income 7.1 - 7.1
Interest expense 1.2 - 1.2
Other non-operating (income), net (1.9) - (1.9)
Earnings from discontinued operations before income tax 7.8 - 7.8
Income tax expense 3.6 - 3.6
Gain from discontinued operations $ 42 8 - 4.2
(Loss) on expected disposal of discontinued businesses before

income tax (1) $ (74.0) $ 0.1) $ (74.1)
Income tax (benefit) - (4.1) (4.1)
Net (loss) gain on disposal of discontinued businesses $ (74.0) $ 40 $ (70.0)
Net (loss) gain from discontinued operations $ (69.8) $ 40 $ (65.8)

(1) Loss on disposal of EMEA and Pacific Rim businesses for the year ended December 31, 2017 represents the estimated write-down of EMEA and Pacific

Rim assets based on our expected sales proceeds to be received upon closure of the transaction.

EMEA and Pacific Flooring
Rim Businesses Businesses Total

2016:

Net sales $ 3972 $ 2844  $ 681.6
Cost of goods sold 331.8 237.2 569.0
Gross profit 65.4 47.2 112.6
Selling, general and administrative expenses 69.7 50.5 120.2
Operating (loss) 4.3) 3.3) (7.6)
Interest expense 0.3 - 0.3
Other non-operating expense, net 1.7 1.1 2.8
(Loss) from discontinued operations before income tax 6.3) “4.4) (10.7)
Income tax (benefit) expense (0.9) 0.1 (0.8)
(Loss) from discontinued operations $ 54) $ “4.5) $ 9.9)
Gain on disposal of discontinued businesses before income tax $ - 8 0.1 $ 0.1
Income tax (benefit) - (15.2) (15.2)
Net gain on disposal of discontinued businesses $ -3 153  $ 15.3
Net (loss) gain from discontinued operations $ 54) $ 10.8  $ 5.4
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2015:

Net sales

Cost of goods sold

Gross profit

Selling, general and administrative expenses

Operating (loss) income

Interest expense

Other non-operating (income) expense, net

(Loss) earnings from discontinued operations before
income tax

Income tax expense

(Loss) earnings from discontinued operations

Armstrong World Industries, Inc., and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(dollar amounts in millions, except share data)

(Loss) gain on disposal of discontinued businesses before

income tax
Income tax (benefit) expense
Net gain on disposal of discontinued businesses

Net (loss) gain from discontinued operations

EMEA and Pacific Flooring
Rim Businesses Businesses Cabinets Total

$ 4262 $ 1,188.7 - 1,614.9

355.8 962.3 - 1,318.1

70.4 226.4 - 296.8

86.9 179.5 - 266.4

(16.5) 46.9 - 30.4

0.7 - - 0.7

2.7) 3.1 - 0.4

(14.5) 438 - 29.3

16.8 17.8 - 34.6
$ (313) $ 26.0 - (5.3)
$ - S (0.8) 0.6 0.2)
- (42.0) 0.2 (41.8)

$ - 3 41.2 0.4 41.6

$ (313) $ 67.2 0.4 36.3
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The following is a summary of the carrying amount of the major classes of assets and liabilities classified as assets and liabilities of discontinued operations as of
December 31, 2017 and 2016 related to our EMEA and Pacific Rim businesses.

December 31, 2017

December 31, 2016

Assets
Current assets:
Accounts and notes receivable, net 61.4 $ 49.5
Inventories, net 59.2 62.1
Income tax receivable 3.1 4.0
Other current assets 12.9 9.6
Total current assets discontinued operations 136.6 125.2
Property, plant, and equipment, less accumulated depreciation and amortization (1) (2) 131.3 204.4
Prepaid pension costs (1) 26.1 7.9
Goodwill and intangible assets, net (1) 7.2 6.8
Deferred income taxes (1) 4.0 1.0
Other non-current assets (1) 0.9 1.0
Total non-current assets of discontinued operations (1) 169.5 221.1
Total assets of discontinued operations (1) 306.1 $ 346.3
Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 78.6 $ 80.1
Income tax payable 1.3 0.7
Total current liabilities 79.9 80.8
Pension benefit liabilities (3) 34.7 29.5
Other long-term liabilities (3) 1.8 2.1
Deferred income taxes (3) 12.1 2.4
Total non-current liabilities of discontinued operations (3) 48.6 34.0
Total liabilities of discontinued operations (3) $ 1285  § 114.8

(1) Presented as Current assets of discontinued operations on the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2017.
(2) Includes a pre-tax impairment charge of $74.0 million recorded during the fourth quarter of 2017.
(3) Presented as Current liabilities of discontinued operations on the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2017.

The following is a summary of total depreciation and amortization and capital expenditures presented as discontinued operations and included as components of
operating and investing cash flows on our consolidated statements of cash flows:

EMEA and Pacific Flooring
Rim Businesses Businesses Total

2017:

Depreciation and amortization $ 222 % - S 222
Fixed asset impairment (1) 74.0 - 74.0
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (12.0) - (12.0)
2016:

Depreciation and amortization $ 230 $ 114 $ 34.4
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (25.8) (12.1) (37.9)
2015:

Depreciation and amortization $ 226 $ 39.1 § 61.7
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (34.6) (61.6) (96.2)

(1) Loss on disposal of EMEA and Pacific Rim businesses for the year ended December 31, 2017 represents the estimated write-down of EMEA and Pacific
Rim assets based on our expected sales proceeds to be received upon closure of the transaction.
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NOTE 5. ACCOUNTS AND NOTES RECEIVABLE

December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016
Customer receivables $ 628 $ 56.9
Miscellaneous receivables 29.9 3.8
Less allowance for warranties, discounts, and losses (1.9) (1.9)
Accounts and notes receivable, net $ 90.8 § 58.8

We sell our products to select, pre-approved customers whose businesses are affected by changes in economic and market conditions. We consider these factors
and the financial condition of each customer when establishing our allowance for losses from doubtful accounts.

Miscellaneous receivables as of December 31, 2017 include insurance recoveries related to environmental matters. See Note 27 for more information.

NOTE 6. INVENTORIES

December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016
Finished goods $ 332§ 30.1
Goods in process 2.7 2.6
Raw materials and supplies 26.1 21.4
Less LIFO reserves (8.2) (7.2)
Total inventories, net $ 538 § 46.9

Approximately 84% and 87% of our total inventory in 2017 and 2016, respectively, were valued on a LIFO (last-in, first-out) basis.

The distinction between the use of different methods of inventory valuation is primarily based on geographical locations and/or legal entities. The following table
summarizes the amount of inventory that is not accounted for under the LIFO method.

December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016
U.S. locations $ 6.5 $ 4.2
Canada locations 2.2 1.9
Total $ 87 $ 6.1

Our Canadian locations use the FIFO method of inventory valuation (or other methods which closely approximate the FIFO method) primarily because the LIFO
method is not permitted for local tax and/or statutory reporting purposes. In these situations, a conversion to LIFO would be highly complex and involve excessive
cost and effort to achieve under local tax and/or statutory reporting requirements. U.S. locations that use the FIFO method of inventory valuation primarily
represent certain finished goods sourced from third party suppliers.

NOTE 7. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016
Prepaid expenses $ 71 $ 6.4
Fair value of derivative assets 0.2 2.2
Other 0.6 2.6
Total other current assets $ 79 $ 11.2
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NOTE 8. PROPERTY., PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016
Land $ 325 § 322
Buildings 224.6 202.8
Machinery and equipment 537.1 471.2
Computer software 20.9 15.2
Construction in progress 46.2 67.6
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (361.4) (323.8)
Net property, plant and equipment $ 4999 $ 465.2

See Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for discussion of policies related to property and depreciation and asset retirement obligations.

NOTE 9. EQUITY INVESTMENTS

Investment in joint venture as of December 31, 2017 reflected the equity interest in our 50% investment in our WAVE joint venture. The WAVE joint venture is
reflected within the Mineral Fiber segment in our consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting.

We use the equity in earnings method to determine the appropriate classification of distributions from WAVE within our cash flow statement. During 2017, 2016
and 2015, WAVE distributed amounts in excess of our capital contributions and proportionate share of retained earnings. Accordingly, the distributions in these
years were reflected as a return of investment in cash flows from investing activity in our Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. Distributions from WAVE in
2017,2016 and 2015 were $69.1 million, $86.9 million, and $64.2 million, respectively.

In certain markets, we sell WAVE products directly to customers pursuant to specific terms of sale. In those circumstances, we record the sales and associated
costs within our consolidated financial statements. The total sales associated with these transactions were $31.2 million, $29.8 million and $29.9 million for the
years ended 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

Our recorded investment in WAVE was higher than our 50% share of the carrying values reported in WAVE’s consolidated financial statements by $161.0 million
as of December 31, 2017 and $166.6 million as of December 31, 2016. These differences are due to our adoption of fresh-start reporting upon emergence from
Chapter 11 in October 2006, while WAVE’s consolidated financial statements do not reflect fresh-start reporting. The differences are composed of the following
fair value adjustments to assets:

December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016
Property, plant and equipment $ 04 3 0.4
Other intangibles 130.2 135.8
Goodwill 30.4 30.4
Total $ 161.0 $ 166.6

Other intangibles include customer relationships, trademarks and developed technology. Customer relationships are amortized over 20 years and developed
technology is amortized over 15 years. Trademarks have an indefinite life.

See Exhibit 99.1 for WAVE’s consolidated financial statements. On November 17, 2017, in connection with the Purchase Agreement we entered into with Knauf,
the corresponding European and Pacific Rim businesses of WAVE will also be sold. Accordingly, WAVE’s European and Pacific Rim historical financial
statement results have been reflected in WAVE’s consolidated financial statements as a discontinued operation for all periods presented. Our equity earnings in
joint venture reflected as a component of earnings from continuing operations included $1.7 million, $2.8 million and $2.6 million of equity earnings from
WAVE’s European and Pacific Rim businesses in 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Condensed financial data for WAVE is summarized below.
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December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016
Current assets $ 96.8 $ 96.3
Current assets of discontinued operations 36.4 16.8
Noncurrent assets 32.6 329
Noncurrent assets of discontinued operations - 17.4
Current liabilities 18.1 33.1
Current liabilities of discontinued operations 8.1 8.2
Other noncurrent liabilities 246.6 244.0
2017 2016 2015
Net sales $ 3445  $ 330.7 $ 309.7
Gross profit 192.7 192.4 172.1
Net earnings 1443 151.9 136.5

Management evaluated its investment in WAVE for impairment as a result of WAVE’s anticipated sale of its European and Pacific Rim businesses. Based on that
evaluation, management concluded that as of December 31, 2017, its investment in WAVE was not impaired.

See discussion in Note 26 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information on this related party.

NOTE 10. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

We conduct our annual impairment testing of non-amortizing intangible assets during the fourth quarter. The 2017, 2016 and 2015 reviews concluded that no
impairment charges were necessary. See Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of our accounting policy for intangible assets.

The following table details amounts related to our intangible assets as of December 31, 2017 and 2016:

December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016
Estimated Useful Gross Carrying Accumulated Gross Carrying Accumulated
Life Amount Amortization Amount Amortization
Amortizing intangible assets
Customer relationships 20 years $ 1763  § 939 § 1653 $ 84.9
Developed technology 15 years 83.7 60.9 82.8 55.4
Other Various 5.9 1.1 6.3 1.3
Total $ 2659 $ 1559 § 2544 $ 141.6
Non-amortizing intangible assets
Trademarks and brand names Indefinite 319.8 314.4
Goodwill 11.3 0.5
Total goodwill and intangible assets $ 597.0 $ 569.3
2017 2016 2015
Amortization expense $ 146 § 139 § 14.0
The expected annual amortization expense for the years 2018 through 2022 are as follows:
2018 $ 14.7
2019 14.7
2020 14.7
2021 133
2022 9.3
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NOTE 11. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016
Cash surrender value of company-owned life insurance policies $ 539 § 52.7
Fair value of derivative assets 8.7 7.5
Other 1.7 2.6
Total other non-current assets $ 643 $ 62.8
NOTE 12. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED EXPENSES
December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016
Payables, trade and other $ 67.6 $ 68.7
Employment costs 18.0 16.3
Current portion of pension and postretirement benefit liabilities 11.6 12.2
Contingent liability related to discontinued operations - 11.9
Other 11.2 7.9
Total accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 1084  $ 117.0

NOTE 13. SEVERANCE AND RELATED COSTS

In an effort to optimize our organizational and manufacturing cost structures, during the fourth quarter of 2017, we recorded $3.3 million in costs of goods sold in
our Mineral Fiber segment for severance and related costs to reflect approximately 126 position eliminations in connection with the planned closure of our St.
Helens, Oregon mineral fiber manufacturing facility, expected to occur in the first half of 2018. In addition, during the fourth quarter of 2017, we recorded $1.3
million in SG&A expenses in our Mineral Fiber and Architectural Specialties segments for severance and related costs to reflect 18 position eliminations at our
Lancaster, PA headquarters.

In 2016 and 2015, we recorded $2.4 million and $5.3 million, respectively, in Unallocated Corporate for severance and related costs to reflect approximately 30
position eliminations (including our former Chief Executive Officer) as a result of our initiative to separate our flooring business from our ceiling business. These
costs are reflected within Separation costs on the Consolidated Statements of Earnings and Comprehensive Income (Loss).

NOTE 14. INCOME TAXES

On December 22, 2017, the U.S. federal government enacted the 2017 Tax Act, resulting in significant changes from existing U.S. tax laws that impact us,
including, but not limited to, reducing the U.S. federal corporate income tax rate from 35% to 21%, allowing immediate 100% deduction for the cost of qualified
property, eliminating the domestic production activities deduction, and imposing a one-time transition tax on the cumulative earnings and profits of certain foreign
subsidiaries that were previously not repatriated and therefore not taxed for U.S. income tax purposes. Our federal income tax expense for periods beginning in
2018 will be based on the new rate.

In December 2017, the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118 (“SAB 118”), which addresses situations where
the accounting is incomplete for the income tax effects of the 2017 Tax Act. SAB 118 directs registrants to consider the impact of the Act as “provisional” when
they do not have the necessary information available, prepared or analyzed (including computations) to finalize the accounting for the change in tax

law. Registrants are provided a measurement period of up to one year to obtain, prepare, and analyze information necessary to finalize the accounting for
provisional amounts or amounts that cannot be estimated as of December 31, 2017.

As a result of the reduction of the corporate income tax rate to 21%, we were required to re-measure our deferred tax assets and liabilities as of the date of
enactment based on the rates at which they are expected to be utilized in the future. The rate change resulted in an $87.2 million reduction of our net deferred tax

liabilities and a corresponding deferred income tax benefit in the fourth quarter of 2017.
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The 2017 Tax Act also changes the taxation of foreign earnings . Generally, corporations are no longer subject to U.S. federal income tax upon the receipt of
dividends from foreign subsidiaries and are not permitted foreign tax credits (“FTCs”) related to such dividends. Accordingly, we recorded an additional valuati on
allowance on $9.5 million of FTCs as of December 31, 2017. This increase in our valuation allowance was due to these 2017 Tax Act provisions and as a result of
the anticipated sale of our EMEA and Pacific Rim businesses. As we continue to analyze the 2017 Tax Act and refine our calculations, it could give rise to
additional changes in our valuation allowance and the realizability of foreign tax credits.

The one-time transition tax is based on the total post-1986 earnings and profits of our foreign subsidiaries. Substantially all of our earnings and profits were
permanently reinvested outside the U.S prior to the 2017 Tax Act. We recorded provisional U.S. amounts for the one-time transition tax liabilities, resulting in an
increase in income tax expense of $10.3 million. We have not yet completed our calculation of the total post-1986 earnings and profits for our foreign subsidiaries
or the tax pools of our foreign subsidiaries. Further, the one-time transition tax is based in part on the amount of those earnings held in cash and other specified
assets. This amount may change when we finalize the calculation of tax pools, finalize the calculation of post-1986 foreign earnings and profits previously deferred
from U.S. federal taxation and finalize the amounts held in cash or other specified assets. Taxes due on the one-time transition tax are payable as of December 31,
2017 and may be elected to be paid over a period of eight years. We intend on making this election.

The 2017 Tax Act also provides for immediate 100% deduction of the costs of qualified property placed in service from September 27, 2017 to December 31,
2022. This provision will begin to phase down by 20% per year beginning January 1, 2023 and will be completely phased out as of January 1, 2027. As of
December 31, 2017, we have not completed our analysis of qualifying expenditures for purposes of determining the expenditures that qualify for the immediate
100% deduction under the 2017 Tax Act.

The adjustments to deferred tax assets and liabilities, the liability related to the one-time transition tax, changes in our valuation allowance, the realizability of
foreign tax credits and the immediate deduction of 100% of the costs of qualifying property are provisional amounts estimated based on information available as of
December 31, 2017. These amounts are subject to change as we obtain information necessary to complete the calculations. Additional information that may affect
our provisional amounts would include further clarification and guidance on how the Internal Revenue Service will implement tax reform, including guidance with
respect to the one-time transition tax, further clarification and guidance on the impact of the 2017 Act from state taxing authorities and completion of our 2017 tax
return filings. We will recognize any changes to the provisional amounts as we refine our estimates of cumulative temporary differences and our interpretations of
the application of the 2017 Tax Act. We expect to complete our analysis of the provisional items by the second half of 2018.

The tax effects of principal temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax basis are summarized below. Management
believes it is more likely than not that the results of future operations will generate sufficient taxable income in the appropriate jurisdiction and will generate
foreign source income to realize deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowances. In arriving at this conclusion, we considered the profit before tax generated for
the years 2015 through 2017, as well as future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences and projections of future profit before tax and foreign source
income.

We reduce the carrying amounts of deferred tax assets by a valuation allowance if, based on the available evidence, it is more likely than not that such assets will
not be realized. The need to establish valuation allowances for deferred tax assets is assessed quarterly. In assessing the requirement for, and amount of, a
valuation allowance in accordance with the more likely than not standard for all periods, we give appropriate consideration to all positive and negative evidence
related to the realization of the deferred tax assets. This assessment considers, among other matters, the nature, frequency and severity of current and cumulative
losses, forecasts of future profitability and foreign source income, the duration of statutory carryforward periods, and our experience with operating loss and tax
credit carryforward expirations. A history of cumulative losses is a significant piece of negative evidence used in our assessment. If a history of cumulative losses
is incurred for a tax jurisdiction, forecasts of future profitability are not used as positive evidence related to the realization of the deferred tax assets in the
assessment.

As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, we had $664.6 million and $760.6 million, respectively, of gross state net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards expiring
between 2018 and 2036. As of December 31, 2017, we also had FTC carryforwards of $15.7 million that expire between 2018 and 2022. U.S. FTC carryforwards
as of December 31, 2016 were $22.1 million on a gross basis, $19.3 million when netted with unrecognized tax benefits.

As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, we had valuation allowances of $47.4 million and $17.3 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2017, our valuation
allowance consisted of $10.3 million for federal deferred tax assets related to FTC carryforwards, $17.7 million for the outside basis difference between book and

tax of our EMEA and Pacific Rim businesses and $19.4 million for state
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deferred tax assets, primarily operating loss carryforwards. Our valuation allowance increased in comparison to December 31, 2016 primarily as a result of the

2017 Tax Act and the anticipated sale of our EMEA and Pacific Rim businesses.

We estimate we will need to generate future federal taxable foreign source income of $74.8 million to fully realize FTC carryforwards before they expire in
2022. We estimate we will need to generate future taxable income of approximately $506.8 million for state income tax purposes during the respective realization

periods (ranging from 2018 to 2036) in order to fully realize the net deferred income tax assets discussed above.

Our ability to utilize deferred tax assets may be impacted by certain future events, such as changes in tax legislation or insufficient future taxable income prior to

expiration of certain deferred tax assets.

December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016
Deferred income tax assets (liabilities)
Net operating losses $ 35.6 32.0
Postretirement benefits 23.3 38.1
Pension benefit liabilities 16.7 42.4
Deferred compensation 12.1 17.8
Undistributed foreign earnings 17.7 -
Foreign tax credit carryforwards 15.7 19.3
State tax credit carryforwards 10.5 9.1
Other 12.6 7.8
Total deferred income tax assets 144.2 166.5
Valuation allowances (47.4) (17.3)
Net deferred income tax assets 96.8 149.2
Intangibles (136.3) (211.8)
Accumulated depreciation (56.1) (49.2)
Prepaid pension costs (20.4) (18.9)
Inventories 44) (7.2)
Other (1.7) (1.8)
Total deferred income tax liabilities (218.9) (288.9)
Net deferred income tax liabilities $ (122.1) (139.7)
Deferred income taxes have been classified in the Consolidated Balance
Sheet as:
Deferred income tax assets - noncurrent $ 19.6 14.4
Deferred income tax liabilities - noncurrent (141.7) (154.1)
Net deferred income tax liabilities $ (122.1) (139.7)
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2017 2016 2015
Details of taxes
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes:
Domestic $ 2241 § 1478  $ 92.7
Foreign (2.0) 2.8 1.9
Total $ 222.1  § 1506 § 94.6
Income tax expense (benefit):
Current:
Federal $ 262 $ 151  $ 16.8
Foreign 1.4 5.0 2.8
State 4.7 (6.7) (4.8)
Total current 323 13.4 14.8
Deferred:
Federal (36.6) 22.6 12.7
Foreign 0.1) (1.1) (1.2)
State 5.9 16.4 10.4
Total deferred (30.8) 37.9 21.9
Total income tax expense $ 15 § 513  § 36.7

We reviewed our position with regards to foreign unremitted earnings and determined that unremitted earnings will not be permanently reinvested as a result of the
anticipated sale of our EMEA and Pacific Rim businesses. Accordingly, we have recorded foreign withholding taxes of $7.6 million, primarily within discontinued
operations, on approximately $245.5 million of net undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries.

2017 2016 2015

Reconciliation to U.S. statutory tax rate
Continuing operations tax at statutory rate $ 717 % 527 S 33.1
Increase in valuation allowances on deferred

domestic income tax assets 9.1 0.8 4.1
State income tax expense, net of federal benefit 7.9 32 4.0
Separation costs - 15.1 -
Domestic production activities (5.8) (1.9) (5.2)
Federal statute closure 2.3) (15.2) -
2017 Tax Act (82.5) - -
Other (2.6) (3.4) 0.7
Tax expense at effective rate $ 15 § 513  § 36.7

We recognize the tax benefits of an uncertain tax position only if those benefits are more likely than not to be sustained based on existing tax law. Additionally, we
establish a reserve for tax positions that are more likely than not to be sustained based on existing tax law, but uncertain in the ultimate benefit to be sustained upon
examination by the relevant taxing authorities. Unrecognized tax benefits are subsequently recognized at the time the more likely than not recognition threshold is
met, the tax matter is effectively settled or the statute of limitations for the relevant taxing authority to examine and challenge the tax position has expired,
whichever is earlier.

We have $53.4 million of Unrecognized Tax Benefits (“UTB”) as of December 31, 2017, $36.9 million ($35.2 million, net of federal benefit) of this amount, if
recognized in future periods, would impact the reported effective tax rate.

It is reasonably possible that certain UTB’s may increase or decrease within the next twelve months due to tax examination changes, settlement activities,
expirations of statute of limitations, or the impact on recognition and measurement considerations related to the
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results of published tax cases or other similar activities. Ov er the next twelve months we estimate that UTB’s may decrease by $0.1 million related to state statutes
expiring and increase by $2.8 million due to uncertain tax positions expected to be taken on domestic tax returns.

We account for all interest and penalties on uncertain income tax positions as income tax expense. We reported $3.5 million of interest and penalty exposure as
noncurrent income tax payable in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2017.

We had the following activity for UTB’s for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015:

2017 2016 2015
Unrecognized tax benefits balance at January 1, $ 86.9 §$ 150.6 § 142.6
Gross change for current year positions 2.2) 23 10.4
Increases for prior period positions 2.9 0.2 1.9
Decrease for prior period positions 0.1) (12.8) 4.1)
Decrease due to settlements and payments - - -
Decrease due to statute expirations (34.1) (53.4) 0.2)
Unrecognized tax benefits balance at December 31, $ 534 § 869 $ 150.6

We file income tax returns in the U.S., various states and international jurisdictions. In the normal course of business, we are subject to examination by taxing
authorities in Canada and the United States. Generally, we have open tax years subject to tax audit on average of between three years and six years. The statute of
limitations is no longer open for U.S. federal returns before 2014. With few exceptions, the statute of limitations is no longer open for state or non-U.S. income tax
examinations for the years before 2012. We have not significantly extended any open statutes of limitation for any major jurisdiction and have reviewed and
accrued for, where necessary, tax liabilities for open periods.

2017 2016 2015

Other taxes
Payroll taxes $ 142 3 13.9 14.0
Property, franchise and capital stock taxes 4.0 4.0 4.0
NOTE 15. DEBT

Weighted Weighted

Average Average

Interest Rate Interest Rate
December 31,2017 for 2017 December 31, 2016 for 2016

Term loan A due 2021 $ 577.5 3.24% $ 600.0 3.29%
Term loan B due 2023 245.6 4.25% 248.1 4.58%
Tax exempt bonds due 2041 35.0 0.79% 35.0 0.45%
Principal debt outstanding 858.1 3.43% 883.1 3.54%
Unamortized debt financing costs (7.9) 9.5)
Long-term debt 850.2 3.43% 873.6 3.54%
Less current portion and short-term debt 32.5 3.32% 25.0 3.42%
Total long-term debt, less current portion $ 817.7 3.43% $ 848.6 3.54%

The weighted average interest rates above are inclusive of our interest rate swaps. See Note 18 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information.

We have a $1,050.0 million senior credit facility which is composed of a $200.0 million revolving credit facility (with a $150.0 million sublimit for letters of

credit), a $600.0 million Term Loan A and a $250.0 million Term Loan B. The revolving credit facility and Term Loan A are currently priced at 2.00% over

LIBOR and the Term Loan B portion is priced at 2.75% over LIBOR with a 0.75% floor. The senior credit facility also has a $25.0 million letter of credit facility,
also known as our bi-lateral facility. The revolving credit facility and Term Loan A mature in March 2021 and Term Loan B matures in November 2023.
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On April 1, 2016, we refinanced our senior credit facility. In connection with this refinancing, we paid $9.3 million of bank, legal and other fees, of which $8.1
million were capitalized and recorded as a component of long-term debt and are being amortized into interest expense over the lives of the underlying

loans. Additionally, we wrote off $1.1 million of unamortized debt financing costs, included as a component of interest expense, in 2016 related to our previo us
credit facility. Finally, in connection with the refinancing, we executed new interest rate swaps. See Note 18 for additional details.

In February 2017, we repriced the interest rate on our Term Loan B borrowing, resulting in a lower LIBOR spread (2.75% vs. 3.25%). The maturity date remained
unchanged along with all other terms and conditions. In connection with the repricing we paid $0.6 million of bank, legal and other fees, the majority of which
were capitalized.

Under our senior credit facility we are subject to year-end leverage tests that may trigger mandatory prepayments. If our ratio of consolidated funded indebtedness,
minus AWI and domestic subsidiary unrestricted cash and cash equivalents up to $100.0 million, to consolidated earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortization (“EBITDA”) (“Consolidated Net Leverage Ratio”) is greater than 3.5 to 1.0, the prepayment amount would be 50% of fiscal year Consolidated Excess
Cash Flow. These annual payments would be made in the first quarter of the following year. No payment will be required in 2018 under the senior credit facility.

As of December 31, 2017, we were in compliance with all covenants of the amended senior credit facility. Our debt agreements include other restrictions, including
restrictions pertaining to the acquisition of additional debt, the redemption, repurchase or retirement of our capital stock, payment of dividends, and certain
financial transactions as it relates to specified assets. We currently believe that default under these covenants is unlikely. Fully borrowing under our revolving
credit facility would not violate these covenants. In anticipation of net sales proceeds to be received from Knauf in connection with the sale of our EMEA and
Pacific Rim businesses, we received a consent from Bank of America, N.A., the administrative agent and collateral agent of our amended senior credit facility, that
among other conditions, waives any mandatory prepayment provisions under our credit facility related to this transaction. Our intention is to return a majority of
the net proceeds from the sale of our EMEA and Pacific Rim businesses to our shareholders, in a manner and timing to be approved by our board of directors.

As of December 31, 2017, our outstanding long-term debt included a $35.0 million variable rate, tax-exempt industrial development bond that financed the
construction of a plant in prior years. This bond has a scheduled final maturity of 2041 and is remarketed by an agent on a regular basis at a market-clearing interest
rate. Any portion of the bond that is not successfully remarketed by the agent is required to be repurchased by AWI. This bond is backed by letters of credit which
will be drawn if a portion of the bond is not successfully remarketed. We have not had to repurchase the bond.

We have a $40.0 million Accounts Receivable Securitization Facility (the “funding entity”) that matures in March 2019. Under our Accounts Receivable
Securitization Facility we sell accounts receivables to Armstrong Receivables Company, LLC (“ARC”), a Delaware entity that is consolidated in these financial
statements. ARC is a 100% wholly owned single member LLC special purpose entity created specifically for this transaction; therefore, any receivables sold to
ARC are not available to the general creditors of AWI. ARC then sells an undivided interest in the purchased accounts receivables to the funding entity. This
undivided interest acts as collateral for drawings on the facility. Any borrowings under this facility are obligations of ARC and not AWI. ARC contracts with and
pays a servicing fee to AWI to manage, collect and service the purchased accounts receivables. All new receivables under the program generated by the originators
are continuously purchased by ARC with the proceeds from collections of receivables previously purchased. As of December 31, 2017, we had no borrowings
under this facility.

None of our outstanding debt as of December 31, 2017 was secured with buildings and other assets. The credit lines under our revolving credit facility are subject
to immaterial annual commitment fees.

Scheduled payments of long-term debt:

2018 $ 32.5
2019 55.0
2020 62.5
2021 437.5
2022 2.5
2023 and later 268.1
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We utilize lines of credit and other commercial commitments in order to ensure that adequate funds are available to meet operating requirements. Letters of credit
are currently arranged through our revolving credit facility, our bi-lateral facility and ou r securitization facility. Letters of credit may be issued to third party

suppliers, insurance and financial institutions and typically can only be drawn upon in the event of AWI’s failure to pay its obligations to the beneficiary.

The following table presents details related to our letters of credit:

As of December 31, 2017
Financing Arrangement Limit Used Available
Revolving credit facility $ 150.0 $ - 8 150.0
Bi-lateral facility 25.0 17.1 7.9
Accounts receivable securitization facility 29.6 36.2 (6.6)
Total $ 2046 § 533 $ 151.3

The maximum limit for letters of credit availability under our accounts receivable securitization facility is subject to securitized accounts receivable balances and
other collateral adjustments. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, $6.6 million and $4.0 million of letters of credits issued under our accounts receivable
securitization facility in excess of our maximum limit were classified as restricted cash and reported as a component of Cash and cash equivalents on our
Consolidated Balance Sheets. This restriction will lapse upon replacement of collateral with accounts receivables and/or upon a change in the letter of credit limit
as a result of higher securitized accounts receivable balances.

NOTE 16. PENSION AND OTHER BENEFIT PROGRAMS
DEFINED CONTRIBUTION BENEFIT PLANS

We sponsor several defined contribution plans, which cover substantially all U.S. and non-U.S. employees. Eligible employees may defer a portion of their pre-tax
covered compensation on an annual basis. We match employee contributions up to pre-defined percentages. Employee contributions are 100% vested. Employer
contributions are vested based on pre-defined requirements. Costs for worldwide defined contribution benefit plans were $6.2 million in 2017, $5.6 million in 2016
and $5.7 million in 2015.

DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS

Benefits from defined benefit pension plans are based primarily on an employee's compensation and years of service. We fund our pension plans when
appropriate.

Our U.S. defined benefit pension plans include both the qualified, funded RIP and the Retirement Benefit Equity Plan, which is a nonqualified, unfunded plan
designed to provide pension benefits in excess of the limits defined under Sections 415 and 401(a)(17) of the Internal Revenue Code.

Our RIP was amended to freeze accruals for salaried non-production employees, effective December 31, 2017. The impact of this amendment resulted in a
reduction to our December 31, 2016 projected benefit obligation with a corresponding increase to unrecognized loss, resulting in no curtailment gain or loss. The
impact of this amendment has been reflected in the net periodic pension credit for 2017.

In 2017, certain RIP participants with deferred vested benefits were offered an opportunity to elect a lump sum distribution of the participant’s entire accrued
benefit. These distributions resulted in a partial plan settlement necessitating a plan remeasurement as of August 31, 2017. Settlement losses of $12.5 million and
$8.3 million were recorded as components of cost of goods sold and SG&A expenses, respectively, during the third quarter of 2017.

Effective December 31, 2017, AWI merged the Tectum, Inc. Pension Plan (the “Tectum Plan”) with and into the RIP. Tectum sponsored the Tectum Plan for the
benefit of its eligible employees, which are limited to certain union employees at Tectum’s Newark, Ohio plant.
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Our non-U.S. defined benefit pension plan represents an unfunded plan in Germany not acquired by Knauf in connection with the announce d sale of our EMEA

and Pacific Rim segments. This plan utilizes assumptions which are consistent with, but not identical to, those of the U.S. plans.

The following tables summarize the balance sheet impact of our defined benefit pension plans, as well as the related benefit obligations, assets, funded status and
rate assumptions. We use a December 31 measurement date for all our defined benefit pension plans.

U.S. Pension Plans

Non-U.S. Pension Plan

2017 2016 2017 2016
Change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation as of beginning of period $ 1,5224 § 1,918.1 25 8§ 2.5
Service cost 8.6 10.1 - -
Interest cost 48.1 69.8 - 0.1
Partial settlement (58.1) - - -
Foreign currency translation adjustment - - 0.4 0.2)
Actuarial loss (gain) 77.2 0.6 0.1) 0.2
Benefits paid (103.2) (111.0) 0.1) 0.1)
Merger of Tectum Plan 5.1 - - -
Separation of AFI - (365.2) - -
Benefit obligation as of end of period $ 1,500.1 $ 1,522.4 27 $ 2.5
U.S. Pension Plans Non-U.S. Pension Plan
2017 2016 2017 2016
Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets as of beginning of period $ 1,5129 § 1,837.2 - $ -
Actual return on plan assets 170.8 144.7 - -
Employer contribution 39 4.2 0.1 0.1
Partial settlement (58.1) - - -
Benefits paid (103.2) (111.0) 0.1) 0.1)
Merger of Tectum Plan 34 - - -
Separation of AFI - (362.2) - -
Fair value of plan assets as of end of period $ 1,529.7  $ 1,512.9 - -
Funded status of the plans $ 296 § 9.5) 27) $ (2.5)
U.S. Pension Plans Non-U.S. P Plan
2017 2016 2017 2016
Weighted-average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations at end of period:
Discount rate 3.63% 4.12% 1.50% 1.40%
Rate of compensation increase 3.05% 3.10% - -
Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost for the period:
Discount rate 4.12% 4.40% 1.40% 2.00%
Expected return on plan assets 6.50% 6.75% - -
Rate of compensation increase 3.10% 3.10% - -

Basis of Rate-of-Return Assumption

Long-term asset class return assumptions for the RIP are determined based on input from investment professionals on the expected performance of the asset classes
over 10 to 30 years. The forecasts were averaged to come up with consensus passive return forecasts for each asset class. Incremental components were added for
the expected return from active management and asset class rebalancing based on historical information obtained from investment consultants.

These forecasted gross returns were reduced by estimated management fees and expenses, yielding a long-term return forecast of 6.50% and 6.75% for the years

ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
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The accumulated benefit obligation for the U.S. defined benefit pension plans was $1,496.4 million and $1,518.0 million as of December 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively. The accumulated benefit obligation for the non-U.S. defined benefit pension plan was $2.7 million and $2.5 million as of December 31, 2017 and
2016, respectively.

U.S. Pension Plans Non-U.S. Pension Plan

2017 2016 2017 2016
Pension plans with benefit obligations in excess of assets
Projected benefit obligation, December 31 $ 585 §$ 582 §$ 27 § 2.5
Accumulated benefit obligation, December 31 58.5 58.1 2.7 2.5

The components of the pension (credit) cost are as follows:

U.S. Pension Plans

Non-U.S. Pension Plan

2017 2016 2015 2017

Service cost of benefits earned during the period 86 § 10.1 $ 163 $ 22 22 2.4
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 48.1 69.8 80.9 54 6.9 8.3
Expected return on plan assets (98.7) (110.6) (140.3) (6.8) (7.8) 9.0)
Amortization of prior service cost 1.5 1.6 1.9 - - -
Recognized net actuarial loss 17.5 48.3 72.8 1.3 1.2 2.8
Partial settlement 20.8 - - - - -
Net periodic pension (credit) cost 22) $ 192 $ 316 $ 21 $ 25 % 4.5
Less: Discontinued operations - 2.2 11.0 2.0 24 4.4
Net periodic pension (credit) cost, continuing

operations 22) $ 170 § 20.6 $ 0.1 § 0.1 $ 0.1

The change in amortization of net actuarial loss for the U.S. defined-benefit plans for 2017 in comparison to 2016 was due to a reduction in active plan participants
due to the separation of AFI. During 2016, actuarial gains and losses were amortized into future earnings over the expected remaining service period of plan
participants, which was approximately 8 years for our U.S. defined-benefit pension plans. For 2017, actuarial gains and losses were amortized over the remaining
life expectancy of plan participants, which was approximately 19 years for our U.S. defined-benefit pension plans.

Investment Policies

U.S. Pension Plans

The RIP’s primary investment objective is to maintain the funded status of the plan such that the likelihood that we will be required to make significant
contributions to the plan is limited. This objective is expected to be achieved by (a) investing a substantial portion of the plan assets in high quality corporate bonds
whose duration is at least equal to that of the plan’s liabilities, (b) investing in publicly traded equities in order to increase the ratio of plan assets to liabilities over
time, (c) limiting investment return volatility by diversifying among additional asset classes with differing expected rates of return and return correlations, and (d)
using derivatives to either implement investment positions efficiently or to hedge risk but not to create investment leverage.
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Each asset class utilized by the RIP has defined asset allocation targets and allowable ranges. The table below shows the asset allocation targets and the December

31,2017 and 2016 positions for each asset class:

Target
Weight at
December 31, Position at December 31,

Asset Class 2017 2017 (1) 2016
Long duration bonds 59.0% 59.0% 55.0%
Equities 30.0% 28.0% 26.0%
High yield bonds and real assets 6.0% 3.0% 7.0%
Real estate and private equity 4.0% 4.0% 5.0%

1.0% 6.0% 7.0%

Other

(O] Investments in collective trust funds as of December 31, 2017 have been categorized within the asset classes above based on the underlying investments in

those funds.

Pension plan assets are required to be reported and disclosed at fair value. Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to
transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the

measurement date. Three levels of inputs may be used to measure fair value:

Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 - Observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1, such as quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets; quoted
prices for identical or similar assets and liabilities in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable

market data.

Level 3 - Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities. This

includes certain pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies and similar techniques that use significant unobservable inputs.

The asset’s fair value measurement level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input that is significant to the fair value

measurement. Valuation techniques used need to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.

The following table sets forth by level within the fair value hierarchy a summary of the RIP plan assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis:

Value at December 31, 2017

Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Bonds $ - 8 879.5 $ - 879.5
Collective trust fund - 561.6 - 561.6
Other investments - - 2.7 2.7
Cash and other short-term investments 1.7 20.7 - 22.4
Net assets measured at fair value $ 1.7 $ 1,461.8 $ 2.7 1,466.2
Investments measured at net asset value 63.5
1,529.7

Net assets
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Value at December 31, 2016

Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Bonds $ -3 831.7  $ - 3 831.7
Equities 329.0 60.1 - 389.1
High yield bonds - 67.6 - 67.6
Real assets - 32.5 - 32.5
Other investments - - 2.8 2.8
Cash and other short-term investments 342 78.2 - 112.4
Net assets measured at fair value $ 363.2 $ 1,070.1 $ 2.8 $ 1,436.1
Investments measured at net asset value 76.8
Net assets $ 1,512.9

RIP Level 3 assets remained relatively unchanged from December 31, 2016 to December 31, 2017, with the change in Level 3 assets during 2017 due primarily to
unrealized gains and losses.

The RIP has investments in alternative investment funds as of December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016 which are reported at fair value. Certain investments
that are measured at fair value using the net asset value (“NAV”) per share (or its equivalent) practical expedient have not been categorized in the fair value
hierarchy. The fair value amounts presented in the tables above are intended to permit reconciliation of the fair value hierarchy to the total fair value of plan assets.
We have concluded that the NAV reported by the underlying fund approximates the fair value of the investment. These investments are redeemable at NAV under
agreements with the underlying funds. However, it is possible that these redemption rights may be restricted or eliminated by the funds in the future in accordance
with the underlying fund agreements. Due to the nature of the investments held by the funds, changes in market conditions and the economic environment may
significantly impact the NAV of the funds and, consequently, the fair value of the U.S. defined benefit pension plan asset’s interest in the funds. Furthermore,
changes to the liquidity provisions of the funds may significantly impact the fair value of the U.S. defined benefit pension plan asset’s interest in the funds. As of
December 31, 2017, there were no restrictions on redemption of these investments.

The following table sets forth a summary of the RIP’s investments measured at NAV:

Value at December 31, 2017

Redemption
Unfunded Redemption Notice
Description Fair Value Commitments Frequency Period
Real estate $ 599 § 22 Quarterly 45-90 Days
Other investments 3.6 0.9 None None
Investments measured at net asset value $ 63.5 $ 3.1
Value at December 31, 2016
Redemption
Unfunded Redemption Notice
Description Fair Value Commitments Frequency Period
Real estate $ 733 $ 2.2 Quarterly 45-90 Days
Other investments 3.5 0.9 None None

Investments measured at net asset value $ 76.8 $ 3.1

Following is a description of the valuation methodologies used for assets measured at fair value and at NAV.

Bonds: Consists of registered investment funds and common and collective trust funds investing in fixed income securities tailored to institutional

investors. There are no readily available market quotations for registered investment company funds. The fair value of investment funds and common and
collective trust funds have been classified as Level 2 assets above as their values were derived based on the underlying securities in the fund’s portfolio which is
typically the amount which the fund might reasonably expect to receive for the security upon a current sale. Investments in individual bonds were measured at fair
value based on the closing price reported in the active market in which the bond is traded and investments in pooled funds traded in a non-active market were
valued at bid price and classified as Level 2 assets above.
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Collective Trust Fund: Consists of separately ma naged accounts comprised of equity investments, fixed income securities, commodity future contracts, cash and
other short-term securities. The fair value of collective trust funds have been classified as Level 2 assets above as their values were derived b ased on the
underlying securities in the fund’s portfolio which is typically the amount which the fund might reasonably expect to receive for the security upon a current sale .

Equities: Consists of domestic and international investments in common and preferred stocks as well as investments in registered investment funds investing in
equities tailored to institutional investors. Individual common and preferred stocks are valued at the closing price reported on the active market on which the
individual securities are traded and classified as Level 1 assets above. There are no readily available market quotations for registered investment company funds.
The fair value, classified as Level 2 assets above, is based on the underlying securities in the fund’s portfolio which is typically the amount which the fund might
reasonably expect to receive for the security upon a current sale.

High yield bonds: Consists of an investment in a registered investment fund investing in fixed income securities tailored to institutional investors. There are no
readily available market quotations for registered investment company funds. The fair value is based on the underlying securities in the fund’s portfolio which is
typically the amount which the fund might reasonably expect to receive for the security upon a current sale.

Real assets:  Consists of a fund that has underlying investments in commodity futures contracts, as well as cash and fixed income instruments used as collateral
instruments against the commodity future contracts. The futures contracts are considered real assets as the underlying securities include natural resources such as
oil or precious metals, livestock, or raw agricultural products. The fair value is based on the underlying securities in the fund’s portfolio which is typically the
amount which the fund might reasonably expect to receive for the security upon a current sale.

Real estate:  Consists of both open-end and closed-end funds. There are no readily available market quotations for these real estate funds. These investments were
measured at fair value using the NAV practical expedient.

Other investments: Consists of investments in a group insurance annuity contract and a limited partnership. Investments in the group insurance annuity contract
were classified as Level 3 assets and measured at fair value by discounting the related cash flows based on current yields of similar instruments with comparable
durations while considering the credit-worthiness of the issuer. The investments in the limited partnership were measured at fair value using the NAV practical
expedient.

Cash and other short-term investments : Cash and short term investments consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, and plan receivables/payables. The
carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents and receivables/payables approximate fair value due to the short-term nature of these instruments. Other payable
and receivables consist primarily of margin on an account for a fund, accrued fees and receivables related to investment positions liquidated for which proceeds had
not been received as of December 31.

U.S. DEFINED BENEFIT RETIREE HEALTH AND LIFE INSURANCE PLANS

We fund postretirement benefits on a pay-as-you-go basis, with the retiree paying a portion of the cost for health care benefits by means of deductibles and
contributions.
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The following tables summarize the balance sheet impact of the U.S. postretirement benefit pension plan, as well as the related benefit obligations, funded status
and rate assumptions. We use a December 31 measurement date for all our defined benefit postretirement benefit plans.

U.S. defined-benefit retiree health and life insurance plans
Change in benefit obligation:

Benefit obligation as of beginning of period

Service cost

Interest cost

Plan participants' contributions

Plan amendments

Actuarial (gain)

Benefits paid

Separation of AFI

Benefit obligation as of end of period

Change in plan assets:

Fair value of plan assets as of beginning of period
Employer contribution

Plan participants' contributions

Benefits paid

Fair value of plan assets as of end of period

Funded status of the plans

U.S. defined-benefit retiree health and life insurance plans
Weighted-average discount rate used to determine benefit obligations at end of period

Weighted-average discount rate used to determine net periodic benefit cost for the
period

The components of postretirement benefit (credit) cost are as follows:

U.S. defined-benefit retiree health and life insurance plans
Service cost of benefits earned during the period

Interest cost on accumulated postretirement benefit obligation
Amortization of prior service (credit)

Amortization of net actuarial gain

Net periodic postretirement benefit (credit) cost
Less: Discontinued operations
Net periodic postretirement benefit (credit), continuing operations
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2017 2016
93.1 $ 190.3
04 0.4
3.0 47
2.8 32
(1.1) .
(1.3) (1.7)
(10.3) (11.5)
- (86.3)
86.6 $ 93.1

2017 2016
- $ -
7.5 8.3
2.8 32
(10.3) (11.5)
-3 -
(86.6) $ (93.1)

2017 2016
3.60% 4.10%
4.11% 4.17%

2017 2016 2015
04 $ 04 $ 0.9
3.0 4.7 8.1
- (0.3) (0.6)
(3.6) (6.1) (7.8)
02) $ (13) 3 0.6
- (0.2) 0.8
02) $ (1.1) $ 0.2)
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For measurement purposes, an average rate of annual increase in the per capita cost of covered health care benefits of 8.0% for pre-65 retirees and 9.2% to 10.9%
for post-65 retirees (depending on plan type) was assumed for 201 7, decreasing ratably to an ultimate rate of 4.5% in 2026. Assumed health care cost trend rates
can have a significant effect on the amounts reported for the health care plans. A one percentage point change in assumed health care cost trend rates would h ave
the following effects:

One percentage point

Increase Decrease
U.S. defined benefit retiree health and life insurance benefits plans
Effect on total service and interest cost components $ 0.1) $ 0.1
Effect on postretirement benefit obligation 0.8) 0.7

Amounts recognized in assets (liabilities) on the consolidated balance sheets at year end consist of:

Retiree Health and Life

U.S. Pension Plans Non-U.S. Pension Plan Insurance Benefits
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
Prepaid pension costs $ 883 §$ 487  § - 3 -3 - 8 -
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 4.1) (3.9) 0.1) - (7.4) (8.3)
Postretirement benefit liabilities - - - - (79.2) (84.8)
Pension benefit liabilities (54.6) (54.3) (2.6) (2.5) - -
Net amount recognized $ 296 $ 9.5) § 27) § 2.5) $§ (86.6) $ (93.1)

Pre-tax amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income at year end consist of:

Retiree Health and Life

U.S. Pension Plans Non-U.S. Pension Plan Insurance Benefits
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
Net actuarial (loss) gain $ (520.2) $ (553.5) $ 89 § 224) $ 495 § 51.7
Prior service (cost) credit - (1.5) 0.5) (0.6) 1.1 0.1
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss)
income $ (520.2) $ (555.0) $ 94) $ (23.0) $ 506 $ 51.8

For U.S. pension plans, we expect to amortize $20.1 million of previously unrecognized prior service cost and net actuarial losses into pension cost in 2018 and
expect to contribute $4.0 million in 2018.

For our non-U.S. pension plan, we do not expect to amortize any previously unrecognized net actuarial losses or unrecognized prior service cost into pension cost
in 2018 and do not expect to contribute any amounts in 2018.

For our U.S. postretirement benefit plans, we expect to amortize $5.3 million of previously unrecognized net actuarial gains and prior service credits into
postretirement benefit cost in 2018 and expect to contribute $7.4 million in 2018.
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The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid over the next ten years for our U.S. and non-U.S
plans:

Retiree Health

and Life
U.S. Pension Non-U.S. Pension Insurance
Benefits (1) Benefits Benefits, Net
2018 $ 106.4 $ 0.1 $ 7.4
2019 105.3 0.1 7.4
2020 104.4 0.1 7.1
2021 102.4 0.1 6.9
2022 101.5 0.1 6.6
2023 - 2027 482.6 0.6 28.8

1) We were not required and did not make contributions to the RIP during 2017, 2016 or 2015 as, based on guidelines established by the Pension Benefit
Guaranty Corporation, the RIP had sufficient assets to fund its distribution obligations. Benefit payments to participants have been made directly from the
RIP to participants from the assets of the plan.

NOTE 17. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

We do not hold or issue financial instruments for trading purposes. The estimated fair values of our financial instruments are as follows:

December 31,2017 December 31, 2016
Carrying Estimated fair Carrying Estimated fair
amount value amount value
Assets/(Liabilities), net:

Total debt, including current portion $ (850.2) $ (850.8) $ (873.6) $ (873.7)
Foreign currency contracts (0.8) (0.8) 1.3 1.3
Natural gas contracts (0.6) (0.6) 1.0 1.0
Interest rate swap contracts 8.9 8.9 6.9 6.9

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, receivables, accounts payable, accrued expenses, and short-term debt approximate fair value because of the
short-term maturity of these instruments. The fair value estimates of long-term debt were primarily based upon quotes from a major financial institution of recently
observed trading levels of our Term Loan A and Term Loan B debt. The fair value estimates of foreign currency contracts are estimated from market quotes
provided by a well-recognized national market data provider. The fair value estimates of natural gas contracts are estimated using internal valuation models with
verification by obtaining quotes from major financial institutions. For natural gas swap transactions, fair value is calculated using NYMEX market quotes provided
by a well-recognized national market data provider. For natural gas option based strategies, fair value is calculated using an industry standard Black-Scholes model
with market based inputs, including but not limited to, underlying asset price, strike price, implied volatility, discounted risk free rate and time to expiration,
provided by a well-recognized national market data provider. The fair value estimates for interest rate swap contracts are estimated by obtaining quotes from major
financial institutions with verification by internal valuation models. Refer to Note 18 for a discussion of the fair value and the related inputs used to measure fair
value.

The fair value measurement of assets and liabilities is summarized below:

December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016
Fair value based on Fair value based on
Quoted, Other Quoted, Other
active observable active observable
markets inputs markets inputs
Level 1 Level 2 Level 1 Level 2
Assets/(Liabilities), net:
Foreign currency contracts $ 0.8) $ -3 13 S -
Natural gas contracts - (0.6) - 1.0
Interest rate swap contracts - 8.9 - 6.9
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We do not have any financial assets or liabilities that are valued using Level 3 (unobservable) inputs.

NOTE 18. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

We are exposed to market risk from changes in foreign exchange rates, interest rates and commodity prices that could impact our results of operations, cash flows
and financial condition. We use forward swaps and option contracts to hedge these exposures. Forward swaps and option contracts are entered into for periods
consistent with underlying exposure and do not constitute positions independent of those exposures. At inception, derivatives that we designate as hedging
instruments are formally documented as either (1) a hedge of a forecasted transaction or “cash flow” hedge, or (2) a hedge of the fair value of a recognized liability
or asset or “fair value” hedge. We also formally assess both at inception and at least quarterly thereafter, whether the derivatives that are used in hedging
transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in either the fair value or cash flows of the hedged item. If it is determined that a derivative ceases to be a
highly effective hedge, or if the anticipated transaction is no longer probable of occurring, we discontinue hedge accounting, and any future mark-to-market
adjustments are recognized in earnings. We use derivative financial instruments as risk management tools and not for speculative trading purposes.

Counterparty Risk

We only enter into derivative transactions with established counterparties having an investment-grade credit rating. We monitor counterparty credit default swap
levels and credit ratings on a regular basis. All of our derivative transactions with counterparties are governed by master International Swap and Derivatives
Association agreements (“ISDAs”) with netting arrangements. These agreements can limit our exposure in situations where we have gain and loss positions
outstanding with a single counterparty. We do not post nor do we receive cash collateral with any counterparty for our derivative transactions. These ISDAs do
not have any credit contingent features; however, a default under our bank credit facility would trigger a default under these agreements. Exposure to individual
counterparties is controlled, and thus we consider the risk of counterparty default to be negligible.

Commodity Price Risk

We purchase natural gas for use in the manufacturing process and to heat many of our facilities. As a result, we are exposed to fluctuations in the price of natural
gas. We have a policy of reducing North American natural gas price volatility by purchasing natural gas forward contracts and swaps, purchased call options, and
zero-cost collars up to 24 months forward. The contracts are based on forecasted usage of natural gas measured in mmBtu’s. There is a high correlation between
the hedged item and the hedge instrument. The gains and losses on these instruments offset gains and losses on the transactions being hedged. These instruments
are designated as cash flow hedges. As of December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, the notional amount of these hedges was $9.2 million and $7.4 million,
respectively. The mark-to-market gain or loss on qualifying hedges is included in other comprehensive income to the extent effective, and reclassified into cost of
goods sold in the period during which the underlying gas is consumed. The mark-to-market gains or losses on ineffective portions of hedges are recognized in cost
of goods sold immediately. The earnings impact of the ineffective portion of these hedges was not material for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and
2015.

Currency Rate Risk — Sales and Purchases

We manufacture and sell our products in a number of countries throughout the world and, as a result, we are exposed to movements in foreign currency exchange
rates. To a large extent, our historical global manufacturing and sales provide a natural hedge of foreign currency exchange rate movement, as foreign currency
expenses generally offset foreign currency revenues. Upon completion of the sale of our EMEA and Pacific Rim businesses, and on a continuing operations basis
as of December 31, 2017, our only major foreign currency exposure is to the Canadian dollar. We manage our Canadian cash flow exposures on a net basis and
when possible, use derivatives to hedge our unmatched foreign currency cash inflows and outflows.

We use Canadian dollar forward exchange contracts to reduce our exposure to the risk that the eventual net cash inflows resulting from the sale of products to
Canadian customers will be adversely affected by changes in exchange rates. These derivative instruments are used for forecasted transactions and are classified as
cash flow hedges. Cash flow hedges are executed quarterly, generally up to 15 months forward, and allow us to further reduce our overall exposure to Canadian
dollar exchange rate movements, since gains and losses on these contracts offset gains and losses on the transactions being hedged. The notional amount of these
hedges was $18.9 million and $26.5 million at December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively. Gains and losses on these instruments are recorded in
other comprehensive income, to the extent effective, until the underlying transaction is recognized in
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earnings. The mark-to-market gains or losses on ineffective portions of hedges are recognized in SG&A expense immediate ly. The earnings impact of the
ineffective portion of these hedges was not material for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015.

Interest Rate Risk

We utilize interest rate swaps to minimize the fluctuations in earnings caused by interest rate volatility. The following table summarizes our interest rate swaps as
of December 31, 2017:

Notional
Trade Date Amount Coverage Period Risk Coverage
November 13, 2016 $ 250.0 November 2016 to March 2018 Term Loan A
November 13, 2016 $ 200.0 November 2016 to March 2021 Term Loan A
April 1, 2016 $ 100.0 April 2016 to March 2023 Term Loan B

In connection with the refinancing of our credit facilities in April 2016, $450.0 million of notional amount Term Loan B swaps with a trade date of March 27, 2012
were settled and $10.7 million of losses recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income were reclassified to interest expense in 2016.

During the fourth quarter of 2016, we elected to change the floating rate basis for interest payments due under our Term Loan A credit facility from 3-month
LIBOR to 1-month LIBOR. In connection with the change in our underlying interest payments, in November 2016 we entered into $450.0 million forward-starting
notional amount basis rate swaps to convert the floating rate risk under our Term Loan A Swaps from 3-month LIBOR to 1-month LIBOR and jointly designated
the basis swaps with our Term Loan A Swaps in cash flow hedging relationships. As a result of this transaction, $2.4 million of gains recorded as a component of
accumulated other comprehensive income were reclassified as a reduction to interest expense during the fourth quarter of 2016. Since the basis rate swaps had a
non-zero fair value upon designation as cash flow hedges, mark-to-market gains or losses on ineffective portions of these hedges are recorded as a component of
interest expense. Under the terms of our Term Loan B swap with a trade date of April 1, 2016, we receive the greater of 3-month LIBOR or a 0.75% LIBOR Floor
and pay a fixed rate over the hedged period. These swaps were designated as cash flow hedges against changes in LIBOR for a portion of our variable rate

debt. The mark-to-market gains or losses on the ineffective portion of hedges are recognized in interest expense immediately. The earnings impact of the
ineffective portion of these hedges was not material for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016. There was no earnings impact of the ineffective portion of
these hedges for the years ended December 31, 2015.

Financial Statement Impacts

The following tables detail amounts related to our derivatives as of December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016. We did not have any derivative assets or liabilities
not designated as hedging instruments for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016. The derivative asset and liability amounts below are shown in gross
amounts; we have not netted assets with liabilities.

Derivative Assets Derivative Liabilities
Fair Value Fair Value
December December
Balance Sheet 31, 31, Balance Sheet December 31, December 31,
Location 2017 2016 Location 2017 2016

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments
Natural gas Other current Accounts payable and

commodity contracts assets $ - S 1.0 accrued expenses $ 05 § =
Foreign exchange Other current Accounts payable and

contracts assets - 1.2 accrued expenses 0.7 -
Interest rate swap Other current Accounts payable and

contracts assets 0.2 - accrued expenses - -
Natural gas Other non-current Other long-term

commodity contracts assets - - liabilities 0.1 -
Foreign exchange Other non-current Other long-term

contracts assets - 0.1 liabilities 0.1 -
Interest rate swap Other non-current Other long-term

contracts assets 8.7 7.4 liabilities - 0.5
Total derivatives designated as hedging instruments $ 89 § 9.7 $ 14 8 0.5
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Location of Gain (Loss)

Reclassified
Amount of (Loss) Gain Recognized in from AOCI into Gain (Loss) Reclassified from
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Effective AOCI into Income (Effective
Income (“AOCI”) (Effective Portion) Portion) Portion)
2017 2016 2015 2017 2016 2015
Derivatives in Cash Flow Hedging Relationships
Natural gas commodity contracts $ (@13) $ 06 $ 2.3) Cost of goods sold $ 03 $ (12) $§ @44
Foreign exchange contracts —
purchases 0.5) - 1.2 Cost of goods sold - - 1.8
Foreign exchange contracts —
sales (1.8) 2.9) 4.7 Net sales 0.1 1.4 3.8
Interest rate swap contracts 2.2 6.8 2.1) Interest expense 0.9) (8.3) (0.8)
Total gain (loss) from continuing
Total $ (14 3 45 $ 1.5 operations (0.5) (8.1) 0.4
Total (loss) gain from discontinued
operations (0.1) 0.2 -
Total gain (loss) $ (©6) $ (79 § 0.4

As of December 31, 2017, the amount of existing losses in AOCI expected to be recognized in earnings over the next twelve months is $1.3 million.

NOTE 19. PRODUCT WARRANTIES

We provide limited warranties for defects in materials or factory workmanship, sagging and warping, and certain other manufacturing defects. Our product
warranties place certain requirements on the purchaser, including installation and maintenance in accordance with our written instructions. In addition to our
warranty program, under certain limited circumstances, we will occasionally and at our sole discretion, provide a customer accommodation repair or
replacement. Warranty repairs and replacements are most commonly made by professional installers employed by or affiliated with our independent
distributors. Reimbursement for cost associated with warranty repairs are provided to our independent distributors through a credit against accounts receivable
from the distributor to us.

The following table summarizes the activity for the accrual of product warranties for December 31, 2017 and 2016:

2017 2016
Balance at beginning of period $ 02 $ 0.3
Current year warranty accruals 3.2 8.0
Reductions for payments (3.3) (8.1)
Balance at end of period $ 0.1 § 0.2
NOTE 20. OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016

Long-term deferred compensation arrangements $ 153  § 15.9
Environmental liabilities 13.5 4.7
Long-term portion of derivative liabilities 0.2 0.5
Other 6.5 5.9
Total other long-term liabilities $ 355  § 27.0

NOTE 21. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS

The 2016 Long-Term Incentive Plan (“2016 LTIP”) authorizes us to issue stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, stock units,
performance-based awards and cash awards to officers and key employees and expires on July 8, 2026, after which time no further awards may be made. The 2016
LTIP authorizes us to issue up to 8,949,000 shares of common stock, which

76



Armstrong World Industries, Inc., and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(dollar amounts in millions, except share data)

includes all shares that have been issued under the 2016 LTIP. As of December 31, 2017, 2,543,180 shares were available for future grants under the 2016 LTIP.
The 2016 Directors Stock Unit Plan (“2016 Director’s Plan”) authorizes us to issue stock units to non-employee directors until July 2026. The 2016 Director’s Plan
authorizes us to issue up to 550,000 shares of common stock, which includes all shares that have been issued under the 2016 Director’s Plans. As of December 31,

2017, 202,535 shares were available for future grants under the 2016 Director’s Plan.

The following table presents stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2017:

Weighted-
average
Number of Weighted- remaining Aggregate
shares average contractual intrinsic value

(thousands) exercise price term (years) (millions)
Option shares outstanding, December 31, 2016 1,3506 $ 34.66
Option shares exercised (78.2) (41.62)
Option shares outstanding, December 31, 2017 1,2724 3 34.23 34§ 335
Option shares exercisable, vested and expected to vest,

December 31,2017 1,272.4 34.23 34§ 33.5

We have reserved sufficient authorized shares to allow us to issue new shares upon exercise of all outstanding options. Options generally become exercisable in
three years and expire 10 years from the date of grant. When options are exercised, we may issue new shares, use treasury shares (if available), acquire shares held
by investors, or a combination of these alternatives in order to satisfy the option exercises.

The following table presents information related to stock option exercises:

2017 2016 2015
Total intrinsic value of stock options exercised $ 09 $ 04 3 3.5
Cash proceeds received from stock options exercised $ 33§ 07 $ 6.4
Tax (expense) deduction realized from stock options exercised $ 02) $ 0.1) $ 0.4

The fair value of option grants was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. There were no option grants in 2017, 2016 or
2015.

Historically, we have also granted non-vested stock awards in the form of restricted stock, RSUs, performance restricted stock and PSUs. As of December 31, 2017
and 2016, we have no outstanding restricted stock or performance restricted stock. A summary of the 2017 activity related to these awards follows:

Non-Vested Stock Awards

RSUs PSUs
Weighted- Weighted-
Number of shares average fair value Number of shares average fair value
(thousands) at grant date (thousands) at grant date

December 31, 2016 224.5 $ 44.94 2904 § 40.29

Granted 54.2 47.18 139.4 44.65

Vested (101.1) (46.23) (39.7) (47.19)

Forfeited (6.0) (44.23) (10.4) (43.91)
December 31, 2017 171.6 $ 45.27 3797 % 41.08

RSUs entitle the recipient to a specified number of shares of AWI’s common stock provided the prescribed service period is fulfilled. PSUs entitle the recipient to
a specified number of shares of AWI’s common stock provided the defined financial targets are achieved at the end of the performance period. RSUs and PSUs
generally had vesting periods of three years at the grant date. RSUs and PSUs earn dividends during the vesting period that are forfeitable if the awards do not vest.
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The table above contains 8,354 and 9,581 RSUs as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, which are accounted for as liability awards as they are able to be
settled in cash. The table above contains 720 PSUs as of Decem ber 31, 2016, which are accounted for as liability awards as they are able to be settled in

cash. Employee liability awards outstanding for all periods represent awards to employees of our EMEA and Pacific Rim businesses. The underlying liability is
refl ected as a component of current liabilities from discontinued operations on our consolidated balance sheets.

RSUs and PSUs with non-market based performance conditions are measured at fair value based on the closing price of our stock on the date of grant. In 2017 and
2016, we granted 69,769 and 158,790 PSUs with market based performance conditions that are valued through the use of a Monte Carlo simulation. The weighted
average assumptions for PSUs measured at fair value through the use of a Monte Carlo simulation is presented in the table below.

2017 2016
Weighted-average grant date fair value of market based PSUs granted (dollars per award) $ 43.29 $ 37.75
Assumptions
Risk free rate of return 1.5% 0.8%
Expected volatility 28.0% 28.0%
Expected term (in years) 3.1 2.7
Expected dividend yield 0.0% 0.0%

The risk free rate of return was determined based on the implied yield available on zero coupon U.S. Treasury bills at the time of grant with a remaining term equal
to the expected term of the PSUs. The expected volatility was based on an average of the actual historical volatilities of the stock prices of AWI and a peer group
of companies. We elected to not rely solely on AWI’s actual historical stock price volatility due to the separation of AFI. The expected life represented the
performance period on the underlying award. The expected dividend yield was assumed to be zero because, at the time of each grant, we had no plans to declare a
dividend.

In addition to the equity awards described above, as of December 31, 2017 we had 11,773 fully-vested phantom shares outstanding for non-employee directors
under the 2006 Phantom Stock Unit Plan not reflected in the non-vested stock awards table above. These awards are settled in cash and had vesting periods of one
to three years. The awards are generally payable six months following the director’s separation from service on the Board of Directors. The total liability recorded
for these shares as of December 31, 2017 was $1.3 million which includes associated non-forfeitable dividends. The 2006 Phantom Stock Unit Plan is still in
place; however, no additional shares will be granted under the plan.

As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, there were 191,725 and 189,237 RSUs, respectively, outstanding under the 2016 Directors Stock Unit Plan not reflected in the
Non-Vested Stock Awards table above. In 2017 and 2016, we granted 22,433 and 25,714 restricted stock units, respectively, to non-employee directors. These
awards generally have a vesting period of one year, and as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, 169,292 and 163,523 shares, respectively, were vested but not yet
delivered. The awards are generally payable six months following the director’s separation from service on the Board of Directors and earn dividends during the
vesting period that are non-forfeitable.

We recognize share-based compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. Share-based compensation cost was $9.8 million ($5.9 million net
of tax benefit) in 2017; $11.0 million ($6.6 million net of tax benefit) in 2016, and $10.2 million ($6.0 million net of tax benefit) in 2015.

As of December 31, 2017, there was $12.1 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested share-based compensation arrangements. That
cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.6 years.
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NOTE 22. EMPLOYEE COSTS

2017 2016 2015
Wages, salaries and incentive compensation $ 191.0 179.1 185.1
Payroll taxes 14.2 13.9 14.0
Defined contribution and defined benefit pension plan expense, net 4.1 22.7 26.4
Insurance and other benefit costs 24.0 214 18.8
Share-based compensation 9.8 11.0 10.2
Total $ 243.1 248.1 254.5

NOTE 23. LEASES

We rent certain real estate and equipment. Several leases include options for renewal or purchase, and contain clauses for payment of real estate taxes and
insurance. In most cases, management expects that in the normal course of business, leases will be renewed or replaced by other leases. Rent expense was $6.7

million in 2017, $5.2 million in 2016 and $5.2 million in 2015.

Future minimum payments at December 31, 2017 by year and in the aggregate, having non-cancelable lease terms in excess of one year are as follows:

Scheduled minimum lease payments
2018

2019
2020
2021
2022
Thereafter
Total

NOTE 24. SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Common Stock Repurchase Plan

Minimum
Lease

Payments
$ 2.4
2.2
1.8
1.5
1.1
4.3
$ 13.3

On July 29, 2016, the Company announced that its Board of Directors had approved a share repurchase program pursuant to which the Company is authorized to
repurchase up to $150.0 million of its outstanding shares of common stock through July 31, 2018 (the “Program”). On October 30, 2017, we announced that our
Board of Directors had approved an additional $250.0 million authorization to repurchase shares of our outstanding common stock under the Program. The

Program was also extended through October 31, 2020.
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Repurchases under the Program may be made through open market, block and privately-negotiated transactions, including Rule 10b5-1 plans, at times and in such
amounts as management deems appropriate, subject to market and busines s conditions, regulatory requirements and other factors. The Program does not obligate
the Company to repurchase any particular amount of common stock and may be suspended or discontinued at any time without notice. During 2017, 1.8 million
shares were repurchased under the Program for a total cost of $80.4 million, or an average price of $43.58 per share. During 2016, 1.1 million shares were
repurchased under the Program for a total cost of $43.8 million, or an average price of $39 .45 per share. Since inception of the Program, we have repurchased 2.95
million shares under the Program for a total cost of $124.2 million, or an average price of $42.03 per share.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive (Loss)

The balance of each component of accumulated other comprehensive (loss), net of tax as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 is presented in the table below.

December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016
Foreign currency translation adjustments $ 47.1) $ (71.6)
Derivative gain, net 35 3.8
Pension and postretirement adjustments (302.3) (336.0)
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) $ (3459) § (403.8)

The amounts and related tax effects allocated to each component of other comprehensive income for 2017, 2016, and 2015 are presented in the table below.

Pre-tax After-
Amount Tax Benefit tax Amount
2017
Foreign currency translation adjustments $ 245 $ - 8 24.5
Derivative (loss), net (0.8) 0.5 0.3)
Pension and postretirement adjustments 50.4 (16.7) 33.7
Total other comprehensive income $ 741 $ (16.2) $ 57.9
Pre-tax After-tax
Amount Tax Expense Amount
2016
Foreign currency translation adjustments $ (33.2) $ -3 (33.2)
Derivative gain, net 11.9 4.4) 7.5
Pension and postretirement adjustments 75.7 (26.4) 49.3
Total other comprehensive income $ 544 $ (30.8) $ 23.6
Pre-tax After-tax
Amount Tax Benefit Amount
2015
Foreign currency translation adjustments $ (255) § - $ (25.5)
Derivative gain, net 1.1 0.4) 0.7
Pension and postretirement adjustments 50.7 (17.8) 32.9
Total other comprehensive (loss) income $ 263 § (18.2) $ 8.1
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The following table summarizes the activity, by component, related to the change in AOCI for December 31, 2017 and 2016:

Total
Foreign Accumulated
Currency Derivative Pension and Other
Translation (Loss) Postretirement Comprehensive
Adjustments (1) Gain (1) Adjustments (1) (Loss) (D
Balance, December 31, 2015 $ (33.8) $§ 33) § (4503) $ (487.4)
Separation of AFI, net of tax (benefit) of $-, $-, ($39.2), and
($39.2) (4.6) 0.4) 65.0 60.0
Other comprehensive (loss) income before reclassifications, net of
tax expense (benefit) of $ -, ($1.8), ($10.9), and ($12.8) (33.2) 3.0 20.2 (10.0)
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other
comprehensive income - 4.5 29.1 33.6
Net current period other comprehensive (loss) income (33.2) 7.5 493 23.6
Balance, December 31, 2016 (71.6) 3.8 (336.0) (403.8)
Other comprehensive income (loss) income before
reclassifications, net of tax expense (benefit) of
$ -, $0.8, ($3.6), and ($2.8) 24.5 0.7) 9.3 33.1
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other
comprehensive income - 0.4 24.4 24.8
Net current period other comprehensive income (loss) 24.5 (0.3) 33.7 57.9
Balance, December 31, 2017 $ 47.1) $ 35  $ (302.3) $ (345.9)

@ Amounts are net of tax
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The amounts reclassified from AOCI and the affected line item of the Consolidated Statement of Earnings and Comprehensive Income are presented in the table

below.

Derivative Adjustments:

Natural gas commodity contracts

Foreign exchange contracts - purchases

Foreign exchange contracts - sales

Interest rate swap contracts

Total income from continuing operations, before
tax

Tax impact

Total income from continuing operations, net of
tax

Total (loss) from discontinued operations, net of
tax benefit of $- and ($0.3)

Total income, net of tax

Pension and Postretirement Adjustments:
Prior service cost amortization
Prior service cost amortization
Amortization of net actuarial loss
Amortization of net actuarial loss
Partial settlement
Partial settlement
Total expense from continuing operations, before tax
Tax impact
Total expense from continuing operations, net of tax
Total expense from discontinued operations net of
tax expense of $- and $1.5
Total expense, net of tax
Total reclassifications for the period

NOTE 25. SUPPLEMENTAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Selected operating expense
Maintenance and repair costs

Research and development costs
Advertising costs

Other non-operating (income)/expense

Interest income

Foreign currency transaction (gain)/loss, net of hedging activity
Other

Total

Amounts Reclassified from

Affected Line Item in the
Consolidated Statement

of Earnings and

AOCI Comprel ive Income
2017 2016
0.3) 1.2 Cost of goods sold
0.1 0.2) Cost of goods sold
0.1) (1.4) Net sales
0.9 8.3 Interest expense
0.6 7.9
0.2) (2.8) Income tax expense
0.4 5.1
- (0.6)
0.4 4.5
0.9 0.6 Cost of goods sold
0.6 0.6 SG&A expense
7.4 20.7 Cost of goods sold
7.8 18.4 SG&A expense
12.5 - Cost of goods sold
8.3 - SG&A expense
37.5 40.3
(13.1) (14.1) Income tax expense
244 26.2
- 2.9
24.4 29.1
24.8 33.6
2017 2016 2015
$ 425 § 414 $ 422
17.4 17.8 18.7
6.0 5.4 5.5
$ (1.8) § (1.0) § (0.6)
0.6) 94) 13.8
- (0.8) 4.6
$ 24) $ (11.2) § 17.8
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NOTE 26. RELATED PARTIES

In some markets, we purchase grid products from WAVE, our 50%-owned joint venture with Worthington Industries, for resale to customers. The total amount of
these purchases was $18.2 million in 2017, $18.0 million in 2016 and $18.2 million in 2015. We also provide certain selling, promotional and administrative
processing services to WAVE for which we receive reimbursement. Those services amounted to $14.9 million in 2017, $9.1 million in 2016, and $8.8 million in
2015. The net amount due to WAVE from us for all of our relationships was $2.6 million as of December 31, 2017 and $4.2 million as of December 31, 2016. See
Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.

NOTE 27. LITIGATION AND RELATED MATTERS
ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS

Environmental Compliance

Our manufacturing and research facilities are affected by various federal, state and local requirements relating to the discharge of materials and the protection of the
environment. We make expenditures necessary for compliance with applicable environmental requirements at each of our operating facilities. These regulatory
requirements continually change, therefore we cannot predict with certainty future expenditures associated with compliance with environmental requirements.

Environmental Sites

Summary

We are actively involved in the investigation, closure and/or remediation of existing or potential environmental contamination under the Comprehensive
Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act (“CERCLA”) and state Superfund and similar environmental laws at several domestically owned,
formerly owned and non-owned locations allegedly resulting from past industrial activity.

In a few cases, we are one of several potentially responsible parties and have agreed to jointly fund the required investigation and remediation, while preserving our
defenses to the liability. We may also have rights of contribution or reimbursement from other parties or coverage under applicable insurance policies. We are
currently pursuing coverage and recoveries under those policies with respect to certain of the sites, including the St. Helens, OR site, the Macon, GA site and the
Elizabeth City, NC site, each of which is summarized below. These efforts include two active and independent litigation matters against legacy primary and excess
policy insurance carriers for recovery of fees and costs incurred by us in connection with our investigation and remediation activities for such sites. Other than
disclosed below, we are unable to predict the outcome of these matters or the timing of any recoveries, whether through settlement or otherwise. We are also
unable to predict the extent to which any recoveries might cover our final share of investigation and remediation costs for these sites. Our final share of
investigation and remediation costs may exceed any such recoveries, and such amounts net of insurance recoveries, may be material.

In 2017 we entered settlement agreements totaling $30.5 million with legacy insurance carriers to resolve ongoing litigation and recover fees and costs previously
incurred by us in connection with certain environmental sites. These settlements were recorded as an $11.2 million reduction to cost of goods sold and a $19.3
million reduction to SG&A expenses during the third and fourth quarters of 2017, reflecting the same income statement categories where environmental
expenditures were historically recorded. We obtained court approval of these settlements in January 2018 and now expect payments to be released to us from
escrow in the first quarter of 2018. We anticipate that we may enter into additional settlement agreements in the future that may or may not be material with other
legacy insurers to obtain reimbursement or contribution for environmental site expenses.

Estimates of our future liability at the environmental sites are based on evaluations of currently available facts regarding each individual site. We consider factors
such as our activities associated with the site, existing technology, presently enacted laws and regulations and prior company experience in remediating
contaminated sites. Although current law imposes joint and several liability on all parties at Superfund sites, our contribution to the remediation of these sites is
expected to be limited by the number of other companies potentially liable for site remediation. As a result, our estimated liability reflects only our expected
share. In determining the probability of contribution, we consider the solvency of other parties, the site activities of other parties, whether liability is being
disputed, the terms of any existing agreements and experience with similar matters, and the effect of our October 2006 Chapter 11 reorganization upon the validity
of the claim.
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Specific Material Events
St Helens, OR

In August 2010, we entered into a Consent Order (the “Consent Order”) with the Oregon Department of Environmental Quality (“ODEQ”), along with Kaiser
Gypsum Company, Inc. (“Kaiser”), and Owens Corning Sales LLC (“OC”), with respect to our St. Helens, OR facility, which was previously owned by Kaiser and
then OC. The Consent Order requires that we and Kaiser complete a remedial investigation and feasibility study (“RI/FS”) on the portion of the site owned by us
(“Owned Property”), which is comprised of Upland and Lowland areas. The Consent Order further requires us, Kaiser and OC to conduct an RI/FS in the In-Water
area of the adjacent Scappoose Bay. Costs and responsibilities for investigation, including the current RI/FS, for the Owned Property have been shared with Kaiser
pursuant to a cost sharing agreement with Kaiser. Costs and responsibilities for the investigation with respect to the in-water areas that we do not own have been
shared with Kaiser and OC pursuant to a cost sharing agreement with Kaiser and OC.

On September 14, 2016, the parties submitted a Feasibility Study to the ODEQ proposing remedial action options for the Upland area. We have participated in the
investigation phase for the Lowland area of the Owned Property and the Scappoose Bay and worked with the ODEQ, Kaiser and OC to finalize the reports to move
to the Feasibility Study phase.

On September 30, 2016, Kaiser filed a voluntary petition for relief under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code in the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the Western District
of North Carolina (Case No. 16-31602). AWI, OC and the ODEQ have all been included on the master list of potential creditors filed with the Bankruptcy Court
for notice purposes. By order dated October 14, 2016, the Bankruptcy Court formed a statutory committee of unsecured creditors, to which we were appointed to
serve, along with OC and The Boeing Company. The Committee is charged with, among other things, maximizing recovery of all unsecured creditor claims,
including claims of Kaiser and ODEQ. Noticed parties submitted claims to the Bankruptcy Court on September 13, 2017. The Chapter 11 case impacts Kaiser’s
ongoing participation in the RI/FS process, as well as the ODEQ consent order and cost sharing agreements.

In November 2017, we participated in voluntary mediation with ODEQ, OC and Kaiser to negotiate a resolution that would discharge Potentially Responsible
Parties (“PRPs”) liability for the site. As a result of the mediation, on February 1, 2018, ODEQ issued a Public Notice and a proposed Consent Judgment
recommending that, in exchange for a release from ODEQ for all contamination claims against AWI, we would pay $8.6 million to the State of Oregon and
perform a previously scoped remedial action for the Upland area of the site. During the fourth quarter of 2017, we increased our reserve for environmental
liabilities by $8.6 million as a result of this pending settlement with the State of Oregon. The Consent Judgment remains subject to a public comment period and
subsequent entry and approval by the Columbia County Circuit Court, which we expect to occur in 2018.

Macon, GA

The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”) has listed two landfills located on a portion of our facility in Macon, GA, along with the former Macon Naval
Ordnance Plant landfill adjacent to our property, portions of Rocky Creek, and certain tributaries leading to Rocky Creek (collectively, the “Macon Site”) as a
Superfund site on the National Priorities List due to the presence of contaminants, most notably polychlorinated biphenyls (“PCBs”).

In September 2010, we entered into an Administrative Order on Consent for a Removal Action with the EPA to investigate PCB contamination in one of the
landfills on our property, the Wastewater Treatment Plant Landfill (the “WWTP Landfill,” also known as “Operable Unit 1”). We concluded the investigative
phase of the Removal Action for the WWTP Landfill and submitted our final Engineering Evaluation/Cost Analysis (“EE/CA”) to the EPA in 2013. The EPA
subsequently approved the EE/CA and issued an Action Memorandum in July 2013 selecting our recommended remedy for the Removal Action. In July 2014, we
entered into an Administrative Order on Consent for Removal Action with the EPA for the WWTP Landfill. The EPA approved the Removal Action Work Plan on
March 30, 2015 and the removal work commenced in the third quarter of 2015. The Operable Unit 1 response action for the WWTP Landfill is complete and the
final report was submitted to the EPA on October 11,2016. The EPA approved the final report on November 28, 2016, and a Post-Removal Control Plan (the
“Plan”) was submitted to the EPA on March 28, 2017. That Plan will monitor the effectiveness of the WWTP Landfill response action and our estimate of future
liabilities includes these tasks.

It is probable that we will incur field investigation, engineering and oversight costs associated with a RI/FS with respect to the remainder of the Superfund site,
which includes the other landfill on our property, as well as areas on and adjacent to AWI’s property and Rocky Creek (the “Remaining Site,” also known as
“Operable Unit 2””). On September 25, 2015, AWI and other PRPs received a Special Notice Letter from the EPA under CERCLA inviting AWI and the PRPs to
enter into the negotiation of an agreement to conduct an RI/FS of Operable Unit 2. We, along with the other PRPs, submitted a good faith offer to the EPA in
response to the Special Notice Letter to conduct RI/FS. We and the other PRPs are in negotiations with the EPA on the agreement to conduct an
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RI/FS for Operable Unit 2. We have not yet commenced an investigation of this portion of the site. We anticipate that the EPA will require significant
investigative work for Operable Unit 2 and that we may ultimately incur costs i n remediating any contamination discovered during the RI/FS. The current
estimate of future liability at this site includes only our estimated share of the costs of the investigative work that, at this time, we anticipate the EPA will require
the PRPs to perform. We are unable to reasonably estimate AWT’s final share of the costs or the total costs associated with the investigation work or any resulting
remediation therefrom, although such amounts may be material.

Elizabeth City, NC

This site is a former cabinet manufacturing facility that was operated by Triangle Pacific Corporation, now known as Armstrong Wood Products, Inc. (“Triangle
Pacific”), from 1977 until 1996. The site was formerly owned by the U.S. Navy (“Navy”) and Westinghouse, now CBS Corporation (“CBS”). We assumed
ownership of the site when we acquired the stock of Triangle Pacific in 1998. Prior to our acquisition, the NC Department of Environment and Natural Resources
listed the site as a hazardous waste site. In 1997, Triangle Pacific entered into a cost sharing agreement with Westinghouse whereby the parties agreed to share
equally in costs associated with investigation and potential remediation. In 2000, Triangle Pacific and CBS entered into an Administrative Order on Consent to
conduct an RI/FS with the EPA for the site. In 2007, we and CBS entered into an agreement with the Navy whereby the Navy agreed to pay one third of defined
past and future investigative costs up to a certain amount, which has now been exhausted. The EPA approved the RI/FS work plan in August 2011. In January
2014, we submitted the draft Remedial Investigation and Risk Assessment reports and conducted supplemental investigative work based upon agency comments to
those reports. The parties have agreed upon tasks and timeframes to complete a feasibility study at the site, working toward a Proposed Plan and Record Of
Decision in 2018. If remediation is required, the related costs may be material, although we expect these costs to be shared with CBS and the Navy.

Summary of Financial Position

Liabilities of $13.5 million as of December 31, 2017 and $4.7 million as of December 31, 2016 were recorded for potential environmental liabilities that we
consider probable and for which a reasonable estimate of the probable liability could be made. During 2017, we recorded reserves for potential environmental
liabilities of $10.1 million, including $8.6 million of reserves recorded in the fourth quarter for the above referenced St. Helens settlement. During 2016, we
recorded reserves for potential environmental liabilities of $2.9 million. Where existing data is sufficient to estimate the liability, that estimate has been used;
where only a range of probable liabilities is available and no amount within that range is more likely than any other, the lower end of the range has been used. As
assessments and remediation activities progress at each site, these liabilities are reviewed to reflect new information as it becomes available, and adjusted to reflect
amounts actually incurred and paid. These liabilities are undiscounted.

The estimated liabilities above do not take into account any claims for recoveries from insurance or third parties. It is our policy to record insurance recoveries
when probable. For insurance recoveries that are reimbursements of prior environmental expenditures, the income statement impact is recorded within cost of
goods sold, SG&A expenses and/or discontinued operations, which are the same income statement categories where environmental expenditures were historically
recorded. Insurance recoveries in excess of historical environmental spending, if any, would be recorded on the balance sheet as a part of other long-term liabilities
and released as future environmental spending occurs or the liability is settled.

The estimated liabilities above do not take into account any claims for recoveries from insurance or third parties. It is our policy to record recoveries as assets in
the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Actual costs to be incurred at identified sites may vary from our estimates. Based on our knowledge of the identified sites, it is not possible to reasonably estimate
future costs in excess of amounts already recognized.

OTHER CLAIMS

On September 8, 2017, Roxul USA, Inc. (d/b/a Rockfon) filed litigation against us in the United States District Court for the District of Delaware alleging
anticompetitive conduct seeking remedial measures and unspecified damages. Roxul USA, Inc. is a significant ceilings systems competitor with global
headquarters in Europe and expanding operations in the Americas. We believe the allegations are without merit and are vigorously defending the matter.

We are involved in various other lawsuits, claims, investigations and other legal matters from time to time that arise in the ordinary course of business, including
matters involving our products, intellectual property, relationships with suppliers, relationships with

85



Armstrong World Industries, Inc., and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(dollar amounts in millions, except share data)

distributors, relationships with competitors, employees and other matters. From time to time, for example, we may be a party to litigation matters that involve
product liability, tort liability and other claims under various allegations, including illness due to exposure to certain chemicals used in the workplace; or medical
conditions ari sing from exposure to product ingredients or the presence of trace contaminants. Such allegations may involve multiple defendants and relate to
legacy products that we and other defendants purportedly manufactured or sold. We believe that any current cla ims are without merit and intend to defend them
vigorously. For these matters, we also may have rights of contribution or reimbursement from other parties or coverage under applicable insurance policies. When
applicable and appropriate, we will pursue co verage and recoveries under those policies, but are unable to predict the outcome of those demands. While complete
assurance cannot be given to the outcome of these proceedings, we do not believe that any current claims, individually or in the aggregate, will have a material
adverse effect on our financial condition, liquidity or results of operations.

NOTE 28. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Earnings per share components may not add due to rounding.

The following table is a reconciliation of net earnings to net earnings attributable to common shares used in our basic and diluted EPS calculations for the years
ended December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015:

2017 2016 2015
Earnings from continuing operations $ 2206 § 993 $ 57.9
Earnings allocated to participating non-vested share awards (0.7) (0.3) 0.2)
Earnings from continuing operations attributable to common shares $ 2199 § 99.0 $ 57.7

2017 2016 2015

(in millions)

Basic shares outstanding 533 55.4 55.5
Dilutive effect of common stock equivalents 0.6 0.3 0.4
Diluted shares outstanding 53.9 55.7 55.9

Options to purchase 319,836, 632,799 and 203,527 shares of common stock were outstanding as of December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015, respectively, but not
included in the computation of diluted earnings per share, because the options were anti-dilutive.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCO UNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
Not applicable.

ITEM9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Our management, with the participation of our chief executive officer and our chief financial officer, performed an evaluation of our disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”)) as of December 31, 2017. Our chief executive
officer and our chief financial officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective insofar as they are designed to provide reasonable
assurance that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is (i) recorded, processed, summarized and
reported, within the time periods specified in the Commission’s rules and forms, and (ii) accumulated and communicated to our management, including our
principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
We believe that a controls system, no matter how well designed and operated, cannot provide absolute assurance that the objectives of the controls system are met,
and no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within a company have been detected.

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2017 that have materially affected
or are reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and the Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm are incorporated by
reference to Item 8.

ITEM 9B. OT HER INFORMATION

Not applicable.
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PART 111

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS. EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Executive Officers of the Company (as of February 26, 2018):

Name Age Present Position and Business Experience During the Last Five Years*
Victor D. Grizzle 56 Armstrong World Industries, Inc.

President & CEO, Director since April 2016
Executive Vice President & CEO, Armstrong Building Products (2011 to April 2016)

Charles M. Chiappone 55 Armstrong World Industries, Inc.
Senior Vice President, Ceiling Solutions since April 2016
Vice President of Global Marketing & Commercial Excellence,
Armstrong Building Products (January 2012 to April 2016)

David S. Cookson 60 Armstrong World Industries, Inc.
Senior Vice President, Americas since 2008

Mark A. Hershey 48 Armstrong World Industries, Inc.
Senior Vice President, General Counsel since July 2011
Chief Compliance Officer since February 2012
Secretary (July 2011 to June 2014 and since April 2016)

Brian L. MacNeal 51 Armstrong World Industries, Inc.
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer since April 2016
Vice President, Global Finance and CFO, Armstrong Building Products (2014 to April 2016)
Heartland Energy Solutions
Interim Chief Financial Officer (2013 to 2014)
Campbell Soup Company
Vice President of Finance (2011 to 2013)

Stephen F. McNamara 51 Armstrong World Industries, Inc.
Vice President, Controller since July 2008

Ellen R. Romano 56 Armstrong World Industries, Inc.
Senior Vice President, Human Resources since July 2013
Vice President, Human Resources, Armstrong Building Products (2009 to 2013)

* Information in parentheses regarding previously held positions indicates either the duration the Executive Officer held the position or the year in which

service in the position began.

All executive officers are elected by the Board of Directors to serve in their respective capacities until their successors are elected and qualified or until their earlier

resignation or removal.

Code of Ethics

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct that applies to all employees, executives and directors, specifically including our Chief Executive Officer, our Chief
Financial Officer and our Controller. We have also adopted a Code of Ethics for Financial Professionals (together with the Code of Business Conduct, the “Codes
of Ethics”) that applies to all professionals in our finance and accounting functions worldwide, including our Chief Financial Officer and our Controller.

The Codes of Ethics are intended to deter wrongdoing and to promote:

. honest and ethical conduct, including the ethical handling of actual or apparent conflicts of interest between personal and professional relationships;
. full, fair, accurate, timely and understandable public disclosures;
. compliance with applicable governmental laws, rules and regulations;
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. the prompt internal reporting of violations of the Codes of Ethics; and

. accountability for compliance with the Codes of Ethics.

The Codes of Ethics are available at http://www.armstrongceilings.com/corporate/codes-policies.html and in print free of charge. Any waiver of the Company’s
Code of Business Conduct, particularly its conflicts-of-interest provisions, which may be proposed to apply to any director or executive officer, must be reviewed
in advance by the Nominating and Governance Committee of the Board of Directors, which would be responsible for making a recommendation to the Board of
Directors for approval or disapproval. The Board of Directors’ decision on any such matter would be disclosed publicly in compliance with applicable legal
standards and the rules of the New York Stock Exchange. We intend to satisfy these requirements by making disclosures concerning such matters available on the
“For Investors” page of our website. There were no waivers or exemptions from the Code of Business Conduct in 2017 applicable to any director or executive
officer.

Other information required by Item 10 is incorporated by reference to the sections entitled “Election of Directors,” “Corporate Governance,” and “Section 16(a)

Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in the Company’s proxy statement for its 2018 annual meeting of shareholders to be filed no later than April 30,
2018.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by Item 11 is incorporated by reference to the sections entitled “Compensation Discussion and Analysis,” “Compensation Committee
Report,” “Summary Compensation Table,” “Grants of Plan-Based Awards,” “Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End,” “Option Exercises and Stock
Vested,” “Pension Benefits,” “Nonqualified Deferred Compensation,” “Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control,” “Board of Directors —
Board’s Role in Risk Management Oversight,” “Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation” and “Compensation of Directors” in the
Company’s proxy statement for its 2018 annual meeting of shareholders to be filed no later than April 30, 2018.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CER TAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS

The information required by Item 12 is incorporated by reference to the sections entitled “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners,” “Security Ownership
of Management,” and “Equity Compensation Plan Information” in the Company’s proxy statement for its 2018 annual meeting of shareholders to be filed no later
than April 30, 2018.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by Item 13 is incorporated by reference to the sections entitled “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” and “Director
Independence” in the Company’s proxy statement for its 2018 annual meeting of shareholders to be filed no later than April 30, 2018.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by Item 14 is incorporated by reference to the sections entitled “Audit Committee Report” and “Relationship with Independent Auditors”
in the Company’s proxy statement for its 2018 annual meeting of shareholders to be filed no later than April 30, 2018.
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PART IV

The financial statements and schedule of Armstrong World Industries, Inc. filed as a part of this 2017 Annual Report on Form 10-K is listed in the

Worthington Armstrong Venture consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015 (filed herewith as

Armstrong World Industries. Inc.’s Fourth Amended Plan of Reorganization dated May 23. 2003 (as modified by modifications filed with the
Bankruptcy Court on October 17, 2003, November 10, 2003, December 3. 2004 and February 21. 2006) is incorporated by reference from the

Separation and Distribution Agreement, dated March 11, 2016. by and between Armstrong World Industries, Inc. and Armstrong Flooring. Inc. is
incorporated by reference from the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 15, 2016, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 2.1.

Plan of Division. adopted by Armstrong World Industries, Inc. on March 11, 2016 is incorporated by reference from the Current Report on Form 8-

Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Armstrong World Industries, Inc. is incorporated by reference from the Current Report on Form

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Armstrong World Industries, Inc.. are incorporated by reference from the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement. dated April 1, 2016, by and among Armstrong World Industries. Inc., as Borrower, certain subsidiaries of
Armstrong World Industries. Inc. identified therein, as the Guarantors, Bank of America. N.A., as Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent. the
other lenders party thereto, JPMorgan Chase Bank. N.A. and Citibank, N.A., as Co-Syndication Agents, Manufacturers and Traders Trust, The Bank
of Nova Scotia, Fifth Third Bank, Citizens Bank of Pennsylvania, TD Bank National Association and Bank of Montreal, as Co-Documentation
Agents, and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. and Citibank, N.A., as joint lead arrangers and joint
lead managers is incorporated by reference from the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 4, 2016, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.8.

Amended and Restated Security Agreement. dated April 1, 2016, by and among Armstrong World Industries, Inc., the grantors named therein and

Amended and Restated Pledge Agreement dated., April 1, 2016, by and among Armstrong World Industries, Inc., the pledgors named therein and

Amended and Restated Canadian Pledge Agreement dated, April 1, 2016, by and among Armstrong World Industries, Inc. and Bank of America,

Receivables Purchase Agreement dated as of December 10, 2010, by and among Armstrong World Industries. Inc., as initial servicer and collection
agent, Armstrong Receivables Company LLC, as seller, Atlantic Asset Securitization LLC. as conduit purchaser, and Credit Agricole Corporate and
Investment Bank, as administrative agent. an issuer of letters of credit and related committed purchaser, is incorporated by reference from the

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) Listing of Documents
1.
“Index to Financial Statements and Schedules” on Page 34.
2. The financial statements required to be filed pursuant to Item 15 of Form 10-K are:
Exhibit 99.1).
3. The following exhibits are filed as part of this 2017 Annual Report on Form 10-K:
Exhibit No. Description
2.1
Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on February 24, 2006. wherein it appeared as Exhibit 2.3.
2.2
2.3
K filed on March 15. 2016. wherein in appeared as Exhibit 2.2.
3.1
10-Q filed on May 1. 2017. wherein it appeared as Exhibit 3.1.
32
December 8, 2017, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 3.1.
10.1
10.2
Bank of America, N.A., as collateral agent. T
10.3
Bank of America, N.A., as collateral agent. T
10.4
N.A.. as collateral agent. T
10.5
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 14, 2010, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.1.
10.6

Purchase and Sale Agreement dated as of December 10. 2010, by and among Armstrong World Industries. Inc.. as originator and as initial servicer
Armstrong Hardwood Flooring Company. as originator, and Armstrong Receivables Company LLC, is incorporated by reference from the Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on December 14, 2010, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.2.
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Exhibit No.
10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

Description

Omnibus Amendment to Receivables Purchase Agreement and Purchase and Sale Agreement dated as of August 1. 2011, by and among Armstrong
World Industries, Inc., Armstrong Receivables Company LLC. Armstrong Hardwood Flooring Company. Atlantic Asset Securitization LLC, and

Credit Agricole Corporate and Investment Bank, is incorporated by reference from the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 27, 2012,
wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.9.

Second Omnibus Amendment to Receivables Purchase Agreement and Purchase and Sale Agreement dated as of December 21, 2011, by and among
Armstrong World Industries. Inc., Armstrong Receivables Company LLC. as seller, Armstrong Hardwood Flooring Company. as originator,

Atlantic Asset Securitization LLC, as resigning conduit purchaser, Credit Agricole Corporate and Investment Bank, as resigning administrative
agent, resigning related committed purchaser and resigning LC bank, The Bank of Nova Scotia, as successor administrative agent, successor related

committed purchaser and successor LC bank, and Liberty Street Funding LLC, as successor conduit purchaser, is incorporated by reference from the
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 27. 2012, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.10.

Third Omnibus Amendment Agreement, dated as of March 28, 2013, by and among Armstrong Receivables Company, LLC. Armstrong World

Industries. Inc.. Armstrong Hardwood Flooring Company, The Bank of Nova Scotia, and Liberty Street Funding LLC., is incorporated by reference
from the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on April 29, 2013, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.1.

Fourth Amendment Agreement. dated as of December 18. 2014, by and among Armstrong Receivables Company. LLC. Armstrong World
Industries. Inc.. Armstrong Hardwood Flooring Company. The Bank of Nova Scotia. and Liberty Street Funding LLC. is incorporated by reference
from the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 23. 2015, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.10.

Fourth Omnibus Amendment Agreement, dated as of March 30, 2016, by and among Armstrong Receivables Company, LLC, Armstrong World

Industries. Inc.. Armstrong Hardwood Flooring Company, The Bank of Nova Scotia. and Liberty Street Funding LLC. is incorporated by reference
from the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 27, 2017, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.11.

Sixth Amendment Agreement, dated as of December 21, 2016, by and among Armstrong Receivables Company, LLC., Armstrong World Industries,
Inc., The Bank of Nova Scotia, and Liberty Street Funding LLC. is incorporated by reference from the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on
FEebruary 27, 2017, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.12.

Seventh Amendment to Receivables Purchase Agreement, dated March 24, 2017, by and among Armstrong Receivables Company, LLC, Armstrong

World Industries, Inc., The Bank of Nova Scotia, and Liberty Street Funding LLC, is incorporated by reference from the Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q filed on May 1, 2017, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.1.

Amended and Restated Joint Venture Agreement, dated February 22. 2016 between Armstrong Ventures. Inc. and Worthington Ventures, Inc., is
incorporated by reference from the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 22, 2016, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.12.

Transition Services Agreement, dated as of April 1, 2016, by and between Armstrong World Industries, Inc. and Armstrong Flooring, Inc. is
incorporated by reference from the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 4, 2016, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.1.

Tax Matters Agreement, dated as of April 1. 2016, by and between Armstrong World Industries. Inc. and Armstrong Flooring, Inc. is incorporated
by reference from the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 4, 2016, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.2.
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Exhibit No.
10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24

10.25

10.26

10.27

10.28

10.29

10.30

10.31

10.32

Description

Employee Matters Agreement, dated as of April 1, 2016, by and between Armstrong World Industries. Inc. and Armstrong Flooring. Inc. is
incorporated by reference from the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 4, 2016, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.3.

Trademark License Agreement, dated as of April 1, 2016, by and between Armstrong World Industries, Inc. and Armstrong Flooring, Inc. is
incorporated by reference from the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 4, 2016, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.4.

Transition Trademark License Agreement. dated as of April 1. 2016, by and between Armstrong World Industries, Inc. and Armstrong Flooring. Inc.
is incorporated by reference from the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 4, 2016, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.5.

Campus [ease Agreement, dated as of April 1, 2016, by and between Armstrong World Industries, Inc. and Armstrong Flooring, Inc. is incorporated
by reference from the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 4, 2016, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.6.

Share Purchase Agreement. dated November 17. 2017, by and between Armstrong World Industries. Inc. and Knauf International GmbH is
incorporated by reference from the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 20. 2017, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 2.1.

2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended February 23, 2009, is incorporated by reference from the Annual Report on Form 10-K. filed on
FEebruary 26, 2009, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.13.*

Form of Stock Option Award under the 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan is incorporated by reference from the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended March 31, 2008, filed on May 1. 2008, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.37.*

Form of Stock Option Award under the 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan used in connection with award to Stephen F. McNamara is incorporated by
reference from the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 6, 2010, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.2.*

Form of Stock Option and Restricted Stock Unit Award under the 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan used in connection with awards to Victor D.

Grizzle in connection with new hire grant, is incorporated by reference from the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 27, 2012, wherein it
appeared as Exhibit 10.26.*

Forms of Stock Option and Performance Restricted Stock Unit Award under the 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan used in connection with March
2011 grants to officers (except Donald R. Maier) and new hire grant for Mark A. Hershey. is incorporated by reference from the Annual Report on
Form 10-K filed on February 27, 2012, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.27.*

2011 Long-Term Incentive Plan, effective as of June 24, 2011, is incorporated by reference to Armstrong World Industries. Inc.’s Definitive Proxy
Statement on Schedule 14A for the Armstrong World Industries, Inc 2011 Annual Meeting of Shareholders held on June 24, 2011 filed on April 28,
2011, wherein it appeared as Exhibit A.*

Form of 2011 Long-Term Incentive Plan Terms and Conditions (Grant of Nongualified Stock Options — U.S. (Executive Officer), is incorporated
by reference from the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on April 30, 2012, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.1.*

Form of 2011 Long-Term Incentive Plan Terms and Conditions (Grant of Nonqualified Stock Options — U.S.). is incorporated by reference from
the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on April 30, 2012, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.2.*

Form of 2011 Long-Term Incentive Plan Terms and Conditions (Grant of Nonqualified Stock Options — Non-U.S. (Executive Officer)). is
incorporated by reference from the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on April 30, 2012, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.3.*

Form of 2011 Long-Term Incentive Plan Terms and Conditions. as amended for 2013 (Grant of Nonqualified Stock Options — U.S. (Executive
Officer)). is incorporated by reference from the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on April 29, 2013, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.2.*

Form of 2011 Long-Term Incentive Plan Terms and Conditions, as amended for 2013 (Grant of Nonqualified Stock Options — U.S.), is incorporated
by reference from the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on April 29, 2013, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.3.*
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Description

Form of 2011 Long-Term Incentive Plan Terms and Conditions, as amended for 2013 (Grant of Nonqualified Stock Options — Non-U.S.). is
incorporated by reference from the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on April 29, 2013, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.4.*

Form of 2011 Long-Term Incentive Plan Terms and Conditions, as amended for 2014 (Grant of Nonqualified Stock Options — U.S.), is incorporated
by reference from the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on April 28, 2014, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.1.*

Form of 2011 Long-Term Incentive Plan Terms and Conditions. as amended for 2014 (Grant of Nonqualified Stock Options — Non-U.S.). is
incorporated by reference from the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on April 28, 2014, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.2.*

Form of 2011 Long-Term Incentive Plan Terms and Conditions (Grant of Time-Based Restricted Stock Units — U.S.). is incorporated by reference
from the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on April 30, 2015. wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.1.*

incorporated by reference from the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on April 30, 2015, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.2.*

Form of 2011 Long-Term Incentive Plan Terms and Conditions (Grant of Time-Based Restricted Stock Units — Payable in Shares — Non-U.S.), is

incorporated by reference from the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on April 30, 2015, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.3.*

Form of 2016 Award Agreement for Performance-Based RSU Grants under the 2011 Long-Term incentive Plan is incorporated by reference from
the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 14, 2016, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.1. *

Form of 2016 Long-Term Time-Based Restricted Stock Unit Grant under the 2011 Long-Term Incentive Plan is incorporated by reference from the
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 11, 2016. wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.4.*

Form of 2016 Long-Term Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Grant (Performance Goals Based on Absolute TSR for Tier I) for Senior

Executives under the 2011 Long-Term Incentive Plan is incorporated by reference from the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 11, 2016,
wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.5.*

Form of 2016 Long-Term Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Grant (Performance Goals Based on Absolute TSR for Tier I1) under the 2011

Long-Term Incentive Plan is incorporated by reference from the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 11, 2016, wherein it appeared as Exhibit
10.6.*

Form of 2016 Long-Term Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Grant (Performance Goals Based on Cumulative Free Cash Flow for Tier IT)
under the 2011 Long-Term Incentive Plan is incorporated by reference from the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 11, 2016, wherein it
appeared as Exhibit 10.7.*

Form of 2016 Long-Term Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Grant (Performance Goals Based on Cumulative Free Cash Flow for Tier I) for

Senior Executives under the 2011 Long-Term Incentive Plan is incorporated by reference from the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 11,
2016, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.8.*

Armstrong World Industries, Inc. 2016 Long-Term Incentive Plan is incorporated by reference from the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July
11, 2016, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.2.*

Form of 2017 Long-Term Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Grant (Performance Goals Based on Absolute TSR for Tier I) for Senior
Executives under the 2016 Long-Term Incentive Plan is incorporated by reference from the Current Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 1. 2017,
wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.2.*

Form of 2017 Long-Term Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Grant (Performance Goals Based on Absolute TSR for Tier II) for Senior
Executives under the 2016 Long-Term Incentive Plan is incorporated by reference from the Current Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 1, 2017,
wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.4.*
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Description

Form of 2017 Long-Term Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Grant (Performance Goals Based on Cumulative Free Cash Flow for Tier I)
under the 2016 Long-Term Incentive Plan is incorporated by reference from the Current Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 1. 2017, wherein it
appeared as Exhibit 10.3.*

Form of 2017 Long-Term Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Grant (Performance Goals Based on Cumulative Free Cash Flow for Tier IT)
under the 2016 Long-Term Incentive Plan is incorporated by reference from the Current Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 1. 2017, wherein it
appeared as Exhibit 10.5.*

Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan effective January 2005, as amended July 23, 2010, is incorporated by reference from the Annual Report
on Form 10-K, filed on February 28, 2011, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.4.*

Retirement Benefit Equity Plan, effective January 1. 2005. as amended October 29, 2007 and December 8. 2008, is incorporated by reference from
the Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on February 26. 2009. wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.2.*

2006 Phantom Stock Unit Plan, as amended December 8. 2008, is incorporated by reference from the 2008 Annual Report on Form 10-K. filed on
February 26, 2009, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.18.*

2006 Phantom Stock Unit Agreement is incorporated by reference from the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 26, 2006, wherein it
appeared as Exhibit 10.3. A Schedule of Participating Directors is incorporated by reference from the 2006 Annual Report on Form 10-K. filed on
March 30. 2007, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.36.*

2007 Award Agreement under the 2006 Phantom Stock Unit Plan is incorporated by reference from the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
October 23, 2007, wherein it appeared as Exhibits 10.1.*

Schedule of Participating Directors, is incorporated by reference from the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 23, 2007, wherein it
appeared as Exhibits 10.2.*

The 2008 Directors Stock Unit Plan, as amended December 8., 2008, November 30. 2010 and June 24. 2011 is incorporated by reference to the
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 13, 2011, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 99.2.*

Form of 2009 and 2010 Award under the 2008 Director Stock Unit Plan, as amended. is incorporated by reference from the Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2009, filed on October 28, 2009, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.27.*

Form of 2011, 2012, 2013 and 2014 Award under the 2008 Directors Stock Unit Plan, as amended., is incorporated by reference from the Annual
Report on Form 10-K filed on February 27, 2012, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.40.*

Armstrong World Industries. Inc. 2016 Directors Stock Unit Plan, is incorporated by reference from the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July
11, 2016. wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.1.*

Form of 2016 and 2017 Stock Unit Grant Agreement under the Armstrong World Industries. Inc. 2016 Directors Stock Unit Plan, is incorporated by
reference from the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 11, 2016, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.3.*

Offer Letter to Victor D. Grizzle dated January 4. 2011, is incorporated by reference from the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 10,
2011, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 99.2.*

Offer Letter to Mark A. Hershey dated April 21, 2011, is incorporated by reference from the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 27, 2011,
wherein it appeared as Exhibit 99.1.*

Severance Agreement and Release. dated as of March 30, 2016, by and between Armstrong World Industries. Inc. and Matthew Espe is incorporated
by reference from the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 4, 2016, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.7.*

Form of Indemnification Agreement for Officers and Directors of Armstrong World Industries, Inc. is incorporated by reference from the Report on
Form 8-K filed on June 4, 2010, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.1.*

Form of Severance Agreement with Certain Officers, approved for use on October 26, 2016 is incorporated by reference from the Report on Form 8-
K filed on October 31, 2016, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.1.*

Computation of Earnings Per Share .}

Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges.T
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Exhibit No. Description

14 The Armstrong Code of Business Conduct. revised as of July 29. 2011. is incorporated by reference from the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
August 1. 2011, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 14.1.

21 Armstrong World Industries, Inc.’s Subsidiaries.{

23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.t

232 Consent of Independent Auditors. T

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer required by Rule 13a-15(e) or 15d-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act.

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer required by Rule 13a-15(e) or 15d-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act.

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer required by Rule 13a and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 (furnished herewith).

322 Certification of Chief Financial Officer required by Rule 13a and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 (furnished herewith).

99.1 Worthington Armstrong Venture consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 and for the years ended December 31. 2017,
2016 and 2015.%

99.2 Armstrong World Industries. Inc. Asbestos Personal Injury Settlement Trust Agreement dated as of October 2. 2006. by and among Armstrong

World Industries, Inc. and trustees. is incorporated by reference from the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 2, 2006, wherein it appeared
as Exhibit 10.2.

99.3 Stockholder and Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of October 2. 2006. by and between Armstrong World Industries. Inc. and the Armstrong
World Industries. Inc. Asbestos Personal Injury Settlement Trust is incorporated by reference from the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October
2. 2006, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.3.

99.4 Nomination and Shareholder Agreement with the persons or entities identified on Schedule I attached thereto (collectively the “ValueAct Group”
and each individually, a “member” of the ValueAct Group). and Gregory P. Spivy in his individual capacity and as a member of the ValueAct

Group (the “ValueAct Designee”™). is incorporated by reference from the Report on Form 8-K filed on December 15, 2014, wherein it appeared as
Exhibit 99.1.

101 Interactive Data Files**

Management Contract or Compensatory Plan.

T Filed herewith.

*k XBRL — Information is furnished and not filed or a part of a registration statement or prospectus for purposes of Sections 11 or 12 of the Securities

Act of 1933, as amended, is deemed not filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and otherwise is not
subject to liability under these sections.
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SIGNA TURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by
the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

ARMSTRONG WORLD INDUSTRIES, INC.
(Registrant)

By:  /s/ Victor D. Grizzle

Director, President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: February 26, 2018

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this Report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ Victor D. Grizzle Director, President and Chief Executive Officer February 26, 2018
Victor D. Grizzle (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ Brian L. MacNeal Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer February 26, 2018
Brian L. MacNeal (Principal Financial Officer)
/s/ Stephen F. McNamara Vice President and Controller February 26, 2018
Stephen F. McNamara (Principal Accounting Officer)
/s/ Stanley A. Askren Director February 26, 2018
Stanley A. Askren
/s/ Tao Huang Director February 26, 2018
Tao Huang
/s/ Larry S. McWilliams Director February 26, 2018
Larry S. McWilliams
/s/ James C. Melville Director February 26, 2018
James C. Melville
/s/ James J. O’Connor Director February 26, 2018
James J. O’Connor
/s/ John J. Roberts Director February 26, 2018
John J. Roberts
/s/ Gregory P. Spivy Director February 26, 2018
Gregory P. Spivy
/s/ Roy W. Templin Director February 26, 2018
Roy W. Templin
/s/ Cherryl T. Thomas Director February 26, 2018

Cherryl T. Thomas
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2015

Provision for bad debts
Provision for discounts
Provision for warranties

2016

Provision for bad debts
Provision for discounts
Provision for warranties

2017

Provision for bad debts
Provision for discounts
Provision for warranties

Armstrong World Industries, Inc., and Subsidiaries

SCHEDU LE 11

Valuation and Qualifying Reserves
(amounts in millions)

Balance at Additions Balance
beginning charged to at end of
of year earnings Deductions year

13§ - 02) 8 1.1

2.0 15.8 (17.0) 0.8

- 1.6 (1.3) 0.3

113 - 0.7) $ 0.4

0.8 16.9 (16.4) 1.3

0.3 8.0 (8.1) 0.2

04 $ - 0.1) 8 0.3

1.3 17.6 (17.4) 1.5

0.2 3.2 (3.3) 0.1
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Exhibit 10.2

AMENDEDANDRESTATEDSECURITY AGREEMENT

THISAMENDEDANDRESTATEDSECURITYAGREEMENT (this“SecurityAgreement”),dat
edasofAprill,2016,isbyandamongthepartiesidentifiedas“Grantors”onthesignaturepagesheret
oandsuchotherpartiesasmaybecomeGrantorshereunderafterthedatehereof(individuallya“Gran
tor”,andcollectivelythe“Grantors”)andBANKOFAMERICA,N.A.,ascollateralagent(insuchca
pacity,the“CollateralAgent”)fortheholdersoftheSecuredObligationsreferencedbelow.

WITNESSETH

WHEREAS,revolvingcreditandtermloanfacilitieswereestablishedinfavorof Armstrong Wo
rldIndustries,Inc,aPennsylvaniacorporation(the“Borrower”),pursuanttothetermsofthatcertaina
mendedandrestatedcreditagreementdatedasofMarch 15,2013 (asamendedandmodifiedpriortotheClosingD
ate,the“ExistingCreditAgreement”)amongtheBorrower, Armstrong WoodProducts,Inc,aDelawarec
orporation(“AWP”),certainoftheirrespectiveSubsidiaries,asguarantorsthereunder,thelenderspart
ytheretoand Bankof America, N.A.,asadministrativeagentandcollateralagentforthelendersthereun
der;

WHEREAS,inconmectionwiththeExistingCreditAgreement,theBorrower, AWP,andcertain of
theirrespectiveSubsidiariesenteredintothatcertainAmendedandRestatedSecurityAgreementdated
asof March15,2013 (the“ExistingSecurityAgreement”);

WHEREAS,theBorrowerhasrequestedcertainmodificationstotherevolvingcreditandter
mloanfacilitiesundertheExistingCreditAgreement;

WHEREAS,theLendershaveagreedtotherequestedmodificationsonthetermsandconditionspr
ovidedinthatcertainAmendedandRestatedCreditAgreement,datedasofthedatehereof(asamendedand m
odified,the“CreditAgreement”),amongtheBorrower,certainofitsSubsidiaries,asguarantorsthereun
der,thelenderspartytheretoandBankofAmerica, N.A. ,asadministrativeagentandcollateralagentfo
rthelendersthereunder;and

WHEREAS,thisSecurityAgreementisrequiredunderthetermsoftheCreditAgreement,andis
giveninamendmentto,restatementofandsubstitutionforthe ExistingSecurityAgreementprovidedin
conmectionwiththe ExistingCreditAgreement.

NOW, T HEREFORE,inconsiderationofthesepremisesandothergoodandvaluableconsideration,t
hereceiptandsufficiency of whichareherebyacknowledged,thepartiesheretoagrecasfollows:

1.Definitions.

(a)Capitalizedtermsusedandnototherwisedefinedhereinshallhavethemeaningsprovi
dedintheCreditAgreement. Inaddition,thefollowingterms,whicharedefinedintheUCCasineffectint
heStateof New Yorkonthedatehereof,areusedasdefinedtherein:Accession,Account,ChattelPaper,
CommercialTortClaim,DepositAccount,Document,Equipment,Fixtures,Generallntangible,Go
ods,Instrument,Inventory,InvestmentProperty,Letter-of-CreditRight,Proceeds,Software,andSu
pportingObligation.

(b) Asusedherein,thefollowingtermsshallhavethemeaningsetforthbelow:“Bor

rower”hasthemeaningprovidedintherecitalshereof.




“Collateral”hasthemeaningprovidedinSection2hereof.




“CollateralAgent”hasthemeaningprovidedintheintroductoryparagraphhereof,togeth
erwithsuccessorsandassigns.

“Copyrightlicense”meansanywrittenagreement,naminganyGrantoraslicensor,granting
anyrightunderanyCopyright.

“Copyrights”means(a)allregisteredUnitedStatescopyrightsinall Works,nowexistingo
rhereaftercreatedoracquired,allregistrationsandrecordingsthereof,andallapplicationsinconn
ectiontherewith,includingregistrations,recordingsandapplicationsintheUnitedStatesCopyrig
htO ffice,and(b)allrenewalstherecof.

“CreditAgreement”hasthemeaningprovidedintherecitalshereof.

“EventofDefault”hasthemeaningprovidedinSection7hereof.

“ExistingCreditAgreement”hasthemeaningprovidedintherecitalshereof.

“ExistingSecurityAgreement”hasthemeaningprovidedintherecitalshereof.

“Grantor”hasthemeaningprovidedintheintroductoryparagraphhereof.

“IndemnifiedParty”hasthemeaningprovidedinSection8(b)hereof.

“Patentlicense”meansanywrittenagreementprovidingforthegrantbyortoaGrantorof
anyrightunderaPatent.

“Patents”means(a)allletterspatentoftheUnitedStatesandallreissuesandextensionsthe
reof,and(b)allapplicationsforletterspatentoftheUnitedStatesandalldivisions,continuations
andcontinuations-in-partthereof.

“SecuredObligations”means,withoutduplication,(a)allObligationsand(b)allcostsand
expenses incurredinconnectionwithenforcementandcollectionoftheSecuredObligations,includingreasonab
leattorneys’ fees and expenses.

“SecurityAgreement”hasthemeaningprovidedintheintroductoryparagraphhereof,asam
ended and m od if i ed.

“Trademarklicense”meansanywrittenagreementprovidingforthegrantbyortoa
GrantorofanyrighttouseanyTrademark.

“Trademarks”means(a)alltrademarks,tradenames,corporatenames,companynames,
businessnames,fictitiousbusinessnames,tradestyles,servicemarks,logosandothersourceor
businessidentifiers,andthegoodwillassociatedtherewith,nowexistingorhereafteradoptedor
acquired,allregistrationsandrecordingsthereof,andallapplicationsinconnectiontherewit
h,whetherintheUnitedStatesPatentandTrademarkOfficeorinanysimilarofficeoragencyoft
heUnitedStatesoranystatethereofand(b)allrenewalstherecof.

“UCC”’meanstheUniformCommercialCodeasineffectinthestateofNew Y orkfromtimeto
time.



“Work”meansanyworkthatissubjecttocopyrightprotectionpursuanttoTitlel70fth
e
UnitedStatesCode.

2.GrantofSecuritylnterestintheCollateral. Tosecurethepromptpaymentandp er
formanceinfullwhendue,whetherbylapseoftime,acceleration,mandatoryprepaymentorotherwise,oft
heSecuredObligations,eachGrantorherebygrantstotheCollateralAgent,forthebenefitofthehold
ersoftheSecuredObligations,acontinuingsecurityinterestinandarighttosetoffagainst,anyandal
Iright,titleandinterestofsuchGrantorinandtoallofthefollowing,whethernowownedorexistingorow
ned,acquired,orarisinghereafter(collectively,the“Collateral”):

(a)allAccounts;

(b)allcas

handcurrency;(c)

allChattelPaper;
(d)thoseCommercialTortClaimsidentifiedonSchedule2(d)attac
hedhereto;

(e)allCopyrights;

(f)allCopyr

ightLicenses;(g)
allDepositAccounts;(h)
allDocuments;

(i)a

NEquipment;(j)
allFixtures;

(k)allGene
rallntangibles; (1)
alllnstruments;
(m)alllnventory;

(n)alllnvestmentProperty;

(o)allLetter-
of-CreditRights;(p)
allPatents;

(q)allP

atentLicenses;(r)
allSoftware;
(s)allSupporti
ngObligations;(t)
allTrademarks;
(u)allTrademarkLicenses;



(v)allotherpersonalpropertyofsuchGrantorofwhatevertypeor
description;and

(w)totheextentnototherwiseincluded,allAccessionsandallPro
ceedsofanyandalloftheforegoing.

Notwithstandinganythingtothecontrarycontainedherein,thesecurityinterestsgrantedun

derthis
SecurityAgreementshallnotextendto,andthe“Collateral”shallnotinclude,anyExcludedProper
ty.

TheGrantorsandtheCollateralAgent,onbehalfoftheholdersoftheSecuredObligations,
herebyacknowledgeandagreethatthesecurityinterestcreatedherebyintheCollateral(i)constitut
escontinuingcollateralsecurityforalloftheSecuredObligations,whethernowexistingorhereaf
terarisingand(ii)isnottobeconstruedasanassignmentofanyCopyrights,CopyrightLicenses,Pat
ents,PatentLicenses, TrademarksorTrademarkLicenses.

3.ProvisionsRelatingtoAccounts.

(a)Anythinghereintothecontrarynotwithstanding,eachoftheGra
ntorsshallremainliableundereachoftheAccountstoobserveandperformalltheconditions
andobligationstobeobservedandperformedbyitthereunder,allinaccordancewiththeterms
ofanyagreementgivingrisetoeachsuchAccount.NeithertheCollateralAgentnoranyholder
oftheSecuredObligationsshallhaveanyobligationorliabilityunderanyAccount(oranyagree
mentgivingrissthereto)byreasonoforarisingoutofthisSecurityAgreementorthereceiptbyth
eCollateralAgentoranyholderoftheSecuredObligationsofanypaymentrelatingtosuchAcc
ountpursuanthereto,norshalltheCollateralAgentoranyholderoftheSecuredObligationsb
eobligatedinanymannertoperformanyoftheobligationsofaGrantorunderorpursuanttoany
Account(oranyagreementgivingrisethereto),tomakeanypayment,tomakeanyinquiryastot
henatureorthesufficiencyofany
paymentreceivedbyitorastothesufficiencyofanyperformancebyanypartyunderanyAccount(
oranyagreementgivingrisethereto),topresentorfileanyclaim,totakeanyactiontoenforcea
nyperformanceortocollectthepaymentofanyamountsthatmayhavebeenassignedtoitortow
hichitmaybeentitledatanytimeortimes.

(b)Atanytimeaftertheoccurrenceandduringthecontinuationofan
EventofDefault,(i)theCollateral Agentshallhavetheright,butnottheobligation,tomakete
stverificationsoftheAccountsinanymannerandthroughanymediumthatitreasonablyconsid
ersadvisable,andtheGrantorsshallfurnishallsuchassistanceandinformationastheCollater
alAgentmayreasonablyrequireinconnectionwithsuchtestverifications,(ii)upontheCollatera
lAgent’srequestandattheexpenseoftheGrantors,theGrantorsshallfurnishtotheCollateralA
gentreportsshowingreconciliations,agingandtestverificationsof,andtrialbalancesfor,the
Accounts,and(iii)theCollateralAgentinitsownnameorinthenameofothersmaycommunicate
withaccountdebtorsontheAccountstoverifywiththemtotheCollateralAgent’ ssatisfactionthe
existence,amountandtermsofanyAccounts.

4, RepresentationsandWarranties.EachGrantorherebyrepresentsandwarrantst
othe
CollateralAgent,forthebenefitoftheholdersoftheSecuredObligations,that:

(a)LegalName:ChiefExecutiveOffice.Asofthedatehercof:

(i)EachGrantor’sexactlegalname,stateofincorpo
rationorformationandchiefexecutiveofficeare(andforthepriorfourmonthshas
been)assetforthinSchedule
6.20(a)(i)andSchedule6.20(b)totheCreditAgreement.



(i1) OtherthanassetforthonSchedule6.20(b)oftheCreditAgreement,
noGrantorhasbeenpartytoamerger,consolidationorotherchangeinstructurein
thepriorfourmonths.

(b)Ownership.EachGrantoristhelegalandbeneficialownerofthe
Collateralthatitispledgingandhastherighttopledge,sell,assignortransferthesame.

(c)Securitylnterest/Priority.ThisSecurityAgreementcreatesa
validsecurityinterestinfavoroftheCollateralAgent,forthebenefitoftheholdersoftheSec
uredObligations,intheCollateralofsuchGrantorand,whenproperlyperfectedbyfiling,shall
constituteavalidperfectedsecurityinterestinsuchCollateral,totheextentsuchsecurityinte
restcanbeperfectedbyfilingundertheUCC,freeandclearofallLiensexceptforPermittedLie
ns.

(d)Accounts.(i)EachAccountofsuchGrantorandthepapersanddoc
umentsrelatingtheretoaregenuineandinallmaterialrespectswhattheypurporttobeand(ii)e
achAccountofsuchGrantorarisesoutof(A)abonafidesaleofGoodssoldanddeliveredbysuchGr
antor(ortobesoldanddelivered)or(B)servicestheretoforeactuallyrenderedbysuchGrantor
(ortobeactuallyrendered)to,theaccountdebtornamedtherein.

(e)Copyrights.PatentsandTrademarks.

(i)Schedule6.170ftheCreditAgreementincludesall
materialCopyrights,CopyrightLicenses,Patents,PatentLicenses,Trademarksan
dTrademarkLicensesownedbyanyGrantorinitsownname,ortowhichanyGrantor
isaparty,asofthedatehereof.

(iij)Allregistrationsorletterspertainingmaterial Cop
yrights,PatentsandTrademarkshavebeendulyandproperlyfiled,andtoeachGran
tor’sknowledge,eachmaterialCopyright,PatentandTrademarkofsuchGrantoris
valid,subsisting,unexpired,enforceableandhasnotbeenabandoned.

(ii)ExceptassetforthinSchedule6.170ftheCreditA
greement,noneofsuchmaterial Copyrights,PatentsandTrademarksisthesubjectof
anylicensingagreementorsimilararrangementasofthedatehereof.

(iv)Exceptascouldnotreasonablybeexpectedtohav
eaMaterial AdverseEffect,toeachGrantor’sknowledge,noholding,decisionorjudg
menthasbeenrenderedbyanyGovemmentalAuthoritythatwouldlimit,cancelorquesti
onthevalidityofsuchCopyright,PatentorTrademark.

(v) Noactionorproceedingispendingseekingtolimit,cancelorquestionth
evalidityofanyCopyright,PatentorTrademarkthatcouldreasonablybeexpectedto
haveaMaterial AdverseE ffect.

5.Covenants.EachGrantorcovenantsthat,solongasanyoftheSecuredObligationsr

emainsoutstandinganduntilallofthecommitmentsrelatingtheretohavebeenterminated,suchGrantor
shall:

(a)OtherLiens:DispositionofCollateral. DefendtheCollateralag
ainsttheclaimsanddemandsofallotherpartiesclaiminganinteresttherein, keeptheCollateral
freefromallLiens,exceptforPermittedLiens,andnotsell,exchange, transfer,assign,leaseorot
herwisedisposeoftheCollateraloranyinteresttherein;provided,however.thateachGrantor
shallbepermittedtoeffect

thedispositionsdescribedinclauses(i)through(ix)ofthedefinitionofDispositionunderth
eCredit
AgreementandtootherwisedisposeofpropertyaspermittedundertheCreditAgreement.




(b)PerfectionofSecuritylnterest. ExecuteanddelivertotheCollateral
Agentsuchagreements,assignmentsorinstruments(includingaffidavits,notices,reaffirmati
onsandamendmentsandrestatementsofexistingdocuments,astheCollateralAgentmayreasona
blyrequest)anddoallsuchotherthingsastheCollateralAgentmayreasonablydeemnecessary,
appropriateorconvenient(i)toassuretotheCollateralAgenttheceffectivenessandpriorityofitsse
curityinterestshereunder,including(A)filingorauthorizingtheCollateralAgenttofilesuchfi
nancingstatements(includingrenewalstatements),amendmentsandsupplementsorsuchotherin
strumentsastheCollateralAgentmayfromtimetotimereasonablyrequestinordertoperfectand
maintainthesecurityinterestsgrantedhereunderinaccordancewiththeUCC,(B)withregardto
materialCopyrights,executinganddeliveringaNoticeofGrantofSecuritylnterestinCopyrigh
tsforfilingwiththeUnitedStatesCopyrightOfficeintheformofExhibitS5(b)-lattachedhereto
,(C)with
regardtomaterialPatents,executinganddeliveringaNoticcofGrantofSecuritylnterestinPate
ntsforfilingwiththeUnitedStatesPatentandTrademarkOfficeintheformofExhibit5(b)-2atta
ched
heretoand(D)withregardtomaterialTrademarks,executinganddeliveringaNoticeofGrantof
SecuritylInterestinTrademarksforfilingwiththeUnitedStatesPatentandTrademarkOfficei
ntheformofExhibitS5(b)-3attachedhereto,(ii)toconsummatethetransactionscontemplatedh
erebyand
(iii))tootherwiseprotectandassuretheCollateral Agentofitsrightsandinterestshereunder.Toth
at
end,eachGrantorauthorizestheCollateralAgenttofileoneormorefinancingstatements(whic
hmaydescribethecollateralas“allassets”or“allpersonalproperty”)disclosingtheCollateral
Agent’ssecurityinterestinanyoralloftheCollateralofsuchGrantorwithoutsuchGrantor’s
signaturetherecon,andfurthereachGrantoralsoherebyirrevocablymakes,constitutesandappoi
ntstheCollateralAgent,itsnominecoranyotherPersonwhomtheCollateralAgentmaydesignate
,assuchGrantor’sattorney-in-factwithfullpowerandforthelimitedpurposetosigninthename
ofsuchGrantoranysuchfinancingstatements(includingrenewalstatements),amendmentsandsu
pplements,noticesoranysimilardocumentsthatintheCollateralAgent’sreasonablediscretionw
ouldbenecessary,appropriateorconvenientinordertoperfectandmaintainperfectionofthe
securityinterestsgrantedhereunder,suchpower,beingcoupledwithaninterest,beingandremain
ingirrevocablesolongastheSecuredObligationsremainunpaidanduntilthecommitmentsrelati
ng
theretoshallhavebeenterminated.IntheeventforanyreasontheLawofanyU.S.jurisdictionot
herthantheStateofNewYorkbecomesorisapplicabletotheCollateralofanyGrantororanypart
thereof,ortoanyoftheSecuredObligations,suchGrantoragreestoexecuteanddeliverallsuch
instrumentsandtodoallsuchotherthingsastheCollateralAgentinitssolediscretionreasonab
lydeemsnecessary,appropriateorconvenienttopreserve,protectandenforcethesecurityinte
restsof
theCollateralAgentundertheLawofsuchotherU.S.jurisdiction(and,ifaGrantorshallfailtod
0
sopromptlyupontherequestoftheCollateralAgent,thentheCollatecralAgentmayexecuteanyand
allsuchrequesteddocumentsonbehalfofsuchGrantorpursuanttothepowerofattorneygranted
hereinabove).

(c)TreatmentofAccounts. Notgrantorextendthetimeforpaymentofany A
ccount,orcompromiseorsettlieanyAccountforlessthanthefullamountthereof,orreleaseanyPer
sonorproperty,inwholeorinpart,frompaymentthereof,orallowanycreditordiscountthereon,
otherthanintheordinarycourseofaGrantor’sbusinessorasrequiredbyLaw.

(d)CovenantsRelatingtoCopyrights.Notknowinglydoanyactoromitt
odoanyactwherebyanymaterialCopyrightmayreasonablybeexpectedtobecomeinvalidatedand (i
JnotknowinglydoanyactoromittodoanyactwherebyanymaterialCopyrightmaybecomepartofthe
publicdomain(otherthanpursuanttothenaturaltermthereof);(ii)promptlynotifytheCollater
alAgentifitknowsthatanymaterialCopyrightmaybecomepartofthepublicdomainorofanymater
iallyadversedeterminationordevelopment(includingtheinstitutionof,oranysuchdeterminati
onordevelopmentinanycourtortribunalintheUnitedStates)regardingaGrantor’sownershipof
anysuchCopyrightoritsvalidity;(iii)takesuchactionsasitshalldeemappropriate




underthecircumstances,tomaintainandpursueeachapplication(andtoobtaintherelevantreg
istration)andtomaintaineachregistrationofeachmaterialCopyrightownedbyaGrantorinclu
dingfilingofapplicationsforrenewalwherenecessary;and(iv)promptlynotifytheCollateral
AgentofanymaterialinfringementofanymaterialCopyrightofaGrantorofwhichitbecomesaw
areandtakesuchactionsasitshallreasonablydeemappropriateunderthecircumstancestopro
tectsuchCopyright,including,whereappropriate,thebringingofsuitforinfringement,see
kinginjunctivereliefandseekingtorecoveranyandalldamagesforsuchinfringement.

(e)CovenantsRelatingtoPatentsandTrademarks.

(i)Totheextentreasonableunderthecircumstances,Grant
orshall(A)continuetouseceachmaterialTrademarkoneachandeverytrademarkclassofGo
odsapplicabletoitscurrentlineasreflectedinitscurrentcatalogs,brochuresandpricelists
inordertomaintainsuchTrademarkinfullforcefreefromanyclaimofabandonmentfornon
-use,(B)maintainasinthepastthequalityofproductsandservicesofferedundersuchTr
ademark,(C)employsuchTrademarkwiththeappropriatenoticeofregistration,(D)not
adoptoruseanymarkthatisconfusinglysimilaroracolorableimitationofsuchTrademark
unlesstheCollateralAgent,fortheratablebenefitoftheholdersoftheSecuredObligati
ons,shallobtainaperfectedsecurityinterestinsuchmarkpursuanttothisSecurityAgre
ement,and(E)not(andnotpermitanylicenseeorsublicenseethereofto)knowinglydoan
yactoromittodoanyactwherebyanymaterialTrademarkmaybecomeinvalidated.

(ii) Totheextentreasonableunderthecircumstances,Grantorshallnotdoanya
ct,oromittodoanyact,wherebyanymaterial Patentmaybecomeabandonedordedicatedtot
hepublic.

(ii)PromptlynotifytheCollateralAgentifitknowsthatanyap
plicationorregistrationrelatingtoanymaterialPatentorTrademarkmaybecomeabandon
edordedicatedtothepublic(otherthanpursuanttothenaturaltermsthereof),orofanym
ateriallyadversedeterminationordevelopment(includingtheinstitutionof,oranysuc
h
determinationordevelopmentin,anyproceedingintheUnitedStatesPatentand Trademark
Officeotherthanroutineprosecutionmatters)regardingaGrantor’sownershipof
anymaterialPatentorTrademarkoritsrighttoregisterthesameortokeepandmaint
ainthesame.

(iv)Takesuchactionsasitshallreasonablydeemappropria
tteunderthecircumstances,includinginanyproceedingbeforetheUnitedStatesPatent
andTrademarkOffice,tomaintainandpursuecachapplication(andtoobtainthereleva
ntregistration)andtomaintaineachregistrationofthematerialPatentsandTrademarks
,includingfilingofapplicationsforrenewal,affidavitsofuseandaffidavitsofincontestab
ility.

(v)PromptlynotifytheCollateralAgentafteritlearnsthata
nymaterialPatentorTrademarkincludedintheCollateralismateriallyinfringed, misapp
ropriatedordilutedbyathirdpartyandtakesuchactionsasitshallreasonablydeemappro
priateunderthecircumstancestosueforinfringement,misappropriationordilution,tos
eekinjunctivereliefwhereappropriateandtorecoveranyandalldamagesforsuchinfringe
ment,misappropriationordilution,ortootherwiseprotectsuchPatentorTrademark.

(f)CommercialTortClaims.

(i)ConcurrentlywithfinancialstatementsunderSection7.01
(a)oftheCredit
Agreement,notifytheCollateralAgentinwritingoftheinitiationofanyCommercial Tort



Claiminexcessof$5,000,000beforeanyGovemmentalAuthoritybyorinfavorofsu
ch
Grantor.

(ii)Executeanddeliversuchstatements,documen
tsandnoticesanddoandcausetobedoneallsuchthingsastheCollateralAgentmay
reasonablydeemnecessary,appropriateorconvenient,orasarerequiredbylLaw,
tocreate,perfectandmaintaintheCollateralAgent’ssecurityinterestinanyComm er
cialTortClaim.

6.AdvancesbyHoldersoftheSecuredObligations.OnfailureofanyGrantortoper
formanyofthecovenantsandagreementscontainedherein,theCollateralAgentmay,atitssoleoptio
nandinitssolediscretion,performthesameandinsodoingmayexpendsuchsumsastheCollateralAg
entmayreasonablydeemadvisableintheperformancethereof,includingthepaymentofanyinsurancep
remiums,thepaymentofanytaxes,apaymenttoobtainareleascofalienorpotentiallLien,expenditures
madeindefendingagainstanyadverseclaimandallotherexpendituresthattheCollateralAgentmaym
akefortheprotectionofthesecurityhercoformaybecompelledtomakebyoperationofLaw.Allsuchs
umsandamountssoexpendedshallberepayablebytheGrantorsonajointandseveralbasispromptlyupon
timelynoticethereofanddemandtherefor,shallconstituteadditionalSecuredObligationsandshall,
subjecttoSection2.080ftheCreditAgreement,bearinterestfromthedatesaidamountsareexpendeda
ttheratethenapplicabletoRevolvingLoansthatareBaseRateLoans.Nosuchperformanceofanycove
nantoragreementbytheCollateralAgentonbehalfofanyGrantor,andnosuchadvanceorexpendituret
herefor,shallrelievetheGrantorsofanydefaultunderthetermsofthisSecurityAgreement,theother
LoanDocumentsoranyotherdocumentsrelatingtotheSecuredObligations.TheCollateralAgentmay
makeanypaymentherebyauthorizedinaccordancewithanybill,statementorestimateprocuredfromthe
appropriatepublicofficeorholderoftheclaimtobedischargedwithoutinquiryintotheaccuracyofsu
chbill,statementorestimateorintothevalidityofanytaxassessment,sale forfeiture,taxlien,titleor
claimexcepttotheextentsuch
paymentisbeingcontestedingoodfaithbyaGrantorinappropriateproceedingsandagainstwhichadeq
uatereservesarebeingmaintainedinaccordancewithGAAP.

7.EventsofDefault. Theoccurrence of aneventthatwouldconstituteanEventofDefault
underthe Credit A gree mentshallbe an Event of D efaulthereunder (an “EventofDefault™).

8. Remedies.

(a)GeneralRemedies.UpontheoccurrenceofanEventofDefaulta
ndduringthecontinuationthereof,theCollateralAgentandtheholdersoftheSecuredObligati
onsshallhave,inadditiontotherightsandremediesprovidedherein,intheLoanDocuments,i
nanyotherdocumentsrelatingtotheSecuredObligations,orbyLaw(includinglevyofattachme
ntandgarnishment),therightsandremediesofasecuredpartyunderthe UCCofthejurisdiction
applicabletotheaffectedCollateraland,further,theCollateralAgentmay,withorwithoutju
dicialprocessortheaidandassistanceofothers,(i)enteronanypremisesonwhichanyoftheCol
lateralmaybelocatedand,withoutresistanceorinterferencebytheGrantors,takepossession
oftheCollateral,(ii)disposeofanyCollateralonanysuchpremises,(iii)requiretheGrantorst
oassembleandmakeavailabletotheCollateralAgentattheexpenseoftheGrantorsanyColla
teralatanyplaceandtimedesignatedbytheCollateralAgentthatisreasonablyconvenienttob
othparties,(iv)removeanyCollateralfromanysuchpremisesforthepurposeofeffectingsaleoro
therdispositiontherecof,and/or(v)withoutdemandandwithoutadvertissment,notice , hearing
orprocessoflLaw,allofwhicheachoftheGrantorsherebywaivestothefullestextentpermitt
edbyLaw,atanyplaceandtimeortimes,sell
anddeliveranyorallCollateralheldbyorforitatpublicorprivatesale,byoneormorecontracts,i
noncormoreparcels,forcashuponcreditorotherwise,atsuchpricesanduponsuchtermsasthe
CollateralAgentdeemsadvisable,initssolediscretion(subjecttoanyandallmandatorylegal
requirements). EachoftheGrantorsacknowledgesthatanyprivatesalereferencedabovemay
beatpricesandontermslessfavorabletothesellerthanthepricesandtermsthatmighthavebe
en




obtainedatapublicsaleandwaivesanyclaimsagainsttheCollateralAgentarisingbyreasonthatany
suchprivatesaleshallnothavebeenmadeinacommerciallyreasonablemanner. TheCollateralAgen
t’sdisclaimerofwarrantiesrelatingtotheCollateralshallnotbeconsideredtoadverselyaffectt
hecommercialreasonablenessofanysale.InadditiontoallothersumsduetheCollateralAgent
andtheholdersoftheSecuredObligationswithrespecttotheSecuredObligations,theGrantor
sshallpaytheCollateralAgentandeachoftheholdersoftheSecuredObligationsallreasonabl
edocumentedcostsandexpensesincurredbytheCollateralAgentoranysuchholderoftheSecu
redObligations(includingreasonableattorneys’feesandexpensesandcourtcosts)inobtaining
orliquidatingtheCollateral,inenforcingpaymentoftheSecuredObligations,orintheprosec
utionordefenseofanyactionorproceedingbyoragainsttheCollateralAgentortheholdersoft
heSecuredObligationsortheGrantorsconcerninganymatterarisingoutoforconnectedwithth
isSecurityAgreement,anyCollateralortheSecuredObligations,includinganyoftheforegoi
ngarisingin,arisingunderorrelatedtoacaseunderDebtorReliefLaws.Totheextenttherights
ofnoticecannotbelegallywaivedhereunder,eachGrantoragreesthatanyrequirementofreas
onable
noticeshallbemetifsuchnoticeispersonallyservedonormailed,postageprepaid,totheBorrower
inaccordancewiththenoticeprovisionsofSectionll .020ftheCreditAgreementatleastten(10)
BusinessDaysbeforethetimeofsaleorothereventgivingrisetotherequirementofsuchnotice. T
heCollateralAgentandtheholdersoftheSecuredObligationsshallnotbeobligatedtomakeanys
aleorotherdispositionoftheCollateralregardlessofnoticchavingbeengiven Totheextentperm
ittedbyLaw,anyholderoftheSecuredObligationsmaybeapurchaseratanysuchsale.Totheextentp
ermittedbyapplicableLaw,eachoftheGrantorsherebywaivesallofitsrightsof
redemptionwithrespecttoanysuchsale.SubjecttotheprovisionsofapplicableLaw,theCollateral
AgentandtheholdersoftheSecuredObligationsmaypostponeorcausethepostponementofthesa
leofalloranyportionoftheCollateralbyannouncementatthetimeandplaceofsuchsale,andsuchsal
emay,withoutfurthernotice,totheextentpermittedbyLaw,bemadeatthetimeandplacetowhicht
hesalewaspostponed,ortheCollateral AgentandtheholdersoftheSecuredObligationsmayfurther
postponesuchsalebyannouncementmadeatsuchtimeandplace.

(b)RemediesrelatingtoAccounts.UpontheoccurrenceofanEventofD
efaultandduringthecontinuationthereof,whetherornottheCollateralAgenthasexercisedany
orallofitsrightsandremedieshereunder,eachGrantorwillpromptlyuponrequestoftheCol
lateral AgentinstructallaccountdebtorstoremitallpaymentsinrespectofAccountstoamail
inglocation
selectedbytheCollateral Agent.Inaddition,theCollateralAgentshallhavetherighttoenforceany
Grantor’srightsagainstitscustomersandaccountdebtors,andtheCollateralAgentoritsd
esigneemaynotifyanyGrantorscustomersandaccountdebtorsthattheAccountsofsuchGr
antorhave
beenassignedtotheCollateralAgentoroftheCollateralAgent’ssecurityinteresttherein,andmay
(eitherinitsownnameorinthenameofaGrantororboth)demand,collect(includingbywayofalock
boxarrangement) receive,takereceiptfor,sell,suefor,compound,settle,compromiseandgiveacq
uittanceforanyandallamountsdueortobecomedueonanyAccount,and,intheCollateralAgent’sd
iscretion,fileanyclaimortakeanyotheractionorproceedingtoprotectandrealizeuponthesecur
ityinterestoftheholdersoftheSecuredObligationsintheAccounts.EachGrantoracknowledges
andagreesthattheProceedsofitsAccountsremittedtooronbehalfoftheCollateralAgentinaccorda
ncewiththeprovisionshereofshallbesolelyfortheCollateralAgent’sownconvenienceandthats
uchGrantorshallnothaveanyright,titleorinterestinsuchAccountsorin
anysuchotheramountsexceptasexpresslyprovidedherein.TheCollateralAgentandtheholders
oftheSecuredObligationsshallhavenoliabilityorresponsibilitytoanyGrantorforacceptance
ofa
check,draftorotherorderforpaymentofmoneybearingthelegend“paymentinfull”’orwordsofs
imilarimportoranyotherrestrictivelegendorendorsementorberesponsiblefordeterminingthe
correctnessofanyremittance. EachGrantorherebyagreestoindemnifytheCollateralAgentandtheh
oldersoftheSecuredObligationsfromandagainstallliabilities,damages,losses,actions,claims,]j
udgments,costs,expensesandcharges,includingreasonableattorneys’ fees and expenses,suffered
orincurredbytheCollateralAgentortheholdersoftheSecuredObligations(each,an“Indemnified



Party”)becauseofthemaintenanceoftheforegoingarrangementsexceptasrelatingtooraris
ingoutofthegrossnegligenceorwillfulmisconductofanIndemnifiedPartyoritsofficers,
employeesoragents.Inthecaseofanyinvestigation,litigationorotherproceeding,thefo
regoingindemnityshallbeeffectivewhetherornotsuchinvestigation,litigationorproceedi
ngisbroughtbyaGrantor,itsdirectors,shareholdersorcreditorsoranlindemnifiedPartyor
anyotherPersonoranyotherIndemnifiedPartyisotherwiseapartythereto.Allamountsdue
underthissubsectionshallbepayablewithinten(l0)BusinessDaysafterdemandtherefor.

(c)Access.Inadditiontotherightsandremedieshereunder,upont

heoccurrenceofan
EventofDefaultandduringthecontinuationthereof,theCollateralAgentshallhavetherigh
ttoenterandremainuponthevariouspremisesoftheGrantorswithoutcostorchargetotheC
ollateralAgent,andusethesame,togetherwithmaterials,supplies,booksandrecordsofthe
GrantorsforthepurposeofcollectingandliquidatingtheCollateral,orforpreparingforsal
eandconductingthesaleoftheCollateral,whetherbyforeclosure,auctionorotherwise.Ina
ddition,theCollateralAgentmayremoveCollateral,oranypartthereof,fromsuchpremisesa
nd/oranyrecordswithrespectthereto,inordertoeffectivelycollectorliquidatesuchCollate
ral.

(d)NonexclusiveNatureofRemedies.FailurebytheCollateral Age
ntortheholdersoftheSecuredObligationstoexerciseanyright,remedyoroptionunderthisSe
curityAgreement,anyotherLoanDocument,anyotherdocumentsrelatingtotheSecuredOblig
ations,orasprovidedbyLaw,oranydelaybytheCollateral AgentortheholdersoftheSecuredOb
ligationsinexercisingthesame,shallnotoperateasawaiverofanysuchright,remedyoroption.
Nowaiverhereundershall
beeffectiveunlessitisinwriting,signedbythepartyagainstwhomsuchwaiverissoughttobe
enforcedandthenonlytotheextentspecificallystated,whichinthecaseoftheCollateralAg
entor
theholdersoftheSecuredObligationsshallonlybegrantedasprovidedherein.Totheexten
tpermittedbyLaw,neithertheCollateralAgent,theholdersoftheSecuredObligations,no
ranyparty
actingasattorneyfortheCollateral AgentortheholdersoftheSecuredObligations,shallbelia
blehereunderforanyactsoromissionsorforanyerrorofjudgmentormistakeoffactorLawothert
hantheirgrossnegligenceorwillfulmisconducthereunder. TherightsandremediesoftheCol
lateral
AgentsandtheholdersoftheSecuredObligationsunderthisSecurityAgreementshallbecu
mulativeandnotexclusiveofanyotherrightorremedythattheCollateralAgentorthehold
ersof
theSecuredObligationsmayhave.

(e)RetentionofCollateral . Totheextentpermittedunderapplicabl
eLaw,inadditiontotherightsandremedieshereunder,upontheoccurrenceandcontinuanceo
fanEventofDefault,theCollateralAgentmay,afterprovidingthenoticesrequiredbySectio
ns9-620and9-621oftheUCCorotherwisecomplyingwiththerequirementsofapplicableL aw
oftherelevantjurisdictionacceptorretainalloranyportionoftheCollateralinsatisfactionof
theSecuredObligations.UnlessanduntiltheCollateralAgentshallhaveprovidedsuchnotices,
however,theCollateralAgentshallnotbedeemedtohaveacceptedorretainedanyCollaterali
nsatisfactionofanySecuredObligationsforanyreason.

(f)Deficiency.Intheeventthattheproceedsofanysale,collecti
onorrealizationareinsufficienttopayallamountstowhichtheCollateralAgentortheholders
oftheSecuredObligationsarelegallyentitled,theGrantorsshallbejointlyandseverallylia
bleforthedeficiency(subjecttoSection25hereof),togetherwithinterestthereonattheDef
aultRate,togetherwiththecostsofcollectionandreasonableattorneys’ feesandexpenses. Anysurpl
usremainingafterthefullpaymentandsatisfactionoftheSecuredObligationsshallbereturn
edtotheGrantorsortowhomsoeveracourtofcompetentjurisdictionshalldeterminetobeen
titledthereto.

9.ReleaseofCollateral. Uponrequest,theCollateralAgentshallpromptlydeliv
ertotheapplicableGrantor(atsuchGrantor’sexpense)appropriatereleasedocumentationtotheext
entthereleaseof

10



Collateralispermittedunder,andonthetermsandconditionssetforthin,theCreditAgreement;pro
videdthatanysuchrelease,orthesubstitutionofanyoftheCollateralforotherCollateral,willnot
alter,varyordiminishinanywaytheforce,effect,lien,pledgeorsecurityinterestofthisSecurity
AgreementastoanyandallCollateralnotexpresslyreleasedorsubstituted,andthisSecurityAgreem
entshallcontinueasafirstprioritylien(subjecttoPermittedLiens)onanyandallCollateralnotexp
resslyreleasedorsubstituted.
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10.RightsoftheCollateralAgent.

(a)PowerofAttorney.Inadditiontootherpowersofattorneycontai

nedhereineachGrantorherebydesignatesandappointstheCollateralAgent,onbehalfofthe
holdersoftheSecuredObligations,andeachofitsdesigneesoragents,asattorney-in-factofsu
chGrantor,irrevocablyandwithpowerofsubstitution,withauthoritytotakeanyorallofthef
ollowingactionsupontheoccurrenceandduringthecontinuationofanEventofDefault:

(i)todemand,collect,settle,compromisean
dadjust,andgivedischargesandreleasesconcerningtheCollateral,allast
heCollateralAgentmayreasonablydeemappropriate;

(iij)tocommenceandprosecuteanyactionsatan
ycourtforthepurposesofcollectinganyoftheCollateralandenforcinganyot
herrightinrespectthereof;

(iii)todefend,settleorcompromiseanyactio
nbroughtand,inconnectiontherewith,givesuchdischargeorreleaseasthe
CollateralAgentmayreasonablydeemappropriate;

(iv)toreceive,openanddisposeofmailaddres
sedtoaGrantorandendorsechecks,notes,drafts,acceptances,moneyorders,b
illsoflading,warehousereceiptsorotherinstrumentsordocumentsevidencin
gpayment,shipmentorstorageoftheGoodsgivingrisetotheCollateralonbeh
alfofandinthenameofsuchGrantor,orsecuring,orrelatingtosuchCollateral;

(v)topayordischargetaxes,liens,secu
rityinterestsorotherencumbrancesleviedorplacedonorthreatened
againsttheCollateral;

(vi)todirectanypartiesliableforanypaymenti
nconnectionwithanyoftheCollateraltomakepaymentofanyandallmoniesdue
andtobecomeduethereunderdirectlytotheCollateral AgentorastheCollateral
Agentshalldirect;

(vii)toreceivepaymentofandreceiptforanyan
dallmonies,claims,andotheramountsdueandtobecomeducatanytimeinresp
ectoforarisingoutofanyCollateral;

(viii)tosell,assign,transfer,makeanyagree
mentinrespectof,orotherwisedealwithorexerciserightsinrespectof,any
CollateralortheGoodsorservicesthathavegivenrisethereto,asfullyand
completelyasthoughtheCollateralAgentweretheabsoluteownerthereoff
orallpurposes;

(ix)toadjustandsettleclaimsunderanyinsurancepolicyrelating
thereto;
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(x)toexecuteanddeliverallassignments,conveya
nces,statements,financingstatements,renewalfinancingstatements,security
andpledgeagreements,affidavits,noticesandotheragreements,instruments
anddocumentsthattheCollateralAgentmayreasonablydeemappropriateinord
ertoperfectandmaintainthesecurityinterestsandliensgrantedinthisSecurity
Agreementandinordertofullyconsummateallofthetransactionscontemplate
dtherein;

(xi)toinstituteanyforeclosureproceedingsthat
theCollateral Agentmayreasonablydeemappropriate;and

(xii)todoandperformallsuchotheractsandthing
sastheCollateral Agentmayreasonablydeemappropriateorconvenientincon
nectionwiththeCollateral.

Thispowerofattorneyisapowercoupledwithaninterestandshallbeirrevocablefors
olongasanyoftheSecuredObligationsshallremainoutstandinganduntilallofthecommitment
srelatingtheretoshallhavebeenterminated.TheCollateralAgentshallbeundernodutytoexer
ciseorwithholdtheexerciseofanyoftherights,powers,privilegesandoptionsexpresslyorim
plicitlygrantedtotheCollateralAgentinthisSecurityAgreement,andshallnotbeliableforany
failureto
dosooranydelayindoingso. TheCollateralAgentshallnotbeliableforanyactoromissionorforany
errorofjudgmentoranymistakeoffactorLawinitsindividualcapacityoritscapacityasattorney-in
-factexceptactsoromissionsresultingfromitsgrossnegligenceorwillfulmisconduct.Thispow
erofattorneyisconferredontheCollateralAgentsolelytoprotect,preserveandrealizeuponitsse
curityinterestintheCollateral.

(b)PerformancebytheCollateralAgentofObligations.IfanyGrantorfail
stoperformanyagreementorobligationcontainedherein,theCollateralAgentitselfmayperform,or
causeperformanceof,suchagreementorobligation,andtheexpensesoftheCollateralAgentincu
rredinconnectiontherewithshallbepayablebytheGrantorsonajointandseveralbasis(subjectto
Section
25hereof).

(c)AssignmentbytheCollateralAgent.TheCollateral A gentmay assign the
SecuredObligationsandanyportionthereofand/orthePledgedCollateral andany portionthereoftoasuc
cessorcollateralagentappointedpursuanttoSection 10.06 ofthe CreditA greement,andtheassigneesha
llbeentitledtoalloftherightsandremediesoftheCollateral AgentunderthisPledge A greementinrel
ationther eto.

(d)TheCollateralAgent’sDutyofCare.Otherthantheexerciseofreasona
blecaretoassurethesafecustodyoftheCollateralwhilebeingheldbytheCollateralAgenthereunde
r,theCollateralAgentshallhavenodutyorliabilitytopreserverightspertainingthereto,itbeing
understoodandagreedthattheGrantorsshallberesponsibleforpreservationofallrightsintheCo
llateral,andtheCollateral AgentshallberelievedofallresponsibilityfortheCollateraluponsurr
enderingitortenderingthesurrenderofittotheGrantors.TheCollateralAgentshallbedeemedtoha
veexercisedreasonablecareinthecustodyandpreservationoftheCollateralinitspossessionifsuch
CollateralisaccordedtreatmentsubstantiallyequaltothatwhichtheCollateralAgentaccords
itsownproperty,whichshallbenolessthanthetreatmentemployedbyareasonableandpruden
tagentintheindustry,itbeingunderstoodthattheCollateralAgentshallnothaveresponsibility
for
takinganynecessarystepstopreserverightsagainstanypartieswithrespecttoanyoftheCollateral.
IntheeventofapublicorprivatesaleofCollateralpursuanttoSection8hereof,theCollateralAge
ntshallhavenoobligationtoclean,repairorotherwisepreparetheCollateralforsale.




11.RightsofRequiredlLenders.AllrightsoftheCollateralAgenthereunder,ifno
texercisedbytheCollateralAgent,maybeexercisedbytheRequiredLenders.

12.ApplicationofProceeds.Upontheoccurrenceandduringthecontinuationofa
nEventofDefault,anypaymentsinrespectoftheSecuredObligationsandanyproceedsoftheCollater
al,whenreceivedbytheCollateralAgentoranyoftheholdersoftheSecuredObligationsincashorits
equivalent,willbeappliedinreductionoftheSecuredObligationsinthecordersetforthinSection9.0
3oftheCreditAgreementasthoughtheword“Obligations”thereinweredeletedandreplacedwitht
hephrase“SecuredObligations,”andeachGrantorirrevocablywaivestherighttodirecttheappli
cationofsuchpaymentsand
proceedsandacknowledgesandagreesthattheCollateral Agentshallhavethecontinuingandexclusive
righttoapplyandreapplyanyandallsuchpaymentsandproceedsintheCollateralAgent’ssolediscreti
on,notwithstandinganyentrytothecontraryuponanyofitsbooksandrecords.

13.CostsofCounsel.Atalltimeshereafter, whetherornotupontheoccurrenceof
anEventofDefault,theGrantorsagreetopromptlypayupondemandanyandallreasonablecostsande
xpenses(includingreasonableattorneys’ feesandexpenses)oftheCollateralAgentandtheholdersoftheSe
curedObligations(a)asrequiredunderSectionl1.040ftheCreditAgreementand(b)asnecessaryto
protecttheCollateralortoexerciseanyrightsorremediesunderthisSecurityAgreementorwithresp
ecttoanyoftheCollateral.AlloftheforegoingcostsandexpensesshallconstituteSecuredObligatio
nshereunder.

14.ContinuingAgreement.

(a)ThisSecurityAgreementshallbeacontinuingagreementinev
eryrespectandshallremaininfullforceandeffectsolongasanyoftheSecuredObligationsre
mainsoutstanding(otherthancontingentindemnityobligationsthatarenotyetdueandpay
able)anduntilallofthecommitmentsrelatingtheretohavebeenterminated. Uponsuchpayment
andtermination,thisSecurityAgreementshallbeautomaticallyterminatedandtheCollater
alAgentshall,upontherequestandattheexpenseoftheGrantors,forthwithreleaseallofits
liensandsecurityinterestshereunderandshallexecuteanddeliverallUCCterminationstatem
entsand/orotherdocumentsreasonablyrequestedbytheGrantorsevidencingsuchterminati
on.Notwithstandingtheforegoing,allindemnitiesprovidedhereundershallsurvivetermin
ationofthisSecurityAgreement.

(b)ThisSecurityAgreementshallcontinuetobeeffectiveorbeauto
maticallyreinstated,asthecasemaybe,ifatanytimepayment,inwholeorinpart,ofanyoftheS
ecuredObligationsisrescindedormustotherwiseberestoredorreturnedbytheCollateralAg
entoranyholderoftheSecuredObligationsasapreference,fraudulentconveyanceorotherwi
scunderanybankruptcy,insolvencyorsimilarLaw,allasthoughsuchpaymenthadnotbeenmad
e;providedthatintheeventpaymentofalloranypartoftheSecuredObligationsisrescindedor
mustberestoredorreturned,allreasonablecostsandexpenses(includingreasonableattorneys’
fees and expenses) incurredbytheCollateralAgentoranyholderoftheSecuredObligationsindefen
dingandenforcingsuchreinstatementshallbedeemedtobeincludedasapartoftheSecuredOb
ligations.

15 AmendmentsandWaivers.ThisSecurityAgreementandtheprovisionshereof
maynotbeamended,waived, modified,changed,dischargedorterminatedexceptassetforthinSection
11.01oftheCreditAgreement;providedthatanyupdateorrevisiontoSchedule2(d)hereofshallno
tconstituteanamendmentforpurposesofthisSectionlSorSectionl1.0loftheCreditAgreement.

16.SuccessorsinInterest. ThisSecurityAgreementshallcreateacontinuingsec
urityinterestintheCollateralandshallbebindinguponeachGrantor,itssuccessorsandassigns,ands
hallinure,togetherwiththerightsandremediesoftheCollateralAgentandtheholdersoftheSecured
Obligationshereunder,tothebenefitoftheCollateralAgentandtheholdersoftheSecuredObligatio
nsandtheirsuccessorsandpermittedassigns;provided,however,thatnoneoftheGrantorsmayassig
nitsrightsordelegateitsduties
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hereunderwithoutthepriorwrittenconsentoftherequisiteLendersundertheCreditAgreeme
nt(orinatransactionpermittedbySection8.040ftheCreditAgreement).

17.Notices.AllnoticesrequiredorpermittedtobegivenunderthisSecurityAg
reementshallbegivenasprovidedinSectionl1.020oftheCreditAgreement.

18.Counterparts. ThisSecurityAgreementmaybeexecutedinanynumberofcou
nterparts,eachofwhichwhensoexecutedanddeliveredshallbeanoriginal,butallofwhichshallcon
stituteoneandthesameinstrument.ItshallnotbenecessaryinmakingproofofthisSecurityAgree
menttoproduceoraccountformorethanonesuchcounterpart.

19.Headings.Theheadingsofthesectionsandsubsectionshereofareprovidedfor
convenienceonlyandshallnotinanywayaffectthemeaningorconstructionofanyprovisionofthisSec
urityAgreement.

20.Governinglaw;Jurisdiction;WaiverofRighttoTrialbyJury:Etc.

(@THISSECURITYAGREEMENTANDTHEOTHERLOANDOCUMENTSANDANY
CLAIMS,CONTROVERSY,DISPUTEORCAUSEOFACTION(WHETHERINCONTRACTORTORTORO
THERWISE)BASEDUPON,ARISINGOUTOFORRELATINGTOTHISSECURITY AGREEMENT OR AN
YOTHERLOANDOCUMENT(EXCEPT,ASTOANYOTHERLOANDOCUMENT,ASEXPRESSLY SETFOR
THTHEREIN)ANDTHETRANSACTIONSCONTEMPLATEDHEREBYANDTHEREBYSHALLBEGO
VERNEDBY,ANDCONSTRUEDINACCORDANCEWITH, THELAWOFTHESTATEOFNEW YORK A PPL
ICABLETOAGREEMENTSMADEANDTOBEPERFORMEDENTIRELYWITHINSUCHSTATE;
PROVIDEDTHATTHECOLLATERALAGENTSHALLRETAINALLRIGHTSARISINGUNDERFEDE
RALLAW.

(b) EACHOFTHEPARTIESHERETOIRREVOCABLYANDUNCONDITIONALLY
AGREESTHATITWILLNOTCOMMENCEANYACTION,LITIGATIONORPROCEEDINGOFANYKINDO
RDESCRIPTION,WHETHERINLAWOREQUITY,WHETHERINCONTRACTORINTORTOROTHER
WISE,AGAINSTTHECOLLATERALAGENT,ORANYRELATEDPARTYOFTHEFOREGOINGINANY
WAYRELATINGTOTHISSECURITYAGREEMENTORANYOTHERLOANDOCUMENTORTHETRANS
ACTIONSRELATINGTHERETOORTHERETO,INANYFORUMOTHERTHANTHECOURTSOFTHE
STATEOFNEWYORKSITTINGINNEWYORKCOUNTYANDOFTHEUNITEDSTATESDISTRICT
COURTOFTHESOUTHERNDISTRICTOFNEW YORK,ANDANY APPELLATECOURTFROMANYTHER
EOF, ANDEACHOFTHEPARTIESHERETOIRREVOCABLY ANDUNCONDITIONALLYSUBMITSTOTH
EJURISDICTIONOFSUCHCOURTSANDAGREESTHATALLCLAIMSINRESPECTOFANYSUCHACT
ION,LITIGATIONORPROCEEDINGMAYBEHEARDANDDETERMINEDINSUCHNEWYORKSTAT
ECOURTOR, TOTHEFULLESTEXTENTPERMITTEDBYAPPLICABLELAW,INSUCHFEDERALCOUR
T. EACHOFTHEPARTIESHERETOAGREESTHATAFINALJUDGMENTINANYSUCHACTION,LITI
GATIONORPROCEEDINGSHALLBECONCLUSIVEANDMAYBEENFORCEDINOTHERJURISDICTI
ONSBYSUITONTHEJUDGMENTORINANYOTHERMANNERPROVIDEDBYLAW. NOTHINGINTH
ISSECURITYAGREEMENTORINANYOTHERLOANDOCUMENTSHALLAFFECTANYRIGHTTHATT
HECOLLATERALAGENTMAYOTHERWISEHAVETOBRINGANYLEGALACTIONORPROCEEDING
RELATINGTOTHISSECURITYAGREEMENTORANYOTHERLOANDOCUMENTAGAINSTTHE
BORROWER,ORANYOTHERLOANPARTYORTHEIRPROPERTIESINTHECOURTSOFANYJURISDI
CTION.

(c) EACHOFTHEPARTIESHERETOIRREVOCABLY ANDUNCONDITIONALLY
WAIVES, TOTHEFULLESTEXTENTPERMITTEDBYAPPLICABLELAW,ANYOBJECTION
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THATITMAYNOWORHEREAFTERHAVETOTHELAYINGOFVENUEOFANYACTIONORPROCEE
DINGARISINGOUTOFORRELATINGTOTHISSECURITYAGREEMENTORANYOTHERLOAN
DOCUMENTINANYCOURTREFERREDTOINPARAGRAPH(B)OFTHISSECTION. EACHOFTHEP AR
TIESHERETOHEREBYIRREVOCABLYWAIVES, TOTHEFULLESTEXTENTPERMITTEDBY APPLIC
ABLELAW, THEDEFENSEOFAN
INCONVENIENTFORUMTOTHEMAINTENANCEOFSUCHACTIONORPROCEEDINGINANYS
UCHCOURT.

(d) EACHOFTHEPARTIESHERETOIRREVOCABLYCONSENTSTOSERVICEOF
PROCESSINTHEMANNERPROVIDEDFORNOTICESINSECTIONI11.02OFTHECREDITAGR EEMEN
T. NOTHINGINTHISSECURITYAGREEMENTWILLAFFECTTHERIGHTOFANYPARTYHERETO
TOSERVEPROCESSINANYOTHERMANNERPERMITTEDBYAPPLICABLEL A W.

(e) EACHOFTHEPARTIESHERETOHEREBYIRREVOCABLYWAIVES, TOTHEF
ULLESTEXTENTPERMITTEDBYAPPLICABLELAW,ANYRIGHTITMAYHAVETOATRIALBYJUR
YINANYLEGALPROCEEDINGDIRECTLYORINDIRECTLYARISINGOUTOFORRELATINGTOTH
ISSECURITYAGREEMENTORANYOTHERLOANDOCUMENTOR
THETRANSACTIONSCONTEMPLATEDHEREBYORTHEREBY(WHETHERBASEDONCONTRACT,T
ORTORANYOTHERTHEORY). EACHPARTYHERETO(A)CERTIFIESTHATNOREPRESENTATIV
E,AGENTORATTORNEYOFANYOTHERPERSONHASREPRESENTED,EXPRESSLYOROTHERWI
SEETHATSUCHOTHERPERSONWOULDNOT,INTHEEVENTOFLITIGATION,SEEKTOENFORCET
HEFOREGOINGWAIVERAND
(B)ACKNOWLEDGESTHATITANDTHEOTHERPARTIESHERETOHAVEBEENINDUCEDTOENTER
INTOTHISSECURITYAGREEMENTANDTHEOTHERLOANDOCUMENTSBY,AMONGOTHERTHIN
GS, THEMUTUALWAIVERSANDCERTIFICATIONSINTHISSECTION.

21.Severability.IfanyprovisionofthisSecurity Agreementoranyrelateddocumentis he
ldtobeillegal,invalidorunenforceable,(a)thelegality,validityandenforceabilityoftheremainingprovisions
ofthisSecurity Agreementandanyotherrelateddocumentshallnotbeaffectedorimpairedtherebyand (b)theparti
esshallendeavoringood faithnegotiationstoreplacetheillegal,invalidorunenforceableprovisionswithvalidpr
ovisionstheeconomiceffectofwhichcomesascloseaspossibletothatoftheillegal,invalidorunenforceableprov
isions. Theinvalidityofaprovisioninaparticularjurisdictionshallnotinvalidate orrenderunenforceablesuchp
rovisioninanyotherjurisdiction.

22.Entirety.ThisSecurityAgreement,theother LoanDocumentsandtheotherdocument
srelatingtotheSecuredObligationscomprisesthecompleteandintegratedagreementofthepartiesonthesubj
ectmatterhereof and t he r eof and supersedesallprioragreements,writtenororal,onsuchsubjectmatter. ThisS
ecurity Agreementwasdraftedwiththejointparticipationoftherespectivepartiestheretoandshallbe cons tr
ued ne it her aga i nst nor i n favor of any party, butratherinaccordance withthefairmeaningthereof.

23.Survival.Allrepresentationsandwarrantiesm ade hereunder or o t her docu m ent de li vered
pursuantheretoortheretoorinconnectionherewithorthere withshallsurvivetheexecutionanddelivery hereofand
thereof. Suchrepresentationsandwarrantieshavebeenorwillberelieduponbythe AdministrativeA gent,the
Collateral Agent,andeach Lender,regardlessofanyinvestigationmadebythe AdministrativeAgent,theCollat
eral A gentorany Lenderorontheirbehal fandnotwithstandingthattheAdministrativeAgent,theCollateral A
gent or any Lender m ay have had no tice or knowledge ofany DefaultatthetimeofanyCreditExtension,andshallconti
nueinfullforceandeffectaslongasany LoanoranyotherObligationshallremainunpaidorunsatisfiedoranylett
erofCreditshallremain
outstanding.
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24.0therSecurity.TotheextentthatanyoftheSecuredObligationsarenoworhereaf

tersecuredbypropertyotherthantheCollateral(includingrealpropertyandsecuritiesownedbyaGran
tor),orbyaguarantee,endorsementorpropertyofanyotherPerson,thentheCollateralAgentshallhavet
herighttoproceedagainstsuchotherproperty,guaranteeorendorsementupontheoccurrenceofanyEv
entofDefault,andtheCollateralAgentshallhavetheright,initssolediscretion,todeterminewhichri
ghts,security,liens,securityinterestsorremediestheCollateralAgentshallatanytimepursue,relin
quish,subordinate,modifyortakewithrespectthereto,withoutinanywaymodifyingoraffectinganyoft
hemortheSecuredObligationsoranyoftherightsoftheCollateralAgentortheholdersoftheSecuredOb
ligationsunderthisSecurityAgreement,underanyoftheotherLoanDocumentsorunderanyotherdocu
mentrelatingtotheSecuredObligations.

25.JointandSeveralObligationsofGrantors.

(a)Subjecttosubsection(c)ofthisSection25,eachoftheGrantorsi
sacceptingjointandseveralliabilityhereunderinconsiderationofthefinancialaccommodat
iontobeprovidedbytheholdersoftheSecuredObligations,forthemutualbenefit,directlyand
indirectly,ofeachoftheGrantorsandinconsiderationoftheundertakingsofeachoftheGra
ntorstoacceptjointandseveralliabilityfortheobligationsofeachofthem.

(b)Subjecttosubsection(c)ofthisSection25,eachoftheGrantorsj
ointlyandseverallyherebyirrevocablyandunconditionallyacceptsjointandseveralliabilit
ywiththeotherGrantorswithrespecttothepaymentofalloftheSecuredObligationsarisingun
derthisSecurityAgreement,theotherLoanDocumentsandanyotherdocumentsrelatingtotheS
ecuredObligations,itbeingtheintentionofthepartiesheretothatallthepaymentSecuredO
bligationsshallbethejointandseveralobligationsofeachoftheGrantorswithoutpreferenc
esordistinctionamongthem.

(c)Notwithstandinganyprovisiontothecontrarycontainedherei
n,inanyotheroftheLoanDocumentsorinanyotherdocumentsrelatingtotheSecuredOblig
ations,theobligationsofeachGuarantorundertheCreditAgreementandtheotherLoanDocum
entsshallbelimitedtoana ggre gateamountequaltothelargestamountthatwouldnotrendersuchoblig
ationssubjecttoavoidanceunderSection54 8oftheBankruptcyCodeoftheUnitedStatesoranyother D
ebtorReliefLaw (in cluding any co m parable provisionsofanyapplicablestateLaw).

26.Joinder. AtanytimeafterthedateofthisSecurityAgreement,oncormoreadditi
onal PersonsmaybecomepartyheretobyexecutinganddeliveringtotheCollateralAgentaCollateralJoind
erAgreement.ImmediatelyuponsuchexecutionanddeliveryofsuchCollateralJoinder A greement(andw it
houtanyfurtheraction),eachsuchadditionalPersonwillbecomeapartytothisSecurity A greement
asa“Grantor”andhavealloftherightsandobligationsofaGrantorhereunderandthisSecurity
AgreementandtheschedulesheretoshallbedeemedamendedbysuchCollateralJoinderAgreement.

27. Replacementof ExistingSecurityAgreement. Asofthedatehereof,theExisting
Security Agreementshallbeamended,restatedandsupersededandreplacedinitsentiretybythis Secu

rityAgreement.

278 TerminationandRelease.

(aThisSecurityAgreementandallsecurityinterestsgrantedherebyshall
terminatewhen(i)alloftheObligationsunderthe L oanD ocuments (e xcludingcontingentobligationsasto
w hichnoclaimhasbeenmade) havebeenpaidinfullincash,(ii)allCommitmentshaveterminatedorexpi
redand(iii)theaggregattamountavailabletobedrawnunderLettersofCred it
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hasbeenreducedtozero(includingasaresultofobtainingtheconsentoftheapplicableL/Clssuerthrou
ghtheprovisionofCashCollateralorotherarrangementsatisfactorytotheapplicableL/ClIssuer)
andnoL/ClssuerhasanyfurtherobligationtoissueoramendLettersofCreditundertheCreditAgreem
ent.

(b)Allsecurityinterestsgrantedherebyshallalsoterminateandberele ased at
thetimeortimesandinthe mannersetforthinSectionl10.10oftheCreditAgreement.

(¢)Inconnectionwithanyterminationorreleasepursuanttosubsection(a)or(b)of

thisSection28. theCollateralAgentshallexecuteanddelivertoany Grantor,atsuchGrantor’sexpense,all
documentsthatsuchGrantorshallreasonablyrequesttoevidencesuchterminationorreleasesolongastheappli
cableGrantorshallhaveprovidedtheCollateral AgentsuchcertificationsordocumentsastheCollateral
AgentshallreasonablyrequestinordertodemonstratecompliancewiththisSection28. Anyexecutionand
deliveryofdocumentsbythe Collateral AgentpursuanttothisSectionshallbewithoutrecoursetoorwarra
nty by the

CollateralAgent.

[SignaturesonF ollowing Pa g es]



99060020002500 GRANTOR S : ARMSTRONG WORLD INDUSTRIES, INC., a Pennsylvania
corporation

By: /s/ Brian L. MacNeal

Name: Brian L. MacNeal

Title: Senior Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer

ARMSTRONG REALTY GROUP, INC., a Pennsylvania
corporation

By: /s/ Stephen F. McNamara Name:
Stephen F. McNamara Title: Vice
President

ARMSTRONG VENTURES, INC., a Delaware
corporation

By: /s/ Stephen F. McNamara Name:
Stephen F. McNamara Title: Vice
President

AWI LICENSING LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company

By: /s/ Stephen F. McNamara
Name: Stephen F. McNamara
Title: Vice President and Controller

AMENDED AND RESTATED SECURITY AGREEMENT ARMSTRONG
WORLD INDUSTRIES, INC.




Accepted and agreed to as of the date first above written.

COLLATERAL AGENT: BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as Collateral Agent

By: /s/ Kimberly D. Williams Name: Kimberly D. Williams
Title: Vice President

AMENDED AND RESTATED SECURITY AGREEMENT ARMSTRONG WORLD
INDUSTRIES, INC.




SCHEDULES

Schedule2(d)CommercialTortClaims
EXHIBITS

Exhibit5(b)-1FormofNoticeofGrantofSecuritylnterestinC
opyrightsExhibit5(b)-2FormofNoticeofGrantofSecurityln
terestinPatentsExhibit5(b)-3FormofNoticeofGrantofSecur
ityInterestinTrademarks



SCHEDULE?2 (d)
COMMERCIALTORTCLAIMS

None.




EXHIBITS(b)-
1

FORM OF
NOTICE
OF
GRANT OF SECURITYINTERESTIN
COPYR I GHTS

UnitedStatesCopyrightOffice
LadiesandGentlemen:

PleasebeadvisedthatpursuanttotheAmendedandRestatedSecurityAgreement,datedasof
April

1,201 6(asthesamemaybeamended, modified,extendedorrestatedfromtimetotime,the“Security
Agreement”),byandamongtheGrantorspartythereto(eachan“Grantor”andcollectively,the“Gr
antors”)andBankofAmerica,N.A.,asCollateralAgent(the“CollateralAgent”)fortheholdersoft
heSecuredObligationsreferencedtherein,theundersignedGrantorhasgrantedacontinuingsecu
rityinterestinandcontinuinglienupon,thecopyrightsandcopyrightapplicationsshownonSchedul
elattachedherctototheCollateralAgentfortheratablebenefitoftheholdersoftheSecuredObliga
tions.

TheGrantorsandtheCollateralAgent,onbehalfoftheholdersoftheSecuredObligations,
herebyacknowledgeandagreethatthesecurityinterestinthecopyrightsandcopyrightapplication
ssetforthonSchedulelattachedhereto(i)mayonlybeterminatedinaccordancewiththetermsoft
heSecurityAgreementand(ii)isnottobeconstruedasanassignmentofanycopyrightorcopyrightap
plication.

Verytrulyyours

>

[Grantor

I,
a[state][entitytyp

e]
By:

Name:
Title

Grantor’sAddress:[insert]

[Signaturepagescontinueonfollowingp
age]



AcknowledgedandAccepted:
BANKOFAMERICA,N.A.,asCollateralAgent

By:Name:
Title:

CollateralAgent’sAddress:[insert]



EXHIBITS(b)
-2

FORM OF
NOTICE
OF
GRANTOF SECURITYINTERESTIN
PATEN
TSUnitedStatesPatentandTrademarkOffice
LadiesandGentlemen:

PleasebeadvisedthatpursuanttotheAmendedandRestatedSecurityAgreement,datedaso
fApril

1,2016(the“SecurityAgreement”), byandamongtheGrantorspartythereto(eachan“Grantor”andcoll
ectively,the“Grantors”)andBankofAmerica,N.A.,asCollateralAgent(the“CollateralAgent”)for
the
holdersoftheSecuredObligationsreferencedtherein,theundersignedGrantorhasgrantedacontinu
ing
securityinterestinandcontinuinglienupon,thepatentsandpatentapplicationssetforthonSch
edulelattachedheretototheCollateralAgentfortheratablebenefitoftheholdersoftheSecure
dObligations.

TheGrantorsandtheCollateralAgent,onbehalfoftheholdersoftheSecuredObligations,h
erebyacknowledgeandagreethatthesecurityinterestinthepatentsandpatentapplicationssetforth
onSchedulelattachedhereto(i)mayonlybeterminatedinaccordancewiththetermsoftheSecurity
Agreementand(ii)isnottobeconstruedasanassignmentofanypatentorpatentapplication.

Verytrulyyour
S,

[Granto

r]’
a[state][entityty
pe]

By:

Name:

Titl
e:

Grantor’sAddress:[insert]

[Signaturepagescontinueonfollowingp
age]



AcknowledgedandAccepted:
BANKOFAMERICA,N.A.,asCollateralAgent
By:Name:

Title:
CollateralAgent’sAddress:[insert]



EXHIBITS(b)
-3

FORM OF
NOTICE
OF
GRANT OF SECURITYINTERESTIN
TRADEMARKS

UnitedStatesPatentandTrademarkOffice
LadiesandGentlemen:

PleasebeadvisedthatpursuanttotheAmendedandRestatedSecurityAgreement,datedaso
fApril

1,2016(the“SecurityAgreement”),byandamongtheGrantorspartythereto(eachan“Grantor”andcoll
ectively,the“Grantors”)andBankofAmerica,N.A.,asCollateralAgent(the“CollateralAgent”)for
the
holdersoftheSecuredObligationsreferencedtherein,theundersignedGrantorhasgrantedaco
ntinuingsecurityinterestinandcontinuinglienupon,thetrademarksandtrademarkapplications
setforthon
SchedulelattachedheretototheCollateralAgentfortheratablebenefitoftheholdersoftheSecure
d
Obligations.

TheGrantorsandtheCollateralAgent,onbehalfoftheholdersoftheSecuredObligations
,herebyacknowledgeandagreethatthesecurityinterestinthetrademarksandtrademarkapplicatio
nssetforthonSchedulelattachedhereto(i)mayonlybeterminatedinaccordancewiththetermsof
theSecurityAgreementand(ii)isnottobeconstruedasanassignmentofanytrademarkortrademark
application.

Verytrulyyour
S,

[Granto
r],
a[state][entityty
pe]

By:

Name:

Titl
e:

Grantor’sAddress:[insert]

[Signaturepagescontinueonfollowingp
age]



AcknowledgedandAccepted:
BANKOFAMERICA,N.A.,asCollateralAgent

By:Name:
Title:

CollateralAgent’sAddress:[insert]



Exhibit 10.3

AMENDEDANDRESTATEDPLEDGEAGREEMENT

THISAMENDEDANDRESTATEDPLEDGEAGREEMENT (this“PledgeAgreement”),dateda
sofAprill,2016,isbyandamongthepartiesidentifiedas“Pledgors”onthesignaturepageshereto
andsuchotherpartiesasmaybecomePledgorshereunderafterthedatehercof(individuallya“Pled
gor”,andcollectivelythe“Pledgors”)andBANKOFAMERICA,N.A.,ascollateralagent(insuchca
pacity,the“CollateralAgent”)fortheholdersoftheSecuredObligationsreferencedbelow.

WITNESSETH

WHEREAS,revolvingcreditandtermloanfacilitieswereestablishedinfavorof Armstrong Wo
rldIndustries,Inc,aPennsylvaniacorporation(the“Borrower”),pursuanttothetermsofthatcertainam
endedandrestatedcreditagreementdatedasofMarch 15,2013 (asamendedandmodifiedpriortotheClosingDat
e,the“ExistingCreditAgreement”)amongtheBorrower, Armstrong WoodProducts,Inc,aDelawarecor
poration(“AWP”),certainoftheirrespectiveSubsidiaries,asguarantorsthereunder,thelenderspartyt
heretoand Bankof America, N.A.,asadministrativeagentandcollateralagentforthelendersthereunder;

WHEREAS,inconmectionwiththeExistingCreditAgreement,theBorrower, AWP andcertain
oftheirrespectiveSubsidiariesenteredintothatcertainAmendedandRestatedPledgeAgreementdat
edasof March15,2013(the“ExistingPledgeAgreement”);

WHEREAS,theBorrowerhasrequestedcertainmodificationstotherevolvingcreditandter
mloanfacilitiesunderthe ExistingCreditAgreement;

WHEREAS,theLendershaveagreedtotherequestedmodificationsonthetermsandconditionspr
ovidedinthatcertainAmendedandRestatedCreditAgreement,datedasofthedateherecof(asamendedand m
odified,the“CreditAgreement”),amongtheBorrower,certainofitsSubsidiaries,asguarantorsthereun
der,thelenderspartytheretoand BankofAmerica, N.A.,asadministrativeagentandcollateralagentfor
thelendersthereunder;and

WHEREAS,thisPledgeAgreementisrequiredunderthetermsoftheCreditAgreement,andisgi
veninamendmentto,restatementofandsubstitutionfortheExistingPledgeAgreementprovidedinconne
ctionwiththe ExistingCreditAgreement.

NOW, THEREFORE,inconsiderationofthesepremisesandothergoodandvaluableconsideration,t
hereceiptandsufficiency of whichareherebyacknowledged,thepartiesheretoagrecasfollows:

1.Definitions.

(a)Capitalizedtermsusedandnototherwisedefinedhereinshallhavethemeanings pro
videdinthe CreditAgreement. Inaddition,thefollowingterms,whicharedefinedintheUCCasineffecti
ntheStateofNewYorkonthedatehereof,areusedasdefinedtherein:Accession, Financial Asset, Proce
edsandSecurity.

(b) Asusedherein,the followingtermsshallhavethemeaningsetforthbelow:“Borro
wer”hasthemeaningprovidedintherecitalsh ereof.
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“CollateralAgent”hasthemeaningprovidedintheintroductoryparagraphhereo
f,togetherwithitssuccessorsandassigns.

“CreditAgreement”hasthemeaningprovidedintherecitalshereof.

“EventofDefault”hasthemeaningprovidedinSection8hereof.

“ExistingCreditAgreement”hasthemeaningprovidedintherecitalshereof.

“ExistingPledgeAgreement”hasthemeaningprovidedintherecitalshereof.

“PledgeAgreement”hasthemeaningprovidedintheintroductoryparagraphhereof,
as am ended and m od ifi ed.

“PledgedCollateral”hasthemeaningprovidedinSection2hereof.

“PledgedShares”hasthemeaningprovidedinSection2(a)hereof.

“Pledgors”hasthemeaningprovidedintheintroductoryparagraphhereof.

“SecuredObligations”means,withoutduplication,(a)allObligationsand(b)allcosts
and expenses incurredinconnectionwithenforce mentandcollectionofthe SecuredObligations,including
reasonab | e a tt o r neys’ f ees and expenses.

“UCC”meansthe UniformCommercialCodeasineffectinthestateofNewYorkfromtime
totime.

2.PledgeandGrantofSecuritylnterest. Tosecurethe promptpay mentandperformance
infullwhendue,whetherbylapseoftime,acceleration,mandatoryprepaymentorotherwise,oftheSecuredO
bligations,eachPledgorherebygrants,pledgesandassignstotheCollateralAgent,forthebenefitoftheho
ldersoftheSecuredObligations,acontinuingsecurityinterestin,andarighttoset-offagainst,anyandal
Iright,titleandinterestofsuchPledgorinandtothefollowing,whethernowownedorexistingorowned,ac
quired,orarisinghereafter(collectively,the“PledgedCollateral”):

(@)PledgedShares.(i)Onehundredpercent(100% ) (or,ifless, thefullam
ount o w ned by such P led g or) of theissuedandoutstanding Capital StockownedbysuchPledgorofeachM a
terialDomesticSubsidiarysetforthonSchedule2(a)attachedheretoand (ii)sixty-fivepercent (65
%)(or,ifless,thefullamountownedbysuchPledgor)oftheissuedandoutstandingvoting C apitalS tock
(or100%ofthenon-votingCapitalStock)ownedbysuchPledgorofeachMaterialFirst-TierForeign
SubsidiaryandeachExcluded SubsidiarysetforthonSchedule2 (a)attachedhereto,ineachcasetoget
herwiththecertificates(orotheragreementsorinstruments),ifany,representingsuchCapital Stock,
andalloptionsandotherrights,contractualorotherwise,withrespectthercto(collectively,together
withtheCapitalStockdescribedinSection2 (b)and
2(c)below,the“PledgedShares”),includingthefollowing:

(A) allshares,securities, membershipinterestsorothere
quityinterestsrepresentingadividendonanyofthe PledgedShares,orrepresentingadistribu
tionorreturnofcapitaluponorinrespectofthe PledgedShares,orresultingfromastocksplit,rev
ision,reclassificationorotherexchangetherefor,andanysubscriptions,warrants,rightso
roptionsissuedtotheholderof,orotherwiseinrespectof,thePledgedShares;and

2

CHAR2\1772675v2



(B) withoutaffectingtheobligationsofthePledgorsunderany prov ision prohib i
tingsuchactionhereunderorundertheCreditA greement,intheeventofanyconsolidationo
rmergerinvolvingtheissuero fany Pled ged Shares and inwhichsuchissuerisnotthesurviving
entity,allCapitalStockofthesuccessorentity formedbyorresulting fromsuchconsolidat
ionormer g er.

(b)AdditionalShares. (i)Onehundredpercent(100%) (or,ifless,thef
ullamountownedbysuch Pled gor) oftheissuedandoutstanding Capital StockownedbysuchPledgorof
any PersonthathercafterbecomesaMaterialD omestic Subsidiaryand (ii)sixty-fivepercent (65 % )(
or, ifl e ss, the fulla m ount o w ned by such P 1 e dg or) of the issued and ou ts t anding v oting C apital Stock (or 100
% o fthenon - voting C apital Stock ) o wned by suchPled gorofany PersonthathereafterbecomesaMateri
alFirst-TierForeignSubsidiaryoranExcludedSubsidiary,includingthecertificates(orotherag
reementsorinstruments)representingsuchCapital Stock.

(c)AccessionsandProceeds. AllAccessionsandallProceedso fanyandal
lofthe foregoing.

Withoutlimitingthegeneralityoftheforegoing,itisherebyspecificallyunderstoodandagreed
thataPledgormayfromtimetotimehereafterdeliveradditional CapitalStocktotheCollateralA gentasco
llateralsecurityfortheSecuredObligations. UpondeliverytotheCollateralAgent,suchadditionalC
apitalStockshallbedeemedtobepartofthePledgedCollateralofsuchPledgorandshallbesubjecttotheter
msofthisPledgeAgreementwhetherornotSchedule?2(a)isamendedtorefertosuchadditionalCapitalSt
ock.Notwithstandinganythingtothecontrarycontainedherein,thesecurityinterestsgrantedunderthi
sPledgeAgreementshallnotextendto,andthe “PledgedCollateral”shallnotinclude, any ExcludedP rope
rty.

3.SecurityforSecuredObligations.ThesecurityinterestcreatedherebyintheP
ledged

CollateralofeachPledgorconstitutescontinuingcollateralsecurityforalloftheSecuredObligations.

4.DeliveryofthePledgedCollateral. TotheextentthatPledgedCollateraliscert
ificated,each
Pledgorherebyagreesthat:

(a) Such Pledgorshall(subjecttotheprovisionsofSection7.14o0ftheCredi
tAgreement)delivertotheCollateral Agent(i)simultancouslywithorpriortotheexecutionanddeli
veryofthisPledge Agreement,allcertificatesrepresen tingtheP1edged Shares of such P 1edgor and (i1) pro
mptlyuponthereceiptthereofbyoronbehal fofsuchPledgor,allothercertificatesandinstruments cons
titutingPledgedCollateralofsuchPledgor.PriortodeliverytotheCollateral Agent,allsuchcertifi
catesandinstrumentsconstitutingPledgedCollateralofaPledgorshallbeheldintrustbysuchP ledgorf
orthe benefitofthe Collateral A gentpur suant
hereto. Allsuchcertificatesshallbedeliveredinsuitableformfortransferbydeliveryorshall

beaccompaniedbydulyexecutedinstrumentsoftransferorassignmentinblank,substantiallyinth
e

formprovidedinExhibit4(a)attachedhereto.

(b)AdditionalSecurities. IfsuchPledgorshallreceivebyvirtueofi
tsbeingorhavingbeentheownerofanyPledgedCollateral,any(i)certificate,includinganycertifi
caterepresentingadividendordistributioninconnectionwithanyincreaseorreductionofcapital, re
classification,merger,consolidation,saleofassets,combinationofsharesorotherequityinterest
s,stocksplits,spin-offorsplit-off,promissorynotesorotherinstruments;(iij)optionorright,whe
therasanadditionto,substitution for, or an exchan ge for,any Pledged Collateralorotherwise; (iii)d
ividendspayableinsecurities;or(iv)distributionsofsecuritiesinconnection
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withapartialortotalliquidation,dissolutionorreductionofcapital,capitalsurplusorpaid-in
surplus,thensuchPledgorshallreceivesuchcertificate,instrument,optionrightordistributi
onintrustforthebenefitoftheCollateralAgent,shallsegregateitfromsuchPledgor’sotherpr
opertyandshalldeliveritforthwithtotheCollateralAgentintheexactformreceivedtogether
withanynecessaryendorsementand/orappropriatestockpowerdulyexecutedinblank,substantia
llyintheformprovidedinExhibit4(a),tobeheldbytheCollateralAgentasPledgedCollateral
andasfurthercollateralsecurityfortheSecuredObligations.

(c)FinancingStatements. EachPledgorauthorizestheCollateralAg
enttofileoneormorefinancingstatements (whichmaydescribetheCollateralas“allassets”or“allpe
rsonalproperty”)disclosingtheCollateralAgent’ssecurityinterestinthePledgedCollateral Each
PledgorshallexecuteanddelivertotheCollateral Agentsuchotherapplicablefinancingstatem entsa
ndotherfilingsasmaybereasonablyrequestedbytheCollateralAgentinordertoperfectandprotectt
hesecurityinterestcreatedherebyinthePledgedCollateralo fsuchP led gor.

5.RepresentationsandWarranties.EachPledgorherebyrepresentsandwarra
ntstotheCollateralAgent,forthebenefitoftheholdersoftheSecuredObligations,thatsolongasan
yoftheSecuredObligationsremainsoutstandinganduntilallofthecommitmentsrelatingtheretoh
avebeenterminated:

(a)AuthorizationofPledgedShares.ThePledged Sharesaredulyauthor
izedand validlyissued, are full y paid and nonassessab | e and are not sub jecttothe pree mp ti veri ghts of any Pe r
son.

(b)Title. EachPledgorhasgoodandindefeasibletitletothePledgedC
ollateralofsuchPledgorandisthelegalandbeneficialownerofsuchPledgedCollateralfreeandc
learofany Lien,otherthanPermitted Liens. Thereexistsno “adverseclaim”with in the m eaning of Sec t
ion 8 - 102 of the UC C withres p e ¢ t to the P led g ed Shar e s of such P led g or.

(c)Exercisingof Rights. TheexercisebytheCollateral Agentofits
rightsandremedieshereunderwillnotviolateany Laworgovermnmentalregulationoranymaterial
contractualrestrictionbindingonoraffectingaPledgororanyofitsproperty.

(dPledgor’sAuthority. Noauthorization,approvaloractionby,
andnonoticeorfilingwithany G overnmental Authority orwiththeissuerofanyPledgedSharesisrequi
red
either(i)forthepledgemadebyaPledgororforthegrantingofthesecurityinterestbyaPledgorpurs
uanttothisPledgeAgreement(exceptashavebeenalreadyobtained)or(ii)fortheexercise
bytheCollateral AgentortheholdersoftheSecuredObligationsoftheirrightsandremedieshe
reunder(exceptasmayberequiredbylLawsaffectingtheofferingandsaleofsecurities).

(e)SecuritylInterest/Priority. ThisPledgeAgreementcreatesavalidse
curityinterestinfavoroftheCollateral AgentforthebenefitoftheholdersoftheSecuredObligati
ons,inthePledgedCollateral. Thetakingofpossession,intheStateof New York,bytheCollateralA gent
ofthecertificatesrepresentingthePledgedShares,totheextentconstitutingSecurities,andal
lothercertificatesandinstrumentsconstitutingPledgedCollateral,willperfectandestabl
ishthe
firstpriorityoftheCollateral Agent’ssecurityinterestinthePledgedSharesand, whenproperly
perfectedbyfilingorregistration,inallotherPledgedCollateralrepresentedbysuchPledged
SharesandinstrumentssecuringtheSecuredObligations. ExceptassetforthinthisSection5 (e)
hereof,noactionisnecessarytoperfectorotherwiseprotectsuchsecurityinterest.

(HPartnershipandMembershipInterests. Exceptaspreviouslydisclo
sed to the
CollateralAgent,noneofthePledgedSharescomnsistingofpartnershiporlimitedliability
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companyinterests(i)isdealtinortradedonasecuritiesexchangeorinasecuritiesmarket,(ii)
byitstermsexpresslyprovidesthatitisasecuritygovernedbyArticle8ofthe UCC,(iii)isaninves
tmentcompanysecurity,(iv)isheldinasecuritiesaccountor(v)constitutesaSecurityoraFinancial
Asset.

(g)NoOtherInterests. AsoftheClosingDate,pursuanttothetermsof
theCredit A greement,noPledgorisrequiredtopledgeany Capital Stockinany Subsidiaryotherthanasset
forthonSchedule?2(a)attachedheretooraspledgedpursuanttoanyotherpled ge agree ment by any Pled g
ortotheCollateral AgenttosecuretheSecuredObligations.

6.Covenants.EachPledgorherebycovenants,thatsolongasanyoftheSecured
Obligationsremainsoutstandinganduntilallofthecommitmentsrelatingtheretohavebeentermin
ated,suchPledgorshall:

(a)BooksandRecords. UponthereasonablerequestoftheCollateral A gen
t,markitsbooksandrecords (andshallcausetheissueroftheP1edged Shares of such P1edgortomarkitsbooks
andrecords)toreflectthesecurityinterestgrantedtotheCollateral Agent, forthe benefit
oftheholdersoftheSecuredObligations,pursuanttothisPledgeAgreement.

(b)Defenseof Title. WarrantanddefendtitletoandownershipofthePled
gedCollateralofsuchPledgoratitsownexpenseagainsttheclaimsanddemandsofallotherpartiescla
iminganinteresttherein, keepthePledgedCollateralfreefromallLiens,exceptforPermitted Liens, and
notsell,exchange,transfer,assign,leaseorotherwisedisposeofPledgedCollateralofsuchPledgoro
ranyinteresttherein,exceptaspermittedundertheCreditA gree m ent and the
otherLoanDocuments.

(c)FurtherAssurances. Promptlyexecuteanddeliveratitsexpenseallfur
therinstrumentsanddocumentsandtakeallfurtheractionthatmaybenecessaryanddesirableorth attheC
ollateral Agentmayreasonablyrequestinorderto(i)perfectandprotectthesecurityinterestcreatedher
ebyinthePledgedCollateralofsuchPledgor(includinganyandallactionnecessary
tosatisfytheCollateral AgentthattheCollateralAgenthasobtainedafirstpriorityperfectedsecur
ityinterestinallPledgedCollateral);(ii)enabletheCollateral Agenttoexerciseandenforce
itsrightsandremedieshereunderinrespectofthePledged CollateralofsuchPledgor;and (iii)
otherwiseeffectthepurposesofthisPledgeAgreement.

(d)Amendments. Notmakeorconsenttoanyamendmentorothermodificat
ionorwaiverwithrespecttoanyofthePledgedCollateralofsuchPledgororenterintoanyagreement
orallowtoexistanyrestrictionwithrespecttoanyofthePledgedCollateralofsuchPledgorotherth
anpursuantheretoorasmaybepermittedundertheCreditA gree m ent.

(e)CompliancewithSecuritieslaws. Fileallreportsandotherinform
ationnoworhereafterrequiredtobefiledbysuchPledgorwiththe SECandanyotherstate,federalorfor
eignagencyinconnectionwiththeownershipofthePledgedCollateralofsuchPledgor.

(f)IssuanceorAcquisitionof CapitalStockConsistingofanInt
erestina
PartnershiporalimitedLiabilityCompany. Not,withoutexecutinganddelivering,orcausingto
beexecutedanddelivered,totheCollateral Agentsuchagreements,documentsandinstruments
astheCollateral Agentmayrequire,issueoracquireanyCapitalStockofaSubsidiaryconsisting
ofaninterestinapartnershiporalimitedliabilitycompanythat(i)isdealtinortradedonasecu
ritiesexchangeorinasecuritiesmarket,(ii)byitstermsexpresslyprovidesthatitisa
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securitygovernedby Article8ofthe UCC,(iii)isaninvestmentcompanysecurity,(iv)isheldinase
curitiesaccountor(v)constitutesaSecurityoraFinancial Asset.

7.AdvancesbyHoldersoftheSecuredObligations.OnfailureofanyPledgortoperf

ormanyofthecovenantsandagreementscontainedhereinanduponpriorwrittennoticetothePledgor
,theCollateral Agentmay,atitssoleoptionandinitssolediscretion,performthesameandinsodoing
mayexpendsuchsumsastheCollateralAgentmayreasonablydeemadvisableintheperformancethere
of,includingthepaymentofanyinsurancepremiums,thepaymentofanytaxes,apaymenttoobtaina
releaseofalienorpotentialLien,expendituresmadeindefendingagainstanyadverseclaimandall
otherexpendituresthattheCollateralAgentmaymakefortheprotectionofthesecurityhereoforma
ybecompelledtomakebyoperationofLaw.Allsuchsumsandamountssoexpendedshallberepayable
bythePledgorsonajointandseveralbasispromptlyupontimelynoticethereofanddemandtherefor
,shallconstituteadditionalSecuredObligationsandshall,subjecttoSection2.080ftheCreditAgr
eement,bearinterestfromthedatesaidamountsareexpendedattheratethenapplicabletoRevolvin
glLoansthatareBaseRateLoans.NosuchperformanceofanycovenantoragreementbytheCollatera
lAgentonbehalfofanyPledgor,andnosuchadvanceorexpendituretherefor,shallrelievethePled
gorsofanydefaultunderthetermsofthisPledgeAgreement,theotherLoanDocumentsoranyotherdo
cumentsrelatingtotheSecuredObligations.TheCollatecralAgentmaymakeanypaymentherebyauth
orizedinaccordancewithanybill,statementorestimateprocuredfromtheappropriatepublicofficeor
holderoftheclaimtobedischargedwithoutinquiryintotheaccuracyofsuchbill,statementoresti
mateorintothevalidityofanytaxassessment,sale,forfeiture,taxlien,titleorclaimexcepttothee
xtentsuchpaymentisbeingcontestedingoodfaithbyaPledgorinappropriateproceedingsandagains
twhichadequatereservesarebeingmaintainedinaccordancewithGAAP.

8.EventsofDefault. Theoccurrence of aneventthatwouldconstitutean EventofDefault
underthe Credit A greementshallbe an Eventof D efaulthereunder (an “EventofDefault”).

9. Remedies.

(a)GeneralRemedies. UpontheoccurrenceofanEventofDefaultand
duringthecontinuationthereof,theCollateral AgentandtheholdersoftheSecuredObligationsshal
lhave,inaddition to the ri g hts and re m edies pro vided herein, inth e Loan D ocu m ents, in any other docu m ents r
elatingtotheSecuredObligations,orbyLaw (includinglevyofattachmentandgarnishment), therightsa
ndre medies of ase cured par ty under the UC CofthejurisdictionapplicabletotheaffectedPledged Collat
eral

(b)SaleofPledgedCollateral. UpontheoccurrenceofanEventofDefault
andduringthecontinuationthereof, withoutlimitingthe generalityofthisSection9andwithoutnotice,
theCollateralAgentmay,initssolediscretion,sellorotherwisedisposeoforrealizeuponthePledged
Collateral,oranypartthereof,inoncormoreparcels,atpublicorprivatesale,atany exchangeorbroker’s
boardorelsewhere,atsuchpriceorpricesandonsuchothertermsastheCollateral A gentmaydeemcom
merciallyreasonable, forcash,creditorforfuturedeliveryorotherwiseinaccordancewithapplicableLa
w.TotheextentpermittedbyLaw,anyholderoftheSecuredObligationsmayinsucheventbidforthep
ur chase of suchsecurities. EachPledgoragreesthat,totheextentnoticeofsaleshallberequiredbyLaw
and has not been w ai v ed by such Pled gor,anyrequire mentofreasonablenoticeshallbemetifnotice,spec
ifyingtheplaceofanypublicsaleorthetimeafterwhichanyprivatesaleistobemade,ispersonallyserved
onormailed,postageprepaid,tosuchPledgor,inaccordancewiththenoticeprovisionsofSection
11.02oftheCreditAgreementatleastten(10)daysbeforethetimeofsuchsale. TheCollateral
A gentshallnotbeobligatedtomakeanysaleofPledgedCollateralofsuchPledgorregardlessofnot
iccofsalehavingbeengiven. TheCollateralAgentmayadjournanypublicorprivatesale
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fromtimetotimebyannouncementatthetimeandplacefixedtherefor,andsuchsalemay,withou
tfurthernotice,bemadeatthetimeandplacetowhichitwassoadjourned.

(c)PrivateSale. Upontheoccurrenceo fan Eventof D efaultandduringthe
continuationthereof,thePledgorsrecognizethatthe Collateral A gentmay deem itim practicab letoe ff
ectapublicsaleofalloranypartofthePledgedSharesoranyofthesecuritiesconstitutingPledgedCol
lateralandthattheCollateralAgentmay,therefore,determineto make oneorm ore priv ate s ales of any
suchPledgedCollateraltoarestrictedgroupofpurchaserswhowillbeobligatedtoagree,amongo
therthings,toacquiresuchPledgedCollateralfortheirownaccount, forinvestmentandnotwithaview
tothedistributionorresalethereof Each Ple dgor hereby waivesanyclaimsagainsttheCollateral A gent
arisingbyreasonthatanysuchprivatesaleshallnothavebeenmadeinacomm erciallyreasonablem anner
andthattheCollateral Agentshall
havenoobligationtodelaysaleofanysuchPledgedCollateralfortheperiodoftimenecessarytoper
mittheissuerofsuchPledgedCollateraltoregistersuchPledgedCollateralforpublicsaleunder
theSecuritiesActof1933,asamended (the“SecuritiesAct”).EachPledgorfurtheracknowledges
andagreesthatanyoffertosellsuchPledgedCollateralthathasbeen(i)publiclyadvertisedonabona
fidebasisinanewspaperorotherpublicationofgeneralcirculationinthefinancialcommunityofN
ewYork,NewYork(totheextentthatsuchoffermaybeadvertisedwithoutpriorregistrationu
ndertheSecuritiesAct),or(ii)madeprivatelyinthemannerdescribedaboveshallbedeemedtoinv
olvea“publicsale”underthe UCC,notwithstandingthatsuchsalemaynotconstitutea“publicoffe
ring”undertheSecuritiesAct,andtheCollateralAgentmay,insuchevent,bidforthepurchaseof
suchPledgedCollateral.

(d)RetentionofPledgedCollateral. Totheextentpermittedunderapp
licableLaw,inadditiontotherightsandre medieshereunder,upontheoccurrenceandcontinuanceofan
EventofDefault,theCollateral Agentmay,afterprovidingthenoticesrequiredby Sections9-
620 and 9 - 621 ofthe UCCorotherwisecomplyingwiththerequirementsofapplicablelLawoftherel
evantjurisdiction,acceptorretainalloranyportionofthePledgedCollateralin
satisfactionoftheSecuredObligations. UnlessanduntiltheCollateral Agentshallhaveprovid
ed
suchnotices,however,theCollateralAgentshallnotbedeemedtohaveacceptedorretainedany
PledgedCollateralinsatisfactionofany SecuredObligationsforanyreason.

(e)Deficiency. Intheeventthattheproceedsofanysale,collectionorre
alizationareinsufficienttopayallamountstowhichtheCollateral A gentortheholdersoftheSecured
Obligationsarelegallyentitled,thePledgorsshallbejointlyandseverallyliableforthedeficiency (su
bjecttoSection25hereof),togetherwithinterestthereonattheDefaultRate togetherwiththecost
sofcollectionandreasonableattorneys’ feesand expenses. A ny surplus re maininga fterthefull payment
andsatisfactionoftheSecuredObligationsshallbereturnedtothePledgorsortowhomsoeveracourt
ofcompetentjurisdictionshalldeterminetobeentitledthereto.

10.RightsoftheCollateralAgent.

(a)PowerofAttorney.Inadditiontootherpowersofattorneycontained
herein,eachPledgorherebydesignatesandappointstheCollateral Agent,onbehalfoftheholdersofthe
Secured Obligations, and each ofitsdesigneesoragents,asattorney-in-factofsuchPledgor, irrevocab |y and
withpowerofsubstitution,withauthoritytotakeanyorallofthefollowingactionsuponthe occurrence
andduringthecontinuationofanEventofD efault:
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(i)todemand,collect,settle,compromiseandadjust,
andgivedischargesandreleasesconcerningthePledgedCollateral,allastheCollate
ralAgentmayreasonablydeemappropriate;

(11) to co mm ence and pr o sec u te any act i ons at a ny court f o r the p
urposesofcollectinganyofthePledgedCollateralandenforcinganyotherrightinrespectthe
reo f;

(ii1) todefend,settleorcompromiseanyactionbroughtand,inconnectionthere
with,givesuchdischargeorreleaseasthe Collateral A gentm ayreason ablydeemappropriate;

(iv)topayordischargetaxes,liens,securityinterestsorot
herencumbrancesleviedorplacedonorthreatenedagainstthePledgedCollateral;

(v)todirectanypartiesliableforanypaymentinconnecti
on w ith any of the Pledged Collateraltomakepay mentofanyandallmonies dueandtobecomedue
thereunderdirectlytothe Collateral AgentorastheCollateral Agentshalldirect

(vi)toreceivepaymentofandreceiptforanyandall moni
es,claims,andotheramountsdueandtobecomeducatanytimeinrespectoforarisingoutofan
yPledgedCollateral;

(vii)tosignandendorseanydra fts,as si gnments, prox i
es,stockpowers,verifications,noticesandotherdocumentsrelatingtothePledgedColla
teral;

(viii)toexecuteanddeliverallassignments, convey ances,
statements, financingstatements,renewal financingstatements,securityandpledgeagreem ents,
affidavits,noticesandotheragreements,instrumentsanddocumentsthattheCollateral A gent
m ay reason a bly de e m appropriateinordertoperfectandmaintainthesecurityinterestsandliens g
rantedinthisPledge Agreementandinordertofullyconsummateall ofthetransactionsconte
mplatedtherein;

(ix)toexchangeanyofthePledgedCollateralorotherprop
erty upon any mer g er, consolidation,reorganization,recapitalizationorotherreadjustmentofth
e iss u er the r eof and, in ¢ onne c t ion t here w ith, dep o sitany of the Pledged Collateralwithanycomm
ittee,depository,transferagent,registrarorotherdesignatedagencyuponsuchtermsasthe Col
lateral A gent m ay reasona b ly deem appropriate;

(x)tovote forashareholderresolution,ortosignaninstru
mentinwriting,sanctioningthetransferofanyorallofthePledgedCollateralintothename oft
heCollateral AgentoroneormoreoftheholdersoftheSecuredObligationsorintothenameof
any transfereetowhomthe PledgedCollateral oranypartthereof maybesoldpursuanttoSection
9hereof;and

(xi)todoandperformallsuchotheractsandthingsastheC
ollateral Agentmayreasonably deemappropriateorconvenientinconnectionwiththePledged
Collateral.

Thispowerofattorneyisapowercoupledwithaninterestandshallbeirrevocableforsolong
asanyoftheSecuredObligationsshallremainoutstandinganduntilallofthecommitmentsrelati
ngtheretoshallhavebeenterminated. TheCollateralAgentshallbeundernodutyto
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exerciseorwithholdtheexerciseofanyoftherights,powers,privilegesandoptionsexpresslyor
implicitlygrantedtotheCollateralAgentinthisPledgeAgreement,andshallnotbeliablefor
anyfailuretodosooranydelayindoingso.TheCollateral Agentshallnotbeliableforanyactoromiss
ionorforanyerrorofjudgmentoranymistakeoffactorLawinitsindividualcapacityoritscapacit
yasattorney-in-factexceptactsoromissionsresultingfromitsgrossnegligenceor
willfulmisconduct. ThispowerofattorneyisconferredontheCollateral Agentsolelytoprotect,p
reserveandrealizeuponitssecurityinterestinthePledgedCollateral

(b)AssignmentbytheCollateral Agent. TheCollateralAgentmay
assignthe SecuredObligationsandany portionthereofand/orthePledgedCollateral and any portion

thereoftoasuccessorcollateralagentappointedpursuanttoSection 10.06 ofthe CreditA gree m ent,
andtheassigneeshallbeentitledtoalloftherightsandremediesoftheCollateral A gentunderth is
Pledge Agreementinrelationther eto.

(c)TheCollateralAgent’sDutyofCare. Otherthantheexerciseofrea
sonablecaretoassurethesafecustodyofthePledgedCollateralwhilebeingheldbytheCollateralA
genthereunder,theCollateral Agentshallhavenodutyorliabilitytopreserverightspertainingtheret
o,itbeingunderstoodandagreedthatthePledgorsshallberesponsibleforpreservationofallrightsin
thePledgedCollateral,andthe Collateral Agentshallberelievedofallresponsibility forthePledgedC
ollateraluponsurrenderingitortenderingthesurrenderofittothePledgors.TheCollateral Agentshall
bedeemedtohaveexercisedreasonablecareinthecustodyandpreservationofthePledgedCollateral
initspossessionifsuchPledgedCollateralisaccordedtreatmentsubstantiallyequaltothatwhichthe
Collateral Agentaccordsitsownproperty,whichshallbenolessthanthetreatmentemployedbyareas
onableandprudentagentintheindustry,itbeingunderstoodthattheCollateralAgentshallnothave
responsibilityfor(i)ascertainingortakingactionwithrespecttocalls,conversions,exchan ges, maturi
ties,tendersorothermattersrelatingtoanyPledgedCollateral, whetherornottheCollateral A gent
hasorisdeemedtohave
kno w1l edge of suchmatters,or (ii)takinganynecessarystepstopreserverightsagainstanypartiesw ithrespect
toany ofthe PledgedCollateral.

(dVotingRightsinRespectofthePledgedCollateral.

6)] SolongasnoEventofDefaultshallhaveoccurredandbe
continuing,totheextentpermitted by L aw,eachPled gor m ay exercise any and all v oting and o t her
consensualrightspertainingtothePledgedCollateralof suchPledgororanyparttherecof fora
ny purposenotinconsistentwiththetermsofthisPledge A gree mentorthe CreditA gree m ent; and

(i) UpontheoccurrenceandduringthecontinuanceofanEv
entof DefaultandnoticefromtheCollateral AgenttotheapplicablePledgorthattheCollater
alAgentintendstoexerciseitsrightspursuanttothisparagraph(ii),allrightsofaPledgorto
exercisethevotingandotherconsensualrightsthatitwouldotherwisebeentitledtoexercisep
ursuanttoparagraph(i)ofthissubsectionshallceaseandallsuchrightsshallther eupon beco m
evestedintheCollateral Agent, whichshallthenhavethesolerighttoexercisesuchvoting
andotherconsensualrig hts.

(e)DividendRightsinRespectofthePledgedCollateral.

(1) SolongasnoEventofDefaultshallhaveoccurredand
becontinuingandsubjecttoSection4(b)hercof,eachPledgormayrecciveandretainany
andalldividends(otherthanstockdividendsandotherdividendsconstitutingPledgedC
ollateral
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addressedhereinabove)orinterestpaidinrespectofthePledgedCollateraltotheexte
nttheyareallowedundertheCreditAgreement.

(i1) UpontheoccurrenceandduringthecontinuanceofanEventofDefaultandnotic
efromthe Collateral AgenttotheapplicablePledgorthattheCollateral Agentintendstoexer

ciseitsrightspursuanttothisparagraph(e):

(A) allrightsofaPledgortoreceivethediv
idendsandinterestpaymentsthatitwouldotherwisebeauthorizedtoreceiveandretain
pursuanttoparagraph(i)ofthissubsectionshallceaseandallsuchrightsshallthe
reuponbevestedintheCollateral Agent, whichshallthenhavethesolerighttorecei
veandholdasPledgedCollateralsuchdividendsandintere stpay m ents; and

(B) alldividlendsandinterestpaymentsth
atarereceivedbyaPledgorcontrarytotheprovisionsofparagraph(A)ofthissubsecti
onshallbereceivedintrustforthebenefitoftheCollateral Agent,shallbesegreg
atedfromotherpropertyor fundsofsuchPledgor, and sh all be fo rth wi th p aid o v er to the
CollateralAgentasPledgedCollateralintheexactformreceived, tobeheldbytheC
ollateralAgentasPledgedCollateralandasfurthercollateralsecurity fortheSe
curedObligations.

(H)ReleaseofPledgedCollateral. TheCollateralAgentmayrelease
anyofthePledgedCollateralfromthisPledgeAgreementormaysubstituteanyofthePledged
CollateralforotherPledgedCollateralwithoutaltering,varyingordiminishinginanywayt
heforce,effect,lien,pledgeorsecurityinterestofthisPledgeAgreementastoanyPledgedC
ollateralnotexpresslyreleasedorsubstituted,andthisPledgeAgreementshallcontinueasaf
irstprioritylienonallPledgedCollateralnotexpresslyreleasedorsubstituted.

11.RightsofRequiredlLenders. AllrightsoftheCollateralAgenthereunder,ifnot
exercisedbytheCollateralAgent,maybeexercisedbytheRequiredLenders.

12.ApplicationofProceeds. Uponthe occurrence and duringthe con tinuation of an E vent of
Default,anypaymentsinrespectof the Secured O bligati onsand any proceeds of the PledgedCollateral,whenrecei
vedbythe Collateral A gent or any of t he ho1ders ofthe SecuredObligationsincashoritsequivalent,willbeappliedi
nreductionofthe Secured ObligationsintheordersetforthinSection9.03 ofthe CreditA gree mentasthoughthewo
rd“Obligations”thereinweredeletedandreplacedwiththephrase“Secured Obligations,”and eachPledgorirr
evocablywaivestherighttodirecttheapplicationofsuchpay mentsandproceeds and ackno w | edges and ag r ees t hat t he
Collateral Agentshallhavethecontinuingandexclusiverighttoapplyandreapplyanyandallsuchpaymentsand
proceedsintheCollateral Agent’ssolediscretion,notwithstandinganyentrytothecontraryuponany ofits books
and r ecor ds.

13.CostsofCounsel. Atalltimeshereafter,whetherornotupontheoccurrenceofan
Eventof Default,thePledgorsagreetopromptlypayupondemandanyandallreasonablecostsandexpenses(i
ncludingreasonableattorneys’feesandexpenses)oftheCollateralAgentandtheholdersoftheSecuredO
bligations(a)asrequiredunderSection11.04o0ftheCreditAgreementand(b)asnecessarytoprotect
thePledgedCollateralortoexerciseanyrightsorremediesunderthisPledge A greementor withresp e ct to any of
thePledgedCollateral. AlloftheforegoingcostsandexpensesshallconstituteSecured
Obligationshereunder.
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14.ContinuingAgreement.

(aThisPledgeAgreementshallbeacontinuingagree mentine v ery resp e ct
andshallremaininfullforceandeffectsolongasanyoftheSecuredObligationsremainsoutstan
ding(otherthancontingentindemnityobligationsnotyetdueandpayable)anduntilallofth
ecommitmentsrelatingtheretohavebeenterminated. Uponsuchpaymentandtermination,this Pled
geAgreementshallbeautomaticallyterminatedandtheCollateral Agentshall,uponthereque standatthe
expensecofthePledgors,forthwithreleaseallofitsliensandsecurityinterestshereunderandshallexec
uteanddeliverallUCCterminationstatementsand/ orotherdocumentsreasonably requestedbythe Pled g
orsevidencingsuchtermination. Notwithstandingthe foregoing,allindemnitiesprovidedhereundersha
IlsurviveterminationofthisPledge A gre e ment.

(b)ThisPledge Agreementshallcontinuetobeeffectiveorbeautomatical
lyreinstated,asthecasemaybe,ifatanytimepayment,inwholeorinpart,ofanyoftheSecuredObligat
ionsisrescind ed ormust otherwiseberestoredorreturmedbythe Collateral Agentoranyholderofthe Sec
uredObligationsasapreference,fraudulentconveyanceorotherwiseun der any ban k ruptcy,insolv
encyorsimilarLaw,allasthoughsuchpaymenthadnotbeenmade;providedthatintheeventpaymento f
alloranypartoftheSecuredObligationsisrescindedormustberestoredorreturned,allreasonablec
ostsandexpenses(includingreasonableattorneys’feesandexpenses)incurredbytheCollateralAg
entor any holderofthe SecuredObligationsinde fendingandenforcingsuchreinstatementshallbedeem
edtobeincludedasapartoftheSecured Obligations.

IS5 AmendmentsandWaivers. ThisPledgeAgreementandtheprovisionshereof
maynotbeamended,waived, modified,changed,dischargedorterminatedexceptassetforthinSecti
onll.0loftheCreditAgreement;providedthatanyupdateorrevisiontoSchedule2(a)hercofsh
allnotconstituteanamendmentforpurposesofthisSectionlSorSectionl1.0loftheCreditAgree
ment.

16.Successorsinlnterest. ThisPledge Agreementshallcreateacontinuingsecurityin
terestintheCollateralandshallbebindinguponeachPledgor,itssuccessorsandassigns,andshallinure,together
withtherightsandremediesoftheCollateral Agentandtheholdersofthe SecuredObligationshereunder,tothe
benefitofthe Collateral A gentandtheholdersoftheSecuredObligationsandtheirsuccessorsandpermitted assi
gns;provided.however,thatnoneofthe Pledgorsmayassignitsrightsordelegateitsdutieshereunder withoutthe
priorwrittenconsentoftherequisite LendersundertheCreditAgreement.

17.Notices. AllnoticesrequiredorpermittedtobegivenunderthisPledgeAgreem
entshallbegivenasprovidedinSection11.020ftheCreditAgreement.

18.Counterparts. ThisPledgeAgreementmaybeexecutedinanynumberofcounterpar
ts,eachofwhichwhensoexecutedanddeliveredshallbeanoriginal,butallofwhichshallconstituteone
andthesameinstrument. ItshallnotbenecessaryinmakingproofofthisPledgeAgreementtopro duceor
accountformorethanonesuchcounterpart.

19.Headings.Theheadingsofthesectionsandsubsectionshereofareprovidedf
orconvenienceonlyandshallnotinanywayaffectthemeaningorconstructionofanyprovisionofthisPlI
edgeAgreement.
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20Governinglaw:Jurisdiction;WaiverofRighttoTrialbyJury:Etc.

(@)THISPLEDGEAGREEMENTANDTHEOTHERLOANDOCUMENTSANDANYC
LAIMS,CONTROVERSY ,DISPUTEORCAUSEOFACTION(MWHETHERINCONTRACTORTORTOROT
HERWISE)BASEDUPON,ARISINGOUTOFORRELATINGTOTHISPLEDGEAGREEMENTORANYOT
HERLOANDOCUMENT(EXCEPT,ASTOANYOTHERLOANDOCUMENT,ASEXPRESSLYSETFORTH
THEREIN)ANDTHETRANSACTIONSCONTEMPLATEDHEREBYANDTHEREBYSHALLBEGOVE
RNEDBY,ANDCONSTRUEDINACCORDANCEWITH, THELAWOFTHESTATEOFNEWYORKAPPLIC
ABLETOAGREEMENTSMADEANDTOBEPERFORMEDENTIRELYWITHINSUCHSTATE;
PROVIDEDTHATTHECOLLATERALAGENTSHALLRETAINALLRIGHTSARISINGUNDERFEDE
RALLAW.

(b) EACHOFTHEPARTIESHERETOIRREVOCABLYANDUNCONDITIONALLY
AGREESTHATITWILLNOTCOMMENCEANYACTION,LITIGATIONORPROCEEDINGOFANYKINDO
RDESCRIPTION,WHETHERINLAWOREQUITY,WHETHERINCONTRACTORINTORTOROTHER
WISE, AGAINSTTHECOLLATERALAGENT,ORANYRELATEDPARTYOFTHEFOREGOINGINANY
WAYRELATINGTOTHISPLEDGEAGREEMENTORANYOTHERLOANDOCUMENTORTHETRANSA
CTIONSRELATINGTHERETOORTHERETO,INANYFORUMOTHERTHANTHECOURTSOFTHES
TATEOFNEWYORKSITTINGINNEWYORKCOUNTYANDOFTHEUNITEDSTATESDISTRICT COUR
TOFTHESOUTHERNDISTRICTOFNEWYORK,ANDANY APPELLATECOURTFROMANYTHEREOF,
ANDEACHOFTHEPARTIESHERETOIRREVOCABLY ANDUNCONDITIONALLYSUBMITSTOTHE]J
URISDICTIONOFSUCHCOURTSANDAGREESTHATALLCLAIMSINRESPECTOFANYSUCHACTI
ON,LITIGATIONORPROCEEDINGMAYBEHEARDANDDETERMINEDINSUCHNEWYORKSTAT
ECOURTOR, TOTHEFULLESTEXTENTPERMITTEDBYAPPLICABLELAW,INSUCHFEDERALCOUR
T.EACHOFTHEPARTIESHERETOAGREESTHATAFINALJUDGMENTINANYSUCHACTION,LITI
GATIONORPROCEEDINGSHALLBECONCLUSIVEANDMAYBEENFORCEDINOTHERJURISDICTI
ONSBYSUITONTHEJUDGMENTORINANYOTHERMANNERPROVIDEDBYLAW. NOTHINGINTH
ISPLEDGEAGREEMENTORINANYOTHERLOANDOCUMENTSHALLAFFECTANYRIGHTTHATTHE
COLLATERALAGENTMAYOTHERWISEHAVETOBRINGANYLEGALACTIONORPROCEEDINGREL
ATINGTOTHISPLEDGEAGREEMENTORANYOTHERLOANDOCUMENTAGAINSTTHEBORROWER,O
RANYOTHERLOANPARTYORTHEIRPROPERTIESINTHECOURTSOFANYJURISDICTION.

(c) EACHOFTHEPARTIESHERETOIRREVOCABLYANDUNCONDITIONALLY W
AIVES, TOTHEFULLESTEXTENTPERMITTEDBYAPPLICABLELAW,ANYOBJECTIONTHATITM
AYNOWORHEREAFTERHAVETOTHELAYINGOFVENUEOFANYACTIONORPROCEEDINGARISI
NGOUTOFORRELATINGTOTHISPLEDGEAGREEMENTORANYOTHERLOANDOCUMENTINANY
COURTREFERREDTOINPARAGRAPH(B)OFTHISSECTION. EACHOFTHEPARTIESHERETOHER
EBYIRREVOCABLYWAIVES, TOTHEFULLESTEXTENTPERMITTEDBY APPLICABLELAW, THED
EFENSEOFAN
INCONVENIENTFORUMTOTHEMAINTENANCEOFSUCHACTIONORPROCEEDINGINANYS
UCHCOURT.

(d) EACHOFTHEPARTIESHERETOIRREVOCABLYCONSENTSTOSERVICEOF
PROCESSINTHEMANNERPROVIDEDFORNOTICESINSECTIONI11.02OFTHECREDIT AGR EEMEN
T. NOTHINGINTHISPLEDGEAGREEMENTWILLAFFECTTHERIGHTOFANYPARTYHERETOTO
SERVEPROCESSINANYOTHERMANNERPERMITTEDBYAPPLICABLEL AW.
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(e) EACHOFTHEPARTIESHERETOHEREBYIRREVOCABLYWAIVES, TOTHEF
ULLESTEXTENTPERMITTEDBYAPPLICABLELAW,ANYRIGHTITMAYHAVETOATRIALBYJUR
YINANYLEGALPROCEEDINGDIRECTLYORINDIRECTLYARISINGOUTOFORRELATINGTOTH
ISPLEDGEAGREEMENTORANYOTHERLOANDOCUMENTORTHETRANSACTIONSCONTEMPL ATED
HEREBYORTHEREBY(WHETHERBASEDONCONTRACT, TORTORANYOTHERTHEORY). EACH
PARTYHERETO(A)CERTIFIESTHATNOREPRESENTATIVE,AGENTORATTORNEYOFANYOTH
ERPERSONHAS
REPRESEN T ED, EXPRE SSLYORO THERWISE, THATSUCHOTHERPERSON WOULDNOT,INTHEEYV ENT OF
LITIGATION, SEEKT O ENFORCE T HE FOREGOING W ATV ER AND
(B)ACKNOWLEDGESTHATITANDTHEOTHERPARTIESHERETOHAVEBEENINDUCED
TOENTERINTOTHISPLEDGEAGREEMENTANDTHEOTHERLOANDOCUMENTSBY,AMONGOTHER
THINGS, THEMUTUALWAIVERSANDCERTIFICATIONSINTHISSECTION.

2]1.Severability.IfanyprovisionofthisPledge Agreementoranyrelateddocumentishel
dtobeillegal,invalidorunenforceable,(a)thelegality,validityandenforceabilityoftheremainingprovisions
ofthisPledge Agreementandanyotherrelateddocumentshallnotbeaffectedorimpairedtherebyand (b)the parties
shallendeavoringood faithnegotiationstoreplacetheillegal,invalidorunenforceableprovisionswithvalidprov
isionstheeconomice ffectofwhichcomesascloseaspossibletothatoftheillegal,invalidorunenforceableprovis
ions. Theinvalidityofaprovisioninaparticularjurisdictionshallnotinvalidateorrenderunenforceablesuchpr
ovisioninanyotherjurisdiction.

22.Entirety. ThisPledge Agreement,theother LoanDocumentsandtheotherdocuments
relatingtothe SecuredObligationscomprisecthecompleteandintegratedagree mentofthepartiesonthesubj
ectmatterhereof and t he r eof and supersedesallprioragreements,writtenororal,onsuchsubjectmatter. ThisPl
edge Agreementwasdraftedwiththejointparticipationoftherespectivepartiestheretoandshallbe cons trued
neitheragainstnorinfavorof any party,butratherinaccordancewiththefairmeaningthereof.

23.Survival.Allrepresentationsandwarrantiesm ade hereunder or o t her docu m ent de li vered
pursuantheretoortheretoorinconnectionherewithorthere withshallsurvivetheexecutionanddelivery hereofand
thereof. Suchrepresentationsandwarrantieshavebeenorwillberelieduponbythe Administrative Agent,the
Collateral Agent,andeach Lender,regardlessofanyinvestigationmadebythe AdministrativeAgent,theCollat
eral A gentorany Lenderorontheirbehal fandnotwithstandingthattheAdministrativeAgent,theCollateral A
gent or any Lender m ay have had no tice or kno w l edge of any De faultatthetimeofanyCreditExtension,andshallconti
nueinfullforceande ffectaslongasany Loan orany other Obligationhereundershallremainunpaidorunsatis fiedor
any Letterof Creditshallremainoutstanding.

24.0therSecurity. TotheextentthatanyoftheSecuredObligationsarenoworhereaft

ersecuredbypropertyotherthanthePledgedCollateral(includingrealandotherpersonalpropertyowned
byaPledgor),orbyaguarantee,endorsementorpropertyofanyotherPerson,thentheCollateral Agentshall
havetherighttoproceedagainstsuchotherproperty,guaranteecorendorsementupontheoccurrenceofany
EventofDefault,andtheCollateralAgentshallhavetheright,initssolediscretion,todeterminewhich
rights,security,liens,securityinterestsorremediestheCollateralAgentshallatanytimepursue,reling
uish,subordinate,modifyortakewithrespectthereto,withoutinanywaymodifyingoraffectinganyofthem
ortheSecuredObligationsoranyoftherightsoftheCollateralAgentortheholdersoftheSecuredObligati
onsunderthisPledgeAgreement,underanyofthcotherLoanDocumentsorunderanyotherdocumentrelati
ngtotheSecuredObligations.
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25.JointandSeveralObligationsofPledgors.

(a) Subjecttosubsection(c)ofthisSection?25, eachofthe Pledgorsisaccept
ingjointandseveralliabilityhereunderinconsideration o fthe finan cial ac c o m m odati o n to be pro v ided
bytheholdersoftheSecuredObligations,forthemutualbenefit,directlyandindirectly,ofeachofth
ePledgorsandinconsiderationoftheundertakingsofeachofthePledgorstoacceptjointandseveralli
abilityfortheobligationsofeachofthem.

(b) Subjecttosubsection(c)ofthisSection?25, eachofthe Pledgorsjointly
andseverallyherebyirrevocablyandunconditionallyacceptsjointandseveralliability w iththeother
Pledgorswithrespecttothepaymentofallofthe SecuredObligationsarisingunderthisPledge A greem
ent, the other Loan D ocuments and any otherdocumentsrelatingtotheSecured Obligations,itbeingtheint
entionofthepartiesheretothatallthepaymentSecuredObligationsshallbethejointandseveralobliga
tionsofeachofthePledgorswithoutpreferencesordistinctionamongthem.

(c)Notwithstandinganyprovisiontothecontrarycontainedherei
n,inanyotheroftheLoanDocumentsorinanyotherdocumentsrelatingtotheSecuredOblig
ations,theobligationsofeachGuarantorundertheCreditAgreementandtheotherLoanDocum
entsshallbelimitedtoanaggre gateamountequaltothelargestamountthatwouldnotrendersuchobligati
onssubjecttoavoidanceunderSection54 8ofthe Bankruptcy CodeoftheUnitedStatesoranyotherappli
cableDebtorReliefLaw (includinganycomparableprovisionsofanyapplicablestatelaw).

26.Joinder. AtanytimeafterthedateofthisPledgeAgreement,oneormoreadditio
nal PersonsmaybecomepartyheretobyexecutinganddeliveringtotheCollateralAgentaCollaterallJoind
erAgreement.ImmediatelyuponsuchexecutionanddeliveryofsuchCollateralJoinder A greement(andw it
houtanyfurtheraction),eachsuchadditionalPersonwillbecomeapartytothisPledge A greementas
a“Pledgor”andhavealloftherightsandobligationsofaPledgorhereunderandthisPledge A greement
andtheschedulesheretoshallbedeemedamendedbysuchCollateralJoinderAgreement.

27.ConsentoflssuersofPledgedShares. EachissuerofPledgedSharespartytothisP
ledgeAgreementherebyacknowledges,consentsandagreestothegrantofthesecurityinterestsinsuchPled
gedSharesbytheapplicablePledgorspursuanttothisPledgeAgreement,togetherwithallrightsaccom
panyingsuchsecurityinterestasprovidedbythisPledgeAgreementandapplicablelaw,notwithstanding
anyanti-assignmentprovisionsinanyoperatingagreement,limitedpartnershipagreementorsimilarorg
anizationalorgovernancedocumentsofsuchissuer.

28.Replacementof ExistingPledgeAgreement. Asofthedatehereof,theExisting
PledgeAgreementshallbeamended,restatedandsupersededandreplacedinitsentiretybythisPledgeAgr

eement.

27.TerminationandRelease.

(aThisPledgeAgreementandallsecurityinterestsgrantedherebyshallter
minatewhen(i)alloftheObligationsunderthe LoanD ocuments (e xcludingcontingentobligationsastow
hichnoclaimhasbeenmade)havebeenpaidinfullincash,(ii)allCommitmentshaveterminatedorexpir
edand(iii)theaggregattamountavailabletobedrawnunderLettersof Credithasbeenreducedto zero (
includingasaresultofobtainingtheconsentoftheapplicableL/ClIssuerthroughtheprovisionofCashC
ollateralorotherarrangementsatisfactorytotheapplicable L/CIssuer)andnoL /CIssuerhasanyfurth
erobligationtoissueoramendLettersof CreditundertheCreditA gree m ent.
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(b)Allsecurityinterestsgrantedherebyshallalsoterminateandberel
casedatthetimeortimesandinthe mannersetforthinSectionl10.100oftheCreditAgreement.

(c)Inconnectionwithanyterminationorreleasepursuanttosubsection(a)or
(b)ofthisSection29.theCollateral AgentshallexecuteanddelivertoanyPledgor,atsuchPledgor’s
expense,alldocumentsthatsuchPledgorshallreasonablyrequesttoevidencesuchterminationorrelease
solongastheapplicablePledgorshallhaveprovidedtheCollateral Agentsuchcertificationsordocum
entsastheCollateral AgentshallreasonablyrequestinordertodemonstratecompliancewiththisSecti
on29. AnyexecutionanddeliveryofdocumentsbytheCollateralAgentpursuanttothisSectionshall
be with outrecourse toorwarranty by the
CollateralAgent.

[Si g natures on F o llo w ing Pa g es]
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99060020002500 PLEDGOR S : ARMSTRONG WORLD INDUSTRIES, INC., a Pennsylvania
corporation

By: /s/ Brian L. MacNeal

Name: Brian L. MacNeal

Title: Senior Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer

ARMSTRONG REALTY GROUP, INC., a Pennsylvania
corporation

By: /s/ Stephen F. McNamara Name:
Stephen F. McNamara Title: Vice
President

ARMSTRONG VENTURES, INC., a Delaware
corporation

By: /s/ Stephen F. McNamara Name:
Stephen F. McNamara Title: Vice
President

AWI LICENSING LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company

By: /s/ Stephen F. McNamara
Name: Stephen F. McNamara
Title: Vice President and Controller

AMENDED AND RESTATED PLEDGE AGREEMENT ARMSTRONG
WORLD INDUSTRIES, INC.




Accepted and agreed to as of the date first above written.

COLLATERAL
AGENT: BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as Collateral
Agent

By: /s/ Kimberly D. Williams Name:
Kimberly D. Williams Title: Vice
President

AMENDED AND RESTATED PLEDGE AGREEMENT ARMSTRONG
WORLD INDUSTRIES, INC.




SCHE DU LES
Schedule?2 (a) PledgedStock
EXHIBITS

Exhibit4(a) Formof S tock Pow er
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Schedule?2 (a)

to

Amendedand RestatedPledge A greement
datedasofApril1,2016
infavorofBankofAmerica,N.A ., as
Collateral A gent
PLEDGEDSTOCK

MaterialDomesticSubsidiaries

NumberofSh| Certific Percent Percent
Pledgor Is s uer ares ate O w ned Pledged
N u m ber
f)*rrléns”"“gw ArmstrongRealtyGrou | 1,000 1 100% 100%
Industries, I p,Inc.
nc.
g‘rrléns”ongw ArmstrongVentures,I 505 1 100% 100%
Industries,I ne.
nec.
?rrlcrlnstrongW AWILicensingLLC 1,000 N/A 100% 100%
Industries,I
nec.
MaterialFirst-TierForeignSubsidiary
N u m ber o f Sh Certific| Percent Percent
Pledgor Is s uer ares ate O w ned Pledged
N u m ber
ArmstrongW [ Armstrong WorldIndus 500 C-1(175) 100% 65%
or 1d tries s
Industries,In CanadalLtd. C-2(325
c. )
ExcludedSubsidiaries
N u m ber o f Sh Certific| Percent Percent
Pledgor Is s uer ares at e O w ned Pledged
N u m ber
Armstrong W Arm_strongWorldlnd N/A N/A 100% 65%
orld ustries

Industries,In
c.

(Del a w are) LLC

eURAR ) 1. 779634v1




Exhibitd4(a)

to

AmendedandRestatedPledge A greement
datedasofApril1,2016
infavorofBankof America,N.A ., asC
ollateral A gent

FormoflrrevocableStockPower

FORVALUERECEIVED,theundersignedherebysells,assignsandtransfersto

thefollowingsharesofcapitalstockof [ISSUER],acorporation:No.of SharesCerti
ficateNo.

andirrevocablyappoints itsagentandattorney-in-factto

transferalloranypartofsuchcapitalstockandtotakeallnecessaryandappropriateactionto e ffectanysuch
transfer.Theagentandattorney-in-factmaysubstituteandappointoneormorepersonstoactforhim. The
effectivenessofatransferpursuanttothisstockpowershallbesubjecttoanyandalltransferrestrictionsr
eferencedonthefaceofthecertificatesevidencingsuchinterestorinthecertificateofincorporationor
bylawsofthesubjectcorporation,tothecextenttheymayfromtimetotimeexist.

[HOLDER]
By:

Name:
Title:
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Exhibit 10.4

AMENDED ANDRESTA TED CANADIANPLED GEAGREEMENT

THISAMENDED ANDRESTATED CANADIANPLEDGEAGREEMENT (this“PledgeAgreement”)
,datedasofAprill,2016,isbyandamongARMSTRONGWORLDINDUSTRIES,INC.,aPennsylvaniacor
poration(the“Pledgor”),andBANKOFAMERICA,N.A.,ascollateralagent(insuchcapacity,the“C
ollateralAgent”)fortheholdersoftheSecuredObligationsreferencedbelow.

WITNESSETH

WHEREAS,revolvingcreditandtermloanfacilitieswereestablishedinfavourofthePledgor
pursuanttothetermsofthatcertainamendedandrestatedcreditagreementdatedasofMarch15,2013 (asam
endedandmodifiedpriortotheClosingDate,the “ExistingCreditAgreement”)amongthePledgor, Armstr
ong WoodProducts,Inc,aDelawarecorporation,certainoftheirrespectiveSubsidiaries,asguarantorst
hereunder,thelenderspartytheretoandBankofAmerica, N.A.,asadministrativeagentandcollateralag
entforthelendersthereunder;

WHEREAS,inconnectionwiththe ExistingCreditAgreement,thePledgorenteredintothatcertai
nAmendedand RestatedCanadianPledge AgreementdatedasofMarch15,2013(the“ExistingPledgeAgree
ment”);

WHEREAS,thePledgorhasrequestedcertainmodificationstotherevolvingcreditandterml
oanfacilitiesunderthe ExistingCreditAgreement;

WHEREAS,theLendershaveagreedtotherequestedmodificationsonthetermsandconditionspro
vided inthatcertain Amended and Restated CreditAgreement, dated asofthedatehereof(asamendedand
modified,the“CreditAgreement”),amongthePledgor,certainofitsSubsidiaries,asguarantorsther
eunder,thelenderspartytheretoand BankofAmerica, N.A.,asadministrativeagentandcollateralagentf
orthelenderstherecunder;and

WHEREAS,thisPledgeAgreementisrequiredunderthetermsoftheCreditAgreement,andisgiv
eninamendmentto,restatementofandsubstitutionforthe ExistingPledgeAgreementprovidedinconnecti
onwiththe ExistingCreditAgreement.

NOW, THEREFORE,inconsiderationofthesepremisesandothergoodandvaluableconsiderat
ion,thereceiptandsufficiencyofwhichareherebyacknowledged,thepartiesheretoagrecasfollows

1.Definitions.

(a) Capitalizedtermsusedandnototherwisedefinedhereinshallhavethemeaningsascribedtosucht
ermsinthedefinitionsinSection1.0loftheCreditAgreementprovidedhoweverthatforthepurposesher eof,
any r e fe re nces to the “ U n i form C o m mercial Code” or “UCC”insuchdefinitionsshallandshallbedeemedtomean “
the UCC,the PPSAorthe STA,asapplicable”.Inaddition,thefollowingtermswhicharedefined,asapplic
able,in(i)theUCC;(ii)thePPSA;or(iii)theSTAareusedasdefinedtherein: Accession,Financial Asset,
InvestmentProperty,ProceedsandSecurity.Forgreatercertainty, w here any suchterm is defi n ed i n m ore than o ne
o fthe UCC,PPSAorSTA(each,an“ApplicableStatute”), itsmeaningforthepurposesofanyprovisionofthisA
greementwheresuchtermisusedshallbethemeaningascribedtosuchterminthe ApplicableStatutethatapplies
to such pro v is i on.

(b)Asusedherein, thefollowingtermsshallhavethemeaningssetforthbelow:



“CollateralAgent”hasthemeaningprovidedintheintroductoryparagraphhereof,toget
herwithitssuccessorsandassigns.

“CreditAgreement”hasthemeaningprovidedintherecitalshereof.

“Eventof Default”hasthemeaningprovidedinSection8hereof.

“ExistingCreditAgreement”hasthemeaningprovidedintherecitalshereof.

“ExistingPledgeAgreement”’hasthemeaningprovidedintherecitalshereof.

“PledgeAgreement”hasthemeaningprovidedintheintroductoryparagraphhereof,asa
m ended and m od if i ed.

“PledgedCollateral”hasthemeaningprovidedinSection2hereof.

“PledgedShares”hasthemeaningprovidedinSection2(a)hereof.

“Pledgor”hasthemeaningprovidedintheintroductoryparagraphhereof.

“PPSA”meansthePersonalPropertySecurity Actasinforcefromtimetotimeintherelev
antprovinceorterritory of C anada.

“SecuredObligations”means,withoutduplication,(a)allObligationsand(b)allcosts
and expenses incurredinconnectionwithenforcementandcollectionofthe Secured Obligations,inc
ludingreasonablelegal feesand expenses.

“STA”meanstheSecuritiesTransferActasinforcefromtimetotimeintherelevantprovi
nceorterritoryofCan ada.

“UCC”meansthe UniformCommercialCodeasineffectinthestateofNewYorkfromtimet
otime.

2. PledgeandGrantofSecuritylnterest. Tosecurethepromptpaymentandperformanceinfullw
hen due,whetherbylapseoftime,acceleration,mandatoryprepaymentorotherwise,oftheSecuredObligati
ons,thePledgorherebygrants,pledgesandassignstotheCollateralAgent,forthebenefitoftheholderso
ftheSecuredObligations,acontinuingsecurityinterestinanyandallright,titleandinterestofthePled
gorinandtothefollowing,whethernowownedorexistingorowned,acquired,orarisinghereafter(collec
tively,the“PledgedCollateral”):

(a) PledgedShares.Sixty-fivepercent(65%)(or,ifless,thefullamountownedbythePledg
or)oftheissuedandoutstanding v oting C ap i tal S tock (or 1 00% of the non - v oting C api t al S toc k ) o wn ed by t he
PledgorofeachMaterialFirst-TierForeignSubsidiaryandeachExcluded Subsidiaryformedorexis
tingunderthelawsofCanada,oranyprovinceorterritorythereof,setforthonSchedule2(a)attachedher
eto,ineachcasetogetherwiththecertificates(orotheragreementsorinstruments),ifany,representin
gsuchCapital Stock,andalloptionsandotherrights,contractualorotherwise,withrespectthereto(coll
ectively,togetherwiththeCapitalStockdescribedinSection2(b)and2(c)below,the“PledgedShare
s”),includingthefollowing:




(A) allshares,securities,membershipinterestsorotherequityinterestsr
epresentingadividendonanyofthePledgedShares,orrepresentingadistributionorret
urnofcapitaluponorinrespectofthePledgedShares,orresultingfromastocksplit,rev
ision,reclassificationorotherexchangetherefor,andanysubscriptions,warrants,right
soroptionsissuedtothecholderof,orotherwiseinrespectof,thePledgedShares;and

(B) withoutaffectingtheobligationsofthePledgorunderanyprovisionprohibiting
suchactionhereunderorunderthe Credit A gree ment, intheeventofanyconsolidationormergeri
nvolvingtheissuerofanyPledged Sharesandinwhichsuchissuerisnotthesurvivingentity,allC
apitalStockofthesuccessorentity formedby orresulting fromsuch consolidationormerger.

(b) AdditionalShares.Sixty-fivepercent(65%)(or,ifless,thefullamountowned by the
Pled g or) of the iss u ed and ou t s t and i ng v oting C api t al S tock (or 10 0 % of the non - v oting C apital Stock )owned
bythePledgorofany PersonthathereafterbecomesaMaterial First-TierForeignSubsidiaryoranE xclu
dedSubsidiary,formedorexistingunderthelawsofCanada,oranyprovinceorterritorythereof,includ
ingthecertificates(orotheragreementsorinstruments)representingsuchCapitalStock.

(c)Proceeds. AllProceedsofanyandalloftheforegoing.

Withoutlimitingthegeneralityoftheforegoing,itisherebyspecificallyunderstoodandagreedtha
tthePledgormayfromtimetotimehereafterdeliveradditionalCapitalStocktotheCollateralA gentascoll
ateralsecurityfortheSecuredObligations.UpondeliverytotheCollateralAgent,suchadditionalCapital
StockshallbedeemedtobepartofthePledgedCollateralofthePledgorandshallbesubjecttothetermsofth
isPledgeAgreementwhetherornotSchedule?2(a)isamendedtorefertosuchadditionalCapitalStock.Not
withstandinganythingtothecontrarycontainedherein,thesecurityinterestsgrantedunderthisPledgeA
greementshallnotextendto,andthe“PledgedCollateral”shallnotinclude,anyExcludedProperty.

3.SecurityforSecuredObligations.Thesecurityinterestcreatedhe
rebyinthePledged

CollateralofthePledgorconstitutescontinuingcollateralsecurityforalloftheSecuredObligatio
ns.

4.DeliveryofthePledgedCollateral. ThePledgorherebyagreesthat:

(a) TotheextentthatPledgedCollateraliscertificated,thePledgorshall(subjecttothe
provisionsof Section7.14oftheCreditAgreement)delivertotheCollateral Agent(i)simultaneously
withorpriortotheexecutionanddeliveryofthisPledge Agreement,allcertificatesrepresentingthePl
edged Sharesofthe Pledgorand (ii)promptlyuponthereceiptthereof by oronbehal fofthePledgor,allother
certificatesandinstrumentsconstitutingPledgedCollateralofthePledgor. TheCollateral Agenther
eby ackno w ledgesthatthecertificaterepresentingthe Pledged SharesoftheP1edgorasofthedatehereofw
aspreviouslydeliveredtoitscounselinconnectionwiththe ExistingPledge Agreement.Priortodeliver
ytotheCollateral Agent,allsuchcertificatesandinstrumentsconstitutingPledgedCollateraloft
he PledgorshallbeheldintrustbythePledgor forthebenefitoftheCollateral Agentpursuanthereto. All
suchcertificatesshallbedeliveredinsuitableformfortransferbydeliveryorshallbeaccom paniedbydu
lyexecutedinstrumentsoftransferorassignmentinblank,substantiallyintheformprovidedinExhi
bit4 (a)attached hereto.



(b) AdditionalSecurities.IfthePledgorshallreceivebyvirtueofitsbeingorhaving
beentheownerofanyPledgedCollateral,any(i)certificate,includinganycertificaterepresenti
ngadividendordistributioninconnectionwithanyincreaseorreductionofcapital,reclassific
ationmerger,consolidation,saleofassets,combinationofsharesorotherequityinterests,sto
cksplits,spin-offorsplit-off,promissorynotesorotherinstruments;(ii)optionorright,whet
herasanadditionto,substitutionfor,oranexchangefor,anyPledgedCollateralorotherwise;(iii
)dividendspayableinsecurities;or(iv)distributionsofsecuritiesinconnectionwithapartialor
totalliquidation,dissolutionorreductionofcapital,capitalsurplusorpaid-insurplus,thenthe
Pledgorshallreceivesuchcertificate,instrument,option,rightordistributionintrustforthe
benefitoftheCollateralAgent,shallsegregateitfromthePledgor’sotherpropertyandshalldel
iveritforthwithtotheCollateralAgentintheexactformreceivedtogetherwithanynecessaryendo
rsementand/orappropriatestockpowerdulyexecutedinblank,substantiallyintheformprovi
dedinExhibit4(a),tobeheldbytheCollateralAgentasPledgedCollateralandasfurthercollat
eralsecurityfortheSecuredObligations.

(¢ FinancingStatements.Totheextentrequiredbyapplicablelaw,thePledgorauthorizesthe
Collateral Agenttofileoneormore financingstatementsdisclosingtheCollateral Agent’ssecurityinter
estinthePledgedCollateral. ThePledgorshallexecuteanddelivertotheCollateralAgentsuchother
applicablefinancingstatements,otherfilingsandotherdocumentsasmay bereasonab lyrequestedby
theCollateral AgentinordertoperfectandprotectthesecurityinterestcreatedherebyinthePledged Co
Ilateralofthe Pled g or.

5. RepresentationsandWarranties. ThePledgorherebyrepresentsandwarrantstotheColl
ateralAgent,forthebenefitoftheholdersoftheSecuredObligations,thatsolongasanyoftheSecu
redObligationsremainsoutstandinganduntilallofthecommitmentsrelatingtheretohavebeentermi
nated:

(a) AuthorizationofPledgedShares.TheP Iedged Shares have beendulyauthorizedandvalid
lyissued,arefullypaidandnon-assessableandarenotsubjecttothepre-emptiverightsofany Person.

(b) Title.ThePledgorhasgoodandindefeasibletitletothePledgedCollateralo fthePledg
orandisthelegalandbeneficialownerofsuchPledgedCollateralfreeandclearo fanyLien,otherthan
Permitted Liens. Withrespecttothe Pledged SharesofthePledgor,thereexistsno “adverseclaim”within
t he m eaning of (i) Sec t ion 8 - 102 of the UC C or (ii) any corr e spon d ing pro v is i on of the PPS A .

(c) ExercisingofRights. TheexercisebytheCollateral Agentofitsrightsandremedieshe
reunderwillnotviolateany Laworgovemn mentalregulationoranymaterialcontractualrestrictionbindi
ngonoraffectingthePledgororanyofitsproperty.

(d) Pledgor’sAuthority. Noauthorization,approvaloractionby,andnonoticeorfiling
with,anyGovernnmental AuthorityortheissuerofanyPledgedShares,itsdirectorsorsharcholdersisre
quiredeither (i) forthepledgemade by the Pled g or or for t he g rantingof thesecurityinterestbythePledgor
pursuanttothisPledge A greement (exceptashavebeenalreadyobtained)or(ii)fortheexercisebytheCo
llateral AgentortheholdersoftheSecuredObligationsoftheirrightsandre medieshereunder(excepta
smayberequiredbyLawsaffectingtheofferingandsaleofsecurities),exceptforsuchauthorization,
approvalsoractionsashavealreadybeenobtainedorperformedandareinfullforceandeffect. Withoutli
mitingthegeneralityoftheforegoing,therearenorestrictionsinanyofthe OrganizationD ocum entsoft

heissuerofthePledgedShareswhichwouldlimitorrestrictthegrantofsecurityinteresthereunderort
he



exerciseoftherightsandremediesconferredherebyexceptsuchrestrictionsashavealreadybeenco
mpliedwith.

(¢) SecurityInterest/Priority.ThisPledgeAgreementcreatesavalidsecurityinterestinfa
vouroftheCollateral A gentforthebenefitoftheholdersoftheSecuredObligations,inthePledgedColla
teral. Thetaking of possessionbythe Collateral Agentoritsdulyauthorizedagentofthecertificatesrep
resentingthe Pled ged Shares, ortheacknowledgementbysuchagentthatitholdssuchcertificatesforthe
Agent,togetherwithdulyexecutedinstrumentsoftransferorassignmentinblank,substantiallyinthef
ormprovidedinScheduled4 (a)attachedhereto,andallothercertificatesandinstrumentsconstituting
PledgedCollateral,willperfectandestablishthefirstpriorityoftheCollateral Agent’ssecurityintere
stinthe Pled ged Shares,andsuchpossessionwillestablishthefirstpriorityofsuchsecurityinterestinall
otherPledgedCollateralrepresentedbysuchPledged SharesandinstrumentssecuringtheSecuredObli
gations. ExceptassetforthinthisSectionS(e),noactionisnecessaryatthistimetoperfectorotherw
iseprotectsuchsecurityintere st

® PartnershipandMembershipInterests. Asofthedateher eof, none of the Pled g ed Sh a res
consistofpartnershiporlimitedliabilitycompanyinterests. ExceptaspreviouslydisclosedtotheColla
teral A gent, none of the Pled ged Sharesconsistingofpartnershiporlimitedliability companyinterests (i)
isdealtinortradedonasecuritiesexchangeorinasecuritiesmarket, (il) by itst e r m s expre s sly pro v ides t h
atitisasecuritygovernedby Article 8 ofthe UCCoranycorrespondingprovisionsofthe STA,(iii)isaninv
estmentcompanysecurity,(iv)isheldinasecuritiesaccountor(v)constitutesaSecurityoraFinancial
Asset.

(g) NoOtherInterests. AsoftheClosingDate,pursuanttothetermsoftheCreditA greement,
the Pled gorisnotre quired topled ge any C apital St ock in any Subsidiary otherthanassetforthonSchedule 2 (
a)attachedheretooraspledgedpursuanttoany otherpledgeagreementbythePledgortotheCollateral A
genttosecurethe SecuredObligations.

(h) Noneoftheissuersofthe Pledged Sharesareunlimitedliability com paniesand ne i ther the C
ollateral A gentnorany otherpersonshallbeliable fortheobligationsofanyissuerofthePledgedSharesas
aresultofthe grantof securityinteresthereunderorthe exerciseoftherightsandremediesconferredhereby.

6.Covenants.ThePledgorherebycovenants,thatsolongasanyoftheSecuredObl
igationsremainsoutstandinganduntilallofthecommitmentsrelatingtheretohavebeenterminated,t
hePledgorshall:

(a) BooksandRecords.UponthereasonablerequestoftheCollateral Agent, markitsbooks
andrecords(andshallcausetheissuerofthePledged SharesofthePledgortomarkitsbooksandrecords)to
reflectthesecurityinterestgrantedtotheCollateral Agent,forthebenefitoftheholdersofthe Secured
Obligations,pursuanttothisPledge Agreement.

(b) Defenseof Title. WarrantanddefendtitletoandownershipofthePledgedCollateralo
fthePledgoratitsownexpenseagainsttheclaimsanddemandsofallotherpartiesclaiminganinter e stth
erein,keepthePledgedCollateralfreefromall Liens,exceptforPermittedLiens,andnotsell,exchange,
transfer,assign,leascorotherwisedisposecofPledgedCollateralofthePledgororanyinteresttherein, ex
ceptaspermitte dunder the Cre dit A g ree m ent and the o th e r Loan D ocu m ents.




(c¢) FurtherAssurances. Promptlyexecuteanddeliveratitsexpenseallfurtherinstrum
entsanddocumentsandtakeallfurtheractionthatmaybenecessaryanddesirableorthattheCollat
eral Agentmayreasonablyrequestinorderto(i)perfectandprotectthesecurityinterestcreated
herebyinthePledgedCollateralofthePledgor(includinganyandallactionnecessarytosatisfyth
eCollateralAgentthattheCollateral Agenthasobtainedafirstpriorityperfectedsecurityinte
restinallPledgedCollateral);(ii)enabletheCollateralAgenttoexerciseandenforceitsrights
andremedieshereunderinrespectofthePledgedCollateralofthePledgor;and(iii)otherwiseeff
ectthepurposesofthisPledgeAgreement.

(d) Amendments. Notmakeorconsenttoanyamendmentorothermodificationorwaiverw
ithrespecttoany ofthe PledgedCollateralofthe Pledgororenterintoanyagreementorallowtoexistany
restrictionwithrespecttoanyofthePledgedCollateralofthePledgorotherthanpursuantheretoorasm
aybepermittedunderthe CreditA gree m ent.

() CompliancewithSecuritieslaws.Fileallreportsandotherinform ationnow or her e a f ter
requiredtobefiledbythe Pled gorwiththe SEC,theOntarioSecurities Commission,and any otherstate, p
rovincial,territorial,federalorforeignagencyinconnectionwiththeownershipofthePledgedCollat
eralofthePledgor.

) IssuanceorAcquisitionofCapitalStockConsistingofaninterestinaPartnershipo
ralimitedLiabilityCompany.Not, withoutexecutinganddelivering, orcausingtobeexecutedanddeli
vered,totheCollateral Agentsuchagreements,documentsandinstrumentsastheCollateral A gentm ay
require,issucoracquireany CapitalStockofaSubsidiaryconsistingofaninterestinapartnershiporalim
itedliability companythat(i)isdealtinortradedonasecuritiesexchangeorinasecuritiesmarket, (ii)b
yitstermsexpresslyprovidesthatitisasecuritygovemnedby Article8oftheUCCorthe STA,(iii)isanin
vestmentcompanysecurity,(iv)isheldinasecuritiesaccountor(v)constitutesaSecurityoraFinanc
ial Asset.

7. AdvancesbyHoldersoftheSecuredObligations.OnfailureofthePledgortoperformany
ofthecovenantsandagreementscontainedhereinanduponpriorwrittennoticetothePledgor,theCo
llateral Agentmay,atitssoleoptionandinitssolediscretion,performthesameandinsodoingmay
expendsuchsumsastheCollateral Agentmayreasonablydeemadvisableintheperformancethereof,i
ncludingthepaymentofanyinsurancepremiums,thepaymentofanytaxes,apaymenttoobtainarelea
seofalienorpotentialLien,expendituresmadeindefendingagainstanyadverseclaimandallother
expendituresthattheCollateralAgentmaymakefortheprotectionofthesecurityhereoformaybeco
mpelledtomakebyoperationofLaw. Allsuchsumsandamountssoexpendedshallberepayablebyth
ePledgorpromptlyupontimelynoticethereofanddemandtherefor,shallconstituteadditionalSecur
edObligationsandshall,subjecttoSection2.080ftheCreditAgreement,bearinterestfromthedate
sasidamountsarecexpendedattheratethenapplicabletoRevolvingLoansthatareBaseRateLoans.
NosuchperformanceofanycovenantoragreementbytheCollateralAgentonbehalfofthePledgor,a
ndnosuchadvanceorexpendituretherefor,shallrelievethePledgorofanydefaultunderthetermso
fthisPledgeAgreement,theotherLoanDocumentsoranyotherdocumentsrelatingtotheSecuredO
bligations.TheCollateral Agentmaymakeanypaymentherebyauthorizedinaccordancewithanybi
ll,statementorestimateprocuredfromtheappropriatepublicofficeorholderoftheclaimtobedisch
argedwithoutinquiryintotheaccuracyofsuchbill,statementorestimateorintothevalidityofanyta
xassessment,sale,forfeiture,taxlien,titleorclaimexcepttotheextentsuchpaymentisbeingcontes
tedingoodfaithbythePledgorinappropriateproceedingsandagainstwhichadequatereservesareb
eingmaintainedinaccordancewithGAAP.



8 EventsofDefault.TheoccurrenceofaneventthatwouldconstituteanEventofDefa
ultundertheCreditAgreementshallbeanEventofDefaulthereunder(an“EventofDefault™).

9. Remedies.

(a) GeneralRemedies.UpontheoccurrenceofanE ventofDefaultandduringthecontinuation
thereof,theCollateralAgentandtheholdersoftheSecuredObligationsshallhave,inadditiontotherig
hts a nd re m edies pro vided her ein, in t he Loan D ocu m ents, in any ot he rdocumentsrelatingtothe Secured Obli
gations,orby Law (includinglevyofattachmentand garnishment),therightsandre mediesofasecuredparty
under the UC Corthe PPS A ,asthecasemaybe,ofthejurisdictionapplicabletotheenforcementofsecu
rityinterestsintheaffectedPledgedCollateral.

(b) SaleofPledgedCollateral. UpontheoccurrenceofanEventofDefaultandduringthec
ontinuationthereof, withoutlimitingthe generalityofthisSection9andwithoutnotice,theCollateralAg
entmay,initssolediscretion,sellorotherwisedisposeoforrealizeuponthePledgedCollateral,ora
nypartthereof,inoneormoreparcels,atpublicorprivatesale, atany exchangeorbroker’sboardorelsewh
ere,atsuchpriceorpricesandonsuchothertermsastheCollateral A gentmaydeemcomm ercially rea s ona
ble,forcash,creditorforfuturedeliveryorotherwiseinaccordancewithapplicableLaw.Totheextentp
ermitted by Law,anyholderofthe SecuredObligationsmayinsuchevent,bid for the purchaseofsuchsecur
ities. ThePledgoragreesthat,totheextentnoticeofsaleshallberequiredbylLawandhasnotbeenwai
v ed by the Pled g or, anyrequirementofreasonablenoticeshallbemetifnotice,specifyingtheplaceofany
publicsaleorthetimeafterwhichanyprivatesaleistobemade,ispersonallyservedonormailed,postage
prepaid,tothe Pledgor,inaccordancewiththenoticeprovisionsofSection11.02oftheCreditA gree ment
atleastten(l0)daysbeforethetimeofsuchsaleorsuchothernoticeasmayberequiredbyapplicable Law

TheCollateralAgentshallnotbeobligatedtomakeanysaleofPledgedCollateralofthePledgorreg
ardlessofnoticeofsalehaving beengiven. TheCollateralAgentmayadjournanypublicorprivatesalef
romtimetotimebyannounce mentatthetimeandplacefixedtherefor,andsuchsalemay,withoutfurtherno
tice,bemadeatthetimeandplacetowhichitwassoadjourned.

(© PrivateSale. Upontheoccurrenceofan Eventof Defaultandduringthecontinuationthere
of,thePledgorrecognizesthattheCollateral Agentmaydeemitimpracticabletoeffectapublicsaleof
alloranypartofthePled ged Share s orany of the securitiesconstitutingPledgedCollateralandthatthe Co
Ilateral Agentmay,therefore,determinetomakeoneormoreprivates ales of any suchPledgedCollateral
toarestrictedgroupofpurchaserswhowillbeobligatedtoagree,amongotherthings,toacquiresuch
PledgedCollateralfortheirownaccount, forinvestmentandnotwithaviewtothedistributionorresal
ethereof. ThePledgorherebywaivesanyclaimsagainsttheCollateral Agentarisingbyreasonth atany su
chprivatesaleshallnothavebeenmadeinacommerciallyreasonablemannerandagreesthattheCollateral
AgentshallhavenoobligationtodelaysaleofanysuchPledgedCollateralfortheperiodoftimenecessa
rytopermittheissuerofsuchPledgedCollateraltoregistersuchPledgedCollateralforpublicsaleund
ertheSecurities Actof 1933,asamended (the“Securities Act”)orqualifysuchPledgedCollateral forsale
underthe applicable Lawasinforcefromtimetotimeintherelevantprovinceorterritory of Canada. The
PledgorfurtheracknowledgesandagreesthatanyoffertosellsuchPledgedCollateralthathasbeen (i)
publiclyadvertisesdonabonafidebasisinanewspaperorotherpublicationofgencralcirculationinthef
inancialcommunity of New Y ork, New Y ork (tothe extentthatsuchof fermaybeadvertisedwithoutpriorre
gistrationunderthe Securities ActortheapplicablelLawasinforcefromtimetotimeintherelevantprov
inceor



territoryofCanada),or(ii)madeprivatelyinthemannerdescribedaboveshallbedeemedtoinvolvea
“publicsale’underthe UCCandthePPS A ,asapplicable,notwithstandingthatsuchsalemaynotconstitut
ea“publicoffering”undertheSecuritiesActortheapplicable Lawasinforcefromtimetotimeintherel
evantprovinceorterritoryofCanada,andtheCollateralAgentmay,insuchevent,bidforthepurchase
ofsuchPledgedCollateral.

(d) RetentionofPledgedCollateral . TotheextentpermittedunderapplicableLaw,inaddit
iontotherightsandremedieshereunder,upontheoccurrenceandcontinuanceofan Eventof Default,the Collat
eral Agentmay,afterproviding the noticesrequired by Sections 9-

620 and 9 - 621 of the UCCorSection650fthePPSA(Ontario)asapplicable,orotherwisecomplyingwitht
herequirementsofapplicablelLawoftherelevantjurisdiction,acceptorretain
alloranyportionofthePledgedCollateralinsatisfactionoftheSecuredObligations.Unlessandunt
iltheCollateral Agentshallhaveprovidedsuchnotices,however,theCollateralAgentshall
notbedeemedtohaveacceptedorretainedanyPledgedCollateralinsatisfactionofany Secured
Obligationsforanyreason.

(¢) Deficiency.Intheeventthattheproceedsofanysale,collectionorrealizationareinsuffici
enttopayallamountstowhichtheCollateralAgentortheholdersoftheSecuredObligationsarelegallyenti
tled,thePledgorshallbeliableforthedeficiency,togetherwithinterestthereonattheDefaultRate,togeth
erwiththecostsofcollectionandreasonablelegalfeesandexpenses.Anysurplusrem aining a fter the full pay m
entandsatisfactionoftheSecuredObligationsshallbereturnedtothePledgorortowhomsoeveracourtofco
mpetentjurisdictionshalldeterminetobeentitledthere to.

10. RightsoftheCollateralAgent.

(a) Powerof Attorney.Inadditiontootherpowersofattorneycontainedherein,the P 1edgor
hereby designatesandappointstheCollateral A gent,onbehal foftheholdersofthe Secured Obligations, and each
ofitsdesigneesoragents,asattorney-in-factofthePledgor,irrevocablyandwithpowerofsubstitution, with
authoritytotakeanyorallofthefollowingactionsupontheoccurrenceandduringthecontinuation ofanEventof
Default:

(1) todemand, collect,settle,compromisecandadjust,andgivedischargesandreleases
concerningthePledgedCollateral,allastheCollateral Agentmayreasonablydeemappropriate;

(i1) to co mm ence and pro s ec u t e any ac t ions at a ny court for the p u rp o ses o f co I le ¢ ting any of
thePledgedCollateralanden forcinganyotherrightinrespectthereof;

(ii1) todefend,settleorcompromiseanyactionbroughtand,inconnectiontherewith,give
suchdischargeorreleaseasthe Collateral A gentmayreasonably deemappropriate;

iv) topayordischargetaxes,liens,securityinterestsorotherencumbrancesleviedorpl
acedonorthreatenedagainstthePledgedCollateral;

(v) todirectanypartiesliableforanypay m entinconn ectionw ithanyofthePledgedColla
ter al to m ake pay m ent of any and all m onies due and to become duethereunderdirectlytothe Collateral A
gentorastheCollateral Agentshalldirect;



(vi) toreceivepaymentofandreceiptforanyandallmonies,claims,andotheram
ountsduecandtobecomeducatanytimeinrespectoforarisingoutofanyPledgedCollateral;

(vii) tosignandendorseanydrafts,assignments, proxies,stockpowers,verifications,no
ticesandotherdocumentsrelatingtothePledgedCollateral;

(viii) to execute and deliver all assignments, conveyances, statem ents,financing
statements,renewal financingstatements,securityandpledgeagreements,affidavits,noticesando
theragreements,instrumentsand documentsthattheCollateral A gent m ay reasonably de e m appropria
teinordertoperfectandmaintainthesecurityinterestsandliensgrantedinthisPledge A gree ment
andinordertofullyconsummateallofthetransactionscontemplatedtherein;

(ix) to e xchan g e any of the Pledged Collateralorother prop e rty upon any m er g er, conso | id
ation,reorganization,recapitalizationorotherreadjustmentoftheissuerthereofand,inconne ction
therewith,depositanyofthePledged Collateralwithanycommittee,depository,transferagentreg
istrarorotherdesignatedagencyuponsuchtermsastheCollateral A gentm ay reasona b ly deem approp
riate;

(x) tovoteforashareholderresolution,ortosignaninstrumentinwriting, san c tio n ing the
trans fer o fany or all of the Pled ged Collateralintothenameofthe Collateral A gentoron e or m ore of
theholdersoftheSecuredObligationsorintothename ofany transfereetow homthe PledgedCollater
aloranypartthereofmaybesoldpursuanttoSection9hereof;and

(x1) todoandperformallsuchotheractsandthingsastheCollateral A gentmay reason
ablydeemappropriateorconvenientinconnectionwiththePledgedCollateral.

Thispowerofattorneyisapowercoupledwithaninterestandshallbeirrevocableforsolongas
any ofthe SecuredObligationsshallremainoutstandinganduntilallofthecommitmentsrelatingtheret
oshallhavebeenterminated. TheCollateralAgentshallbeundernodutytoexerciseorwithholdtheexe
rciseofanyoftherights,powers,privilegesandoptionsexpresslyorimplicitlygrantedtotheCollatera
lAgentinthisPledgeAgreement,andshallnotbeliableforanyfailuretodosooranydelayindoingso.
TheCollateralAgentshallnotbeliableforanyactoromissionorforanyerrorofjudgmentoranymistake
offactorLawinitsindividualcapacityoritscapacityasattorney-in-factexceptactsoromissionsresult
ingfromitsgrossnegligenceorwilfulmisconduct. ThispowerofattorneyisconferredontheCollatera
lAgentsolelytoprotect,preserveandrealizeuponitssecurityinterestinthePledgedCollateral.

(b) Assignmentby the CollateralAgent. The CollateralAgentmay assignthe Secured O
bligationsandanyportion thereofand/orthePledged Collateraland anyportionthereoftoasuccessorcolla
teralagentappointedpursuanttoSection 10.09 ofthe Credit A greement,andtheassigneeshallbeentitledto
alloftherightsandremediesoftheCollateralAgentunderthisPledgeAgreementinrelationther eto.

(©) TheCollateralAgent’sDutyofCare.Otherthantheexerciseofreasonablecaretoassureth
esafecustodyandpreservationofthePledgedCollateralwhilebeingheldbythe Collateral Agenthereunder,
theCollateral Agentshallhavenodutyorliabilitytopreserverights
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pertainingthereto,itbeingunderstoodandagreedthatthePledgorshallberesponsibleforpreservat
ionofallrightsinthePledgedCollateral,andtheCollateralAgentshallberelievedofallresponsib
ilityforthePledgedCollateraluponsurrenderingitortenderingthesurrenderofittothePledgor. Th
eCollateral Agentshallbedeemedtohaveexercisedreasonablecareinthecustodyandpreservationo
fthePledgedCollateralinitspossessionifsuchPledgedCollateralisaccorded treatmentsubstantia
lly equalto thatwhichtheCollateralAgentaccords itsownproperty,whichshallbenolessthanthe
treatmentemployedbyareasonableandprudentagentintheindustry,itbeingunderstoodthattheColla
teralAgentshallnothaveresponsibilityfor(i)ascertainingortakingactionwithrespecttocalls,co
nversions,exchanges,maturities,tendersorothermattersrelatingtoanyPledgedCollateral,whe
therornottheCollateralAgenthasorisdeemedtohaveknowledgeofsuchmatters,or(ii)takingany

necessarystepstopreserverightsagainstanypartieswithrespecttoanyofthePledgedCollateral.

(dVotingRightsinRespectofthePledgedCollateral.

(1) SolongasnoEventof Defaultshallhaveoccurredandbecontinuing,totheextentpe
rmittedbyLaw,thePledgormayexercisecanyandall votingandotherconsensualrightspertainingto
the Pledged Collateral of the Pled gororany partthe r eof for any purposenotinconsistentwiththeterms
ofthisPledge A gree ment or the Credit A g ree m ent; and

(i1) UpontheoccurrenceandduringthecontinuanceofanEventof Defaultandnoticef
romtheCollateral AgenttothePledgorthattheCollateral Agentintendstoexerciseitsrightspursu
anttothisparagraph(ii),allrightsofthePled gortoexercisethe votingandotherconsensualrightsth
atitwouldotherwisebeentitledtoexercisepursuanttoparagraph(i)ofthissubsectionshallcease
andallsuchrightsshallthereuponbecomevestedintheCollateral A gent, which shall then hav e thesole
righttoexercisesuchvotingandotherconsensualrights.

(e)DividendRightsinRespectofthePledgedCollateral.

(1) SolongasnoEventofDefaultshallhaveoccurredandbecontinuingandsubjectt
oSection4(b)hereof,thePledgormayreceiveandretainanyandalldividends(otherthanstock
dividendsandotherdividendsconstitutingPledgedCollateraladdressedhereinabove)orinte
restpaidinrespectofthePledgedCollateraltotheextenttheyareallowedundertheCreditA
greement.

(i1) UpontheoccurrenceandduringthecontinuanceofanEventofDefaultandnoticef
romtheCollateral Agenttothe PledgorthattheCollateral Agentintendstoexerciseitsrightspursua
nttothisparagraph(e):

(A) allrightsofthePledgortoreceivethedividendsandinterestpaymentsth at
itwouldotherwisebeauthorizedtoreceiveandretainpursuanttoparagraph(i)ofthis
subsectionshallceaseandallsuchrightsshallthereuponbevestedintheCollateral A gent,
whichshallthenhavethesolerighttoreceiveandholdasPledgedCollateralsuchdivid
ends and in t er e st pay m ents; and

(B) alldividendsandinterestpaymentsthatarereceivedbythe Pledgorcont
rarytotheprovisionsofparagraph(A)ofthissubsectionshallbereceivedintrustforthebe
nefitoftheCollateral Agent,shallbesegregated from




otherpropertyorfundsofthePledgor,andshallbeforthwithpaidovertotheColl
ateralAgentasPledgedCollateralintheexactformreceived,tobeheldbytheColl
ateralAgentasPledgedCollateralandasfurthercollateralsecurityfortheSecu

redObligations.

® ReleaseofPledgedCollateral.TheCollateralAgentmayreleaseanyofthePledg
edCollateralfromthisPledgeAgreementormaysubstituteanyofthePledgedCollateralforot
herPledgedCollateralwithoutaltering,varyingordiminishinginanywaytheforce,effect,l
ien,pledgeorsecurityinterestofthisPledgeAgreementastoanyPledgedCollateralnotexpre
sslyreleasedorsubstituted,andthisPledgeAgreementshallcontinueasafirstprioritylieno
nallPledgedCollateralnotexpresslyreleasedorsubstituted.

11. RightsofRequiredlLenders.AllrightsoftheCollateralAgenthereunder,ifnotexercised
bytheCollatecralAgent,maybeexercisedbytheRequiredLenders.

12. ApplicationofProceeds. UpontheoccurrenceandduringthecontinuationofanE ventofDefault,
any pay mentsinres pectofthe Secured O b li ga ti ons and any p r oceeds of the Pledged Collateral,whenreceivedbytheC
ollateral A gentorany oftheholdersoftheSecuredObligationsincashoritsequivalent,willbeappliedinreducti
onofthe Secured ObligationsintheordersetforthinSection9.030ftheCreditA greementasthoughtheword“Obli
gations”thereinweredeletedandreplacedwiththephrase“SecuredObligations,”andthePledgorirrevocablywa
ivestherighttodirectthe applicationofsuchpaymentsandproceeds and ackno w1l edges and agreesthatthe Collateral
A gentshallhavethecontinuingandexclusiverighttoapplyandreapplyanyandallsuchpaymentsandproceedsinthe
CollateralAgent’ssolediscretion,notwithstandinganyentrytothecontraryuponanyofitsbooksandrecords.

13. CostsofCounsel.Atalltimeshereafter,whetherornotupontheoccurrenceofanEventofDef
ault,thePledgoragreetopromptlypayupondemandanyandallreasonablecostsandexpenses(includingrea
sonablelegalfeesandexpenses)oftheCollateralAgentandtheholdersoftheSecuredObligations(a)asr
equiredunder Sectionll.04oftheCreditAgreementand(b)asnecessarytoprotectthePledgedCollateralo
rtoexerciseanyrightsorremediesunderthisPledge AgreementorwithrespecttoanyofthePledgedCollater
al.AlloftheforegoingcostsandexpensesshallconstituteSecuredObligationshereunder.

14.ContinuingAgreement.

(a) ThisPledge Agreementshallbeacontinuingagreementine veryresp ectandshallremaininf
ullforceandeffectsolongasanyoftheSecuredObligationsremainsoutstanding(otherthanc
ontingentindemnityobligationsnotyetdueandpayable)anduntilallofthecommitmentsrel
atingtheretohavebeenterminated. Uponsuchpaymentandtermination,thisPledge A greementshallbe
automaticallyterminatedandthe Collateral A gentshall, uponth erequ e standatthe expen se of the P led g or,
forthwithreleaseanddischargeallofitsliensandsecurityinterestshereunderandshallexecuteandde
liverallUC Cterminationstate ments, PPSA disc h ar g es an d /or ot h er docu m ents re a sona b ly r ¢ ques t ed by the P
ledgorevidencingsuchtermination,releasecanddischargeandshallre-deliverthecertificatesevidenci
ng the Pled ged Sharestothe Pled gorortosuchotherPersonasthePledgorshalldirect. Notwithstandingthe
foregoing,allindemnitiesprovidedhereundershallsurviveterminationofthisPledge A greement.

(b) ThisPledgeAgreementshallcontinuetobeeffectiveorbe automaticallyreinstated,as

thecasemaybe,ifatanytimepayment,inwholeorinpart,ofanyoftheSecuredObligationsisrescindedo
rmustotherwiseberestoredorreturned bythe Collateral A gentorany
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holderoftheSecuredObligationsasapreference, fraudulentconveyanceorotherwiseund eranyban
kruptcy,insolvencyorsimilarLaw,allasthoughsuchpaymenthadnotbeenmade;providedthatinth
eeventpaymentofalloranypartoftheSecuredObligationsisrescindedormustberestoredorretur
ned,allreasonablecostsandexpenses(includingreasonablelegalfeesandexpenses)incurredby
theCollateral AgentoranyholderoftheSecuredObligationsindefendingandenforcingsuchreinst
atementshallbedeemedtobeincludedasapartoftheSecuredObligations.

15. AmendmentsandWaivers. ThisPledgeAgreementandtheprovisionshereofmaynotbe
amended,waived, modified,changed,dischargedorterminatedexceptassetforthinSectionl1.01loft
heCreditAgreement;providedthatanyupdateorrevisiontoSchedule2(a)hereofshallnotconstitut
eanamendmentforpurposesofthisSectionlSorSectionl1.0loftheCreditAgreement.

16. Successorsinlinterest.ThisPledge Agreementshallcreateacontinuingsecurityinterestint
heCollateralandshallbebindinguponthePledgor,itssuccessorsandassigns,andshallinure,togetherwiththeri
ghtsandremediesoftheCollateral A gentandtheholdersoftheSecuredObligationshereunder,tothebenefitofthe
Collateral Agentandtheholdersofthe SecuredObligationsandtheirsuccessorsand permittedassigns;provi
ded, however, thatthe Pledgormaynotassign itsrightsordelegateitsdutieshereunder withoutthepriorwritten
consentoftherequisite Lendersunderthe CreditAgreement.

17. Notices.AllnoticesrequiredorpermittedtobegivenunderthisPledgeAgreementshallbeg
ivenasprovidedinSection11.020ftheCreditAgreement.

18. Counterparts.ThisPledgeAgreementmaybeexecutedinanynumberofcounterparts,eachofwh
ichwhensoexecutedanddeliveredshallbeanoriginal,butallofwhichshallconstituteoncandthesamein
sttument.ltshallnotbenecessaryinmakingproofofthisPledgeAgreementtoproduceoraccountformor
ethanonesuchcounterpart.

19. Headings. Theheadingsofthesectionsandsubsectionshereofareprovidedforconvenien
ceonlyandshallnotinanywayaffectthemeaningorconstructionofanyprovisionofthisPledgeAgreement

20Governinglaw:;Jurisdiction;WaiverofRighttoTrialbyJury:Etc.

(a) THISPLEDGEAGREEMENTANDANYCLAIMS,CONTROVERSY,DISPUTEORCAUSEOF
ACTION(WHETHERINCONTRACTORTORTOROTHERWISE)BASEDUPON,ARISINGOUTOFORR
ELATINGTOTHISPLEDGEAGREEMENTANDTHETRANSACTIONSCONTEMPLATEDHEREBY SHA
LLBEGOVERNEDBY,ANDCONSTRUEDINACCORDANCEWITH, THELAWSOFTHEPROVINCEOFON
TARIOANDTHEFEDERALLAWSOFCANADAAPPLICABLETHEREIN.

(b) EACHOFTHEPARTIESHERETOIRREVOCABLY ANDUNCONDITIONALLY AGR EESTHA
TITWILLNOTCOMMENCEANYACTION,LITIGATIONORPROCEEDINGOFANYKINDORDESCRIPT
ION,WHETHERINLAWOREQUITY,WHETHERINCONTRACTORINTORTOROTHERWISE,AGAIN
STTHECOLLATERALAGENT,ORANYRELATEDPARTYOFTHEFOREGOINGINANYWAYRELATI
NGTOTHISPLEDGEAGREEMENTORANYOTHERLOANDOCUMENTORTHETRANSACTIONSRELAT
INGTHERETO,INANYFORUMOTHERTHANTHECOURTSOFTHEPROVINCEOFONTARIOORTH
ECOURTSOFTHESTATEOFNEWYORKSITTINGINNEWYORKCOUNTYANDOFTHEUNITEDSTAT
ES
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DISTRICTCOURTOFTHESOUTHERNDISTRICTOFNEWYORK,ANDANYAPPELLATECOURTFRO
MANYTHEREOF, ANDEACHOFTHEPARTIESHERETOIRREVOCABLY ANDUNCONDITIONALLY S
UBMITSTOTHEJURISDICTIONOFSUCHCOURTSANDAGREESTHATALLCLAIMSINRESPECTOF
ANYSUCHACTION,LITIGATIONORPROCEEDINGMAYBEHEARDANDDETERMINEDINSUCH
NEWYORKSTATECOURTOR, TOTHEFULLESTEXTENTPERMITTEDBYAPPLICABLELAW,INSUCH
FEDERALCOURT. EACHOFTHEPARTIESHERETOAGREESTHATAFINALJUDGMENTINANY SUC
HACTION,LITIGATIONORPROCEEDINGSHALLBECONCLUSIVEANDMAYBEENFORCEDINOT
HERJURISDICTIONSBYSUITONTHEJUDGMENTORINANYOTHERMANNERPROVIDEDBYLAW.
NOTHINGINTHISPLEDGEAGREEMENTORINANYOTHERLOANDOCUMENTSHALLAFFECTANY
RIGHTTHATTHECOLLATERALAGENTMAYOTHERWISEHAVETOBRINGANYLEGALACTIONO
RPROCEEDINGRELATINGTOTHISPLEDGEAGREEMENTORANYOTHERLOANDOCUMENTAGAI
NSTTHEBORROWER,ORANYOTHERLOANPARTYORTHEIRPROPERTIESINTHECOURTSOFANY
JURISDICTION.

(c) EACHOFTHEPARTIESHERETOIRREVOCABLYANDUNCONDITIONALLYWAIVES, T
OTHEFULLESTEXTENTPERMITTEDBY APPLICABLELAW,ANYOBJECTIONTHATITMAYNOWO
RHEREAFTERHAVETOTHELAYINGOFVENUEOFANYACTIONORPROCEEDINGARISINGOUT
OFORRELATINGTOTHISPLEDGEAGREEMENTINANYCOURTREFERREDTOINPARAGRAPH(B)O
FTHISSECTION.EACHOFTHEPARTIESHERETOHEREBYIRREVOCABLYWAIVES, TOTHEFU
LLESTEXTENTPERMITTEDBYAPPLICABLELAW, THEDEFENSEOFANINCONVENIENTFORUMTO
THEMAINTENANCEOFSUCHACTIONORPROCEEDINGINANYSUCHCOURT.

(d) EACHOFTHEPARTIESHERETOIRREVOCABLYCONSENTSTOSERVICEOFPROCESS
INTHEMANNERPROVIDEDFORNOTICESINSECTION11.02OFTHECREDITAGREEMENT.NOTH
INGINTHISPLEDGEAGREEMENTWILLAFFECTTHERIGHTOFANYPARTY HERETO TO SERV
E PROCESS IN ANY OTHER MANNER PERMITTED BYAPPLICABLELAW.

(e) EACHOFTHEPARTIESHERETOHEREBYIRREVOCABLYWAIVES, TOTHEFULLEST
EXTENTPERMITTEDBY APPLICABLELAW,ANYRIGHTITMAYHAVETOATRIALBYJURYINANY
LEGALPROCEEDINGDIRECTLYORINDIRECTLYARISINGOUTOFORRELATINGTOTHISPLEDG
EAGREEMENTORTHETRANSACTIONSCONTEMPLATEDHEREBY(WHETHERBASEDONCONT
RACT, TORTORANYOTHERTHEORY). EACHPARTYHERETO(A)CERTIFIESTHATNOREPRESE
NTATIVE,AGENTORATTORNEYOFANYOTHERPERSONHASREPRESENTED,EXPRESSLYOROTH
ERWISE, THATSUCHOTHERPERSONWOULDNOT,INTHEEVENTOFLITIGATION,SEEKTOENF
ORCETHEFOREGOINGWAIVERAND(B)ACKNOWLEDGESTHATITANDTHEOTHERPARTIESHE
RETOHAVEBEENINDUCEDTOENTERINTOTHISPLEDGEAGREEMENTBY, AMONGOTHERTHING
STHEMUTUALWAIVERSANDCERTIFICATIONSINTHISSECTION.

21. Severability.IfanyprovisionofthisPledge Agreementoranyrelateddocumentisheldtobeill
egal,invalidorunenforceable,(a)thelegality,validityandenforceabilityoftheremainingprovisionsofthisPl
edge Agreementandanyotherrelateddocumentshallnotbeaffectedorimpairedthereby and (b)thepartiesshall
endeavoringood faithnegotiationstoreplacetheillegal,invalidorunenforceableprovisionswithvalidprovisionst
heeconomiceffectofwhichcomesasclosecaspossibletothatoftheillegal,invalidorunenforceableprovisions.
Theinvalidityofaprovisioninaparticularjurisdictionshallnotinvalidateorrenderunenforceablesuchprovisi
oninanyotherjurisdiction.

13



22. Entirety.ThisPledgeAgreement,theotherLoanDocumentsandtheotherdocumentsrela
tingtotheSecuredObligationscomprisethecompleteandintegratedagreementofthepartiesonthesubj
ectmatterhereofandthereofandsupersedesallprioragreements,writtenororal,onsuchsubjectmatter.
ThisPledgeAgreementwasdraftedwiththejointparticipationoftherespectivepartiestheretoandshall
beconstruedneitheragainstnorinfavourofanyparty,butratherinaccordancewiththefairmeaningthereo
f.

23. Survival. Allrepresentationsandwarrantiesmadehereunderorotherdocumentdelivered
pursuantheretoortheretoorinconnectionherewithortherewithshallsurvivetheexecutionanddelive
ryhereofandthereof.Suchrepresentationsandwarrantieshavebeenorwillberelieduponbythe Administ
rativeAgent,theCollateralAgentandeachLender,regardlessofanyinvestigationmadebytheAdministra
tiveAgent,theCollateralAgentoranylLenderorontheirbehalfandnotwithstandingthattheAdministrativ
eAgent,theCollateral Agentorany LendermayhavehadnoticeorknowledgeofanyDefaultatthetimeofanyC
reditExtension,andshallcontinueinfullforceandeffectaslongasany LoanoranyotherObligationhereund
ershallremainunpaidorunsatisfiedoranylLetterofCreditshallremainoutstanding.

24, OtherSecurity. Totheextentthatany ofthe SecuredObligationsarenoworhereaftersecuredby
propertyotherthanthePledgedCollateral(includingrealandotherpersonalpropertyownedbythePledg
or),orbyaguarantee,endorsementorpropertyofanyotherPerson,thentheCollateral Agentshallhavether
ighttoproceedagainstsuchotherproperty,guaranteecorendorsementupontheoccurrenceofany EventofDef
ault,andtheCollateral Agentshallhavetheright,initssolediscretion,todeterminewhichrights,secu
rity,liens,securityinterestsorremediestheCollateral Agentshallatanytimepursue,relinquish,subo
rdinate,modifyortakewithrespectthereto,withoutinanywaymodifyingoraffectinganyofthemortheSecu
redObligationsoranyoftherightsoftheCollateralAgentortheholdersoftheSecuredObligationsundert
hisPledgeAgreement,underanyoftheotherLoanDocumentsorunderanyotherdocumentrelatingtothe Secu
redObligations.

25. Replacementof ExistingPledgeAgreement. Asofthedatehereof,theExistingPledgeAgree
mentshallbeamended,restatedandsupersededandreplacedinitsentiretybythisPledgeAgreement.

[SignaturesonF ollowing Pa g es]

TORO01:6249206:v4
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Each of the parties hereto has caused a counterpart of this Pledge Agreement to be duly executed and delivered as of the date first above
written.

PLEDGOR: ARMSTRONG WORLD INDUSTRIES, INC., a Pennsylvania
corporation

By: /s/ Brian L. MacNeal
Name: Brian L. MacNeal
Title: Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

ARMSTRONG WORLD INDUSTRIES, INC. AMENDED AND
RESTATED CANADIAN PLEDGE AGREEMENT




Accepted and agreed to as of the date first above written.

COLLATERAL
AGENT: BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as Collateral
Agent

By: /s/ Kimberly D. Williams Name:
Kimberly D. Williams Title: Vice
President

ARMSTRONG WORLD INDUSTRIES, INC. AMENDED AND
RESTATED CANADIAN PLEDGE AGREEMENT




SCHE DU LES

Schedule?2 (a) PledgedShares

EXHIBITS

Exhibit4(a) Form of St ock Po w er



Schedule?2(a)

to

Amendedand Restated Canadian Pled ge A gree m ent dated
asofAprill,2016
infavourofBankof America, N.A .,asCo
llateral A gent

PLE DG ED S HAR ES
Subsidiary ClassofShar NumberheldbyPled
es gor
Armstrong WorldIndustries Canad Com m on 500

alLtd.



Exhibit4(a)

to

AmendedandRestatedCanadianPledge A gree ment
datedasofAprill1,2016
infavourof Bankof America, N.A .,as C
ollateral A gent

FormoflrrevocableStock Power

FORVALUERECEIVED,theundersignedherebysells,assignsandtransfersto

thefollowingsharesofcapitalstockof [ ISSUER],a corporation:

No.ofSharesCerti
ficateNo.

andirrevocablyappoints itsagentandattorney-in-factto

transferalloranypartofsuchcapitalstockandtotakeallnecessaryandappropriateactiontoeffectanys
uchtransfer.Theagentandattorney-in-factmaysubstituteandappointoneormorepersonstoactforhim.T
heeffectivenessofatransferpursuanttothisstockpowershallbesubjecttoanyandalltransferrestrictio
nsreferencedonthefaceofthecertificatesevidencingsuchinterestorinthecertificateofincorporation
orbylawsofthesubjectcorporation,tothecextenttheymayfromtimetotimeexist.

ARMSTRONG W ORLDINDUSTRIES,INC.

By:
Name:
Title:



Armstrong World Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Computation of Earnings Per Share
(amounts in millions, except per share data)

Basic earnings per share from continuing operations
Earnings from continuing operations

Earnings allocated to participating non-vested share awards
Earnings from continuing operations attributable to common shares

Basic weighted average number of common shares outstanding
Basic earnings per share from continuing operations
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations

Earnings from continuing operations
Earnings allocated to participating non-vested share awards

Earnings from continuing operations attributable to common shares
Basic weighted average number of common shares outstanding
Dilutive effect of common stock equivalents

Diluted weighted average number of common shares outstanding

Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations

Exhibit No. 11

2017 2015
220.6 993 $ 57.9
(0.7) (0.3) (0.2)
219.9 99.0 $ 577
533 55.4 55.5
4.12 179§ 1.04
220.6 993 $ 57.9
(0.7) (0.3) (0.2)
219.9 99.0 $ 577
533 55.4 55.5
0.6 0.3 0.4
53.9 55.7 559
4.08 178§ 1.03



Armstrong World Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges

(dollar amounts in millions)

Exhibit No. 12

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
Determination of Earnings

Earnings from continuing operations before income taxes $ 222.1  § 1506 $ 946 $ 154.5 116.0

Equity earnings from joint venture (67.0) (73.1) (66.1) (65.1) (59.4)

Earnings from continuing operations before income taxes and

equity earnings $ 1551  $ 7715 $ 285 § 89.4 56.6
Add:

Fixed charges 38.9 51.5 47.1 48.9 73.0

Distributed income from equity affiliates (1) - - - -

Amortization of capitalized interest 0.1 0.2 0.2 - 0.3
Less:

Capitalized interest (1.3) 0.3) (0.3) (0.6) 0.4)
Total earnings as defined $ 1928 $ 1289 $ 750 $ 137.7 129.5
Fixed charges
Interest expense $ 354 §$ 495 § 446 § 46.6 71.0
Capitalized interest 1.3 0.3 0.8 0.6 0.4
Estimate of interest included in rent expense (2) 2.2 1.7 1.7 1.7 1.6
Total fixed charges $ 389 § 515 8§ 471 § 48.9 73.0
Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges 5.0 2.5 1.6 2.8 1.8

()] Includes only return on investment, not return of investment

(@] One-third of rental expense is considered to be representative of the interest factor in rental expense.



Exhibit No. 21

Subsidiaries of Armstrong World Industries, Inc.
December 31, 2017

The following is a list of subsidiaries of Armstrong World Industries, Inc., omitting certain subsidiaries, which, when not considered in the aggregate, but as a
single subsidiary, would not constitute a significant subsidiary.

Jurisdiction of

U.S. Subsidiaries Incorporation
Armstrong Cork Finance LLC Delaware
Armstrong Ventures, Inc. Delaware
Armstrong World Industries (Delaware) LLC Delaware
AWI Licensing Company Delaware

Jurisdiction of
Non U.S. Subsidiaries Incorporation

Armstrong World Industries LTD United Kingdom




Exhibit No. 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors
Armstrong World Industries, Inc.:

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements (Nos. 333-138034, 333-154765, 333-177072, and 333-212457) on Form S-8 and in the
registration statement (No. 333-202253) on Form S-3 of Armstrong World Industries, Inc. of our reports dated February 26, 2108, with respect to the consolidated
balance sheets of Armstrong World Industries, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, and the related consolidated statements of earnings and
comprehensive income, equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2017, and the related notes and financial
statement schedule of valuation and qualifying reserves (collectively, the “consolidated financial statements™), and the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2017, which reports appear in the December 31, 2017 annual report on Form 10-K of Armstrong World Industries, Inc.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
February 26, 2018



Exhibit No. 23.2

Consent of Independent Auditors

The Board of Directors
Worthington Armstrong Venture:

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements (Nos. 333-138034, 333-154765, 333-177072 and 333-212457) on Form S-8 and in the
registration statements (No. 333-202253) on Form S-3 of Armstrong World Industries, Inc. of our report dated February 19, 2018, with respect to the consolidated
balance sheets of Worthington Armstrong Venture and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, and the related consolidated statements of income and
comprehensive income, partners’ deficit, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2017, and the related notes, which report
appears in the December 31, 2017 annual report on Form 10-K of Armstrong World Industries, Inc.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
February 26, 2018



Exhibit No. 31.1

I, Victor D. Grizzle, certify that:

1)

2)

3)

4)

5)

I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of Armstrong World Industries, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

a)

b)

¢)

d)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a)

a)

Date:

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal controls over
financial reporting.

February 26, 2018
/s/ Victor D. Grizzle

Victor D. Grizzle
Director, President and Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit No. 31.2

I, Brian L. MacNeal, certify that:

1)

2)

3)

4)

5)

I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of Armstrong World Industries, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

a)

b)

¢)

d)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a)

b)

Date:

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal controls over
financial reporting.

February 26, 2018
/s/ Brian L. MacNeal

Brian L. MacNeal
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit No. 32.1
Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
I certify to the best of my knowledge and belief that the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Armstrong World Industries, Inc. (the “Company”) containing its
financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) and 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended, and that information contained in that report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the

Company as of that date.

/s/ Victor D. Grizzle

Victor D. Grizzle
Director, President and Chief Executive Officer
Armstrong World Industries, Inc.

Dated: February 26,2018



Exhibit No. 32.2
Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
I certify to the best of my knowledge and belief that the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Armstrong World Industries, Inc. (the “Company’) containing its
financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) and 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended, and that information contained in that report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the

Company as of that date.

/s/ Brian L. MacNeal

Brian L. MacNeal
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Armstrong World Industries, Inc.

Dated: February 26,2018



Exhibit No. 99.1

WORTHINGTON ARMSTRONG VENTURE
Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31,2017 and 2016

(With Independent Auditors’ Report Thereon)
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Independent Auditors’ Report
The Board of Directors
Worthington Armstrong Venture:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Worthington Armstrong Venture and its subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated
balance sheets as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, and the related consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income, partners’ deficit, and cash flows
for each of the years in the three year period ended December 31, 2017, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Worthington Armstrong
Venture and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three year period
ended December 31, 2017 in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
February 19, 2018



WORTHINGTON ARMSTRONG VENTURE
Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31,2017 and 2016
(Dollar amounts in thousands)

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Accounts receivable, net
Receivables from affiliates
Inventory, net
Other current assets
Current assets of discontinued operations held for sale (Note 3)
Total current assets
Property, plant, and equipment, net
Goodwill
Other assets
Non-current assets of discontinued operations held for sale (Note 3)
Total assets

Liabilities and Partners' Deficit
Accounts payable
Accounts payable to affiliates
Accrued expenses
Taxes payable
Short-term borrowings
Current liabilities of discontinued operations held for sale (Note 3)
Total current liabilities
Long-term liabilities:
Long-term debt
Other long-term liabilities
Total long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Partners’ deficit:
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total partners’ deficit
Total liabilities and partners’ deficit

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

2017 2016
26,856  $ 34,387
6,897 5,782
27,751 23,523
2,594 4212
32,586 28,196
97 172
36,439 16,863
133,220 113,135
24311 24,830
8,037 8,037
218 41
I 17,373
165,786  $ 163,416
11,810 $ 14,117
1,145 751
5,021 4,095
158 172
— 14,000
8,095 8,173
26,229 41,308
243,508 239,522
3,104 4,489
246,612 244,011
272,841 285,319
(94,421) (102,870)
(12,634) (19,033)
(107,055) (121,903)
165,786 $ 163,416




WORTHINGTON ARMSTRONG VENTURE
Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income
Years ended December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015

(Dollar amounts in thousands)

Net sales
Cost of sales
Gross margin
Selling, general, and administrative expenses

Other (expense), net
Interest income
Interest expense
Income from continuing operations before income tax expense
Income tax expense
Net income from continued operations
Discontinued Operations (Note 3)
Net income from discontinued operations, net of tax expense
Total Net Income

Other comprehensive income (loss):
Change in pension plan
Change in cash flow hedge
Foreign currency adjustments
Total other comprehensive income (loss)
Total comprehensive income

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

2017 2016 2015
344483 § 330,717 § 309,670
(151,820) (138,321) (137,528)
192,663 192,396 172,142
(40,053) (31,857) (28,659)
152,610 160,539 143,483
(239) (183) (185)
31 13 4
(7,873) (6,878) (6,533)
144,529 153,491 136,769
(239) (1,604) (300)
144,290 151,887 136,469
4,159 6,976 7,963
148,449 158,863 144,432
461 (234) (182)
1,154 522 (259)
4,784 (3,623) (5,496)
6,399 (3,335) (5,937)
154,848 $ 155,528  $ 138,495




Balance, December 31, 2014

Net income

Distributions

Change in pension plan

Change in cash flow hedge

Foreign currency translation adjustments
Balance, December 31, 2015

Net income

Other

Distributions

Change in pension plan

Change in cash flow hedge

Foreign currency translation adjustments
Balance, December 31, 2016

Net income

Distributions

Change in pension plan

Change in cash flow hedge

Foreign currency translation adjustments
Balance, December 31, 2017

WORTHINGTON ARMSTRONG VENTURE
Consolidated Statements of Partners’ Deficit
Years ended December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015

(Dollar amounts in thousands)

Contributed capital
The Accumulated
Armstrong Worthington other Total
Ventures, Steel Accumulated comprehensive partners’
Inc. Company deficit income (loss) deficit
$ $ (99,187) $ 9,761) $  (108,948)
144,432 — 144,432
(131,000) — (131,000)
— (182) (182)
— (259) (259)
— (5,496) (5,496)
(85,755) (15,698) (101,453)
158,863 — 158,863
22 — 22
(176,000) — (176,000)
— (234) (234)
— 522 522
— (3,623) (3,623)
(102,870) (19,033) (121,903)
148,449 . 148,449
(140,000) — (140,000)
— 461 461
— 1,154 1,154
— 4,784 4,784
$ $ (94,421) ' $ (12,634) $  (107,055)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.



WORTHINGTON ARMSTRONG VENTURE

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years ended December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Deferred income taxes
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Change in receivables
Change in inventory
Change in payables and accrued expenses
Other
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property, plant, and equipment
Sale of property, plant, and equipment
Short-term investments
Acquisition of business, net of cash acquired
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from revolving credit facility
Issuance of short-term debt
Repayment of short-term debt
Repayment of revolving credit facility
Financing cost
Distributions paid
Net cash used in financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Supplemental disclosures:
Interest paid
Income taxes paid

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

(Dollar amounts in thousands)

2017 2016 2015
$ 148,449 158,863 $ 144,432
5,160 4,681 4,173
476 388 27
(102) (5,392) 6,131
(4,879) (3,633) 5,933
1,065 3,702 (2,405)
(4,986) 71 (312)
145,183 158,680 157,979
(4,444) (4,924) (8,329)
34 38 (83)
(1,115) (348) 840
- - (8,400)
(5,525) (5,234) (15,972)
176,000 264,000 132,000
— 14,000 —
(14,000) B B
(171,500) (267,500) (126,500)
(832) — —
(140,000) (176,000) (131,000)
(150,332) (165,500) (125,500)
3,143 (1,577) (4,159)
(7,531) (13,631) 12,348
34,387 48,018 35,670
$ 26,856 34,387 $ 48,018
$ 7,873 6,961 $ 6,736
168 2,728 2,457
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WORTHINGTON ARMSTRONG VENTURE
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31,2017 and 2016
(Dollar amounts in thousands)

Description of Business

Worthington Armstrong Venture (the Company) is a general partnership, formed in June 1992, between Armstrong Ventures, Inc. (Armstrong), a
subsidiary of Armstrong World Industries, Inc., and The Worthington Steel Company (Worthington), a Delaware corporation (a subsidiary of Worthington
Industries, Inc.). Its business is to manufacture and market suspension systems for commercial and residential ceiling markets throughout the world. The
Company has manufacturing plants located in the United States, France, the United Kingdom, the People’s Republic of China, and India.

On November 17, 2017, Armstrong World Industries, Inc. entered into a Share Purchase Agreement (the Purchase Agreement) with Knauf International
GmbH (Knauf) to sell certain subsidiaries comprising its business in Europe, the Middle East, Africa (EMEA) and the Pacific Rim. The sale also includes
the corresponding businesses and operations of the Company, which was approved by both Armstrong and Worthington. The consideration to be paid by
Knauf for the Company’s businesses is approximately $90 million, subject to certain adjustments as provided in the Purchase Agreement, including
adjustments based on the economic impact of any required regulatory remedies and a working capital adjustment. The transaction, which is subject to
regulatory approvals and other customary conditions, is currently anticipated to close in mid-2018. EMEA and Pacific Rim’s financial results have been
reflected in the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements as discontinued operations for all periods presented. Refer to Note 3 for additional
information.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Use of Estimates
These consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
(U.S. GAAP) and include management estimates and judgments, where appropriate. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Significant
items subject to such estimates and assumptions include the carrying amount of property, plant, and equipment and goodwill, valuation allowances
for receivables and inventories, valuation of derivatives, and assets and obligations related to employee benefits.

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries. All significant intercompany transactions have
been eliminated.

b) Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue from the sale of products when title transfers, generally on the date of shipment and collection of the relevant
receivable is probable. At the time of shipment, a provision is made for estimated applicable discounts and losses that reduce revenue. The
Company’s standard sales terms are “Free On Board” (FOB) shipping point. The Company has some sales terms that are FOB destination.

Sales taxes collected from customers and remitted to governmental authorities are accounted for on a net basis and, therefore, are excluded from
revenues in the consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income.

(c) Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

The Company recognizes all derivative instruments as either assets or liabilities in the balance sheet at their respective fair values. For derivatives
designated in hedging relationships, changes in the fair value are recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income, to the extent the
derivative is effective at offsetting the changes in cash flows being hedged until the hedged item affects earnings. For derivatives not designated as
hedges or that do not meet the criteria for hedge accounting, all changes in fair value are recorded immediately to profit or loss.

(d)  Advertising Costs

The Company recognizes advertising expense as incurred. Advertising expense was $1,243, $1,170, $1,116 for the years ended December 31, 2017,
2016, and 2015, respectively.
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WORTHINGTON ARMSTRONG VENTURE
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31,2017 and 2016
(Dollar amounts in thousands)

Research and Development Expenditures

The Company recognizes research and development expense as expenditures are incurred. Total research and development expense was $4,653,
$4,305 and $3,998 for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015, respectively.

Taxes
The Company is a general partnership in the United States, and accordingly, generally, U.S. federal and state income taxes are the responsibility of
the two general partners. The Company recognizes the effect of uncertain income tax positions only if those positions are more likely than not of
being sustained. Recognized income tax benefits are measured at the largest amount that is greater than 50% likely of being realized. Changes in
recognition or measurement are reflected in the period in which the change in judgment occurs.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Short-term investments that have original maturities of three months or less when purchased are considered to be cash equivalents.

Short Term Investments

Short-term investments that have maturity dates greater than three months consist primarily of one year certificates of deposits.

Trade Accounts Receivable

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear interest. The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts
for estimated losses inherent in its accounts receivable portfolio. In establishing the required allowance, management considers historical losses,
current receivables aging, and existing industry and national economic data. Account balances are charged off against the allowance after all means

of collection have been exhausted and the potential for recovery is considered remote. The Company does not have any oft-balance-sheet credit
exposure related to its customers.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out method.

Long-Lived Assets

Property, plant, and equipment are stated at cost, with accumulated depreciation and amortization deducted to arrive at net book value. Depreciation
charges are determined generally on the straight-line basis over the useful lives as follows: buildings, 30 years; machinery and equipment, 5 to
15 years; and leasehold improvements over the shorter of 10 years or the life of the lease. Impairment losses are recorded when indicators of
impairment are present and the undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated by those assets are less than the assets’ carrying amount. If an
impairment exists, the asset is reduced to fair value.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the aggregate purchase price over the fair value of the net assets acquired in a purchase business combination.
Goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually. The impairment tests performed in 2017, 2016, and 2015 did not result in an impairment of the
Company’s goodwill.
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WORTHINGTON ARMSTRONG VENTURE
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31,2017 and 2016
(Dollar amounts in thousands)

(m)  Foreign Currency Translation

Gains and losses on foreign currency translation are recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income in the accompanying consolidated

balance sheets.

Discontinued Operations

As discussed in Note 1, Armstrong World Industries, Inc. entered into a Purchase Agreement with Knauf to sell certain subsidiaries comprising its business
in Europe, the Middle East, Africa (EMEA) and the Pacific Rim. The sale also includes the corresponding businesses and operations of the Company.
Accordingly, the assets and liabilities and results of operations of our EMEA and Pacific Rim businesses have been reported as discontinued operations in

the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

The Company and Knauf will also enter into an agreement related to the mutual supply of certain products and a license agreement relating to the use of

certain intellectual property.

The following table presents the carrying amounts of major classes of assets and liabilities of the discontinued operations held for sale in the consolidated

balance sheets as of December 31, 2017 and 2016:

2016

7,269
8,647
947
15,312
2,061

34,236

4,088
2,695
1,390

8,173

Assets 2017
Accounts receivable, net $ 5,190
Inventory, net 9,629
Other current assets 2,030
Property, plant and equipment (1) 16,504
Other non-current assets 3,086
Total Assets of discontinued operations held for sale (2) 36,439
Liabilities
Accounts payable 4,587
Accrued expenses 2,985
Other liabilities 523
Total liabilities of discontinued operations held for sale (2) 8,095
Total net assets 28,344

26,063

(1) Presented as "Non -current assets of discontinued operations held for sale" on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2016.

(2)  Presented as "Current Assets / liabilities of discontinued operations held for sale" on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31,

2017.

10



WORTHINGTON ARMSTRONG VENTURE
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31,2017 and 2016
(Dollar amounts in thousands)

The following table represents the results of our discontinued operations:

2017 2016 2015
Net sales $ 63,222 $ 63,024 $ 64,744
Cost of sales 51,400 46,764 49,496
Selling, general, and administrative expenses 8,004 6,279 5,529
Interest income, expense, other, net (309) (733) (505)
Income from discontinued operations before tax expense 4,127 10,714 10,224
Income tax benefit (expense) 32 (3,738) (2,261)
Net income from discontinued operations, net of tax expense 4,159 6,976 7,963

The following is a summary of total depreciation and amortization and capital expenditures of our discontinued operations, which are presented as
components of operating and investing activities in our consolidated statement of cash flows:

2017 2016 2015
Depreciation and Amortization $ 1,958 § 1,896 $ 1,867
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 1,753 1,285 2,360

(4) Accounts Receivable

The Company sells its products to select, preapproved customers whose businesses are directly affected by changes in economic and market conditions. The
Company considers these factors and the financial condition of each customer when establishing its allowance for losses from doubtful accounts. The
allowance for doubtful accounts was $136 and $147, at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

Q) Inventory

2017 2016
Finished goods $ 11,841 11,014
Goods in process 94 564
Raw materials 18,114 14,179
Supplies 2,537 2,439
Total inventory, net of reserves $ 32,586 28,196

(6) Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities
The Company uses variable-rate London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) debt to finance its operations. The debt obligations expose the Company to
variability in interest payments due to changes in interest rates. Management believes that it is prudent to limit the variability of a portion of its interest
payments. To meet this objective, management enters into LIBOR based interest rate swap agreements to manage fluctuations in cash flows resulting from
changes in the benchmark interest rate of LIBOR. The swap changes the variable-rate cash flow exposure on the debt obligations to fixed cash flows.
Under the terms of the interest rate swaps, the Company receives LIBOR-based variable interest rate payments and makes fixed interest rate payments,
thereby creating the equivalent of fixed-rate debt for the notional amount of its debt hedged.

On July 16, 2013, the Company entered into a LIBOR-based interest rate swap agreement to manage fluctuations in cash flows resulting from changes in
the benchmark interest rate of LIBOR. The swap has a notional amount of $50,000 maturing in July 2020, under the terms of which the Company pays a
fixed rate of 2.136% and receives one-month LIBOR. This swap is designated as a cash flow hedge.

On April 28, 2017 the Company entered into another swap with a notional amount of $50,000 maturing in February 2022, under the terms of which the
Company pays a fixed rate of 1.9365% and receives one-month LIBOR. This swap is designated as a cash flow hedge.

11
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WORTHINGTON ARMSTRONG VENTURE
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31,2017 and 2016
(Dollar amounts in thousands)

As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the total notional amount of the Company’s outstanding interest-rate swap agreements that were entered into to hedge
outstanding or forecasted debt obligations were $100,000 and $50,000, respectively.

The fair value of derivatives designated as hedging instruments held as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

2017 2016
B/S Location Fair value B/S Location Fair value
Interest rate swap Other assets $ 165  Other assets $ —
Long-term Long-term
liabilities — liabilities 977)
Total derivatives $ 165 $ 977)

The amount of gain (loss) recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income was $177 and $(977), respectively as of December 31, 2017 and 2016.

Property, Plant, and Equipment

2017 2016

Land $ 673 673
Buildings 13,143 12,836
Machinery and equipment 57,391 53,037
Computer software 1,328 1,316
Construction in process 2,595 5,713
75,130 73,575

Accumulated depreciation and amortization (50,819) (48,745)
Total property, plant, and equipment, net $ 24,311 24,830

Depreciation and amortization expense was $3,202, $2,785 and $2,306 for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company does not hold or issue financial instruments for trading purposes.

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, accounts receivable, and accounts payable approximate their fair value due to
the short-term maturity of these instruments. The carrying value and estimated fair value of debt was $243,508 and $243,529 respectively, at December 31,
2017. The carrying value and estimated fair value of debt was $239,522 and $239,400, respectively, at December 31, 2016.

The fair value of the Company’s debt is based on the amount of future cash flows discounted using rates the Company would currently be able to realize for
similar instruments of comparable maturity.

Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most
advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. U.S. GAAP establishes a
three-level fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value. The three levels of inputs used to measure fair value are as follows:

Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — Observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1, such as quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets; quoted
prices for identical or similar assets and liabilities in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable
market data.

12
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WORTHINGTON ARMSTRONG VENTURE
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31,2017 and 2016
(Dollar amounts in thousands)

Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities. This
includes certain pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies, and similar techniques that use significant unobservable inputs.

The Company’s derivatives are valued using Level 2 inputs. The fair values are disclosed in Note 6. The Company does not have any significant financial
or nonfinancial assets or liabilities that are valued using Level 3 inputs.

Debt

The Company had a $200,000 revolving credit facility (Facility) with PNC Bank and other lenders that was due to expire on February 21, 2019. On March
22, 2017, the Company refinanced the Facility with PNC Bank and other lenders increasing the size of the revolver from $200,000 to $250,000 and
extending the terms to March 22, 2022. At the same time, the Company paid off their $50,000 private floating rate debt with New York Life Insurance
Company. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016 there was $194,500 and $140,000, respectively, outstanding under the Facility. The Company can borrow at
rates with a range over LIBOR of 1.125% to 1.75%, depending on the Company’s leverage ratio, as defined by the terms of the Facility. As of
December 31, 2017 and 2016, the rate was 2.82% and 1.86%, respectively.

On December 23, 2011, the Company issued $50,000 of 10-year private placement notes (Prudential Notes) with Prudential Insurance Company that
mature in December 2021. At December 31, 2017 and 2016, there was $50,000 outstanding. The Prudential Notes bear interest at 4.9% that is paid on a
quarterly basis.

The debt agreements contain certain restrictive financial covenants, including, among others, interest coverage and leverage ratios. The Company was in
compliance with its covenants during the years ended and as of December 31, 2017 and 2016.

Pension Benefit Programs

The Company contributes to the Worthington Industries Deferred Profit Sharing Plan for eligible U.S. employees. Costs for this plan were $1,399, $1,413,
and $1,258 for 2017, 2016, and 2015, respectively.

The Company also has a U.S. defined-benefit pension plan for eligible hourly employees that worked in its former manufacturing plant located in Malvern,
Pennsylvania. This plan was curtailed in January 2004 due to the consolidation of the Company’s East Coast operations, which eliminated the expected
future years of service for participants in the plan. The following tables set forth the defined-benefit pension plan’s benefit obligations, fair value of plan
assets, and funded status at December 31, 2017 and 2016:

2017 2016
Projected benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 11,005 11,185
Interest cost 417 457
Actuarial (gain) loss 353 322
Benefits paid (630) 959)
Projected benefit obligation at end of year $ 11,145 11,005
2017 2016
Benefit obligation at December 31 $ 11,145 11,005
Fair value of plan assets as of December 31 9,065 8,222
Funded status at end of year $ 2,080 (2,783)
Amounts recognized in the balance sheets consist of:
Other long-term liabilities $ (2,080) (2,783)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss 6,141 6,602
Net amount recognized $ 4,061 3,819

Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss represent unrecognized net actuarial losses.

13



WORTHINGTON ARMSTRONG VENTURE
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31,2017 and 2016
(Dollar amounts in thousands)

The components of net periodic benefit cost (benefit) are as follows:

2017 2016 2015
Interest cost $ 417 457 451
Expected return on plan assets (593) (600) (643)
Recognized net actuarial loss 334 332 343
Net periodic benefit cost $ 158 189 151

The accumulated benefit obligation for the U.S. defined-benefit pension plan was $11,145 and $11,005 at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. The

unrecognized net loss for the defined-benefit pension plan that will be amortized from accumulated other comprehensive income into net periodic benefit
cost over the next fiscal year is $250.

The valuations and assumptions reflect the Society of Actuaries updated RP-2014 mortality tables with MP-2017 generational projection scales as of
December 31, 2017.

Weighted average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations for the years ended and as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

2017 2016
Weighted average assumptions for the year ended
December 31:
Discount rate 3.95% 4.13%
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 7.25 7.25
Weighted average assumptions as of December 31:
Discount rate 3.52% 3.95%
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 7.25 7.25

Pension plan assets are required to be disclosed at fair value in the consolidated financial statements. Fair value is defined in Note 8 — Fair Value of
Financial Instruments.

The U.S. defined-benefit pension plan assets’ fair value measurement level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input that is
significant to the fair value measurement. Valuation techniques used need to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable
inputs.

The following tables set forth by level within the fair value hierarchy a summary of the plan’s assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of
December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively:

2017
Fair value based on
Quoted active Observable
markets inputs
Fair value (Level 1) (Level 2)
Investment:
Cash and money market funds $ 332 332 —
Debt Securities 2,799 — 2,799
Common stocks 5,934 5,934 —
$ 9,065 6,266 2,799
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WORTHINGTON ARMSTRONG VENTURE
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31,2017 and 2016
(Dollar amounts in thousands)

2016
Fair value based on
Quoted active Observable
markets inputs
Fair value (Level 1) (Level 2)
Investment:
Cash and money market funds $ 1,844 1,844 —
Debt Securities 1,342 — 1,342
Common stocks 5,036 5,036 —
$ 8,222 6,880 1,342

Following is a description of the valuation methodologies used for assets measured at fair value. There have been no changes in the methodologies used at
December 31, 2017 and 2016.

Cash: Consists of cash and cash equivalents. The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents approximate fair value due to the short-term maturity of
these instruments.

Money market funds: The money market investment consists of an institutional investor money market fund, valued at the fund’s net asset value (NAV),
which is normally calculated at the close of business daily. The fund’s assets are valued as of this time for the purpose of computing the fund’s NAV.

Debt securities: Consist of investments in individual corporate bonds, municipal bonds, or government bonds. These bonds are each individually valued
using a yield curve model, based on observable inputs, which may also incorporate available trade and bid/ask spread data where available.

Common stocks: Consist of investments in common stocks that are valued at the closing price reported on the active market on which the individual
security is traded.

In developing the 7.25% expected long-term rate of return assumption, the Company considered its historical returns and reviewed asset class return
expectations and long-term inflation assumptions.

The primary investment objective of the defined-benefit pension plan is to achieve long-term growth of capital in excess of 7.25% annually, exclusive of
contributions or withdrawals. This objective is to be achieved through a balanced portfolio comprising equities, fixed income, and cash investments.

Each asset class utilized by the defined-benefit pension plan has a targeted percentage. The following table shows the asset allocation target and the
December 31, 2017 and 2016 position:

Position at December 31

Target weight 2017 2016
Equity securities 65% 74% 62%
Fixed income securities 35 22 16
Cash and equivalents — 4 22

The Company made contributions of $400, $500, and $510 to the U.S. defined-benefit pension plan in 2017, 2016, and 2015 respectively. The Company
expects to contribute $400 to the plan in 2018.
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WORTHINGTON ARMSTRONG VENTURE
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31,2017 and 2016
(Dollar amounts in thousands)

The benefits expected to be paid in each of the next five years and in the aggregate for the five years thereafter are shown in the following table:

Expected future payments for the year(s) ending December 31:

2018 $ 660
2019 662
2020 667
2021 655
2022 670
2023-2027 3,250

The expected benefits are based on the same assumptions used to measure the Company’s benefit obligation at December 31, 2017.

(11) Income Taxes

The Company is a general partnership in the United States, and accordingly, U.S. federal and state income taxes are generally the responsibility of the two
general partners. Therefore, no federal income tax provision has been recorded on U.S. income.

(12) Leases

The Company rents certain real estate and equipment. Several leases include options for renewal or purchase and contain clauses for payment of real estate
taxes and insurance. In most cases, management expects that in the normal course of business, leases will be renewed or replaced by other leases. Minimum

rent payments under operating leases are recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease including any periods of free rent. Rent expense
during 2017, 2016, and 2015 amounted to $2,258, $2,309 and $2,134, respectively.

Future minimum payments by year and in the aggregate for operating leases having noncancelable lease terms in excess of one year are as follows:

Year:

2018 $ 2,429
2019 1,848
2020 1,698
2021 1,659
2022 1,087
Thereafter I —

Total $ 8,721

(13) Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
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The following table summarizes the activity, by component, related to the change in AOCI for December 31, 2017 and the balances for accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss):

Accumulated
Foreign other
currency Cash flow comprehensive
translation hedge Pension plan (loss)
Balance, December 31, 2015 $ (7,830) (1,499) (6,369) (15,698)
Other comprehensive (loss) income before reclassifications (3,623) 522 (466) (3,567)
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other
comprehensive income — — 232 232
Net current period other comprehensive (loss) income (3,623) 522 (234) (3,335)
Balance, December 31, 2016 (11,453) 977) (6,603) (19,033)
Other comprehensive (loss) before reclassifications 4,784 1,154 231 6,169
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other
comprehensive income — — 230 230
Net current period other comprehensive (loss) 4,784 1,154 461 6,399
Balance, December 31, 2017 $ (6,669) 177 (6,142) (12,634)

The amount reclassified from AOCI was recorded in cost of goods sold in the consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income.

Related Parties

Armstrong World Industries, Inc. provides certain selling, promotional, and administrative processing services to the Company for which it receives
reimbursement. Armstrong purchases grid products from the Company, which are then resold along with Armstrong inventory to the customer.

2017 2016 2015
Services provided by Armstrong $ 14,878 9,098 8,828
Sales to Armstrong 18,224 18,004 18,194

Armstrong owed the Company $2,594 and $4,212 for purchases of product as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. The Company owed $1,145
and $751 to Worthington and affiliates of Worthington as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, which are included in accounts payable to
affiliates.

Worthington, and affiliates of Worthington, provide certain administrative processing services, steel processing services, and insurance-related coverages
to the Company for which it receives reimbursement.

2017 2016 2015
Administrative services by Worthington $ 1,382 501 509
Insurance-related coverage net of premiums by Worthington 840 824 656
Steel processing services by Worthington and affiliates of
Worthington 1,656 3,394 292
Acquisition

On March 6, 2015, the Company acquired the assets utilized by Fry Reglet Corporation (Fry) in the manufacturing of two product lines (the Business).
Assets of the Business and the results of the Business’s operations have been included in the consolidated financial statements since the acquisition date.
Prior to the acquisition, Fry was the sole supplier of those products to the Company. The Company concluded that the assets met the definition of a business
under Accounting Standard Codification section 805, Business Combinations , and therefore the transaction has been accounted for as a business
combination. As a result of the acquisition, the Company has vertically integrated the customer service, design and drawing, and manufacturing processes of
the Business.
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The total purchase price of $8,400 was paid in cash. The estimated fair value of the identifiable assets acquired at the acquisition date were Property, Plant
and Equipment of $363, and the remainder recorded as Goodwill in the amount of $8,037.

In connection with the acquisition, the Company paid Fry a $500 consulting fee for transition services. The Company incurred acquisition related costs of
$240. These consulting fees and acquisition related costs are included within Selling, General, and Administrative expenses.

Legal Proceedings

The Company is involved in various claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. In the opinion of management, the ultimate
disposition of these matters will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations, or liquidity.

Business and Credit Concentrations

Approximately 22%, 20%, and 20% of net sales were to the Company’s largest third-party customer for 2017, 2016, and 2015, respectively. The
Company’s 10 largest third-party customers accounted for approximately 77%, 74%, and 64% of the Company’s net sales for 2017, 2016, and 2015
respectively, and approximately 73% and 66% of the Company’s accounts receivable balances at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. See Note 14
for sales to and amounts owed to the Company from Armstrong World Industries, Inc.

Subsequent Events

Management has evaluated subsequent events through the date the annual consolidated financial statements were available to be issued, February 19, 2018.

18



